
CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL 

November 11, 2019 – 7:00 P.M. 
 
A regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, will be held on 
Monday, November 11, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, 
Cedarburg, WI, in the second floor Council Chambers.  
        

AGENDA      
 

1. CALL TO ORDER  - Mayor Mike O’Keefe 
 

2. MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  
4.        ROLL CALL: Present     – 

 
 
 
Excused    – 
 

Common Council – Mayor Mike O’Keefe, Council 
Members Jack Arnett, Kristin Burkart, Rick Verhaalen, 
Garan Chivinski, Patricia Thome and Rod Galbraith 
 
Council Member Sherry Bublitz 

5.  STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – October 28, 2019 Common Council Meeting* 

 

7. COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS** Comments from citizens on a listed 

agenda item will be taken when the item is addressed by the Council.  At this time 
individuals can speak on any topic not on the agenda for up to 5 minutes, time extensions at 
the discretion of the Mayor.  No action can be taken on items not listed except as a possible 
referral to committees, individuals or a future Council agenda item. 

 
8. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

A. Consider Resolution 2019-15 amending the Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025 for the 
west 149 feet of the 0.5 acre parcel located along the north side of Mill Street between 
Washington Avenue and Hanover Avenue from the Commercial classification to the High-

Medium Density Residential Classification; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 9/10/19)* 

 
B. Consider Ordinance 2019-15 rezoning the west 149 feet of the subject property in 8.A. from 

B-3/PUD to Rd-1/PUD; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 9/10/19)* 

 
C. Consider Resolution 2019-16 amending the Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025 for the 

westerly 60 feet of W63 N667 Washington Avenue from the Commercial classification to the 

High-Medium Density Residential Classification; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 9/10/19)* 

 
D. Consider Ordinance 2019-16 rezoning the subject property in 8.C. from B-3/HPD to B-3/Rm-

1/PUD/HPD; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 9/10/19)* 

 

Page 1 of 246



E. Public Hearing – Presentation of the proposed 2019 City Budget; discussion and direction 

thereon* 

 
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Consider award of engineering design contract for the 2020 Street and Utility Project; and 

action thereon* 

 
B. Consider extension of cash farm lease with Roden Echo Valley, LLC for 2020; and action 

thereon* 

 

C. Consider revised Policy CC-2: Purchasing; and action thereon* 

 

D. Consider License/Permit Applications; and action thereon*** 

    
1. Consider approval of Operator License applications for the period ending June 

30, 2020 for Grant Freese (new) and Patrice Renfrow (renewal) 
 

2. Consider application of JKLM Distilling Partners, LLC for Class “B” fermented 
malt beverage license for Handen Distillery at W62 N590 Washington Avenue 
 

E. Consider payment of bills dated 10/25/19 through 11/01/19, transfers for the period 
10/26/19 through 11/8/19 and payroll for the period 10/20/19 through 11/02/19; and action 

thereon* 

 
10. REPORTS OF CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 

A. Administrator’s Report* 

 

B. Building Inspector’s Report* 

 
11. COMMUNICATIONS 
 

A. Comments and suggestions from citizens** 

 
B. Comments and announcements by Council Members  

 
C. Mayor’s Report 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT – CLOSED SESSION  
 

It is anticipated the Common Council will adjourn to closed session pursuant to State Statute 
19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the purchasing of public properties, the investing of 
public funds, or conducting other specified public business whenever competitive or 
bargaining reasons require a closed session. More specifically to:  
 

• Consider the sale of City-owned parcels in Business Park off Alyce Street - Parcel No. 
13-034-14-000.02 (Outlot #1 CSM No. 2811) and a portion of Parcel No. 13-034-14-
000.00 (Outlot #1 CSM 2784) 

Page 2 of 246



 

• Approval of October 14, 2019 closed session minutes 
 

13. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 
 
14. NEW BUSINESS - CONTINUED 
 

F. Consider amendment to offer received on a portion of Parcel No. 13-034-14-000.00 (Outlot 
#1 CSM 2784); and action thereon 
 

G. Consider approval of development agreement, certified survey map and condo document 
for Greg James’s Cedarburg Trail Condominiums; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 

11/4/19)* 

 
15.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
Individual members of various boards, committees, or commissions may attend the above meeting.  It is 
possible that such attendance may constitute a meeting of a City board, committee or commission pursuant 
to State ex. rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, 173 Wis. 2d 553, 494 NW 2d 408 (1993).  This notice 
does not authorize attendance at either the above meeting or the Badke Meeting, but is given solely to 
comply with the notice requirements of the open meeting law. 
 

* Information attached for Council; available through City Clerk’s Office.   

** Citizen comments should be primarily one-way, from citizen to the Council.  Each citizen who wishes to speak   

shall be accorded one opportunity at the beginning of the meeting and one opportunity at the end of the 
meeting.  Comments should be kept brief.  If the comment expressed concerns a matter of public policy, 
response from the Council will be limited to seeking information or acknowledging that the citizen has been 
understood.  It is out of order for anyone to debate with a citizen addressing the Council or for the Council to 
take action on a matter of public policy.  The Council may direct that the concern be placed on a future 
agenda.  Citizens will be asked to state their name and address for the record and to speak from the lectern 
for the purposes of recording their comments. 

*** Information available through the Clerk’s Office. 

 
UPON REASONABLE NOTICE, EFFORTS WILL BE MADE TO 

ACCOMMODATE THE NEEDS OF INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES. 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT (262) 375-7606 

E-MAIL:  cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us  
11/5/19 cwv 

Page 3 of 246

mailto:cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us


   CITY OF CEDARBURG   CC201910028-1 

COMMON COUNCIL         UNAPPROVED 

October 28, 2019 

 

 

A regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, was held on 

Monday, October 28, 2019, at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, second floor, Council 

Chambers.  Mayor O’Keefe called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

Roll Call: Present -  Mayor Michael O’Keefe, Council Members Sherry Bublitz, Jack 

Arnett, Kristin Burkart, Rick Verhaalen, Garan Chivinski, Patricia 

Thome and Rod Galbraith 

 

                      Also Present - City Administrator/Treasurer Christy Mertes, City Attorney 

Michael Herbrand, Assistant City Administrator/Parks, Recreation 

and Forestry Director Mikko Hilvo, City Clerk Claire Woodall-

Vogg, Director of Engineering and Public Works Tom Wiza, Public 

Works Superintendent Joel Bublitz, Library Director Linda 

Pierschalla, Senior Center Director Aubrey Suppiger, Building 

Inspector Mike Baier, Police Lieutenant Michael McNerney, Fire 

Chief Jeff Vahsholtz, interested citizens and news media 

 

STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 

 

At Mayor O’Keefe’s request, City Clerk Woodall-Vogg verified that notice of this meeting was 

provided to the public by forwarding the agenda to the City’s official newspaper, the News 

Graphic, to all news media and citizens who requested copies, and by posting in accordance with 

the Wisconsin Open Meetings law.   

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Bublitz, to approve the 

minutes of the October 14, 2019 Common Council Meeting and Joint Special Meeting with Light 

& Water Commission as presented. Motion carried without a negative vote. 

 

COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS 

 

Citizens present were welcomed and encouraged to provide their input during the citizen comment 

portion of the meeting. No comments or suggestions were received. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 2019-14 DESIGNATING LIGHT & WATER 

CHECKING AND SAVINGS ACCOUNTS FOR ENSUING YEAR; AND ACTION 

THEREON 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Bublitz, to adopt 

Resolution No. 2019-14 designating Light & Water checking and savings accounts for the ensuing 

year.  Motion carried without a negative vote. 

Page 4 of 246



COMMON COUNCIL  CC20191028-2 

October 28, 2019  UNAPPROVED 

 

CONSIDER TERMINATION OF JAMES IMAGING CONTRACT FOR CITY HALL 

COPIERS AND APPROVE NEW CONTRACT WITH OFFICE COPYING EQUIPMENT 

LTD.; AND ACTION THEREON 

Clerk Woodall-Vogg explained that the City has experienced extremely poor communication and 

customer service at all levels from James Imaging over the past month. Delivery of the new 

machines was cancelled via email the night before delivery was scheduled without any plausible 

explanation. Subsequent communications from all staff at James Imaging with the City Clerk and 

City Administrator/Treasurer have been rude, unapologetic, non-transparent and deceitful.  

Because the copiers were never delivered to the City of Cedarburg and City 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes has received verbal confirmation that there is no pending order to 

deliver, the City would like permission to cancel the order and terminate the pending lease. Clerk 

Woodall-Vogg would like to “piggyback” on the State of Wisconsin’s NASPO ValuePoint 

Contract for Sharp copiers with a service and maintenance agreement through Office Copying 

Equipment. She said that staff have been extremely professional, transparent, and attentive 

throughout the bidding process. The cost is comparable to James Imaging’s bid. 

Council Member Verhaalen inquired about the cost of toner and the difference between the two 

types of copiers being considered.  Clerk Woodall-Vogg explained that the monthly lease price 

includes all supplies except for paper. 

Motion made by Council Member Burkart, seconded by Council Member Verhaalen, to approve 

termination of the James Imaging contract for City Hall copiers and to approve a new contract 

with Office Copying Equipment Ltd.  Motion carried without a negative vote. 

CONSIDER APPOINTMENT OF MIKKO HILVO AS THE REPRESENTATIVE AND 

CHRISTY MERTES AS THE ALTERNATE REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE CITY OF 

CEDARBURG ON THE MID-MORAINE MUNICIPAL COURT ADMINISTRATIVE 

COMMITTEE, EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2020; AND ACTION THEREON 

Motion made by Council Member Burkart, seconded by Council Member Thome, to appoint 

Mikko Hilvo as the representative and Christy Mertes as the alternate representative for the City 

of Cedarburg on the Mid-Moraine Municipal Court Administrative Committee.  Motion carried 

without a negative vote.  

CONSIDER PROPOSED 2020 BUDGET; DISCUSSION AND DIRECTION THEREON 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes presented the following changes to the budget since the October 

14, 2019 Council Meeting: 

• Health insurance decrease of 7% (same as 2019 rates) and dental increase of 3%; net 

reduction of $58,421 in General Fund 

• Added $5,000 for wellness; health risk assessments not included 

• Reduced Capital levy by $400,000 for transfer from General Fund for dam repairs 

• Debt Service levy reduced by impact fees 

• Added $2,500 overtime budget for Fire Dept., plus FICA and WRS 

• Dorm rooms for Fire Department removed from 2020 in Capital Fund ($50,000) 

Page 5 of 246



COMMON COUNCIL  CC20191028-3 

October 28, 2019  UNAPPROVED 

 

• Washington Avenue street maintenance removed from 2020 in Capital Fund ($210,000) 

The current tax rate would be an increase of $0.15 to $7.91; 1.9% increase (adding Washington 

Ave. street repair back would be an additional $0.16). The levy increase is currently 5.8% or 

$566,931. The levy limit would allow for an additional $250,000. 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes explained that the expenditure restraint program remains an 

issue. The current proposed budget would not qualify the City for the 2021 revenue. If the dam 

funding was appropriated in 2020, when the cost is known, only an additional $200,000 reduction 

in expenditures needs to be found. 

Discussion regarding different line items and sources of potential savings ensued.  The following 

direction was given to Administrator/Treasurer Mertes: 

• Removal of the Washington Avenue street maintenance was affirmed. Council 

Member Verhaalen asked if the $60,000 asphalt repairs would be used for the Washington 

Avenue if the project is removed.  Director Wiza explained that typically every year funds 

are used to mill and fill areas of road that can use spot repairs and patching.  Director Wiza 

also explained that Washington Avenue was not part of his seven-year plan, but he 

recommended it because the Council discussed a high visibility project as a desire in July. 

Patching would likely be an eight-year fix. The Council was in agreement to stick to 

Director Wiza’s original seven-year plan and not include the Washington Avenue street 

maintenance in the budget. 

 

• Pushing the purchase of a tandem dump truck used for salting and plowing back to 

2021.  Council Member Burkart asked what the source of funding was for the equipment 

replacement fund.  Administrator/Treasurer Mertes explained that it is funded through an 

annual allocation, as well as savings on purchases and sales of used vehicles.  The goal of 

the fund is to have a balance, but the City has never gotten back up to that funding level.  

Council Member Burkart asked what the consequence of moving a tandem dump truck 

(with plow and salter) would be to Public Works.  Superintendent Bublitz said that the 

current truck was purchased in 2003, has 100,000 miles, but has a rebuilt motor.  It could 

likely last a little longer.  Administrator/Treasurer Mertes cautioned that this would push 

back other purchases down the line and the full amount of the truck will not be realized as 

savings.  She will likely cut the truck, but also try to set aside some money for the 

equipment reserve fund. 

 

• Removal of the dam repairs from the budget until an actual cost is known and a 

formal commitment of a matching grant from the Department of Natural Resources 

(DNR) is received.  The City originally received a matching grant from the DNR, but the 

project cost has risen significantly due to changes made at the DNR’s request.  Director 

Wiza is hopeful that the DNR will still match the City funds, but it is not set in stone. 

 

• Provide estimates of various levels of employee contributions to health insurance 

premiums at the next Council meeting.  At the request of Council Member Galbraith, 

City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes was asked to provide several different scenarios of 

Page 6 of 246



COMMON COUNCIL  CC20191028-4 

October 28, 2019  UNAPPROVED 

 

employee contributions to health insurance premiums at the next meeting.  Examples 

included $25.00 or $50.00 per paycheck, as well as the suggestion of a certain percentage 

of the cost of the premium.  Council Member Thome cautioned that the Personnel 

Committee had this discussion in July and it was decided that health insurance 

contributions need to be discussed when the Committee examines the overall compensation 

of employees.  She is not saying that employee contributions will not be considered, but 

that it should not be decided within a vacuum with the budget. 

 

• Add $25,000 into the budget for the Fire Station bunk room.  Mayor O’Keefe explained 

that Fire Chief Vahsholtz has figured out a way to create a temporary bunk room at a 

fraction of the requested cost.  In order to be compliant, there must be a partition.  Chief 

Vahsholtz has found an office that he can convert and use until a comprehensive renovation 

can occur.  The items purchased such as beds, nightstands, and lockers, will be able to be 

utilized if another renovation were to take place down the line.  Council Members agreed 

that the Fire Department should have overnight accommodations and asked that the line 

item be added back into the budget at $25,000. 

CONSIDER LICENSE/PERMIT APPLICATIONS; AND ACTION THEREON 

Motion made by Council Member Galbraith, seconded by Council Member Verhaalen, to approve 

new Operator License application for the period ending June 30, 2020 for Ashley K. Stephens.  

Motion carried without a negative vote. 

Motion made by Council Member Verhaalen, seconded by Council Member Galbraith, to approve 

the Horse and Carriage license for Jody Schulz of Kettle Moraine Carriages, Inc., N612 Forest 

View Road, Kewaskum, WI.  Motion carried without a negative vote. 

CONSIDER PAYMENT OF BILLS DATED 10/04/19 THROUGH 10/18/19, TRANSFERS 

FOR THE PERIOD 10/12/19 THROUGH 10/25/19; AND PAYROLL FOR THE PERIOD 

10/06/19 THROUGH 10/19/19; AND ACTION THEREON 

Motion made by Council Member Burkart, seconded by Council Member Verhaalen, to approve 

payment of bills dated 10/04/19 through 10/18/19, transfers for the period 10/12/19 through 

10/25/19; and payroll for the period 10/06/19 through 10/19/19.  Motion carried without a negative 

vote. 

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes stated that the Interurban Trail Advisory Committee will be 

reviewing trail signage at Pioneer Road.  Council Members Burkart and Chivinski would both like 

to be informed of the meeting date so that they can attend.   

 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes said that the Library Board discussed a Joint Library but decided 

that the initiative, if desired, should come from the Common Council. 

 

COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS – None 

 

 

Page 7 of 246



COMMON COUNCIL  CC20191028-5 

October 28, 2019  UNAPPROVED 

 

COMMENTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS  

Council Member Thome thanked Wastewater Superintendent Eric Hackert and his staff.  She 

emailed him a question and within two hours there was a truck on her street.  The staff response 

to citizens is amazing. 

Council Member Burkart thanked the Friends of Parks & Recreation for a successful Bloody Mary 

Walk on Sunday, October 27, 2019.  They do an amazing job to support the City. 

Council Member Bublitz has been approached where she works on the need to institute a vaping 

ordinance.  She hopes to work with Chief Frank and City Staff to figure out what makes the most 

sense and will then bring it to Council. 

 

MAYOR’S REPORT - None 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Bublitz, to adjourn the 

meeting at 8:09 p.m.  Motion carried without a negative vote. 

 

Claire Woodall-Vogg 

City Clerk 

 

Page 8 of 246



 
 CITY OF CEDARBURG 

MEETING DATE: November 11, 2019                                                            ITEM NO:.8. A. & B. 
 
TITLE: 

A. Consider Resolution 2019-15 amending the Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025 for the 
west 149 feet of the 0.5 acre parcel located along the north side of Mill Street between 
Washington Avenue and Hanover Avenue from the Commercial classification to the High-
Medium Density Residential Classification; and action thereon 
 

B. Consider Ordinance 2019-15 rezoning the west 149 feet of the subject property in 8.A. from B-

3/PUD to Rd-1/PUD; and action thereon 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: As Council Members are aware, the applicant’s Mill Street TID #3 project 

consists of three buildings; one that will face Washington Avenue, one to face Mill Street and a third 

to face Hanover Avenue, for a total of 6,900 square feet and 25 onsite parking stalls.  This project 

was originally approved back in 2014 as a “Blighted Area TID” with a cash grant Development 

Agreement requiring Mr. Zimmerschied to create a total real estate increment value of $950,000 to 

be realized no later than January 1, 2020.  Council members are reminded that earlier this summer 

you approved a one-year extension to the TID plan extending it to January 1, 2021. 

 

Staff notes that at their February 4, 2019 meeting, the Plan Commission granted final approval of Mr. 

Zimmershied detailed site and architectural plans for his Washington Avenue building which is 

intended to support a restaurant/bar while the other two buildings were to be devoted to retail or 

office uses.  To date, no building permit has been issued for the construction of the Washington 

Avenue building. 

 

Mr. Zimmerschied is now requesting a change to the TID plan to replace the two back commercial 

buildings with 2 two-unit residential townhomes.  Access to these buildings will be over a single 

shared drive from Mill Street, and each unit will have two covered parking spaces.  With this change 

the required parking count for the overall project is reduced from 59 stalls down to 42 stalls. 

 

To accomplish this change, the underlying basic use zoning district for the westerly 149 feet of the 

parcel will need to be changed from the B-3 Central Business District to Rd-1 Two-Family Zoning 

District. The PUD Planned Unit development Overlay district will remain across the entire site. In 

addition, to support this zoning change, state law requires that the Land Use Plan be amended from 

the Commercial Classification to the High-Medium Density Residential Classification. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

From a land use standpoint, adding more residential uses within walking distance to the downtown 

business district is good planning and therefore staff recommends approval.   

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: At their September 10, 2019 

meeting, the Plan Commission reviewed these changes and recommended approval by unanimous 

vote: 

 
BUDGETARY IMPACT:  Increment value of $950,000 by January 1, 2021 

Page 9 of 246



The TID Developer Agreement requires the petitioner to create improvements with the minimum 

assessed value of $950,000 no later than January 1, 2021. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Unapproved minutes from the September 10, 2019 Plan Commission meeting 

• Site and Architectural Plans 

• Map showing the proposed zoning. 

 
INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Cornerstone Builders, LLC. Greg Zimmershied, Owner 
 
FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Jonathan P. Censky, City Planner, 262-375-7610 
 

 

Page 10 of 246



 

 

CITY OF CEDARBURG 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-15 

 

A Resolution Amending the City of Cedarburg Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025 for the west 149 

feet of the 0.5 acre parcel located along the north side of Mill Street between Washington Avenue and 

Hanover Avenue 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Cedarburg, pursuant to the provisions of Section 62.23 of the Wisconsin 

Statutes, has created a City Plan Commission; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has prepared a plan for the physical development of the City of 

Cedarburg and environs, said plan known as The City of Cedarburg Smart Growth Comprehensive Plan -2025 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission on the 7th day of January 2008 recommended the 

aforementioned Comprehensive Plan and on the 25th day of February 2008 the Common Council adopted the 

plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the adopted Land Use Plan recommends Commercial Classification as shown on the Land 

Use Map; and  

 

 WHEREAS, proposed residential buildings on this property would require amending the Commercial 

classification to the High-Medium Density Residential classification (5.2 and 10.8 units per acre); and    

 

 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission reviewed the requested amendment on September 10, 2019, and the 

Common Council held a public hearing on November 11, 2019 to consider amending the Plan and found such 

change to be appropriate and compatible with the existing and future nearby uses. 

  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that pursuant to Section 66.1001(4)(b) of the Wisconsin 

Statutes, the City of Cedarburg Common Council on the 12th day of August, 2019 hereby amends The City of 

Cedarburg Smart Growth Comprehensive Land Use Plan - 2025, as follows:  the west 149 feet of the 0.5 acre 

parcel located along the north side of Mill Street between Washington Avenue and Hanover Avenue (TID #3) is 

hereby classified as High-Medium Density Residential Use in the Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025. 

  

 Passed and adopted this 11th day of November, 2019. 

 

        _________________________________ 

        Michael J. O’Keefe, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

___________________________________ 

Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

___________________________________ 

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney 

Page 11 of 246



ORDINANCE NO. 2019-15 

 

An Ordinance Rezoning the West 149 feet of a 0.5 Acre Parcel Located  

Along the North Side of Mill Street Between Washington Avenue and Hanover Avenue 

 

The proposed ordinance having been submitted to the City Plan Commission for recommendation and notice 

having been given pursuant to Wis. Statute, the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, does 

hereby ordain as follows: 

 

The west 149 feet of the following described real estate situated in the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, 

presently being zoned as B-3 (PUD) Central Business District is hereby rezoned to Rd-1 (PUD) Two-

Family Zoning District: 

 

Commencing at the Southeast corner of said Southeast 1/4 Section; thence South 89º 54' 00" 

West along the South line of said 1/4 Section, 576.39 feet to a point in the Southerly extension of 

the West right of way line of Washington Avenue; thence North 14º 56' 00" West along said 

West right of way line, 478.54 feet to the intersection of said West right of way line and the 

North right of way line of Mill Street; thence South 75º 04' 00" West along said North right of 

way line, 123.75 feet to a point in the West line of the Original Plat of the City of Cedarburg and 

the point of beginning of lands to be described; thence continuing South 75º 04' 00" West along 

said North right of way line, 242.69 feet to the intersection of said North right of way line and 

the East right of way line of Hanover Street; thence North 17º 14' 21" West along said East right 

of way line, 63.04 feet to the Southwesterly corner of the property described in Volume 905, 

Pages 378-379, recorded as Document No. 520140 at the Ozaukee County Register of Deeds; 

thence North 75º 34' 34" East along the South line of said property and the South line of property 

described in Volume 602, Page 238, recorded as Document No. 395988 at the Ozaukee County 

Register of Deeds, 245 .24 feet to a point in the West line of the aforementioned Original Plat; 

thence South 14º 56' 00" East along the West line of said Original Plat, 60.81 feet to the point of 

beginning.  

 

Tax Key Number: 13-050-09-10-000  

Said parcel contains .337 acre, more or less 

 

This ordinance shall take effect upon its passage and publication as provided by law. 

  

Passed and adopted this 11th day of November, 2019. 

 

       

             

       Michael O’Keefe, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

       

Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

            

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney 

Page 12 of 246



I 
I 

I 

I 
I 
( 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

\ 

> . 
' ' 

L 

lp 
FCJu,.¡D 

r 
f 

'í '~ 1 I éi 
¡ I 

lp i I 
FDÎ°f 

f I 
i I 

l I 
¡ ¡., 
\ l'.'.! ... 
' . 

\ I 

\ I 

. 
' ' ' . . 
' I 

~ ....... ! 

' . 
> . 
< 

¡ 
t .. _ ... ¡ 

. ,- ... -. .. 
' . . ' 
' ' < • 

' ' ' ' > ' , ........ ! 
r-- 
L ... -' 

\ 
I 
l 
' 

<:ONC. BLOCK & 
FRAME BtJllOJNG 

I 
I 
I 
I 
i 

¡ l + 
\ \ SE: 

--~~¡ 
f Wita, 

~~ 
·I o 

i Tiit.. 

~- MH (t; -·-·-·-· 

l "'Wv 

i 
i 
i 

> 

' . 
< 

> 

tl 

---1 

l 
l 
l 

_ .... ! 

' 

l 
• ....... ! 

r· ... -¡ . ' I < 
I > 

: : .. 
L_J 

i i 
j í 
I e 
f ..... .. ! 

I 

' > 
I 

' ' 
NJÖ.J 

> 

¡ 
' ..... } 

] 

Page 13 of 246



Plan Commission Review Set 1 ° /\ 

Page 14 of 246



¡ 
50' 8" 

25'·4' 25' 4" 

18'-0' 18'-0' 

ë:, 

' ' ' ·-T~------ 
to 

J< 
~=- 
<O"' 

-=2 
Cil X 

~t 
u 

~ 
N 

o 
N 

' ' ' r 1 .., 
! ! 
¡ ! 
¡ ~ ¡ 
¡ ~ ! 
! X ! 
:, = I, 

~Ç" ¡ <.ON ! 
:, -= 2 ! ê =X I 

! 8Ë! 
! u I 

! ~ ¡ 
¡ N ¡ 
! o ¡ 
' N ' ! ¡ 
! ¡ 
' ' ._ J __ 

' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' --- ----------------· 

·' N 
N 

' N 

q 
l¡ 
¡, 

r-------- -- -- -------, 
' ' ' ' ' 

! 

o 
.;, 

j¡ 
¡! ,, ,, 

' 

. 
to 

1 First Floor Plan 

q 

l 
,j ,, 

I ,¡ 
' 

o 
N 

4 8' 6 2' 16'-81 8' 

9' 4' 16'-0' 

7'·2 1/4 6 2' 

1,064 sf Second Floor 1,064 sf Second Floor 

2 1 1/41 cl1-0' Note Scale is 1/8"=1' ö' 1f drawmg is pnnted on 111 
x17

11 
paper 

o 
o· 
z 
O., 
02 

Ul 

...J ~ 

...J ~ -~ 
~i - o N 
èö ti 

w 
œ 

o::: ~ 
w~ 
>~ o:r 
z 
i::( 

:e 

Wall Legend 

Ex1stmg walls and cabinets to be removed 

Existing walls 

~1 Proposed walls 

&-:*"ID. S'-"1"'*' Existing masonry waits 
e 

Plan North 

t">--"'"'"""" "- iw: Proposed masonry walls 

Page 15 of 246



I 
I 
I 
i 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
( 

I 
I 
I 
I 
l 
I 
I 
l 

' ' 
' 
' 

:___Il 
1-- .. t 

' ' ' ' t t¡ 
' ' 
i i 

I~ .. ,. f 

: l 
¡ ! 
' ' ' ' I I 

' 
' 
' ' ~ ~o 
',.ill L.,:,..¡ 

¡-ji 
,: ,..¡ 
} ~f : _l 

'" FouND ' 

¡_Ji 
I 
I 
I 

CONC.SLOO<& 
FRAME SUILOJNG 

O O' 

i 

\ 
I 

' ' . 
! 

'1/fö_ 

' l 

_ _J 

' ' 
l 
\ 
l 

~ ..... ..,. I 

Page 16 of 246



PLAN COMMISSION  PLN20190910-9 
SEPTEMBER 10, 2019  UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

TIF PLAN AMENDMENT/REZONING RECOMMENDATION/LAND USE PLAN 

AMENDMENT FOR PROPERTY LOCATED NORTH OF MILL STREET BETWEEN 

WASHINGTON AVENUE AND HANOVER AVENUE – GREG ZIMMERSCHIED 

T 

his initial project, which was approved back in 2014 as a Blighted Area TID, originally 

consisted of three proposed commercial buildings.  The Petitioner, Greg Zimmerschied, 

is requesting a change to the TID plan by changing the two buildings in the back of the 

lot from commercial to residential townhomes, with the third building, which faces 

Washington Avenue, remaining as a possible location for a restaurant or bar. 

 

Greg met with City staff to discuss this topic, as well as with Council Member Kristen 

Burkart, who submitted her support of this revision.  City Administrator Christy Mertes did 

some research on the TIF plan and sent out an email that the Plan does not indicate 

residential or commercial use.  Petitioner Zimmershied mentioned that his focus was 

always to develop the property fronting Washington Avenue, hopefully attracting a nice 

restaurant to that location. 

 

When the plan for three commercial buildings was initially proposed, the climate 

downtown was different, with few commercial vacancies in the area.  The current demand 

is for housing, as there is a lack of condos in the area.  The two buildings towards the 

back of the lot are being proposed as two 2-unit townhomes, with four townhomes total.  

There is more of a residential pocket in that area and, except for the funeral home, 

everything to the west is mostly residential.  Petitioner Zimmerschied believes that his 

proposed residential buildings would better fit with the component of that neighborhood, 

as opposed to commercial buildings.  Each townhome has two car garages, which will 

alleviate any pressure there may be for lack of parking in that area. 

 

Commissioner Voltz has no issue with the slightly higher roofline, and overall is excited 

about the direction of the architecture.  He did find Condo B appears to have a smaller 

front yard and is close to the parking lot.  Petitioner Zimmerschied said he would be open 

to suggestions, such as taking away two parking spots and adding ten feet to the front 

yard or shifting the buildings to the east in order to gain more yard to the west. 

 

Commissioner Strautmanis questioned the application of a PUD on this property.  Planner 

Censky recommends amending the former PUD from commercial to commercial and 

residential, and at this point, no architectural approval is required for this to be done.  He 

acknowledged that this is a different way of approving the project, which is due to the TIF.  

He would like to establish the underlying zoning for the townhouses and keep the B-3 

zoning for the front building.  When Petitioner Zimmerschied comes up with the plan for 

the residential portion of the property, he will bring it back to the Commission for approval.  

Commissioner Burgoyne stated that he does not see any difficulties in getting ahead of 

the game at this point.  Planner Censky said the Petitioner would like to get assurance 

Page 17 of 246



PLAN COMMISSION  PLN20190910-10 
SEPTEMBER 10, 2019  UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

that he can get the rezoning and TIF Plan Amendment in place prior to investing in the 

design process. 

 

Petitioner Zimmerschied advised that the building facing Washington Avenue is his 

priority at this time, and due to the complexity of that construction, he would like to start 

on that as soon as he can.  He already has a bid from a general contractor on that part of 

the project.  He believes both ends of the property need to be developed as part of the 

TIF, and he would like to begin construction on all three buildings in 2020.  Council 

Member Thome questioned the two covered parking spaces mentioned on the plans and 

in the Staff Report.  She wanted to make sure this was not intended as carports.  

Petitioner Zimmerschied assured her that these are not carports, but part of the buildings. 

 

Commissioner Strautmanis questioned what zoning would be used for the multi-family 

piece.  Planner Censky will come up with a legal description when bringing that forward 

to the Council for approval. 

 

Commissioner Cain questioned if there were issues in the district with three-story 

buildings.  She recalled issues with a building that was proposed on Western that was 

brought before the Commission in the past.  Planner Censky recalled that plan getting 

about halfway through the approval process before the developer pulled the plans, so it 

was never completed.  Petitioner Zimmerschied stated that there is a 35’ height restriction 

in the B-3 district, and his goal is to comply with that restriction.  If the building ends up 

being planned for a height above that, he would come back to the Commission in order 

to amend the PUD. 

 

Commissioner Burgoyne offered clarification that the only approval before the 

Commission this time is conceptual approval on the plans.  Planner Censky added that 

architectural details will come later. 

 

Action: 

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Burgoyne, seconded by Commissioner Kinzel, to 

approve the Land Use Plan Amendment Rezoning and recommend to the Common 

Council TIF Plan Amendment.  The motion carried without a negative vote 

 

APPROVAL FOR AMISH CRAFTSMENT GUILD TO CREATE OUTDOOR FURNITURE 

DISPLAY ALONG THE WEST SIDE OF KETTLE MORAINE APPLICANCE BUILDING 

FOR THEIR NEW LOCATION AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF PIONEER ROAD 

AND CARDINAL AVENUE – AMANDA GOSS 

 

The Amish Craftsmen Guild business has outgrown their downtown commercial space 

on Washington Avenue, and will soon be relocating to the east side of the Kettle Moraine 

Appliance building on Cardinal Avenue and Pioneer Road.  In order to display their line 

Page 18 of 246



 
 CITY OF CEDARBURG 

MEETING DATE: November 11, 2019                                                  ITEM NO: 8.C.& D. 
 
TITLE:  

C.  Consider Resolution 2019-16 amending the Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025 for the      
       westerly 60 feet of W63 N667 Washington Avenue from the Commercial classification to the  
       High-Medium Density Residential Classification 

 
D.  Consider Ordinance 2019-16 rezoning the subject property in 8.C. from B-3/HPD to B-3/Rm-  

 1/PUD/HPD. 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: Mr. Schoenknecht has already received approval for certain architectural 

changes to render his rear garage more visually fitting for the downtown area and to correct some 

apparent structural problems which led to a leaky roof.  While these changes were designed to reflect 

future residential use, it was understood that no occupancy permit would be considered until proper 

zoning was in place to allow for the use, as the entire site is currently zoned for business uses only. 

Staff believes that since this property is under single ownership and governed by the size and length 

of the existing building which will now support a mix of uses, this should be process as a Plan Unit 

Development (PUD).   

 

Accordingly, the applicant is requesting to rezone the basic use district of his property from B-3 

Central Business District and HPD Historic Preservation District to B-3, Rm-1 Residential Multiple 

Family Residential, HPD and PUD Plan Unit Development.  More specifically, the proposed rezoning 

will continue with the B-3 District for the front “home” and middle portion of the building allowing 

business and/or residential uses, and the rear garage conversion will be rezoned to the Rm-1 

Multiple Family District to support the residential apartment use.  The PUD Overlay Zoning will cover 

the entire site and will tie this project together as one mixed use development under single ownership 

with shared driveway and parking. 

 

To support this zoning change, state law requires that the Land Use Plan first be amended from the 

Commercial Classification to the High-Medium Density Residential Classification for the rear 

residential portion of this project. 

 
Staff Comments: 

One of the goals of the Comprehensive Land Use Plan is to attract more customers to our downtown 

businesses and staff feels that projects of this nature accomplish that goal. Accordingly, staff 

recommends approval to: 

• Amend the Land Use Plan from the Commercial Classification to the High-Medium Density 

Residential Classification for the back residential portion of this project, and; 

• Rezone the entire property from B-3 Central Business District to B-3 Central Business District, 

HPD Historic Preservation District, Rm-1 Residential Multiple Family Residential and PUD 

Planned Unit Development. 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: At their September 10, 2019 

meeting, the Plan Commission recommended approval by unanimous vote. 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT:  n/a Page 19 of 246



 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution 2019-16 
• Ordinance 2019-16 
• Minutes from the September 10, 2019 Plan Commission meeting. 
• Map showing proposed zoning. 
• Site and architectural plans 

 
INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:  Martin Schoenknecht. Owner 
 
FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Jonathan P. Censky, City Planner, 262-375-7610 
 

 

 

Page 20 of 246



 

 

CITY OF CEDARBURG 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-16 

 

A Resolution Amending the City of Cedarburg Comprehensive Land Use Plan – 2025 for the  

Westerly 60 Feet of W63 N667 Washington Avenue 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Cedarburg, pursuant to the provisions of Section 62.23 of the Wisconsin 

Statutes, has created a City Plan Commission; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has prepared a plan for the physical development of the City of 

Cedarburg and environs, said plan known as The City of Cedarburg Smart Growth Comprehensive Plan -2025 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission on the 7th day of January 2008 recommended the 

aforementioned Comprehensive Plan and on the 25th day of February 2008 the Common Council adopted the 

plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the adopted Land Use Plan recommends Commercial Classification as shown on the Land 

Use Map; and  

 

 WHEREAS, proposed residential buildings on west 60 feet of this property would require amending the 

Commercial classification to the High Medium-Density Residential classification (5.2 and 10.8 units per acre); 

and    

 

 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission reviewed the requested amendment on September 10, 2019, and the 

Common Council held a public hearing on November 11, 2019 to consider amending the Plan and found such 

change to be appropriate and compatible with the existing and future nearby uses. 

  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that pursuant to Section 66.1001(4)(b) of the Wisconsin 

Statutes, the City of Cedarburg Common Council on the 12th day of August, 2019 hereby amends The City of 

Cedarburg Smart Growth Comprehensive Land Use Plan - 2025, as follows:  the westerly 60 Feet of W63 

N667 Washington Avenue is hereby classified as High-Medium Density Residential Use in the Comprehensive 

Land Use Plan – 2025. 

  

 Passed and adopted this 11th day of November, 2019. 

 

        _________________________________ 

        Michael J. O’Keefe, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

___________________________________ 

Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

___________________________________ 

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney 

Page 21 of 246



ORDINANCE NO. 2019-16 

 

An Ordinance Rezoning the 0.286 Acre Parcel at W63 N667 Washington Avenue 

 

The proposed ordinance having been submitted to the City Plan Commission for 

recommendation and notice having been given pursuant to Wis. Statute, the Common Council of 

the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, does hereby ordain as follows: 

 

The following described real estate situated in the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, 

presently being zoned as B-3 Central Business District is hereby rezoned to continue the 

B-3 Central Business District Zoning on the eastern two-thirds of the site, the Rm-1 

Residential Multiple Family Residential on the west one-third, the HPD Historic 

Preservation District to continue as before and PUD Planned Unit Development Overlay 

district to cover the entire site: 

 

That part of Lot 3 and 4, Block 1, Ludwig Groth’s Subdivision, in the South East ¼ of 

Section 27, Township 10 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Cedarburg, Ozaukee 

County, Wisconsin bounded and described as follows: Commencing at a point in the east 

line of said Lot 3, which point is 240. 78 feet S. 14° 46’ E. from the northeast corner of 

said lot 3; thence continuing S. 14° 46’ E. along the east line of said Lot 3 and 4, 100.00 

feet to a point; thence west on a line parallel to the north line of said Lot 3, 157.19 feet to 

a point in the west line of said lot 4; thence N. 0° 36’ E. along the west line of said lot 3 

and 4, 73.00 feet to a point; thence N. 79° 44’ 11” E. on a line 133.07 feet to the point of 

beginning. 

 

This ordinance shall take effect upon its passage and publication as provided by law. 

  

Passed and adopted this 11th day of November, 2019. 

 

 

       

             

       Michael O’Keefe, Mayor 

 

Attest: 

 

 

      

Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

      

Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney 

Page 22 of 246



GER SURVEYING CO., INC. 
7970 NORTH 47TH ST. BROWN DEER, WISCONSIN 53223 

PHONE 354.9000 

CLARENCE H PIEPENBURG, PRESIDENT 

RE$1STEREO LAND SURVEYOR 

Pl!Ol'Ell.'l.'V A'i 615 (\/. Washington 1\.venue Arthur Schoenkencht OWNER, 

UGA!. [i)H©RDIP'li'BOIM~(of record} Be':.ïinning at a point in 1:110 ~ust line of Lo-e: 3, 

Block l" Ludwig & Grot., Addition to the City of CcdarJJtJ.rg, •mici1 point is 
240. 78 feet South 15° .t:;. from t:10 Nort:1 I:ast corner of Lot 3, Bloci, 1, 
running thence 15° Il , 100.00 faet, the.nc'9 11est 157 feet to t:.e >'lest line of 
said Block 1, North 73 feet, thence :Jorth 78º ß. 131 :Ceet to tnc place of 
beginning, in Ozaukee County, Wisconsin. 

Li;Gl\L DBSCRIP'l'ION~ (Occup.:i.tional Lines) That nart of Lot 3 and tl, 1ÜOCJÇ 1, 
Lï:.H'l1frg J-Gro'tfu•s-"Subélivision, in the South I:ast.

0

1/4 of Section 'Z9., To1mship 
10 Northp Range 2"1-D:ast, in the City of Cedarburg, Ozaukee County, ,lisconsin 
bounded and described ac follows: Commencing at a point in the cast line of 
said Lot 30 which point is 240. 70 feet S.14º 46tr;. from the northeast corner 
of said Lot 37 thence continuinq S.14" 46°c. along the east line of said 
Lot 3 and 4, 100.00 feat to a pÓint~ thence West on a line parallel to the 
:'1orth line of said Lot .3, 157. H feet to n point in tho west line of said 
Lot 4; thence :J.0° 36 Q:c. alonq tho uest line of said Lot 3 and 4, 73.00 
feet to a point: the,·\Ce N.79" 4tl' ll"E. on <1 line 133.07 feet to the place 
of beginninçi. .IJN'~ e st: • , 

r 1'chO&N kNa,ht 
R.ll:-Z-OftJI N'- 

o 
.1.2 

Page 23 of 246



12-19-18 
DEC 2 O 2018 

CITY OF CEDARBURG 

We were in the process of replacing our flat roof to a pitched truss roof, when it was determined the 

south wall would not be structurally sound enough to bear the weight of the roof and trusses for what 

we planned to do in the future. We did have approval to replace the roof from both the landmarks and 

planning commissions. Rather than build a temporary wall to support the roof, we have decided to 

move forward with what the future building will look like. We would like to proceed with the exterior 

changes at this time, instead of having to go back to all the boards at a later date. 

Thank You for your consideration, 

Marty & Kathy Schoenknecht 

Page 24 of 246



fXISTING OIMl:NSIONAL 
A51'HA!.TSIIIOOl.f5 

E3 

XISTING CRfAM GITY 
E!RIQ( TO Rfl\AIN 

fXl5TING IM!>IPI.ANK 51DING 
& MIRATfG GORI.ER 605 51DINGTO 

MATGH fXl5TING 

MATGH TRIM ANO 
GORNER 00ARD5 
TO fXl5TING 

NORT!-! ELEV A. TION 

ALTERATION FOR: 

MARTIN SCHOENKNECHT 
CONTACT: 
MARTIN SCHOENKNECHT 
(262) 488-9083 
schoen4ofus@sbcglobal.net.com 

PROJECT LOCATION: 
W63N667 WASHINGTON AVE. 
CEDARBURG, WI 53012 

-~- - u:>ING TO - - MATCH fXl5TING 
12 

î - 
~ ~-- 

- 
' 

INGLES TO 

-~ 
MATGH fXl5TI 

--...... __,_.. 

~ 'I 

E3 ;:== MATCH TRIM ANO 
GORNfR 00AR05 

~ 
TO fXISTING 

11111111111111) 

'I.RO\/GHT IRON 
RAILING 5î5TeM 

\ 

\su:>INGTO 

EXISTING TENANT 5PACE 

SIDING TO 
MATCH fXISTING 

WEST ELEVATION 
RECEIVED 

EXISTING GARAGE 
MATCH TRIM Ml/ 
GORNfR 00ARDS 
TO fXISTING 

EAST ELEVATION MATCH fXISTING 

DEC l O 2018 

RfMOVf fXl5TING OVeRHEAD ODORS 
fRAMf IN <lffNING Ml/ INSTALL NEW 
ODORS / WINDOWS (TIP) 

fXISTING HMDIPI.ANK SIDING 
& MIRATfG GORNER 605 

fXl5TING CRfAM GITî 
ElRIGK TO REMAIN SOUT!-1 ELEVATION 

!Nore, ALL fXTeRIOR MATfRIALS WILL 

I¡ ¡J!l I ~± ~ 
~ £,i 

SHEET 

A-I 
i:¡ ¡¡¡ 

I 1~ 
Q 

Page 25 of 246



WII 1- EXISTING GARAGE 
\Sl 

~li I~ 
('i) 
o 

o 
z 

il ~ 

EXISTING CONIFER TREE 
- !t- )!(ct 

a 
() 

.. 
rf) Ir. o 

!ï-11 1 
"'- EXISTING LILAC TREES 

\ 3 3, o 1 I ~ •• J.~:~~-~~~-~-- 
- .. ----------·· - .. ----------------------· -----------·· ---- ------·· 

.... -- ..... --- .. -- ..... ___ .. -- _____ .. 

----------·""EXisi;ARB TREE~ -------- 

--~ .ø···\ 
\ 
I 

\ 
\ 

I 

\ 
I 
I 

f-\ fr f'\YV-\'ilA. . ft} u (p . u·J 

~ 
8 
~ 
"" 
~ 
<, 

"" <, 

"" 

r: 
i 

2'-6''ll r 
EXISTING HOUSE 

\ 
I 

\ 
\ 
\ 

I 

\ 
I 

\~ .. o 
\o 
\b 
\a 

I - I 

NEW ASPHALT DRIVE 

' 

\ 
\~ 

\ \5'- 
\ 

\ \ 

\EXISTING LILAC TREEj, 
' ' ' ' \ \ 
' ' ' ' ' ' ' I 
I ' 
' ' \ \ __ ....... -= 

\ REMOVE EXISTING ASPHALT 
__________ l DR IVE WA Y 

r --- 

\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 

\ .... -:----"·--····" _,.- ..-· 

\ 
I 

'\l§) 
' 
\~ 
\ t> 
'. () 
I 

,., \> 
\~ 
\ - 

\\\1 
I 
I 

\ 

\ 
.. 
\ 

\ 
\ 

I 

\ 
I 
I 

\ 
I 

\ 
\ 
\ 

______________________________________________________________ __i 

--EXISTING LILAC TREES 

EDGE Of NEW ASPHALT 

i[ z EXISTING FENCE ~ 
[.b__ -- -- -- -- -- -- -- ------------------------ 

SITE PLAN~ 
SCALE:> 111 

:: I 01-011 
NORTH 

157,1'3
1 WEST 

Page 26 of 246



PLAN COMMISSION  PLN20190910-7 
SEPTEMBER 10, 2019  UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

They decided to pursue something that would achieve that look but were initially hesitant 

to investigate possibilities of using an artificial green wall.  They found there are many 

different systems available and they ended up with about fifteen different samples that 

ranged from terrible to indistinguishable from real plants.  They were able to narrow their 

selection down to the samples they brought to this meeting for review.  This wall is going 

to be about 30’ from the sidewalk, so will mostly be viewed from a distance.  The material 

is made from high-density polyethylene, is fully recyclable with a life span of fifteen years, 

and it allows them to control the appearance year-round.  In answer to Council Member 

Thome’s question regarding whether it is possible for chunks of material to fall off, 

Architect Wendorf reassured her the material is high quality, secured, and can be hosed 

down for cleaning.  They come in 20” x 20” tiles which overlap, are replaceable, and UV 

stable, meaning no visible fading over time. 

 

Commissioner Strautmanis stated he does not see a problem using something artificial 

in this application; however, in Wisconsin, he is concerned that the material being green 

year-round might look fake during winter, so using greens such as boxwood or hollies, 

would be a good option.  Architect Wendorf is working with a gradient of different greens, 

as shown in the drawing provided in the meeting packet.  He pointed out that while it is 

not a material usually used in building design, people do put vinyl siding on homes that 

look like wood and other materials.  As inspiration, they took the idea of agricultural land 

familiar to the area and sort of played that up, using a vertical pattern of three different 

types of greenery, and having a subtle striation.  Commissioner Burgoyne stated that 

using any more than three different types of plants would appear to be too many columns, 

and believes the design was well thought out.  He stated the design is unique, tasteful 

and something that is different. 

 

As an architect, Commissioner Voltz appreciates the design, making it a bit more of a 

graphic, artful installation.  He considers it out of the box and is confident in the Architect 

when taking this approach.  He appreciated the honesty of the Architect on whether the 

previous live material would work out.  Mayor O’Keefe likes the design as it accentuates 

a modern building, and fits into surrounding nature. 

 

Action: 

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Voltz, seconded by Commissioner Burgoyne, to 

approve the alternate exterior material and changes to trash enclosure.  The motion 

carried without a negative vote. 

 

REQUEST LAND USE MAP AMENDMENT AND REZONING RECOMMENDATION 

FOR MIXED USE PROJECT LOCATED AT W63 N667 WASHINGTON AVENUE – 

MARTIN AND KATHLEEN SCHOENKNECHT

Page 27 of 246



PLAN COMMISSION  PLN20190910-8 
SEPTEMBER 10, 2019  UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

Since the August meeting, Planner Censky stated that staff had a change of thought on 

how to manage this unique property.  Due to the size and length of the building, this site 

is unlike any other site in the area as it has one owner with multiple uses.  It includes 

residential and/or commercial in the front first floor, residential apartments in the front 

second floor, and residential apartments in the rear of the building.  The front two-thirds 

of the building will continue to be in the B-3 district, and Planner Censky is proposing the 

back be zoned Rm-1, and then apply a PUD over the entire site.  Commissioners will also 

need to consider an amendment to the Land Use Plan, changing from commercial to high 

medium density. 

 

Commissioner Strautmanis questioned PUD status.  Planner Censky said he believes 

changes being made to the site has been an improvement, and that designating a PUD 

will tie the whole building together as one.  Commissioner Strautmanis clarified with 

Planner Censky that Cedarburg maintains base zoning and the PUD is an overlay to that.  

Commissioner Cain likes the way this is being resolved rather than amending the zoning 

code language, with the understanding that this is specific to this situation. 

 

Action: 

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Cain, seconded by Commissioner Strautmanis, to 

approve the request for Land Use Map Amendment and the rezoning recommendation.  

The motion carried without a negative vote. 

 

LAND DIVISION APPROVAL AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

RECOMMENDATION FOR THREE-LOT DEVELOPMENT LOCATED AT N50 W7404 

WESTERN ROAD – SARA DUNSTONE 

 

Planner Censky stated the review of the Development Agreement indicates that the three 

lots are in full compliance with the Rs-3 district.  The Agreement was drafted by Tom 

Wiza, Director of Engineering & Public Works, and will be subject to improvements 

required as listed on the Staff Report.  Commissioner Cain questioned as to whether the 

paved road ends north of the property line on Webster Avenue.  Planner Censky stated 

that because the road dead ends at the high school athletics field it will not be extended.  

Petitioner Sara Dunstone confirmed that the road will taper down from the asphalt.  

Commissioner Burgoyne clarified that everything is agreed on with the developer and 

owner. 

 

Action: 

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Burgoyne, seconded by Council Member Thome, 

to approve the Certified Survey Map and Development agreement.  The motion carried 

without a negative vote.

Page 28 of 246



 -57-

BUDGET SUMMARY 

City of Cedarburg
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020   % Change

City Tax Levies Actual Actual Actual Actual Proposed 2020/2019

General Fund Levy 5,803,256 5,869,616 6,133,050 5,954,081 6,067,595 1.9%

Capital Improvement Levy 1,170,000 1,192,000 915,000 1,235,000 1,680,000 36.0%

Special Revenue Fund Levy—Li-
brary 707,306 707,306 722,194 722,194 738,194 2.2%

TIF District - City Portion 62 106 148 36,903 24834.5%

Special Revenue Fund Levy—Pool 44,121 65,658 69,652 67,429 69,216 2.7%

Debt Service Levy 705,776 1,284,280 1,502,211 1,817,184 1,664,669 -8.4%

      
Total City Levy 8,430,459 9,118,922 9,342,213 9,796,036 10,256,577 4.7%

Other Taxing Bodies

Cedarburg Schools 11,817,277 11,937,297 11,882,675 12,113,832 12,845,138 6.0%

Cedarburg Schools—TIFs 81 136 183 42,973 23382.5%

Ozaukee County—Operating 2,211,000 2,262,791 2,353,560 2,381,557 -100.0%

Ozaukee County—TIFs 15 27 36 -100.0%

State of Wisconsin 204,381 212,892 

M.A.T.C.—Operating 1,514,199 1,580,353 1,646,116 1,651,388 1,690,227 2.4%

M.A.T.C.—TIFs 11 19 25 5,639 22456.0%

Total Tax Levy (Gross) 24,177,316 25,112,362 25,224,746 25,943,057 24,840,554 -4.2%

- State School Credit (2,087,023) (2,103,864) (2,307,992) (2,285,536) -100.0%

Total Tax Levy (Net) 22,090,293 23,008,498 22,916,754 23,657,521 24,840,554 5.0%

Equalized Valuation 1,204,323,800 1,254,478,000 1,309,147,300 1,347,444,900 1,433,294,900 6.4%

City Equalized Tax Rate 7.00 7.27 7.14 7.27 7.16 -1.6%

School District Equalized Tax Rate 9.84 9.54 9.08 9.01 8.98 -0.3%

Total Equalized Tax Rate 18.36 18.35 17.53 17.58 17.35 -1.3%

Assessed Valuation 1,208,692,140 1,221,899,680 1,248,857,140 1,262,000,218 1,310,325,200 3.8%

Assessment Ratio 100.36% 97.39% 95.40% 93.66% 91.42%

Tax Rates (Per $1,000 A.V.)

City of Cedarburg 6.97 7.46 7.48 7.76 7.83 0.9%

Cedarburg School District 9.80 9.79 9.54 9.62 9.86 2.5%

Ozaukee County 1.83 1.85 1.88 1.89 0.00 -100.0%

State of Wisconsin 0.17 0.17 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

M.A.T.C. 1.25 1.29 1.32 1.31 1.29 -1.5%

  Total Tax Rate (Gross) 20.02 20.56 20.22 20.58 18.98 -7.8%

- State School Credit (1.73) (1.72) (1.85) (1.81) -100.0%

  Total Tax Rate (Net) 18.29 18.84 18.37 18.77 18.98 1.1%Page 29 of 246



 -60-

The graph below represents the trend in the General Fund Balance for the past nine years. City policy states that undesignated 
General Fund–Fund Balance should be between two and three months of general fund expenditures, or approximately $1.6 
million to $2.46 million. The fund balance occasionally is used for planned reductions of one-time expenses while still 
keeping the City within the adopted policy. The 2020 budget does not include the use of fund balance.  

The difference between the total fund balance and the assigned fund balance is encumbrances carried over from the 
previous fiscal year, prepaid expenses and fuel and supply inventory.

GENERAL FUND          Fund Balance Summary

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Estimated
2019

Proposed
2020

Total 2,242,319 2,133,774 2,322,259 2,518,758 2,445,981 2,458,071 2,836,152 3,063,056 3,031,036

Unassigned 1,779,941 1,677,464 1,935,755 2,121,850 2,065,568 1,948,112 2,237,438 2,525,456 2,493,436

Minimum 1,316,459 1,365,442 1,370,056 1,407,749 1,465,446 1,566,217 1,546,030 1,593,438 1,641,241

Maximum 1,974,689 2,048,163 2,055,085 2,111,623 2,198,169 2,349,325 2,319,045 2,390,157 2,461,861

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

Page 30 of 246



 -66-

GENERAL FUND          Revenue Sources

General Fund
Fund 100

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Special Assessment Revenues 2,094 

Intergovernmental Revenues 1,003,161 1,056,396 952,888 1,184,366 1,274,414 1,327,656 12%

Regulation & Compliance 428,454 387,151 666,514 402,130 577,730 378,775 -6%

Law & Ordinance Violations 57,688 52,233 56,852 67,500 69,500 70,000 4%

Public Charges for Services 115,541 201,976 159,301 119,780 124,894 123,060 3%

Intergovernmental Charges 215,020 215,829 228,453 252,979 253,079 257,944 2%

Commercial Revenues 184,102 226,811 307,887 262,066 388,917 351,140 34%

Property Taxes 6,557,403 6,634,954 6,938,714 6,787,361 6,787,361 6,924,991 2%

Total 8,561,369 8,775,350 9,310,609 9,076,182 9,477,989 9,433,566 4%

2019 2019 2020 %Change

Expenditures 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
General Government 1,118,844 1,080,669 1,096,258 1,108,485 1,116,340 1,314,181 19%

Public Safety 3,919,317 3,886,636 4,109,946 4,202,115 4,171,802 4,362,593 4%

Engineering & Public Works 2,412,208 2,473,107 2,463,833 2,707,069 2,709,259 2,758,608 2%

Parks, Recreation & Forestry 874,382 981,329 1,039,614 988,293 978,243 925,703 -6%

Conservation & Development 92,920 86,702 121,987 102,493 102,463 104,501 2%

Transfers to Other Funds 14,503 138,175 0 252,000 277,910 0 -100%

Total 8,432,174 8,646,618 8,831,638 9,360,455 9,356,017 9,465,586 1%

Revenues - Expenditures 129,195 128,732 478,971 (284,273) 121,972 (32,020) -89%

Audit Adjustment  (201,780)

Fund Balance 2,445,981 2,574,713 3,053,684 2,769,411 3,175,656 3,143,636 

Page 31 of 246



 -69-

General Fund Revenues
Fund 100

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Public Improvements 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Special Assessment Revenue 2,094 

Total Special Assessment Revenue 2,094 

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Intergovernmental Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
State Shared Revenues 200,137 201,653 200,798 204,298 204,298 204,124 -0%

Fire Insurance Dues 46,134 83,047 82,175 88,000 0%

Expenditure Restraint Program 162,961 166,773 0 181,615 181,615 200,041 10%

State Grant, Police Training 3,200 2,880 3,200 2,700 3,040 3,360 24%

State Transportation Aids 509,960 527,404 606,514 697,492 697,492 802,115 15%

State Computer Aids 23,040 20,253 20,551 21,048 21,048 21,048 0%

State Recycling Grant 35,941 37,857 37,841 38,000 37,907 38,000 0%

State Personal Property Aid 39,213 39,214 39,213 0%

State Aid Cable Franchise Fees 14,955 

State Grant, Fire Safety 729 802 800 800 0%

State Grants—DOT/Police 20,958 1,000 1,000 4,000 

State Grant - Façade Study 830 

State Grant - Forestry 15,800 7 

Total Intergovernmental Revenues 1,003,161 1,056,396 952,888 1,184,366 1,274,414 1,327,656 12%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Regulation and Compliance 2016 2017 2018 Proposed Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Liquor & Beer Licenses 22,123 21,515 20,727 20,980 19,780 20,380 -3%

Direct Seller Licenses 1,705 1,750 490 1,800 610 500 -72%

Cigarette Licenses 400 600 600 600 500 500 -17%

Operator Licenses 14,350 14,810 13,365 14,350 12,500 12,500 -13%

Bicycle Licenses 136 40 245 100 120 100 0%

Dog and Cat Licenses 1,357 393 403 1,300 4,000 500 -62%

Cable TV Franchise Fee 155,956 145,549 149,552 148,000 149,000 134,600 -9%

Transient Permit Fee 250 250 250 250 250 250 0%

Weights & Measures Licenses 1,035 985 1,035 995 995 995 0%

Fire Inspection Fee 15,473 15,010 20,450 20,295 20,675 21,000 3%

Building Permits 111,871 87,877 248,940 94,000 200,000 88,000 -6%

Electrical Permits 21,303 23,988 50,254 22,000 38,000 22,000 0%

Plumbing Permits 25,440 23,080 48,820 24,750 35,000 24,750 0%

Heating/Air Conditioning Permits 20,279 21,067 51,794 20,000 53,000 20,000 0%

Drive Opening Permits 1,260 905 805 1,100 1,000 1,100 0%

Erosion Control Permits 5,750 5,280 6,240 5,200 5,200 5,200 0%

Occupancy Permits 6,170 4,590 14,520 5,200 8,000 5,200 0%

Sign Permits 1,590 1,405 2,000 1,800 2,500 1,800 0%

Street Opening Permits 4,300 3,800 4,558 3,800 11,000 4,400 16%

Miscellaneous Permits—Clerk 1,950 2,605 2,490 2,110 2,200 2,100 -0%

Building Inspection Plan Review 6,927 6,250 7,950 6,400 6,000 6,000 -6%
Page 32 of 246



 -70-

General Fund Revenues
Fund 100 (contd.)

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Regulation and Compliance 
(contd.)

2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Stormwater Management Permit 2,360 517 11,175 1,200 1,700 1,200 0%

Plan Review 6,469 4,885 9,851 5,500 5,500 5,500 0%

Zoning Permits 0 0 0 400 200 200 -50%

Total Regulation & Compliance 428,454 387,151 666,514 402,130 577,730 378,775 -6%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Law & Ordinance Violations 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Court Penalties & Costs 41,757 32,262 37,169 44,500 44,500 47,000 6%

State Forfeitures 2,000 0%

Parking Violations 15,931 19,971 19,683 23,000 23,000 23,000 0%

Total Law & Ordinance Violations 57,688 52,233 56,852 67,500 69,500 70,000 4%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Public Charges for Services 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Treasurer’s Offi ce Fees 1,338 3,602 1,645 1,200 1,000 1,200 0%

License Publication Fees 765 1,040 980 920 810 800 -13%

Assessor’s Offi ce Fees 6,230 5,505 6,675 5,500 5,700 5,500 0%

General Government Misc. Fees 4 25 322 0%

Engineering Fees 8,606 116 12,706 5,000 4,000 3,000 -40%

Building Inspection House Nos. 861 723 1,266 700 700 700 0%

State Tag Fee 1,850 1,705 2,145 1,760 1,760 1,760 0%

Tax Exemption Fees 175 0 200 0 0 200 0%

Central Duplicating Fees 120 433 155 250 100 150 -40%

Police Department Fees 18,285 10,805 15,387 11,500 11,500 11,500 0%

Alarm Permit Fees 325 6,755 400 250 275 250 0%

False Alarm Fees 1,090 1,155 370 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%

Public Works Department Fees 11,335 74,923 19,065 13,500 12,000 12,000 -11%

Celebrations 23,496 23,085 30,986 20,000 21,000 21,000 5%

Recycling—Aluminum/Tin 51 

Recycling Cart Upgrade 2,073 768 2,786 1,000 2,333 1,000 0%

Weed Mowing Fees 920 (920) 0 1,000 0 1,000 0%

Park Rental Fees 7,002 7,120 5,778 7,000 7,486 7,000 0%

Senior Center Fees 24,009 59,673 52,821 42,000 50,000 50,000 19%

Senior Van Receipts 6,739 5,412 5,614 6,200 4,000 4,000 -35%

Public Charges for Services 318 230 

Total Public Charges for Services 115,541 201,976 159,301 119,780 124,894 123,060 3%

Page 33 of 246



 -71-

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Intergovernmental Charges 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Sanitation—Town 3,350 3,350 3,350 2,165 2,165 2,165 0%

Fire— Operating—Town 148,655 145,017 156,985 165,700 165,700 184,265 11%

Fire/EMS Dispatching—Town 2,365 3,483 4,140 3,500 3,500 3,500 0%

General Fund Revenues
Fund 100 (contd.)

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Intergovernmental Charges 
(contd.)

2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Emergency Management—Town 330 100 100 -100%

Crossing Guards—School District 42,005 42,249 43,915 50,000 50,000 50,000 0%

Sewer Administrative Services 10,250 10,250 10,250 10,250 10,250 10,250 0%

Transfer from Room Tax Fund 3,953 4,039 4,160 3,500 3,500 3,500 0%

Transfer from Rec Programs 13,500 13,500 -100%

Transfer from CDBG—Admin. 931 1,221 1,247 500 

Transfer from TIF—Admin. 455 343 1,358 1,300 1,000 1,300 0%

City of Mequon—Reimbursement 2,726 5,877 2,948 2,964 2,964 2,964 0%

Total Intergovernmental Charges 215,020 215,829 228,453 252,979 253,079 257,944 2%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Commercial Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Interest—Delinquent Property Taxes 605 478 507 300 400 400 33%

Interest— Investments 21,149 53,773 94,111 70,828 140,000 140,750 99%

Interest—Special Assessments 154 364 78 200 575 0 -100%

Change in Market Value (36,989) (10,181) (7,256) 5,000 40,000 0 -100%

Rent—City Property 16,904 13,252 10,489 13,000 13,000 13,000 0%

Rent—City Property, Water Tower 137,251 143,853 151,179 158,738 165,953 173,490 9%

Sale of City Property 3,424 2,122 1,920 100 

Refund of Prior Years Expense (2,712) (559) 717 4,787 

Donations 30,835 18,517 40,289 14,000 14,100 13,500 -4%

Miscellaneous Revenue 13,481 5,192 15,853 0 10,002 10,000 0%

Total Commercial Revenues 184,102 226,811 307,887 262,066 388,917 351,140 34%

Total Non-Tax Revenues 2,003,966 2,140,396 2,371,895 2,288,821 2,688,534 2,508,575 10%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Tax Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Property Taxes 5,812,613 5,869,661 6,133,050 5,954,081 5,954,081 6,067,595 2%

Property Tax Equivalent 744,790 765,293 805,664 833,280 833,280 857,396 3%

Total Property Taxes 6,557,403 6,634,954 6,938,714 6,787,361 6,787,361 6,924,991 2%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Total General Fund Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

8,561,369 8,775,350 9,310,609 9,076,182 9,477,989 9,433,566 4%

Page 34 of 246



 -223-

APPENDICES

General Government Fund 100 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Common Council 511100 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Salaries 17,707 16,757 16,154 16,800 15,877 16,800 0%

Social Security 1,335 1,278 1,236 1,285 1,215 1,285 0%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 38 37 35 30 30 27 -10%

Total 19,080 18,072 17,425 18,115 17,122 18,112 -0%

511100 Common Council 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Subscriptions and Dues 6,101 6,032 6,367 6,500 6,613 6,700 3%

Travel & Meeting Expenses 154 72 51 225 100 225 0%

Operating Expenses 184 135 568 375 375 375 0%

Total 6,439 6,239 6,986 7,100 7,088 7,300 3%

Total Expenditures 25,519 24,311 24,411 25,215 24,210 25,412 1%

513100 Mayor 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Salary 6,231 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 0%

Social Security 477 459 459 459 459 459 0%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 14 13 12 11 11 10 -9%

Total 6,722 6,472 6,471 6,470 6,470 6,469 -0%

513100 Mayor 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Telephone 88 90 89 100 104 104 4%

Printing 3,564 

Travel & Meeting Expenses 553 106 650 600 250 600 0%

Awards & Supplies 1,290 1,000 0%

Other Expenses 107 301 250 100 250 0%

Total 4,312 196 2,330 950 454 1,954 106%

Total Expenditures 11,034 6,668 8,801 7,420 6,924 8,423 14%

513200 City Administrator 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 71,490 72,693 74,377 78,860 75,320 100,000 27%

Sick Payout 987 1,006 940 1,364 1,035 0 -100%

Social Security 5,416 5,530 5,655 6,248 5,952 7,717 24%

Retirement 4,945 5,156 5,072 5,349 5,096 6,608 24%

Health Insurance 13,347 15,434 15,643 7,131 7,131 21,723 205%

Life Insurance 47 48 49 39 70 0 -100%

Longevity 1,294 1,344 1,394 1,443 1,443 882 -39%

Workers’ Comp Insurance 176 177 169 144 144 137 -5%

Total 97,702 101,388 103,299 100,578 96,191 137,067 36%

Page 35 of 246



 -224-

APPENDICES

513200 City Administrator 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Telephone 88 90 88 410 410 410 0%

Operating Supplies 46 8 9 150 150 150 0%

Publications & Dues 357 333 366 375 360 400 7%

Conferences & Travel 880 166 339 600 655 700 17%

Total 1,371 597 802 1,535 1,575 1,660 8%

Total Expenditures 99,073 101,985 104,101 102,113 97,766 138,727 36%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
519200 Employee Relations 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
EAP/125 1,811 1,318 1,711 2,100 2,200 2,300 10%

Professional Services 1,229 1,061 550 1,200 1,000 28,200 2250%

Leadership Development 230 574 610 600 600 600 0%

Awards and Supplies 1,479 3,027 1,833 900 1,500 1,875 108%

Total 4,749 5,980 4,704 4,800 5,300 32,975 587%

516100 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Legal Services 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Extraordinary Services 102,153 51,727 37,738 55,000 45,000 55,000 0%

Total Legal Services 102,153 51,727 37,738 55,000 45,000 55,000 0%

514100 City Clerk 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 123,600 126,270 128,848 130,924 149,370 139,983 7%

Salaries—Part-Time 17,258 17,535 16,491 18,596 18,596 -100%

Sick Payout 1,526 1,629 1,680 1,735 1,735 559 -68%

Social Security 11,061 11,229 11,477 11,749 13,160 10,877 -7%

Retirement 9,685 10,143 9,537 8,842 10,050 9,597 9%

Health Insurance 31,967 31,660 31,542 26,040 35,000 47,169 81%

Life Insurance 84 86 88 89 70 58 -35%

Longevity 1,953 2,079 2,205 2,331 2,331 1,638 -30%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 342 348 331 283 283 243 -14%

Total 197,476 200,979 202,199 200,589 230,595 210,124 5%

514100 City Clerk 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 374 1,676 1,017 1,000 1,000 11,020 1002%

Telephone 441 448 443 600 450 500 -17%

Repair & Maintenance Services 1,350 1,463 1,125 1,415 1,415 1,415 0%

Offi ce Supplies & Expenses 1,675 1,972 2,671 3,100 2,500 2,750 -11%

Recording Fees 170 210 330 400 300 350 -13%

Computer/Copier Supplies 1,863 1,284 1,727 2,500 1,800 2,000 -20%

Postage 8,163 6,506 7,878 9,000 6,100 9,000 0%

Publication & Dues 178 390 130 575 580 575 0%

Legal Notice Publications 3,303 3,961 4,478 4,500 4,000 4,500 0%

Employee Training, Travel 114 387 429 1,000 500 1,500 50%Page 36 of 246



 -225-

APPENDICES

Equipment 0 0 500 900 500 600 -33%

Total 17,631 18,297 20,728 24,990 19,145 34,210 37%

Total Expenditures 215,107 219,276 222,927 225,579 249,740 244,334 8%

514200 Elections 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 27,277 9,625 25,782 15,144 11,247 30,009 98%

Overtime 44 721 

Salaries—Part Time 113 

Social Security 107 54 127 44 

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 71 31 71 61 61 49 -20%

Total 27,612 9,710 26,701 15,205 11,352 30,058 98%

514200 Elections 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Supplies 5,784 4,900 8,073 7,130 5,000 10,000 40%

Legal Notice Publications 66 100 200 200 0%

Total 5,850 5,000 8,073 7,330 5,000 10,200 39%

Total Expenditures 33,462 14,710 34,774 22,535 16,352 40,258 79%

515400 City Assessor 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 71,472 72,634 74,354 75,550 75,550 77,057 2%

Sick Payout 760 875 801 750 750 750 0%

Social Security 5,179 5,135 5,262 5,977 5,977 6,097 2%

Retirement 4,966 5,180 5,095 5,117 5,117 5,380 5%

Health Insurance 18,161 21,892 22,013 21,240 21,240 21,236 -0%

Life Insurance 66 68 70 70 70 89 27%

Longevity 1,638 1,701 1,764 1,827 1,827 1,890 3%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 3,450 3,408 3,414 3,118 3,118 2,738 -12%

Total 105,692 110,893 112,773 113,649 113,649 115,237 1%

515400 City Assessor 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 0%

Revaluation 0 0 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 0%

Telephone 177 179 177 200 192 200 0%

Offi ce Supplies 268 903 153 300 300 300 0%

Computer Supplies 3,969 3,884 4,207 4,435 4,435 4,515 2%

Publication & Dues 255 305 320 320 240 240 -25%

State Fees—Mfg. Assessment 1,505 1,592 1,506 1,600 1,502 1,600 0%

Employee Training, Travel 887 947 977 1,100 970 1,100 0%

Total 20,561 21,310 20,840 31,455 31,139 31,455 0%

Total Expenditures 126,253 132,203 133,613 145,104 144,788 146,692 1%

Page 37 of 246



 -226-

APPENDICES

515600 City Treasurer 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 80,830 82,629 80,369 73,691 73,691 163,627 122%

Salaries—Part Time 0 0 7,820 19,519 19,519 -100%

Sick Payout 452 362 482 527 527 531 1%

Social Security 5,852 6,007 6,372 7,309 7,309 12,794 75%

Retirement 5,625 5,869 5,429 4,980 6,258 10,954 120%

Health Insurance 22,032 24,404 24,463 20,813 20,813 27,233 31%

Life Insurance 81 83 106 69 113 144 109%

Longevity 1,537 1,629 1,720 1,811 1,811 3,082 70%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 195 197 187 161 161 153 -5%

Total 116,604 121,180 126,948 128,880 130,202 218,518 70%

515600 City Treasurer 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 52,368 49,200 48,602 55,000 55,000 55,000 0%

Telephone 265 269 266 315 315 315 0%

Offi ce Supplies 6,794 5,713 4,955 6,460 6,460 7,000 8%

Publication & Dues 465 370 380 500 380 520 4%

Employee Training, Travel 170 684 72 400 200 400 0%

Offi ce Equipment 1,014 100 115 100 0%

Other Expenses 2,289 2,431 1,513 2,500 2,500 2,900 16%

Total 63,365 58,667 55,788 65,275 64,970 66,235 1%

Total Expenditures 179,969 179,847 182,736 194,155 195,172 284,753 47%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
515900 Independent Auditing 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 32,400 33,750 27,250 28,000 27,750 29,000 4%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
514700 Technology 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 9,505 16,870 16,586 31,500 33,000 31,500 0%

Internet Service 13,365 13,460 13,512 10,000 13,000 13,000 30%

Computer Supplies 74 28 

Equipment Outlay 18,820 9,973 14,914 17,280 17,650 22,175 28%

Multi Use Equipment 7,059 7,419 7,340 7,500 7,500 7,700 3%

Total 48,823 47,750 52,352 66,280 71,150 74,375 12%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
519100 Illegal/Uncollectible Taxes 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Uncollectible Taxes 2,113 

2019 2019 2020 % Change
519400 Insurance 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Property/Auto Insurance 3,648 3,702 2,720 2,646 2,646 2,974 12%

General Liability Insurance 4,664 4,555 5,588 4,583 4,378 4,642 1%

Surety Bonds 520 605 596 605 714 750 24%

Total 8,832 8,862 8,904 7,834 7,738 8,366 7%Page 38 of 246



 -227-

APPENDICES

518100 City Hall Complex 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 82,495 108,468 74,030 72,230 72,230 73,683 2%

Overtime 3,598 2,138 2,065 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%

Salaries—Part-Time 1,996 

Sick Payout 972 249 281 352 352 323 -8%

Social Security 6,881 8,276 5,808 5,762 5,762 5,872 2%

Retirement 6,118 6,204 5,317 4,934 4,934 5,181 5%

Health Insurance 19,345 13,845 11,740 13,144 13,144 13,213 1%

Life Insurance 143 94 96 71 71 77 8%

Longevity 2,487 643 680 743 743 756 2%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 4,151 4,247 3,373 3,080 3,080 2,627 -15%

Total 128,186 144,164 103,390 102,316 102,316 103,732 1%

518100 City Hall Complex 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Electric 23,578 23,087 21,633 25,609 25,609 25,609 0%

Natural Gas 21,155 21,924 20,549 25,000 25,000 25,000 0%

Telephone 1,971 1,914 3,150 2,025 2,025 2,025 0%

Water Service 3,350 3,155 3,135 3,500 3,500 3,500 0%

Repair & Maintenance Services 32,181 24,260 52,332 30,000 30,000 30,000 0%

Operating Supplies 15,166 12,773 7,731 14,000 14,000 14,000 0%

Capital Equipment Outlay 5,883 20,210 42,027 22,000 22,000 22,000 0%

Total 103,284 107,323 150,557 122,134 122,134 122,134 0%

Total Expenditures 231,470 251,487 253,947 224,450 224,450 225,866 1%

Total General Government 1,118,844 1,080,669 1,096,258 1,108,485 1,116,340 1,314,181 19%

Public Safety
522100 Police Station 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 17,811 14,951 18,363 20,283 20,283 20,689 2%

Overtime 389 0 0 400 400 400 0%

Sick Payout 202 166 188 235 235 235 0%

Social Security 1,535 1,218 1,454 1,637 1,637 1,670 2%

Retirement 1,356 1,107 1,259 1,386 1,386 1,458 5%

Health Insurance 3,348 3,592 5,601 3,611 3,611 3,645 1%

Life Insurance 0 0 6 24 24 24 0%

Longevity 403 428 454 479 479 504 5%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 964 932 932 852 852 703 -17%

Total 26,008 22,394 28,257 28,907 28,907 29,328 1%

522100 Police Station 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Electric 26,000 25,280 24,966 28,591 28,591 29,305 2%

Natural Gas 6,769 7,951 7,383 12,000 12,000 12,120 1%

Page 39 of 246



 -228-

APPENDICES

Water Service 1,068 1,050 1,006 1,270 1,270 1,346 6%

Repair & Maintenance Services 28,228 28,499 32,737 20,000 20,000 20,000 0%

Maintenance Supplies 2,068 3,863 1,712 4,500 4,500 4,500 0%

Property/Auto Insurance 2,038 2,038 1,310 1,310 1,310 1,533 17%

Total 66,171 68,681 69,114 67,671 67,671 68,804 2%

Total Expenditures 92,179 91,075 97,371 96,578 96,578 98,132 2%

522110 Police Administration 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 193,472 198,164 201,656 205,731 205,731 209,638 2%

Overtime 2,487 26,484 17,917 4,129 11,000 5,000 21%

Offi ce/Dispatchers 382,637 386,941 351,931 393,175 373,175 412,970 5%

Holiday 8,637 8,202 9,112 13,294 12,000 13,559 2%

Sick Payout 4,576 5,418 5,512 5,990 5,990 5,768 -4%

Social Security 45,119 48,035 44,782 48,595 47,491 50,516 4%

Retirement 46,754 50,867 48,674 49,444 48,500 54,456 10%

Health Insurance 125,309 119,206 136,743 159,649 124,283 133,304 -17%

Life Insurance 226 212 227 247 247 247 0%

Longevity 13,282 11,896 12,400 12,904 12,904 13,408 4%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 8,316 7,983 7,880 6,065 6,850 6,233 3%

Total 830,815 863,408 836,834 899,223 848,171 905,099 1%

522110 Police Administration 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Legal Services 18,449 13,837 21,400 15,000 15,000 15,000 0%

Animal Pound 1,089 1,075 655 1,500 1,500 1,500 0%

Telephone/Communications 29,998 33,029 28,772 29,000 37,790 29,000 0%

Repair & Maintenance Services 73,757 45,536 46,320 46,000 46,000 46,000 0%

Offi ce Supplies 7,499 6,116 7,222 6,500 6,500 6,500 0%

Printing 3,270 3,658 2,805 3,500 3,500 3,500 0%

Publications & Dues 233 327 1,130 1,250 1,250 1,250 0%

Employee Training, Travel 4,997 6,492 5,687 4,500 4,500 4,500 0%

Clothing & Uniforms 3,204 3,611 2,915 3,700 3,700 3,700 0%

Supplies & Expenses—Hunter Safety 60 316 (29) 300 300 300 0%

Equipment Outlay 624 2,111 5,996 2,500 2,500 2,500 0%

Other Expenses (Photo) 2,035 1,172 1,267 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%

Liability Insurance 19,840 20,442 19,154 20,233 19,323 22,157 10%

Total 165,055 137,722 143,294 135,983 143,863 137,907 1%

Total Expenditures 995,870 1,001,130 980,128 1,035,206 992,034 1,043,006 1%

522120 Patrol 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 1,252,269 1,193,629 1,241,509 1,301,004 1,301,004 1,375,468 6%

Overtime 50,588 38,051 37,311 48,480 48,480 51,253 6%

Crossing Guards 39,600 39,382 41,081 36,553 50,000 46,700 28%

Wages/Billable (10,606) (13,526) (7,798) (10,000) (54,000) (75,000) 650%

Holiday 33,549 37,066 33,933 59,273 59,273 62,663 6%
Page 40 of 246



 -229-

APPENDICES

Sick Payout 4,192 4,376 1,749 4,049 4,095 2,259 -44%

Social Security 105,518 101,149 104,333 111,116 112,913 118,513 7%

Retirement 129,841 144,786 146,193 150,010 150,010 174,777 17%

Health Insurance 224,231 210,480 232,931 260,047 260,047 293,840 13%

Life Insurance 171 201 206 204 204 187 -8%

Longevity 17,162 12,658 12,232 13,141 13,141 10,852 -17%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 51,066 49,543 47,792 41,621 41,621 41,837 1%

Total 1,897,581 1,817,795 1,891,472 2,015,498 1,986,788 2,103,349 4%

522120 Patrol 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Repair & Maintenance Services 16,397 25,233 22,405 20,000 20,000 20,000 0%

Employee Training, Travel 19,162 17,371 23,360 16,000 28,000 16,000 0%

Clothing & Uniforms 18,990 18,001 20,596 12,200 22,000 12,000 -2%

Supplies & Expenses 7,564 6,078 1,050 5,500 12,000 5,500 0%

Gasoline, Motor Oil 26,522 30,843 30,375 25,000 25,000 25,000 0%

K-9 Unit Expense 1,006 968 7,000 14,000 3,000 -57%

Equipment Outlay 27,188 23,375 32,704 25,000 25,000 25,000 0%

Other Expenses 1,016 125 305 500 500 500 0%

Property/Automobile Insurance 3,440 3,922 3,915 3,401 3,401 3,997 18%

Total 120,279 125,954 135,678 114,601 149,901 110,997 -3%

Total Expenditures 2,017,860 1,943,749 2,027,150 2,130,099 2,136,689 2,214,346 4%

522130 Investigative Division 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 161,067 211,292 172,467 178,476 178,476 184,709 3%

Overtime 17,353 4,171 5,107 5,519 5,519 5,629 2%

Wages/Billable (314) 2,858 (1,767) (1,500) (1,500) (1,500) 0%

Holiday 6,154 6,290 5,047 3,568 3,568 3,639 2%

Sick Payout 758 0 1,348 

Social Security 13,859 16,199 13,622 14,401 14,401 14,901 3%

Retirement 18,795 19,283 21,017 20,018 20,018 22,867 14%

Health Insurance 37,013 33,906 43,078 43,364 43,364 43,446 0%

Life Insurance 96 43 33 36 36 35 -3%

Longevity 3,239 4,814 2,058 2,184 2,184 2,310 6%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 6,627 6,476 6,469 5,634 5,634 5,318 -6%

Total 264,647 305,332 268,479 271,700 271,700 281,354 4%

522130 Investigative Division 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 8,226 7,449 7,857 2,500 2,500 2,500 0%

Investigative Supplies 1,700 2,049 2,481 3,000 3,000 3,000 0%

Employee Training, Travel 1,878 889 5,836 2,000 3,000 2,000 0%

Clothing & Uniforms 1,907 968 3,090 1,250 1,500 1,250 0%

Total 13,711 11,355 19,264 8,750 10,000 8,750 0%

Total Expenditures 278,358 316,687 287,743 280,450 281,700 290,104 3%
Page 41 of 246



 -230-

APPENDICES

522230 Fire Station 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 0 22,117 51,198 53,552 53,552 81,219 52%

Overtime 2,500 

Part Time Salaries 0 12,256 28,825 54,101 52,021 53,061 -2%

FICA 0 2,623 4,832 8,235 8,076 10,464 27%

Retirement 21,197 21,723 21,548 27,596 27,596 29,739 8%

Health Insurance 0 6,184 21,155 21,240 21,240 31,854 50%

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 9,297 9,409 15,995 8,171 8,171 5,083 -38%

Total 30,494 74,312 143,553 172,895 170,656 213,920 24%

522230 Fire Station 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Electric 17,193 15,172 15,595 17,000 17,000 17,000 0%

Natural Gas 9,732 10,023 10,472 12,000 12,000 12,000 0%

Telephone 578 652 655 800 800 800 0%

Water Service 2,806 2,520 2,420 3,000 3,000 3,000 0%

Operating Expense 262,435 212,404 262,108 213,500 213,500 217,500 2%

Building Maintenance 5,339 5,045 11,830 11,000 11,000 15,000 36%

Maintenance/Contracted Services 0 2,240 360 1,500 1,500 1,500 0%

Equipment Outlay 43,207 

Property/Auto Insurance 30,610 34,563 39,533 36,612 36,612 38,146 4%

Liability Insurance 2,708 2,834 2,865 2,359 2,333 1,353 -43%

Total 331,401 285,453 389,045 297,771 297,745 306,299 3%

Total Expenditures 361,895 359,765 532,598 470,666 468,401 520,219 11%

522310 Building Inspection 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 99,055 101,400 103,478 105,485 105,485 107,586 2%
Social Security 7,315 7,509 7,672 8,137 8,137 8,303 2%
Retirement 6,814 7,123 6,982 6,967 6,967 7,326 5%
Health Insurance 24,727 26,630 28,463 29,640 29,640 29,656 0%
Life Insurance 57 58 59 59 59 61 3%
Longevity 693 756 819 882 882 945 7%
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 3,202 3,145 2,967 2,705 2,705 2,383 -12%

Total 141,863 146,621 150,440 153,875 153,875 156,260 2%

522310 Building Inspection 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 2,935 1,275 2,624 3,000 6,000 5,000 67%
Telephone 504 840 957 650 1,000 700 8%
Offi ce Supplies & Expenses 3,377 2,471 3,545 2,400 2,400 2,400 0%
Employee Training, Travel 375 155 574 500 500 500 0%
Vehicle Maintenance—Gasoline 1,972 2,119 2,117 1,700 1,700 1,700 0%
Liability Insurance 949 944 874 924 882 979 6%

Total 10,112 7,804 10,691 9,174 12,482 11,279 23%

Total Expenditures 151,975 154,425 161,131 163,049 166,357 167,539 3%Page 42 of 246



 -231-

APPENDICES

2019 2019 2020 % Change
522360 Weights & Measures 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%

522410 Emergency Management 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 250 75 56 250 56 100 -60%

Internet 1,620 1,620 

Electric 667 688 691 900 900 800 -11%
Natural Gas 784 773 487 1,250 1,250 1,200 -4%
Telephone 1,225 1,354 1,094 1,250 1,250 1,500 20%
Water Service 371 390 402 420 420 500 19%
Sirens Maintenance 1,440 2,940 2,940 2,500 2,500 2,000 -20%
Repair & Maintenance 1,038 1,027 4,866 2,500 2,500 2,000 -20%
Maintenance—Contracted 24 219 841 500 500 500 0%

Offi ce Supplies 300 800 

Radio Equipment Maintenance 789 677 525 2,450 2,450 2,000 -18%
Training & Travel 1,720 464 916 1,500 1,500 2,000 33%
Repair & Maintenance—Supplies 54 459 283 500 500 700 40%
Awards 350 117 411 800 800 800 0%
Clothing & Uniforms 4,443 1,279 921 1,200 1,200 1,200 0%
Operating Supplies—Vehicles 654 1,494 2,170 2,000 3,000 3,000 50%
Fuel—Vehicles 479 695 576 750 2,000 2,000 167%
Equipment 3,537 3,819 3,229 4,000 4,000 3,000 -25%
Property Insurance 1,355 1,335 1,417 1,297 1,297 1,527 18%

Total 19,180 17,805 21,825 24,067 28,043 27,247 13%

Total Public Safety 3,919,317 3,886,636 4,109,946 4,202,115 4,171,802 4,362,593 4%

533110 Engineering 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 113,396 115,346 118,377 119,881 113,000 112,450 -6%
Sick Pay Out 1,082 736 1,015 7,616 9,515 580 -92%
Social Security 8,144 8,261 8,666 9,941 9,560 8,726 -12%
Retirement 7,851 8,185 8,081 8,013 7,562 7,661 -4%
Health Insurance 16,845 19,233 18,865 22,561 22,220 20,797 -8%
Life Insurance 168 180 189 147 147 108 -27%
Longevity 2,173 2,268 2,363 2,457 2,457 1,040 -58%
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 3,837 3,710 3,791 3,458 3,458 2,991 -14%

Total 153,496 157,919 161,347 174,074 167,919 154,353 -11%

533110 Engineering 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 1,863 400 6,253 16,500 28,000 10,500 -36%
Telephone 424 371 413 500 500 1,000 100%
Offi ce Supplies 558 195 322 400 500 400 0%
Maps & Plats 3,977 2,053 9,783 10,400 10,400 10,000 -4%Page 43 of 246



 -232-

APPENDICES

Publications & Dues 197 315 962 900 900 950 6%
Employee Training, Travel 685 1,332 1,295 1,300 1,300 1,350 4%
Operating Supplies 586 328 1,187 1,100 1,100 1,100 0%
Gas & Oil Expense 1,051 941 1,132 1,000 1,000 1,000 0%
Equipment Outlay 770 400 197 800 800 800 0%
Liability Insurance 6,914 6,734 6,831 7,216 6,891 7,663 6%

Total 17,025 13,069 28,375 40,116 51,391 34,763 -13%

Total Expenditures 170,521 170,988 189,722 214,190 219,310 189,116 -12%

533210 Public Works Crew 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 112,279 144,170 101,193 75,526 75,526 77,047 2%
Overtime 1,137 3,576 823 1,050 1,300 1,050 0%

Part Time Seasonal 13,500 4,500 4,500 -67%
Social Security 8,260 10,865 7,358 6,270 6,289 6,391 2%
Retirement 7,721 10,304 6,871 5,073 5,090 5,335 5%
Health Insurance 13,951 19,787 17,234 21,240 21,240 21,236 -0%
Life Insurance 6 9 18 0 5 0 0%
Longevity 693 756 819 882 882 945 7%
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 5,391 5,268 3,218 2,939 2,939 2,861 -3%

Total 149,438 194,735 137,534 126,480 117,771 119,365 -6%

533210 Public Works Crew 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Contracted Services 699 1,220 1,217 700 1,000 700 0%
Electric 8,521 22,442 20,680 24,400 24,400 24,400 0%
Natural Gas 9,284 8,507 8,825 11,500 11,500 11,500 0%
Telephone 1,990 6,318 5,645 7,100 7,100 7,100 0%
Water Service 2,095 4,827 4,674 10,000 10,000 10,000 0%

Fuel System Maintenance 1,070 8,000 5,000 -100%
Employee Training, Travel 250 2,024 1,182 3,200 3,000 2,200 -31%
Garage/Maintenance Supplies 34,777 31,050 37,385 31,350 31,350 32,350 3%
Gas/Diesel Fuel & Oil Expense 58,699 54,692 61,695 55,000 55,000 55,000 0%
M&E Maintenance/Parts 50,425 74,663 66,242 51,000 55,000 75,000 47%
Equipment Outlay 23,704 5,028 1,980 5,000 5,000 5,000 0%
Property/Auto Insurance 28,515 34,724 38,263 34,033 34,033 35,806 5%

Total 218,959 245,495 248,858 241,283 242,383 259,056 7%

Total Expenditures 368,397 440,230 386,392 367,763 360,154 378,421 3%

533311 Street Maintenance 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 319,438 259,879 301,962 349,842 349,842 356,806 2%
Overtime 22,557 20,207 28,984 45,500 45,500 45,500 0%
Part Time Salaries/Temporary 5,852 11,072 9,310 6,900 6,900 6,900 0%
Sick Pay Out 2,794 2,831 2,447 2,934 2,934 2,963 1%
Social Security 25,089 20,099 23,785 31,767 31,767 32,341 2%
Retirement 23,906 19,591 22,795 26,555 26,555 27,870 5%

Page 44 of 246



 -233-

APPENDICES

Health Insurance 139,053 153,796 171,362 180,972 180,972 181,229 0%
Life Insurance 106 48 54 35 70 76 117%
Longevity 11,277 9,072 9,576 10,080 10,080 10,584 5%
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 15,747 14,830 17,929 16,376 16,376 14,504 -11%

Total 565,819 511,425 588,204 670,961 670,996 678,773 1%

533311 Street Maintenance 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 584 509 353 750 750 750 0%
Repair & Maintenance Services 47,545 51,212 51,365 45,500 45,500 45,500 0%
Operating Supplies 4,000 3,117 561 5,400 3,000 3,000 -44%
Signs, Supplies & Parts 15,459 12,336 11,562 10,473 10,473 9,473 -10%

Total 67,588 67,174 63,841 62,123 59,723 58,723 -5%

Total Expenditures 633,407 578,599 652,045 733,084 730,719 737,496 1%

533410 Streets Ineligible 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Repair & Maintenance - alleys 20,000 

Lease Expenses 5,381 4,187 4,091 5,450 4,170 4,200 -23%
Total Expenditures 5,381 4,187 4,091 5,450 4,170 24,200 344%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
533420 Street Lighting 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Electric 288,811 265,093 272,777 270,000 258,500 270,000 0%

Total 288,811 265,093 272,777 270,000 258,500 270,000 0%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
533421 Traffi c Control Signals 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Electric 2,708 2,889 2,712 3,150 3,150 3,150 0%
Repair & Maintenance Services 6,715 3,972 7,464 5,000 5,000 5,000 0%

Total 9,423 6,861 10,176 8,150 8,150 8,150 0%

Total Lighting and Signals 298,234 271,954 282,953 278,150 266,650 278,150 0%

533440 Storm Sewers 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 59,141 61,340 43,598 131,880 131,880 134,507 2%
Overtime 461 0 925 1,000 1,000 1,000 0%
Social Security 4,544 4,644 3,390 10,165 10,165 10,366 2%
Retirement 4,085 4,342 2,982 8,704 8,704 9,147 5%
Health Insurance 1,471 0 0 5,310 5,310 5,309 -0%
Life Insurance 0 1 1 0 2 2 0%
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 4,684 4,611 5,721 5,226 5,226 4,656 -11%

Total 74,386 74,938 56,617 162,285 162,287 164,987 2%

Page 45 of 246



 -234-

APPENDICES

533440 Storm Sewers 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Repair & Maintenance Services 31,142 32,025 27,704 32,000 30,000 30,000 -6%
Contracted Services (street sweepings) 10,101 10,608 10,264 15,790 15,000 15,000 -5%
State Fees—DNR Stormwater Permit 1,651 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 0%

Total 42,894 44,133 39,468 49,290 46,500 46,500 -6%

Total Expenditures 117,280 119,071 96,085 211,575 208,787 211,487 -0%

533450 Snow and Ice Control 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Contracted Services—Seasonal 291 0 0 4,000 4,000 4,000 0%
Contracted Services 5,184 2,458 1,153 12,000 12,000 12,000 0%
Maintenance Supplies 5,748 8,288 12,617 18,323 18,000 7,200 -61%
Equipment 0 7,450 4,134 4,000 4,000 4,000 0%
Ice Control Materials 90,000 120,850 88,172 95,000 120,000 109,000 15%

Total Expenditures 101,223 139,046 106,076 133,323 158,000 136,200 2%

533730 Recycling 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 80,836 92,266 94,867 92,539 92,539 94,380 2%
Overtime 2,688 974 760 1,700 500 500 -71%

Part Time Salaries/Temporary 4,175 77 

Social Security 6,687 7,026 7,047 7,209 7,117 7,258 1%
Retirement 5,663 6,476 6,231 6,068 6,094 6,404 6%

Health Insurance 1,501 105 34 

Life Insurance 2 7 3 1 

Workers’ Comp. Insurance 4,270 4,188 4,056 3,705 3,705 3,260 -12%
Total 105,822 111,119 112,998 111,221 109,956 111,802 1%

533730 Recycling 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Contracted Services 198,096 203,315 203,869 207,747 207,747 220,416 6%
Recycling Expenses 901 2,118 1,315 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%

Equipment/Capital Outlay 11,463 

Total 198,997 216,896 205,184 209,747 209,747 222,416 6%

Total Expenditures 304,819 328,015 318,182 320,968 319,703 334,218 4%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
533710 Solid Waste Collection 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Contracted Services 401,929 410,047 417,963 435,066 435,066 461,820 6%

Total 401,929 410,047 417,963 435,066 435,066 461,820 6%

2019 2019 2020 % Change
533720 Landfi ll-Groundwater 
Monitoring

2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Contracted Services 10,050 10,050 10,050 6,500 6,500 6,500 0%

Page 46 of 246



 -235-

APPENDICES

2019 2019 2020 % Change
533740 Weed Control 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Maintenance Services 967 920 274 1,000 200 1,000 0%

Total Health and Sanitation 412,946 421,017 428,287 442,566 441,766 469,320 6%

Total Engineering & Public Works 2,412,208 2,473,107 2,463,833 2,707,069 2,709,259 2,758,608 2%

555140 Senior Services 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Part Time Salaries 59,057 51,190 49,785 57,837 62,192 56,100 -3%

Sick Pay Out 400 426 416 408 -100%
Social Security 4,315 4,114 3,965 4,360 4,758 4,292 -2%
Retirement 3,186 2,494 2,366 2,513 2,814 2,329 -7%

Health Insurance 2,671 465 394 327 102 -100%

Longevity 945 976 1,008 1,039 -100%
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 131 127 125 107 107 91 -15%

Total 70,705 59,792 58,059 66,591 69,973 62,812 -6%

555140 Senior Services 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 6,399 9,512 6,609 7,500 7,500 7,500 0%
Telephone 177 179 177 325 325 325 0%
Supplies & Expenses 1,224 1,703 553 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%
Printing 162 153 65 1,000 500 1,000 0%
Employee Training, Travel 1,250 629 411 1,200 500 1,200 0%
Other Expenses 0 38,036 37,695 28,000 28,000 28,000 0%
Property Insurance 479 479 1,511 1,511 1,511 1,768 17%
Liability Insurance 500 483 477 504 481 474 -6%

Total 10,191 51,174 47,498 42,040 40,817 42,267 1%

Total Expenditures 80,896 110,966 105,557 108,631 110,790 105,079 -3%

555145 Senior Van 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Telephone 47 38 31 50 50 50 0%
Repair & Maintenance 1,084 300 112 500 500 500 0%
Gas & Oil Expense 2,071 2,508 2,081 2,100 2,100 2,100 0%
Property Insurance 195 223 235 279 279 252 -10%

Total Expenditures 3,397 3,069 2,459 2,929 2,929 2,902 0%

555220 Celebrations 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 20,718 22,073 22,989 20,000 20,000 20,000 0%
Overtime 6,864 2,924 3,691 4,000 4,000 4,000 0%
Part Time Salaries 3,800 707 0 2,500 0 0 -100%
Social Security 2,401 1,963 2,061 2,027 1,836 1,836 -9%
Retirement 1,894 1,655 1,710 1,608 1,572 1,620 1%

Page 47 of 246



 -236-

APPENDICES

Total 35,677 29,322 30,451 30,135 27,408 27,456 -9%

555220 Celebrations 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 1,203 132 2,506 3,000 500 500 -83%
Supplies & Expenses 4,949 5,337 11,711 7,950 8,500 10,500 32%
Other Expenses 7,000 17,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 0%

Total 13,152 22,469 21,217 17,950 16,000 18,000 0%

Total Expenditures 48,829 51,791 51,668 48,085 43,408 45,456 -5%

555510 Parks, Recreation & For-
estry 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Salaries 354,217 383,551 445,854 379,216 379,216 359,298 -5%
Overtime 8,095 9,983 7,903 14,211 14,211 14,211 0%
Part Time Salaries/Temporary 11 0 0 0 0 0 0%
DPW Seasonal 23,872 24,607 35,444 50,000 45,000 40,000 -20%
Social Security 29,848 32,675 41,178 34,057 33,675 31,778 -7%
Retirement 24,813 27,193 30,156 25,885 25,885 25,339 -2%
Health Insurance 94,281 81,597 73,194 72,321 72,321 72,421 0%
Life Insurance 112 62 68 41 55 71 73%
Longevity 3,465 1,512 1,638 1,764 1,764 1,890 7%
Workers’ Comp. Insurance 16,617 15,894 19,908 18,184 18,184 16,273 -11%

Total 555,331 577,074 655,343 595,679 590,311 561,281 -6%

555510 Parks, Recreation & For-
estry 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 2,520 2,733 937 2,500 2,500 2,500 0%

Internet 2,072 1,961 2,072 2,072 3,900 88%
Electric 19,254 17,551 18,026 18,000 18,000 20,000 11%
Natural Gas 1,856 1,974 2,226 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%
Telephone 2,134 3,448 3,672 4,740 4,740 4,740 0%
Water Service 7,478 7,397 7,846 5,800 7,800 8,000 38%
Repair & Maintenance Services 43,603 52,266 56,656 62,075 62,075 54,900 -12%
Vandalism Repair 0 0 0 800 0 800 0%
Field Maintenance Supplies 0 6,011 5,398 6,000 6,000 4,500 -25%
Contracted Services 65,115 56,284 72,327 88,645 80,000 75,000 -15%
Offi ce Supplies 1,933 1,552 1,356 2,000 2,000 2,000 0%
Publications & Dues 1,226 887 1,485 1,620 1,620 1,620 0%
Employee Training; Travel 3,052 3,030 4,900 5,500 5,500 4,900 -11%
Trees and Supplies—Contracted 23,422 59,845 15,780 0 4,459 0 0%
Operating Supplies 1,685 3,107 3,836 4,200 4,200 0 -100%
Sign Supplies 272 637 210 1,000 1,000 1,000 0%
Equipment 3,378 5,717 8,034 7,500 7,500 5,500 -27%

Legacy Tree & Bench Program 3,391 6,656 3,500 4,500 3,500 0%
Other Expenses 1,246 1,850 3,050 3,060 3,060 3,060 0%

Page 48 of 246



 -237-

APPENDICES

Property/Auto Insurance 4,215 5,287 6,486 8,001 8,001 8,792 10%
Liability Insurance 3,540 3,390 3,745 3,956 3,778 4,273 8%

Total 185,929 238,429 224,587 232,969 230,805 210,985 -9%

Total Expenditures 741,260 815,503 879,930 828,648 821,116 772,266 -7%

Total Parks, Recreation & Forestry 874,382 981,329 1,039,614 988,293 978,243 925,703 -6%

566310 City Planning 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
Professional Services 92,376 85,813 113,288 100,413 100,413 102,421 2%
Telephone 177 179 199 250 220 250 0%
Supplies & Expenses 16 177 80 200 200 200 0%
Publications & Dues 110 100 45 430 430 430 0%
Employee Training, Travel 241 183 0 200 200 200 0%
Equipment/Capital Outlay 0 250 8,375 1,000 1,000 1,000 0%

Total Expenditures 92,920 86,702 121,987 102,493 102,463 104,501 2%

Total Operating Expenditures 8,417,671 8,508,443 8,831,638 9,108,455 9,078,107 9,465,586 4%

592000 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Transfers to Other Funds 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Debt Service 0 0 

Capital Improvement Fund 0 100,000 252,000 252,000 -100%

Special Revenue Fund—Pool 13,503 37,175 25,910 

Special Revenue Fund—Rec Programs 1,000 1,000 

Total Transfers to Other Funds 14,503 138,175 0 252,000 277,910 0 0%

Total Expenditures and Transfers 8,432,174 8,646,618 8,831,638 9,360,455 9,356,017 9,465,586 1%

Page 49 of 246



 -138-

Capital Improvements
Fund 400

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected

Beginning Fund Balance 695,794 807,660 239,179 137,213 390,566 621,340 223,438 

Revenues

Property Tax Levy:

  General Projects 40,000 220,000 500,000 630,000 710,000 500,000 

  Street Improvements 200,000 525,000 950,000 800,000 900,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 

  Equipment Replacements 450,000 550,000 350,000 650,000 675,000 650,000 600,000 

  Storm Water Improvements 225,000 150,000 150,000 525,000 525,000 550,000 550,000 

  Environmental Reserve 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Special Assessment Revenue 11,030 3,739 972 

Parks & Playground Transfer 70,000 80,000 200,000 60,000 75,000 

General Fund Transfer 75,000 252,000 265,000 25,000 

Library Impact Fees 109,979 48,184 

Local Road Improvements 
Grant

48,000 48,000 

Proceeds from Borrowing 1,512,078 

DNR Urban Storm Water Mgt. 
Grant

24,263 19,500 

DNR Grant - dams 237,000 

Town Contribution 52,315 

Donations 3,000 200,000 25,000 

Interest Income 18,030 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 

Change in Market Value (24)

Miscellaneous Revenue 13,469 35,000 

Sale/Rent of Property 3,310 30,000 60,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 

Total Revenues 2,755,135 2,000,423 1,805,287 3,192,000 2,842,000 3,135,000 2,702,000 

Expenditures 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

General Government 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected

Complex Improvements 55,000 85,000 150,000 25,000 

Monopole 327,057 

Total 327,057 0 55,000 85,000 150,000 25,000 0 

Public Safety 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Police Department 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected

Squad Cars 73,194 40,000 92,000 138,000 138,000 92,000 46,000 

Page 50 of 246



 -139-

Computers 50,000 

Station Improvements 87,000 235,500 120,000 25,000 

Total 73,194 40,000 229,000 373,500 258,000 92,000 71,000 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Fire Department 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected

Station Improvements 118,714 61,045 80,000 153,000 145,000 900,000 70,000 

Total 118,714 61,045 80,000 153,000 145,000 900,000 70,000 

Auxiliary Police/ 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Emergency Management 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected

Vehicles 48,557 50,000 75,000 

Siren Upgrade 20,892 22,000 

Total 69,449 22,000 0 50,000 75,000 0 0 

Total Public Safety 261,357 123,045 309,000 576,500 478,000 992,000 141,000 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Public Works 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected

Equipment Replacement 227,039 510,000 130,000 370,000 495,000 500,000 450,000 

Street Improvements 1,085,287 755,495 972,000 730,000 705,000 1,194,000 955,000 

Stormwater Improvements 267,591 192,039 189,957 399,147 522,930 658,606 572,125 

Total 1,579,917 1,457,534 1,291,957 1,499,147 1,722,930 2,352,606 1,977,125 

Parks, Recreation 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

& Forestry 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected
Equipment Replacement 66,004 42,325 148,296 66,000 113,296 53,296 2,000 

Park Improvements 211,390 6,000 25,000 

Park Equipment 80,000 400,000 60,000 75,000 

Swimming Pool liner 265,000 

Library 37,000 77,000 

Senior Van Replacement 26,751 25,000 

Total 304,145 128,325 148,296 768,000 250,296 153,296 27,000 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Environmental 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected
Environmental Expenses 40,785 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Dams—Engineering/Repairs 29,844 750,000 

Total 70,629 760,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Page 51 of 246



 -140-

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Debt Service 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected
Issuance Costs 41,420 

Total 41,420 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Transfer to Other Funds 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected
Transfer to Debt Service 58,741 100,000 93,000 

Total 58,741 100,000 93,000 0 0 0 0 

Total Expenditures 2,643,266 2,568,904 1,907,253 2,938,647 2,611,226 3,532,902 2,155,125 

Revenues - Expenditures 111,869 (568,481) (101,966) 253,353 230,774 (397,902) 546,875 

Ending Fund Balance 807,663 239,179 137,213 390,566 621,340 223,438 770,313 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Fund Balance 2018 Estimated Proposed Projected Projected Projected Projected

Uncommitted $505,178 $36,872 $15,159 $16,659 $166,659 $13,659 $405,659 

Economic Development 12,086 12,086 12,086 12,086 12,086 12,086 12,086 

Environmental 89,748 6,748 6,748 6,748 6,748 6,748 6,748 

Equipment Replacement 38,453 26,128 65,832 121,832 5,536 15,240 147,240 

Street Improvements 11,148 38,653 16,653 86,653 281,653 135,653 180,653 

Storm Water Improvements 36,772 56,233 16,276 142,129 144,199 35,593 13,468 

Library 114,275 62,459 4,459 4,459 4,459 4,459 4,459 

Encumbrances

Total Fund Balance $807,660 $239,179 $137,213 $390,566 $621,340 $223,438 $770,313 

Page 52 of 246



 -141-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2020

ADMINISTRATIVE Status Funding Sources Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects

Environmental No change $10,000 Negligible

Legal and consulting services Property Tax; Environmental Reserve

BUILDING INSPECTION Status Funding Sources Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects

Lincoln Building Moved from 2021 $55,000 Positive

Replace boiler Property Tax

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

ENGINEERING & PUBLIC WORKS Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Environmental $400,000 

Woolen Mill Damn New General Fund; Fund Balance Negligible

Equipment Replacement $65,000 

4x4 3/4-ton pickup truck with plow and 
lift gate; replaces #78, 2008 service 
pickup

Moved from 2021 Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Equipment Replacement $65,000 

4x4 half ton pickup truck with plow; 
replaces #70, 2008 pickup truck

No Change Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Stormwater Improvements $19,957 

Engineering Services—2021 projects Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve Positive

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2019, 
Cost

$80,000 

Arbor Dr./Lynnwood Ln. Catch Basins Modifi ed, Change in 
Scope

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve Positive

Stormwater Improvements New Project $20,000 Positive

Park Circle Catch Basins Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Page 53 of 246



 -142-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2020

Street Improvements Moved from 2019 $142,000 

Glenwood Dr.: Bristol Ln. to Arbor Dr. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve Positive

Street Improvements Moved from 2019 $150,000 

Crescent Dr.: Arbor Dr. to Sheboygan Rd. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve Positive

Street Improvements Moved from 2019 $180,000 

Arbor Dr.: Tamarack Dr. to Willowbrooke 
Dr.

Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve Positive

Street Improvements Moved from 2019 $120,000 

Lynnwood Ln.: Tamarack Dr. to Arbor Dr. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve Positive

Street Improvements Moved from 2019 $160,000 Positive

Park Cir. Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Cost Modifi ed $60,000 Positive

Sidewalk repairs (to include Station #3) Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements New Project $30,000 

Complete Susan Ln: Susan Ct to Holly Ln Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements New Project $100,000 

Extend Susan Ln: Susan Ct to Holly Ln Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements No Change $60,000 

Asphalt repairs Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve Negligible

Stormwater Improvements New Project $40,000 Negligible

Consulting Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

FIRE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Station Improvements New Project $55,000 Positive

Station #3 exterior restoration Property Tax

Page 54 of 246



 -143-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2020

Station Improvements New Project $25,000 Positive

Dorm Rooms - Station #1 Property Tax

PARKS, REC. & FORESTRY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement No Change $40,000 

Replace #47 John Deere mower/ snow-
blower

Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Equipment Replacement New Project $65,000 Positive

#13 Brush Bandit Chipper Property Tax; Equipment Replacement

Equipment Replacement New Project $43,296 Positive

Grapple Saw Truck Property Tax;  5-year lease (Year 2)

POLICE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Squad Replacement Change in Scope $92,000 Positive

#2 and #8 to be replaced Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Station improvements New Project $50,000 Positive

Video System Replacement Property Tax

Station improvements Moved from 2019 $87,000 Positive

911 System Upgrade Property Tax

Page 55 of 246



 -144-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2021

ADMINISTRATIVE Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Environmental No Change $10,000 Negligible

Legal and consulting services Property Tax; Environmental Reserve

BUILDING INSPECTION Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

City Hall Complex New Project $85,000 Positive

Boiler Replacement Property Tax

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement Moved from 2019 $50,000 

2007 GMC Canyon pickup; replaces #5 Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

ENGINEERING Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement Moved from 2019 $225,000 

10-yard dump truck with plow, wing and 
salter; replaces #98, tandem dump truck

Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Equipment Replacement Moved from 2020 $80,000 

4x4 one-ton service pick-up truck with lift 
gate; replaces #75, 2008 service pick-up

Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement $65,000 

3/4 ton pick-up with plow and lift gate; 
replaces #79, 2008 GMC Sierra 1600

Moved from 2022 Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Stormwater Consulting No Change $40,000 

Hire engineers for State NR216 
Compliance

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve Negligible

Stormwater Improvements Cost Modifi ed $26,147 Positive

Engineering Services—2022 projects Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements New Project $333,000 

Evergreen Blvd: Bridge to Western Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Page 56 of 246



 -145-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2021

Street Improvements $625,000 

Evergreen Blvd: Bridge to Western Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements No Change $60,000 

Asphalt repairs Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve Negligible

Street Improvements No Change $45,000 Positive

Sidewalk replacement Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

FIRE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Station Improvements $13,000 

LED lights engine fl oor Station #1 with 
motion sensors

New Project Property Tax Positive

Station Improvements $45,000 

New tile fl oor training room and stair ris-
ers

New Project Property Tax Positive

Station Improvements $75,000 

New windows west side of Station #1 New Project Property Tax Positive

Station Improvements New Project $20,000 Positive

New lighting training room Property Tax

LIBRARY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Library Improvements $7,000 

Update AV system & technology New Project Property Tax Positive

Library Improvements $20,000 

Self Check Machines New Project Property Tax Positive

Library Improvements $10,000 

Telephone System New Project Property Tax Positive

Page 57 of 246



 -146-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2021

PARKS, REC. & FORESTRY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement Moved from 2019 $26,000 Positive

Replace 2009 Toyota Tacoma 4x4 Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Swimming Pool New Project $265,000 Positive

Liner and inlet repair Property Tax

Equipment Replacement New Project $40,000 Positive

Grapple Saw Truck  Property Tax; 5-year lease (Year 3)

Park Improvements Moved from 2020 $400,000 Positive

All Children’s Playground equipment 
replacement

Impact Fees; Donations

POLICE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Squad Replacement No Change $138,000 Positive

#3, #7, and #9 to be replaced Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Station Improvements: New Project $35,000 Positive

Boiler replacement (1 of 2) Property Tax

Station Improvements: New Project $16,000 Positive

Air Conditioning replacement (2 of 2) Property Tax

Station Improvements: Moved from 2020 $10,000 Positive

Paint exterior of building Property Tax

Station Improvements Moved from 2020 $20,000 Positive

Resurface parking lot Property Tax

Station Improvements Moved from 2020 $15,000 Negligible

Replace Network Server Property Tax

Station Improvements Moved from 2020 $126,500 Negligible

LRAD mass notifi cation system for major 
events

Property Tax

Page 58 of 246



 -147-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2021

Station Improvements Moved from 2020 $13,000 Negligible

Electronic lock system for Police Station Property Tax

Page 59 of 246



 -148-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2022

ADMINISTRATIVE Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Environmental $10,000 

Legal and consulting services New Project Property Tax; Environmental Reserve Negligible

BUILDING INSPECTION Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

City Hall Complex New Project $150,000 Positive

A/C Air Handler Property Tax

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement Moved from 2020 $75,000 Positive

Replace Unit #1, 2006 Ford Road Rescue Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

ENGINEERING & PUBLIC WORKS Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement Moved from 2025 $55,000 

Replace pick up truck #72 Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement No Change $200,000 

#2, 2008 Caterpillar 430E Backhoe 
Loader

Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Equipment Replacement Moved from 2020 $240,000 

10-yard dump truck with plow, wing and 
salter; replaces #97, 2007 dump truck

Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Stormwater Consulting No Change $40,000 

Hire engineers for State NR216 Compli-
ance

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve Negligible

Stormwater Improvements Cost Modifi ed $32,930 Positive

Engineering Services—2023 projects Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements No Change $60,000 Negligible

Asphalt Repairs Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Page 60 of 246



 -149-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2022

Street Improvements No Change $45,000 

Sidewalk replacement Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve Positive

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2021 $250,000 Positive

Regional Stormwater Quality BMP Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2021 $200,000 Positive

Install storm sewer in Highland Dr.: 
Cedar Creek to Portland Rd.

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2021 $510,000 Positive

Highland Dr.: Columbia to Portland Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2021 $30,000 Positive

Thornapple Ln.: Keup to East City Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2021 $60,000 Positive

Layton St.: Washington Ave. to the Interur-
ban Tr.

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

FIRE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Station Improvements New Project $70,000 Positive

Refi nish Station #1 engine room fl oor Property Tax

Station Improvements New Project $50,000 Positive

Refi nish Station #3 engine room fl oor Property Tax

Positive

Station Improvements New Project $25,000 

New garage doors for Station #3 Property Tax

LIBRARY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Library Improvements $7,000 

Update Door/Security System/Burglar 
Alarm

New Project Property Tax Positive

Library Improvements $10,000 

Updates to community room entrances New Project Property Tax Positive

Page 61 of 246



 -150-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2022

Library Improvements $60,000 

Electronic Book Drop New Project Property Tax Positive

PARKS, REC. & FORESTRY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Park Improvements $60,000 

Playground equipment expansion at 
Zeunert Park

Moved from 2021 Impact Fees Positive

Equipment Replacement $20,000 

Kubota Utility Vehicle #41 New Project Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Equipment Replacement No Change $20,000 Positive

#48 Kubota Zero Turn Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement $30,000 

#42 John Deere 1570 Tractor No Change Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Equipment Replacement New Project $43,296 

Grapple Saw Truck Property Tax; 5-year lease (Year 4) Positive

POLICE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Squad Replacement No Change $138,000 Positive

#4, #5 and #6 to be replaced Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Station Improvements New Project $85,000 Positive

Roof replacement Property Tax

Station Improvements New Project $35,000 Positive

Boiler replacement (2 of 2) Property Tax

Page 62 of 246



 -151-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2023

ADMINISTRATIVE Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Environmental No Change $10,000 Negligible

Legal and consulting services Property Tax; Environmental Reserve

BUILDING INSPECTION Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Gymnasium New Project $25,000 

New Storm Windows Property Tax

ENGINEERING & PUBLIC WORKS Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement New Project $300,000 Positive

Salt Elevator Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement No Change $200,000 

#92, 2006 Sterling 7500 Dump Truck Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve Positive

Stormwater Consulting Cost Modifi ed $40,000 Negligible

Hire engineers for State NR216 Compli-
ance Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Cost Modifi ed $28,606 Positive

Engineering Services—2024 projects Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements No Change $60,000 Positive

Asphalt repairs Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Cost Modifi ed $45,000 Positive

Sidewalk replacement Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2022 $400,000 Positive

Willowbrooke Pond Dredging Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2022 $40,000 Positive

Garfi eld/Fillmore Catch Basins Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2022 $120,000 Positive

Page 63 of 246



 -152-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2023

Sunnyside Ln./Edgewater Dr. Stormwa-
ter Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2022 $30,000 Positive

Somerset/Wirth Catch Basins Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $150,000 Positive

Sunnyside Ln.: Edgewater Dr. to High-
land Dr. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $62,000 Positive

Birch St.: Edgewater Dr. to Sunnyside 
Ln. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $232,000 Positive

Edgewater Dr.: Sunnyside Ln. to High-
land Dr. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $120,000 Positive

Jackson St./Hilgen Ave.: Washington 
Ave. to Hamilton Rd. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $95,000 Positive

Sommerset Ave.: Pioneer Rd. to Wirth 
St. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $90,000 Positive

Wirth St.:Sommerset Ave. to McKinley 
Ct.

Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $160,000 Positive

Garfi eld St.:Fillmore to McKinley Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2022 $180,000 Positive

Fillmore Ave.:Hamilton to Garfi eld Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

FIRE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Station Improvements New Project $900,000 Negative

Addition to Station #1 Property Tax

Page 64 of 246



 -153-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2023

PARKS, REC. & FORESTRY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Park Improvements Moved from 2024 $75,000 Negligible

New Subdivision playground Park Impact Fees

Equipment Replacement No Change $5,000 Positive

#25 King Trailer Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement No Change $5,000 Positive

#29 Falcon Utility Trailer Equipment Replacement

Equipment Replacement New Project $43,296 Positive

Grapple Saw Truck Property Tax; 5-year lease (Year 5)

POLICE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Squad Replacement New Project $92,000 Positive

#2 and #10 to be replaced Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

SENIOR CENTER Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement No Change $25,000 Positive

Senior Van Replacement Donation; Rider Fees

Page 65 of 246



 -154-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2024

ADMINISTRATIVE

Capital Projects Status Funding Sources Impact on Operating 
Budget

Environmental No Change $10,000 Negligible

Legal and consulting services Property Tax; Environmental Reserve

ENGINEERING & PUBLIC WORKS

Capital Projects Status Funding Sources Impact on Operating 
Budget

Equipment Replacement New Project $250,000 Positive

#95 5-yard Peterbilt Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement New Project $200,000 Positive

#5 Garbage Truck Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Stormwater Consulting $40,000 

Hire engineers for State NR216 
Compliance

No Change Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve Negligible

Stormwater Improvements Cost Modifi ed $12,125 Positive

Engineering Services—2025 projects Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements No Change $30,000 Positive

Sidewalk Replacement Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements No Change $60,000 Positive

Asphalt Repairs Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2023 $60,000 Positive

Monroe Ave.: Walnut St. to Bridge Rd Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2023 $60,000 Positive

Harrison Ave.: Bridge Rd. to Pine St. 
Catch Basins

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2023 $50,000 Positive

Pine St.: Hickory to Evergreen Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2023 $350,000 Positive

Wilshire Pond Dredging Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Page 66 of 246



 -155-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2024

Street Improvements Moved from 2023 $240,000 Positive

Harrison Ave.: Bridge St. to Pine St. 
(SS,W)

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2023 $105,000 Positive

Monroe Ave.: Linden St. to Bridge Rd. Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2023 $165,000 Positive

Linden St.: Pine St. to Harrison Ave. Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2023 $135,000 Positive

Oak St.: Harrison Ave. to Pine St. Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2023 $100,000 Positive

Hickory St.: Harrison Ave. to Pine St. Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2023 $120,000 Positive

Pine St.: Hickory St. to Evergreen (SS) Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

FIRE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Station Improvements New Project $12,000 

Gear wash machine Property Tax

Station Improvements New Project $8,000 

Gear dryer Property Tax

Station Improvements New Project $50,000 

Station #1 Boiler Property Tax

PARKS, REC. & FORESTRY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Park Improvements New Project $10,000 Positive

Asphalt resurfacing at Cedar Creek Park Property Tax

Park Improvements New Project $5,000 Positive

Asphalt resurfacing at Cedar Pointe 
Park

Property Tax

Page 67 of 246



 -156-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2024

Park Improvements New Project $10,000 Positive

Asphalt resurfacing at Centennial Park Property Tax

Equipment Replacement No Change $2,000 Positive

#24 Chilton Utility Trailer Equipment Replacement

POLICE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Squad Replacement New Project $46,000 Positive

#8 to be replaced Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement New Project $25,000 Positive

Replace phone system Property Tax

Page 68 of 246



 -157-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2025

ADMINISTRATIVE Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Environmental No Change $10,000 Negligible

Legal and consulting services Property Tax; Environmental Reserve

ENGINEERING & PUBLIC WORKS Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Storm Water System Planning $40,000 Positive

Consulting services for State NR216 
Compliance

New Project Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements $32,500 Positive

Engineering Services - 2026 Projects New Project Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements New Project $45,000 Positive

Sidewalk Replacement Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2024 $70,000 Positive

Woodland Dr. Storm Sewer Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2024 $50,000 Positive

St. John Ave.: Storm Sewer and Catch 
Basins

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2024 $50,000 Positive

Alyce St. Catch Basins Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2024 $150,000 Positive

Jefferson Ave.: Bridge to N. Terminus Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2024 $240,000 Positive

Woodland Dr.: Highwood Dr. to Cedar 
Ridge (SS)

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2024 $130,000 Positive

St. John Ave.: Bridge St. to Washington 
Ave.

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2024 $270,000 Positive

St. John Ave.: Cleveland St. to Western 
Rd.

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Page 69 of 246



 -158-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2025

Street Improvements Moved from 2024 $53,000 Positive

Elm St.: St. John Ave. to Washington 
Ave.

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2024 $275,000 Positive

Alyce St.: Washington Ave. to Evergreen 
Blvd.

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements New Project $60,000 Positive

Asphalt Repairs Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Equipment Replacement New Project $25,000 Positive

1.75 yd. concrete mixer Property Tax

Equipment Replacement New Project $90,000 Positive

Sno Go snowblower Property Tax; Equipment Replacement

Equipment Replacement New Project $6,000 Positive

Concrete saw Property Tax; Equipment Replacement

Equipment Replacement New Project $45,000 Positive

Replacement pick-up truck #74 Property Tax; Equipment Replacement

FIRE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Station Improvement New Project $75,000 Positive

Remodel men’s restroom Property Tax

Station Improvement New Project $50,000 Positive

Remodel women’s restroom Property Tax

LIBRARY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Library Improvements $10,000 

Updates to community room entrances New Project Property Tax Positive

PARKS, RECREATION & FORESTRY Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement No Change $54,000 Positive

#45 John Deere 1570 Terrain Cut Property Tax; Equipment Replacement

Page 70 of 246



 -159-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2025

Equipment Replacement $47,500 

#46 Ventrac Mower No Change Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Positive

Equipment Replacement No Change $7,000 Positive

#49 Wright Stander Mower Property Tax; Equipment Replacement

POLICE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operating 
BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Squad Replacement New Project $46,000 Positive

#8 to be replaced Property Tax; Equipment Replacement

Page 71 of 246



 -160-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2026

ADMINISTRATIVE Impact on Operat-
ing BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Environmental No Change $10,000 Negligible

Legal and consulting services Property Tax; Environmental Fund

ENGINEERING & PUBLIC WORKS Impact on Operat-
ing BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement Replacement $50,000 Positive

#20 Forklift Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement Replacement $75,000 Positive

Brine Tanks Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement Replacement $10,000 Positive

Anti-Icing Tank Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement Replacement $12,000 Positive

Automotive Code Reader Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Equipment Replacement Replacement $10,000 Positive

AC Recovery Station Property Tax; Equipment Replacement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2025 $50,000 

Madison/Franklin CatchBasins Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2025 $50,000 

Georgetown Dr. and Cts. Catch Basins Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2025 $40,000 

Cedar Ridge Dr. Catch Basins Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2025 $100,000 

 Evergreen Blvd.: Western Rd. to Lincoln 
Blvd.

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Stormwater Improvements Moved from 2025 $350,000 

Tail Race/Behling Field Box Culvert Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $240,000 

Georgetown Dr.: Cedar Ridge Dr. to Windsor 
Dr. and Cts.

Property Tax; Stormwater Improvement 
Reserve Street Improvement Reserve

Page 72 of 246



 -161-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN         2026

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $120,000 

Windsor Dr.: Georgetown Dr. to Bywater Ln. 
to Windsor Ct.

Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $270,000 

Cedar Ridge Dr.: Bridge Rd. to Orchard St. Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $620,000 

Evergreen Blvd.: Western to Lincoln Blvd. Cost Modifi ed  Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $70,000 

Park Ln.: Spring to CWRC driveway Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $135,000 

Madison Ave.: Walnut St. to Fair St. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $88,000 

Franklin Ave.: Bridge St. to Walnut St. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $82,000 

Franklin Ave.:Pine St. to Fair Street Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

Street Improvements Moved from 2025 $85,000 

Fair St.: Evergreen Blvd. to Washington Ave. Cost Modifi ed Property Tax; Street Improvement Reserve

FIRE DEPARTMENT Impact on Operat-
ing BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Station Improvements New Project $750,000 

Elevator Station #1 Property Tax

PARKS, RECREATION & FORESTRY Impact on Operat-
ing BudgetCapital Projects Status Funding Sources

Equipment Replacement Replacement $50,000 Positive

#85 Chevy Silverado Vehicle Replacement 

Equipment Replacement Replacement $30,000 Positive

#40 Kubota Tractor w/Loader Vehicle Replacement

Page 73 of 246



 -163-

Annual Road Improvement Program

Revenues 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Beginning Balance  11,148  38,653  16,653  86,653  281,653  135,653  180,653 

Property Tax  525,000  950,000  800,000  900,000  1,000,000  1,000,000  1,100,000 

General Fund Transfer  210,000 

State/Federal Grant

Debt Proceeds

Local Road Improvement Program (LRIP)  48,000  48,000 

Total  794,148  988,653  816,653  986,653  1,329,653  1,135,653  1,280,653 

Expenditures 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Asphalt Repairs—Miscellaneous  50,000  60,000  60,000  60,000  60,000  60,000  60,000 

Sidewalk Program—Replacements  45,000  60,000  45,000  45,000  45,000  30,000  45,000 

St. John Ave.—Cleveland to Western  (S,SS,W)  270,000 

Highland—Columbia Road to Portland (S, SS, W)  510,000 

Sunnyside Ln.—Edgewater to Highland(S,SS,W)  150,000 

Birch St.—Edgewater to Sunnyside(S,W)  62,000 

Edgewater Dr.—Sunnyside to Highland(S,W)  232,000 

Jackson/Hilgen—Washington to Hamilton(S,W)  120,000 

Glenwood—Bristol to Arbor (W)  142,000 

Crescent Dr.—Arbor to Sheboygan(W)  150,000 

Arbor Dr.—Tamarack to Willowbrooke(SS)  180,000 

Lynnwood Ln.—Tamarack to Arbor  120,000 

Willowbrooke Dr.—Lynnwood to Arbor  128,750 

Aspen St.—Cambridge to Aspen Ct.  128,750 

Lexington St.—Cambridge to Fieldcrest(SS)  232,995 

Cambridge Ave.—Fieldcrest to Susan  170,000 

Balfour Street(SS)

Hampton Ave. and Ct.(SS)

Drury Lane(SS)

Kingston Ct.

Coventry Ct.

Harrison Ave.—Coventry to Washington(SS)

Sommerset Ave.—Pioneer to Wirth(S)  95,000 

Wirth St.—Sommerset to McKinley(W)  90,000 

St. John Ave.—Bridge to Washington(S,W,SS)  130,000 

Franklin Ave.—Bridge to Walnut(S,W)

Page 74 of 246



 -164-

Evergreen Blvd. - Bridge to Western  625,000 

Washington Ave.—Hamilton to Lincoln (mill & 
resurface)

Extend Susan Lane-Susan Ct. to Holly Ln.  100,000 

Annual Road Improvement Program (contd.)

Expenditures (contd.) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Franklin Ave.—Pine to Fair

Madison Ave - Walnut to Fair(SS)

Fair St.—Evergreen to Washington(S,W)

Poplar Ave.—Drury to Washington(SS)

Montgomery Ave.—Balfour to south 
terminus(SS)

Monroe Ave.—Linden to Bridge(SS)  105,000 

Linden St.—Pine to Harrison(W)  165,000 

Harrison Ave.—Bridge to Pine(SS,W)  240,000 

Oak St.—Harrison to Pine(W)  135,000 

Hickory St.—Harrison to Pine(W)  100,000 

Pine St.—Hickory to Evergreen(SS)  120,000 

Chatham St.—Wauwatosa to Poplar

St. James Ct. 

Georgetown Dr.—Cedar Ridge to Windsor and 
Courts(SS)

Windsor Dr.—Georgetown to Bywater and Court

Cedar Ridge Dr.—Bridge to Orchard(SS)

Jefferson Ave.—Bridge to N. terminus  150,000 

Woodland Dr.—Highwood to Cedar Ridge(SS)  240,000 

Meadow Ln.—Appletree to Meadow Ct.(SS)

Park Cir. (W)  160,000 

Tower Avenue(SS)

Garfi eld St. - Fillmore to McKinley  160,000 

Fillmore Ave. - Hamilton to Garfi eld  180,000 

Elm St. - St. John to Washington  53,000 

Alyce St. - Washington to Evergreen  275,000 

Evergreen Blvd. - Western to Lincoln(SS)

Cottonwood and Windwood Courts

Thornapple Ln. - Keup Rd. to East City limit  30,000 

Layton St. - Washington to Interurban Trail  60,000 

Total  755,495  972,000  730,000  705,000  1,194,000  955,000  1,223,000 

Balance  38,653  16,653  86,653  281,653  135,653  180,653  57,653 

(S) = Sanitary sewer work, (SS) = Storm sewer work

Page 75 of 246



 -165-

Stormwater Capital Projects

Revenues 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Beginning Balance  36,772  56,233  16,276  142,129  144,199  35,593  13,468 

Property Tax Support  150,000  150,000  525,000  525,000  550,000  550,000  525,000 

Transfer from General Fund  42,000 

Capital Fund Balance

DNR Stormwater Grant  19,500 

Debt Proceeds

Total  248,272  206,233  541,276  667,129  694,199  585,593  538,468 

Capital Expenditures 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Stormwater Consulting  40,000  40,000  40,000  40,000  40,000  40,000  40,000 

Regional Stormwater Quality BMP  250,000 

Aspen St./Lexington St. Catch Basins  25,000 

Cambridge Ave. stormsewer  38,000 

Arbor Dr./Lynwood Ln. Catch Basins  80,000 

Willowbrooke Pond Dredging  400,000 

Woodland Dr. Storm Sewer  70,000 

Meadow Ln. Storm Sewer

Cedar Ridge Drive Catch Basins

Georgetown Drive and Courts Catch Basins

Tower Ave. Stormsewer and Catch Basins

Montgomery/Poplar Catch Basins

Meadow Ln. Catch Basins

St. John Stormsewer and Catch Basins  50,000 

Madison/Franklin Catch Basins

Johnson Ave.

Wilshire Pond Dredging  350,000 

Relay Highland Storm Sewer at Columbia  83,269 

Highland—Cedar Creek to Portland  200,000 

Park Circle Catch Basins  20,000 

Sunnyside Ln./Edgewater Dr. Storm Sewer  120,000 

Garfi eld/Fillmore Catch Basins  40,000 

Sommerset/Wirth Catch Basins  30,000 

Evergreen Blvd. - Bridge to Western  333,000 

Page 76 of 246



 -166-

Stormwater Capital Projects (contd.)

Capital Expenditures (contd.) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Balfour, Hampton, Drury, Kingston Ct.

Harrison Ave.—Coventry to Washington

Monroe Ave.—Walnut to Bridge  60,000 

Pine Street - Hickory to Evergreen  50,000 

Harrison Ave.—Bridge to Pine Catch Basins  60,000 

Alyce Street Catch Basins  50,000 

Evergreen Blvd-Western to Lincoln

Complete Susan Lane-Susan Ct. to Holly Ln.  30,000 

Tail Race/Behling Field box culvert

Engineering (5% of Following Year Construc-
tion Total)

 5,770  19,957  26,147  32,930  28,606  12,125  32,500 

Total  192,039  189,957  399,147  522,930  658,606  572,125  242,500 

Balance  56,233  16,276  142,129  144,199  35,593  13,468  295,968 

Page 77 of 246



 -167-

Equipment Replacement Charges
Emergency Government

Vehicle No. Year Make Purchase Price Life Expec. Remaining 
Life Replacement Cost Annual Cost

1 2004 Ford F-450 Road Rescue 48,221 20 3 60,000 (U) 3,000 

3 2012 Ford Escape 27,788 10 2 29,000 2,900 

4 2018 Dodge Ram 2500 SLT Pickup 48,561 10 8 48,561 4,856 

5 2007 GMC -T15653 Pickup 24,480 10 0 27,955 2,795 

Total Emergency Government $149,050 $165,516 $13,552 

Administration

51 2011 Ford Expedition (Eng)  40,000 6 5 40,000 (U) 6,667 

52 2011 Ford Ranger pickup (Eng-Mike W)  20,794 5 1 13,000 (U) 2,600 

53 1999 Jeep Cherokee  (Mike B)  22,845 5 1 15,000 (U) 3,000 

54 2012 Dodge Caravan (white)  23,429 6 4 28,000(U) 4,667

50 2005 Grand Caravan  (blue)  5,000 8 0 5,000 (U) 0 

Total Administration $112,068 $101,000 $16,933 

Police Department

1 2019 Ford Explorer (Captain) 42,017 5 4 43,000 8,600 

2 2016 Ford Explorer 53,826 4 0 54,000 13,500 

3 2013 Chevrolet Impala (Chief) 25,205 9 2 30,000 3,333 

4 2018 Ford Explorer Utility Interceptor 29,952 4 2 40,000 10,000 

5 2018 Ford Explorer Utility Interceptor 37,200 4 2 40,000 10,000 

6 2018 Ford Explorer Utility Interceptor 35,995 4 2 40,000 10,000 

7 2008
Dodge Charger Sedan (Detective/
Juvenile)

30,238 7 0 30,000 4,286 

8 2016 Ford Explorer 49,922 4 0 50,000 12,500 

9 2012
Chevy Tahoe K150 (Detective/Ser-
geant)

37,236 8 0 40,000 5,000 

10 2015 Ford Explorer (Canine) 40,151 8 3 60,000 7,500 

Total Police Department $381,741 $427,000 $84,719 

Senior Center

59 2018 Dodge Grand Caravan $26,752 8 6 $28,000 3,500 

Equipment Replacement Subtotal $669,611 $721,516 $118,704 

Public Works

Vehicle No. Year Make Purchase Price Life Expec. Remaining 
Life Replacement Cost Annual Cost

1 2017 John Deere 624 K II Loader 240,000 15 12 240,000 16,000 

2 2008 Caterpillar 430E Backhoe Loader 83,663 15 3 90,000 6,000 

3 2011 International Garbage Packer 114,335 20 11 120,000 6,000 

Page 78 of 246



 -168-

4 1973 Galion Grader (S) 30,000 10 0 0 * 0 

5 2009 Freightliner M2 106 Garbage Truck 119,693 20 9 180,000 9,000 

6 2017 Freightliner Street sweeper 235,054 20 17 230,000 11,500 

7 2009 Elgin Pelican Dual Street Sweeper 149,520 20 9 170,000 8,500 

9 2000 Case 75 XT Skidsteer 25,000 10 0 35,000 0 

10 2017 John Deere 624K Wheel Loader 235,000 15 12 240,000 16,000 

14 2015 Crafco Crack sealing machine 30,000 10 5 30,000 3,000 

16 2015 2000 Crafco Infrared trailer 30,000 15 10 30,000 2,000 

17 1987 Target Concrete Saw 2,849 25 0 3,800 152 

18 1999 Ingersoll-Rand Compressor 10,500 15 0 12,000 800 

19 2005 Caterpillar Roller 25,772 10 0 28,000 2,800 

20 2012 Hyundai Forklift 25,500 15 7 40,000 2,667 

21 1998 Concrete Mixer 350 20 0 2,500 125 

26 1981 Snow-Bird Trailer 1,700 15 0 0 0 

27 1984 Dynaweld Trailer 1,900 15 0 0 0 

28 2004 Towmaster T10P Trailer 5,426 15 0 5,000 333 

30 2015 Spaulding 2 Ton patch trailer 3,000 15 10 30,000 2,000 

31 2006 Sno-Go Snowblower 73,238 15 1 80,000 5,333 

35 1984 John Deere Snow Blower 1,200 25 0 2,000 80 

36 1990 John Deere Snow Blower 1,200 20 0 2,000 100 

70 2008 GMC Canyon 4 x 4 16,110 7 0 20,000 2,857 

71 2016 Chevrolet Silverado Pickup 40,757 10 6 45,000 4,500 

72 2004 Chevy Tahoe 30,036 10 0 40,000 4,000 

74 2012 GMC Sierra 1600 34,925 10 2 35,000 3,500 

75 2008 GMC Pickup Truck, 1 Ton 51,947 10 0 55,000 5,500 

76 2015 GMC Sierra 2500 Pickup 41,891 10 5 52,000 5,200 

78 2009 GMC Sierra 1/2-Ton 4x4, 38,500 10 0 30,000 3,000 

79 2008 GMC Sierra 1/2-Ton 4x4, 23,335 10 0 25,000 2,500 

80 2016 GMC Chevrolet Silverado 54,135 10 6 55,000 5,500 

81 2015 GMC Sierra 3500 Truck 62,437 10 5 65,000 6,500 

82 2019 Chevrolet Silverado Pickup 59,295 10 9 60,000 6,000 

83 2017  2017 Chevrolet Silverado Pickup 47,932 10 7 60,000 6,000 

84 2007 GMC Sierra 39,983 10 0 50,000 5,000 

90 2002 Sterling 7500 Dump Truck 98,000 10 0 120,000 12,000 

91 2016 Western Star 4700SF Truck 283,138 10 6 175,000 17,500 

92 2006 Sterling Acctera Dump Truck 105,000 10 0 125,000 12,500 

93 2014 Western State Dump Truck 180,082 10 4 170,000 17,000 

94 2015 Western Star Chassis 185,000 15 10 100,000 6,667 

95 2009 Peterbilt 5 Yd Dump Truck, P (S) 199,197 15 4 160,000 10,667 

96 2005 7400 International Dump Truck 127,000 15 0 145,000 9,667 

Page 79 of 246



 -169-

97 2007 7400 International  Dump Truck 116,000 15 2 145,000 9,667 

98 2003 7400 International  Dump Truck 103,000 15 0 220,000 14,667 

99 2017
Western Star 4700SB Tandem Dump 
Truck

430,137 15 12 440,000 29,333 

120 2016 Chilton Aluminum Trailer 2,500 15 11 4,000 267 

121 2016 Chilton Aluminum Trailer 2,500 15 11 4,000 267 

124 2018 Felling Trailer 23,950 20 8 24,000 1,200 

100 2018 Kobelco SK85CS Excavator 135,000 15 13 135,000 9,000 

Total Public Works $3,812,737 $3,962,300 $292,114 

Parks and Forestry

Vehicle No. Year Make Purchase Price Life Expec. Remaining 
Life Replacement Cost Annual Cost

8 2017 Freightliner/Altec Bucket Trust 184,001 20 17 200,000 10,000 

11 2015 Dodge 5500 Lift Truck 125,000 20 15 150,000 7,500 

13 2005 Bandit Chipper 27,895 15 0 28,000 1,867 

15 2014 Vermeer Stumper 26,886 15 9 40,000 2,667 

23 2010 Chilton Utility Trailer 1,329 20 10 2,000 100 

24 2006 Chilton Utility Trailer 1,161 20 6 2,000 100 

25 1997 King Trailer 3,000 20 0 5,000 250 

29 2005 Falcon Utility Trailer 2,420 20 5 5,000 250 

40 2005
Kubota L3430 Tractor with Loader & 
Backhoe

27,200 20 5 27,200 1,360 

41 2012 Kubota RTV 1100 Utility Vehicle 19,550 7 0 23,500 3,357 

42 2016
John Deere 1570 Tractor, Deck & 
Snow Blower

29,268 7 3 30,000 4,286 

43 2011 John Deere 4520 58,500 20 11 58,500 2,925 

44 2018
Toro Groundmaster 4000 Rotary 
Mower

53,964 10 9 54,000 5,400 

45 2017 John Deere 1570 Terrain Cut 35,075 10 7 42,500 4,250 

46 2017 Ventrac Mower 29,902 10 7 33,000 3,300 

47 2013
John Deere 1445 31HP Diesel 
Mower/Snow blower & spreader

31,750 7 0 31,750 4,536 

48 2015 Kubota Zero Turn Mower 12,395 7 2 16,000 2,286 

49 2018 Wright Stander Mower 6,535 7 6 6,535 934 

73 2009 Toyota Tacoma 4x4 24,454 10 0 26,000 2,600 

77 2009
GMC Sierra 2500HD (from WRC-
water truck)

34,024 10 0 33,620 3,362 

85 2016 Chevrolet Silverado 50,392 10 6 51,000 5,100 

101 2017
Freightliner Grapple Truck with limb 
cutter&body

190,000 10 7 190,000 19,000 

123 2018 Load Trail Equipment Trailer 6,859 20 18 7,000 350 

Total Parks and Forestry $391,284 $430,985 $40,466 

Equipment Replacement Total  $4,204,021  $4,393,285  $332,580 Page 80 of 246



 -170-

Sewer Utility

Vehicle No. Year Make Purchase Price Life Expec. Remaining 
Life Replacement Cost Annual Cost

60 2018 Chevrolet Silverado 1500LT 33,676 10 8 33,676 3,368 

61 2015 GMC Sierra 2500 34,571 8 3 33,620 4,203 

62 2019 Chevrolet Silverado Pickup 2500HD 36,638 10 9 36,638 3,664 

63 2018 Chevrolet Silverado 3500HD LT 33,654 10 8 33,654 3,365 

66 2017 Freightliner 114SD (Camel 1200) 351,694 8 5 365,000 36,500 

2017
Kubota Diesel Tractor with cab & 
snowblower

29,235 8 5 30,000 3,000 

1986 Komatsu Fork Lift (from DPW) 2,000 5 0 30,000 3,000 

1994 Onan Portable Generator 13,795 15 0 21,620 2,162 

2009 Onan Portable Generator 43,089 15 4 67,540 6,754 

2008 Godwin Portable 6” Pump 28,769 12 0 41,220 4,122 

2009 Simplicity Riding Mower 9,189 15 4 14,400 1,440 

2000 Caravan Trailer 1,200 20 0 2,180 218 

2001 Pace Trailer 2,100 20 1 3,820 382 

Total Sewer Utility  $619,609  $713,368  $72,177 

Fire Department

Vehicle No. Year Make Purchase Price Life Expec. Remaining 
Life Replacement Cost Annual Cost

14 1924 Dodge Pumper Truck 25,000 

15 1928 Pirsch Pumper Truck 15,000 

16 1957 FWD-Aerial Ladder Truck 5,000 

150 2017 Club Car Transportation 27,000 15 13  40,000  2,667 

151 2012 Kenworth T270 Rescue Squad 250,000 15 8  300,000  20,000 

152 2012 Kenworth T270 Rescue Squad 250,000 15 8  300,000  20,000 

153 2007 Quantum Heavy Rescue 501,644 20 8  750,000  37,500 

154 2015 Chevrolet Tahoe 55,000 15 11  75,000  5,000 

155 2019 Chevrolet Silverado 52,000 15 15  80,000  5,333 

156 2013 Chevrolet Suburban 48,367 15 9  75,000  5,000 

157 1989 GMC Pickup Truck 15,500 20 10  75,000  3,750 

158 2006 GMAC C5500 Truck 107,000 20 7  150,000  7,500 

159 1988 Pierce Aerial Ladder Truck 444,000 30 1  1,400,000  46,667 

160 2017 Kubota ATV Cart 30,000 15 13  50,000  3,333 

161 2005 Pierce Pump Truck 460,000 25 11  850,000  34,000 

162 2009 Pierce Custom Pumper 559,322 25 15  850,000  34,000 

163 2016 Pierce Quantum PUC Pumper 680,000 25 22  850,000  34,000 

164 1994 Pierce Tanker 289,000 25 0  550,000  22,000 

1998 Interstate Dive Trailer 10,000 

Total $3,823,833 

Grand Total $7,607,665 Page 81 of 246



 -171-

Parks Capital Improvement Budget
Capital Expenditures 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Parks Mowing Trailer $7,000 

#13 Chipper (larger unit) $65,000equipment

Grapple Saw truck - lease year 2 $40,000 equipment

#47 John Deere 1445 Mower/Snow-
blower $40,000equipment

Grapple Saw Truck - lease year 3 $40,000 tax

2009 Toyota Tacoma 4x4 $26,000equipment

Pool Liner and inlet repair $265,000 tax

All Children’s Playground $400,000
impact fees/
donations

Zeunert Playground Replacement $60,000 Impact Fees

Grapple Saw Truck - lease year 4 $40,000 tax

#41 Kubota Utility Vehicle $20,000 equipment

#48 Kubota Zero Turn $16,000 Equipment

#42 John Deere 1570 Tractor $30,000 Equipment

Grapple Saw Truck - lease year 5 $40,000 tax

Park Improvement (New Subdivision 
Playground) $75,000 impact fees

#29 Falcon Utility Trailer $5,000 Equipment

#25 King Trailer $5,000 equipment

#24 Chilton Utility Trailer $2,000 Equipment

Asphalt resealing at Cedar Creek Park $10,000 Tax

Asphalt resealing at Cedar Pointe Park $5,000 Tax

Asphalt resealing at Centennial Park $10,000 Tax

#45 John Deere 1570 Terrain Cut $54,000 Equip

#46 Ventrac Mower $47,500 Equip

#49 Wright Stander Mower $7,000 Equip

Total $152,000 $731,000 $166,000 $125,000 $27,000 $108,500 $0

Page 82 of 246



 -172-

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3

Tax Incremental District No. 3
Fund 352

2019 2020

Revenues 2018 Estimated Proposed

411111 Real Estate Taxes 390 552 

411112 State Personal Property Aid 1 

469000 Public Charges for Services 289 

Total Revenues 289 391 552 

566710 Expenditures

115 Admin - Salaries and Benefi ts 310 500 500 

212 Attorney/Consultant 400 1,000 1,000 

227 Developer’s Incentive

290 Maintenance/Contracted Services 4,551 (4,551)

Total Expenditures 5,261 (3,051) 1,500 

Revenue - Expenditures (4,972) 3,442 (948)

Beginning Fund Balance ($24,516) ($29,488) ($26,046)

Total Fund Balance ($29,488) ($26,046) ($26,994)

Page 83 of 246



 -173-

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4

Tax Incremental District No. 4
Fund 350

2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE

Revenues 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

411111 Real Estate Taxes 148 2 -99%

411112 Property Tax Increment

481100 Investment Income 11,000 

491000 Proceeds from Borrowing 3,415,000 

492000 Transfer from General Fund 244,965 -100%

Total Revenues 3,415,000 245,113 11,000 2 -100%

566710 Expenditures

115 Admin - Salaries and Benefi ts 676 500 500 

212 Attorney/Consultant 18,215 10,000 1,000 

227 Developer’s Incentive 451,164 1,000,000 700,000 1,000,000 0%

610 Principal 145,000 172,412 125,000 -14%

620 Interest 99,965 99,965 121,895 22%

690 Paying Agent Fee 86,756 

Total 556,811 1,244,965 982,877 1,248,395 0%

Total Expenditures 556,811 1,244,965 982,877 1,248,395 0%

Revenue - Expenditures 2,858,189 (999,852) (971,877) (1,248,393)

Beginning Fund Balance ($56,762) $2,801,427 $2,801,427 $1,829,550 

Total Fund Balance $2,801,427 $1,801,575 $1,829,550 $581,157 

Page 84 of 246



 -174-

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5

Tax Incremental District No. 5
Fund 351

2019 2020

Revenues 2018 Estimated Proposed

411111 Real Estate Taxes 33,899 

469000 Public Charges for Services

Total Revenues 0 33,899 

566710 Expenditures

115 Admin - Salaries and Benefi ts 300 500 

212 Attorney/Consultant 150 150 

227 Developer’s Incentive 32,799 

Total 450 33,449 

592000 Operating 

701 Transfer to General Fund

Total 0 0 

Total Expenditures 450 33,449 

Revenue - Expenditures 0 (450) 450 

Beginning Fund Balance $0 ($450)

Total Fund Balance $0 ($450) $0 

Page 85 of 246



 -175-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

WATER RECYCLING CENTER
The Cedarburg Water Recycling Center (WRC) fund is a proprietary-enterprise fund of the City of Cedarburg. All fi nancial 
transactions for the WRC Division operation are recorded within this fund. The WRC fund is supported by the user charges 
to our customers, which is based on water usage for residential and commercial customers, and effl uent volume and 
strength for our industrial customers. The policies and planning of the Water Recycling Center* operations are overseen 
by the nine members of the Public Works/Sewerage Commission, which are appointed by the Mayor and approved by the 
Council for two-year terms of offi ce. Currently, Cedarburg has eleven lift stations which keep the infl uent moving through 
approximately 59 miles of sewer lines until its ultimate destination, the Water Recycling Center.

HISTORY
In June of 2008, the WRC Discharge Permit was renewed for another fi ve years which brought us to the twenty-fi ve year 
mark for the current plant. There were reductions in the limits for ammonia nitrogen. The City is able to operate with this 
permit. We were issued a new permit on April 1, 2017 further lowering the limits for phosphorus removal.

In January of 2017 the city’s 11th lift station was put online. This new station called Kenzie Way will allow development 
to be added on the northern portion of the sanitary district. The station was sized proportionally for the current fl ows but 
allowing it to be upgraded as the development increases.

*In September of 2017 the Sewer Utility Fund changed its name to the Cedarburg Water Recycling Center.

In 2019 the Highland Lift Station was completely rebuilt and sized for future sewer expansion on the north side of Cedar-
burg.

SEWER USER CHARGES
The City of Cedarburg currently has approximately 11,628 residents. The sanitary sewer service area for the Cedarburg 
WRC includes the present City limits plus a considerable amount of area in the Town of Cedarburg and a portion in the 
Town of Grafton and the City of Mequon. The current Sewer Service Area was last amended in 1996.

Cedarburg has a variety of commercial, public and industrial users contributing to the Water Recycling Center in addition 
to the residential users. Below is a list of the meter counts from the Cedarburg Light & Water Utility for customers who 
have sewer service.

 Sewer Meter Count: 2017/2018 2018/2019
 Residential 4,244 4626 
 Commercial 448 483
 Industrial 31 31
 Public 40 45
 Total 4,763 5185

The 2018/2019 infl uent wastewater characteristics for the Cedarburg WRC are as follows:

  MGD mg/1 lbs/day lbs/yr.
 Ave. Daily Flow 2.328
 Ave. Daily BOD  153 2,965 1,082,225
 Ave. Daily TSS  146 2,829 1,032,585
 Ave. Daily TKN  11.3 219 79935
 Ave. Daily P  2.4 47 17,155

The fl ow used in computing 2019 rates (309,343,000 gallons) was 100% of billable fl ow.

RECOVERY OF COSTS
The method of cost recovery for operation and maintenance (O&M), user-related debt costs and replacement costs is 
based on use of the system. These components are allocated to a use parameter (Flow, BOD, TSS, TKN, and P) on a 
percentage basis, and are assessed based upon the average use allocation percentages as determined from the allocated 
budget items. The allocation percentages applied to budgeted expenses is detailed in the user rate model, available in the 
Engineering and Public Works offi ces at City Hall.

Infi ltration/infl ow (I/I) connection charge is a percentage of the total cost assigned to the wastewater fl ow parameter. The 
percentage of clear water (I/I) entering the sewerage system is estimated to be 30. The cost allocated to I/I is divided by 
the number of connections to the sewerage system to determine the connection charge. This charge is assessed equally 
to each connection regardless of water use.

Page 86 of 246



 -176-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

SUMMARY OF RETAINED EARNING FUNDS
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
The Collection System Reconstruction Fund is to be used to repair or replace sanitary sewer lines, force mains, and 
manholes. It pays for engineering of these projects as well as the sanitary sewer part of the project. Laterals up to the right 
of way may also be replaced with this fund.

Equipment Replacement Fund 
This fund was mandated by the DNR in accordance with NR 162.08(3) Wis. Admin. Code, and is to be used for “obtaining 
and installing any equipment, accessories or appurtenances which are necessary during the useful life of the treatment 
works to maintain the capacity and performance or which such works were designed and constructed.” Annual deposits to 
this account are required.

Impact Fees 
The Water Recycling Center Reserve Capacity Fee is used to recover capital costs for future capacity built into the 
wastewater treatment plant in 1988. These funds were fi rst used to decrease any outstanding principal and interest cost. 
Since, no debt is outstanding; all proceeds are transferred to the undesignated reserve at the beginning of each fi scal 
year.

The Biosolids Impact Fee was created to recover future developments’ share of costs related to Water Recycling Center 
capital improvements required to comply with NR 204 Sludge Management Regulations. At the beginning of each fi scal 
year, all proceeds from this account will be transferred to the undesignated reserve, as the Biosolids improvements were 
originally funded from this account.

In 2012 the City did an impact fee study and combined the Biosolids Impact Fee with the Water Recycling Center Reserve 
Capacity Fee.

The Connection Fee for new development funds collection system over sizing, regional lift stations, force mains, highway 
and river crossings, and other non-assessable sewer costs. The one-time fee is assessed at the time of platting or 
annexation, and is per residential equivalent (REC) for single-family and non-residential development, per dwelling unit for 
a duplex, multiple-family. 

SUMMARY OF RATES
Based upon the sewer use rate model, the following rates are for 2019, which are effective January 1, 2019. The fl ow rate 
increased, and the monthly connection fee remained the same, resulting in a $80/year increase per household. These 
increases will help to cover the cost of rebuilding the Highland Lift Station and upcoming new plant construction costs.

Monthly 
  Flow Rate Connection Fee
  ($/1,000 gal.) ($/month)
 2019 Rate $5.4 0 $15/month

2020 Rate $7.55 $15/month

SURCHARGE
Users of the Cedarburg Sewage System who have been identifi ed as having wastewater with strengths of one or more “use 
parameters” greater than domestic wastewater are assessed a surcharge.  The charges for these parameters are as fol-
lows:

 Volume $7.55/1,000 gallons
 BOD > 200 mg/l $0.272/lb.
 TSS > 225 mg/l $0.392/lb.
 Phosphorus > 10 mg/l $7.888/lb.
 TKN > 30 mg/l $1.710/lb.
 Fixed Charge $15.00/month/connection

Page 87 of 246



 -177-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

SEPTAGE HAULERS
These rates are increasing for both holding waste and septic waste.

COSTS FOR SEPTAGE HAULERS PER 1,000 GALLONS

2019 RATE 2020 RATE
 Holding Tank  $8.70/1,000 gallons $9.14/1,000 gallons
 Septic Tank $44.91/1,000 gallons $49.50/1,000 gallons

In addition to the above charges, a $10 administrative fee is charged for each septage truckload received.

Costs allocated to septage haulers do not include O & M costs associated with the collection system, connection charges 
for I/I, collection system debt, or the collection system replacement funds.

Page 88 of 246



 -182-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

Water Recycling Center Fund—601
573805—Administrative 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE

Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

111 Salaries ( 3.41 FTE) 229,745 231,422 248,524 248,996 248,000 256,233 3%

135 Sick Pay Out 1,921 1,663 1,855 1,895 1,895 1,481 -22%

151 Social Security 18,775 18,741 20,166 19,498 19,422 19,988 3%

152 Retirement 29,388 30,006 19,887 16,571 16,505 17,536 6%

154 Health Insurance 40,381 38,093 37,224 34,800 34,500 32,277 -7%

155 Life Insurance 45 49 53 142 60 174 23%

159 Longevity 3,500 3,643 3,785 3,990 3,990 3,566 -11%

161 EAP/125 Admin. 36 247 339 500 500 500 0%

165 Workers’ Comp. Insurance 153 154 147 126 126 123 -2%

Total 323,944 324,018 331,980 326,518 324,998 331,878 2%

573810—General Labor 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE

Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

111 Salaries (4.0 FTE) 192,992 172,841 231,930 229,218 238,600 227,932 -1%

112 Overtime 6,178 5,619 7,755 5,000 3,000 5,000 0%

120 Pager Pay 18,250 18,250 18,250 0%

151 Social Security 14,722 13,586 18,091 17,918 18,482 17,819 -1%

152 Retirement 25,215 20,521 19,231 15,341 15,825 15,723 2%

154 Health Insurance 36,689 23,378 33,946 33,598 33,520 59,799 78%

155 Life Insurance 10 14 43 10 30 10 0%

165 Workers’ Comp. Insurance 22,953 17,180 23,216 21,205 21,205 19,249 -9%

Total 298,759 253,139 334,212 340,540 348,912 363,782 7%

573815—Collection System 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

111 Salaries (1.75 FTE) 104,656 118,513 103,759 100,086 105,440 104,180 4%

112 Overtime 1,719 3,010 2,270 4,000 2,000 4,000 0%

151 Social Security 8,154 9,152 7,818 7,963 8,219 8,120 2%

152 Retirement 13,735 12,817 8,474 6,818 7,037 7,111 4%

154 Health Insurance 15,355 20,322 22,468 24,330 20,254 5,767 -76%

155 Life Insurance 93 35 58 35 35 35 0%

159 Longevity 1,764 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Total 145,476 163,849 144,847 143,232 142,985 129,213 -10%

573835 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

360 Collections 40,846 22,946 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 0%

Total 40,846 22,946 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 0%

Total Expenditures 186,322 186,795 173,247 171,632 171,385 157,613 -8%

Page 89 of 246



 -183-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

573825—WRC Operations 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

222 Electric 99,707 101,405 93,281 110,000 95,000 100,000 -9%

224 Natural Gas 4,131 3,329 3,723 8,000 5,000 6,500 -19%

225 Telephone 5,267 5,759 6,379 5,500 6,000 9,000 64%

226 Water Service 4,835 4,242 4,182 5,000 5,000 5,000 0%

294 Sludge Hauling 234,252 201,410 236,823 280,000 280,000 300,000 7%

312 Computer Supplies 11,276 10,292 11,972 12,500 12,500 14,000 12%

370 Lab Supplies 22,696 24,113 22,000 22,000 20,000 22,000 0%

371 Coagulants 7,962 10,034 12,754 12,000 12,000 14,000 17%

372 Safety Equipment 5,685 7,759 6,826 8,000 7,000 9,000 13%

Total 395,811 368,343 397,940 463,000 442,500 479,500 4%

573830—WRC Maintenance 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

297 Refuse Collection 18,300 15,250 18,300 20,000 20,000 20,000 0%

340 Maintenance Supplies 40,298 44,253 44,500 44,500 44,500 50,500 13%

342 Janitorial Supplies 2,062 2,144 1,983 2,500 2,000 2,500 0%

Total 60,660 61,647 64,783 67,000 66,500 73,000 9%

573840—Lift Station 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

340
Lift Station Maintenance 
Supplies 63,508 60,523 63,500 63,500 63,500 63,500 0%

Total 63,508 60,523 63,500 63,500 63,500 63,500 0%

573845—Transportation 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

240 Repair and Maintenance 11,196 8,891 10,500 12,000 12,000 12,000 0%

Total 11,196 8,891 10,500 12,000 12,000 12,000 0%

573850—Administrative Services 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

210 Administrative Services 17,729 10,250 10,250 10,000 10,250 15,250 53%

211 Legal 432 24,117 29,318 20,000 20,000 12,000 -40%

215 Engineering 1,260 1,311 6,866 40,000 35,000 40,000 0%

216 Light & Water Billing 110,493 117,743 130,334 125,000 160,000 160,000 28%

218 Audit 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 0%

310 Offi ce Supplies 198 307 35 1,500 1,000 1,000 -33%

320 Publications/Dues 355 387 131 600 300 500 -17%

323 DNR Fees 9,026 9,140 10,208 11,000 10,000 11,000 0%

330 Travel/Training 4,173 3,517 4,932 5,000 3,000 6,000 20%

390 Other Expenses 317 391 188 500 500 500 0%

510 Property—Liability Insurance 15,414 14,720 15,512 15,502 15,502 17,222 11%

Total 164,897 187,383 213,274 234,602 261,052 268,972 15%
Page 90 of 246



 -184-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

573855-990   WRC Contingency Ac-
count 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE

2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

990 Sewer Contingency Account 0 5,410 40,000 0 0 0%

Total 0 5,410 0 40,000 0 0 0%

573860     Debt Service - Principal & 
Interest 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

610 Principal 0 55,000 55,000 45,000 -18%

620 Interest 13,685 19,631 18,961 27,809 27,809 19,138 -31%

Total 13,685 19,631 18,961 82,809 82,809 64,138 0%

573870-540  Depreciation Expense 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

540 Depreciation Expense 1,048,949 1,124,400 1,191,268 1,030,000 1,030,000 1,030,000 0%

Total 1,048,949 1,124,400 1,191,268 1,030,000 1,030,000 1,030,000 0%

Total Sewer Expenses 2,567,731 2,600,180 2,799,665 2,831,601 2,803,656 2,844,383 0%

Revenues—Operating 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Public Charges for Services 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

423200 Special Assessments 11,990 

464111 Residential 1,414,409 1,485,803 1,509,162 1,658,224 1,560,000 2,127,320 28%

464112 Commercial 441,373 433,849 438,414 453,076 442,036 622,715 37%

464113 Industrial 289,477 375,017 315,464 372,878 281,248 409,685 10%

464114 Public Authority 67,218 68,749 68,488 71,809 70,000 95,722 33%

464200 Miscellaneous 3,897 2,076 1,897 0 2,528 1,000 0%

464215 Sewer Connection Fee 19,780 112,683 166,471 0 81,147 10,000 0%

464220 Reserve Capacity Fee 8,597 52,473 78,179 0 37,131 5,000 0%

464310 Septage Hauler Revenues 65,437 45,951 62,560 45,000 50,000 60,000 33%

Total Operating Revenues 2,310,188 2,576,601 2,640,635 2,600,987 2,536,080 3,331,442 28%

Page 91 of 246



 -185-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

Sewer Fund Operating Income (257,543) (23,579) (159,030) (230,614) (267,576) 487,059 

Revenues—Non-Operating Revenues/Expenses 2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Miscellaneous Revenues—Interest 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

473900
Capital Contributions from 
Developer 535,500 

481100 Unrestricted Funds 17,126 19,926 34,149 10,000 31,000 10,000 0%

481121 WWTF Replacement Fund 7,311 18,744 36,135 10,000 38,000 10,000 0%

481122
Collection System Recon-
struction 4,414 4,452 25,418 4,000 28,000 4,000 0%

481127/9 Impact Fees 128 366 1,860 100 3,500 100 0%

482215 Rent—City Property 1 4,401 1 1 1 1 0%

483315 Sale of City Property 64,750 5,701 15,000 

487000 Change in Market Value (23,324) (9,472) (724) 37,044 

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 5,656 103,167 638,040 24,101 152,545 24,101 0%

2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Net Cost of Program 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

(251,887) 79,588 479,010 (206,513) (115,031) 511,160 -348%

Page 92 of 246



 -186-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

WRC Capital Projects
Collection System Fund 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Sommerset Ave., Wirth, Garfi eld St., Filmore 165,000 

Highland —Cedar Creek to Portland Rd 375,000 

Engineering 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 

Madison—Walnut to Fair 95,000 

Evergreen Blvd., Franklin, Madison, Fair, 
Georgetown Dr., Windsor, Cedar Ridge 400,000 

Replace 3 check valves at Garfi eld Lift Station 60,000 

Harrison Ave., Hickory St., Oak St., Linden St., 
Monroe Ave.  250,000 

Jackson, Hilgen, Sunnyside, Edgewater, Birch 500,000 

Evergreen Blvd.  50,000 

Thornapple, Layton 30,000 

St. John -Elm-Jefferson 350,000 

Arbor, Crescent, Glenwood, Lynwood 120,000 

Park Circle 155,000 

Farmstead Parking Lot to Cardinal 40,000 

Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs 50,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 

Portland Rd 2 manholes and connect laterals 
from bathrooms 20,000 

Meadow-Woodland-Georgetown-Highwood 250,000 

Subtotal Collection System 455,000 135,000 470,000 730,000 315,000 665,000 560,000 

Waste Water Treatment Plant Equipment 
Replacement Fund 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Vehicle Replacement  #61 35,000 

Vehicle Replacement  #63

Vehicle Replacement #62

Vehicle Replacement  #60 40,000 

Vehicle Replacement #66 400,000 

UV Bulbs (Bank A) 10,000 10,000 

UV Bulbs (Bank B) 10,000 10,000 

New Air Conditioners on Control Building 50,000 

New Ferrous Chloride Delivery System 250,000 

Effl uent fi ltration 3,000,000 

Miscellaneous Equipment 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 

Subtotal Treatment Plant 350,000 50,000 3,040,000 40,000 85,000 450,000 80,000 

Total WRC Capital $805,000 $185,000 $3,510,000 $770,000 $400,000 $1,115,000 $640,000 

Page 93 of 246



 -187-

WATER RECYCLING CENTER

Water Recycling Center Fund
2019 Budget—Retained Earnings Analysis

Equipment Collection 
Replacement Reconstruction Impact Fees Unrestricted Total

Balance $2,173,236 $1,629,119 $536,260 $12,945,006 $17,283,621 

2019

Interest Earnings 38,000 28,000 3,500 (69,500)

Yearly Allocations 226,000 572,000 (798,000)

Impact Fees 37,131 (37,131)

Disbursements:

      Miscellaneous Equipment (40,000)

      Vehicle Replacement #62 (50,000)

      Bar Screen (Headworks Bldg.) (100,000)

     New Ferrous Sulfate Delivery System (200,000)

      Engineering (30,000)

     Highland Lift Station (1,500,000)

      Willowbrooke-Lexington-Aspen-Cambridge (120,000)

Projected Net Income/(Loss) (267,576)

Projected Balance, December 31, 2018 $2,047,236 $579,119 $576,891 $11,772,799 $14,976,045 

2020

Interest Earnings 10,000 4,000 100 (14,100)

Yearly Allocations 668,500 800,000 (1,468,500)

Impact Fees 5,000 (5,000)

Disbursements:

      Miscellaneous Equipment (40,000)

     New Air Conditioners on Control Building (50,000)

      New Ferrous Chloride Delivery System (250,000)

      Engineering (30,000)

     Replace 3 Check Valves at Garfi eld Lift Station (60,000)

     Arbor, Crescent, Glenwood, Lynwood (120,000)

     Park Circle (155,000)

     Farmstead Parking Lot to Cardinal (40,000)

     Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs (50,000)

     UV Bank A (10,000)

Projected Net Income/(Loss) 511,160 

Projected Balance, December 31, 2019 $2,375,736 $928,119 $581,991 $10,796,359 $14,682,205 

Page 94 of 246



 -188-

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN

Water Recycling Center 2020-2026
 

 

Capital Project Status Funding Source 
2020 
Engineering for 2021 Projects No Change $30,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Miscellaneous Equipment No Change $40,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Park Circle Moved from 2019 $155,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Replace 3 check valves at Garfield Lift Station New Project $60,000 

Collection System Replacement Fund 
Arbor, Crescent, Glenwood, Lynwood Moved from 2019 $120,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs New Project $50,000 

Collection System Replacement Fund 
New Air Conditioners on Control Building New Project $50,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
New Ferrous Chloride Delivery System New Project $250,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Farmstead parking lot to Cardinal New Project $40,000 

Collection Sys. Reconstruction Fund 
UV Bulbs (Bank A) No Change $10,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
2021 
Engineering for 2022 Projects No Change $30,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Miscellaneous Equipment No Change $40,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Evergreen Boulevard New Project $50,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Portland Rd. 2 Manholes and Connect Laterals from 
Bathrooms 

New Project $20,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs New Project $35,000 
Collection System Replacement Fund 

UV Bulbs (Bank B) No Change $10,000 
Equipment Replacement Fund 

2022 
Engineering for 2023 Projects No Change $30,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Miscellaneous Equipment No Change $40,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Highland – Cedar Creek to Portland Moved from 2021 $375,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Thornapple, Layton Moved from 2018 $30,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Effluent Filtration New Project $3,000,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs New Project $35,000 

Collection System Replacement Fund 
Page 95 of 246



 -189-

Water Recycling Center 2020-2026

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN

-  

2026 
Engineering for 2027 Projects No Change $30,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Miscellaneous Equipment New Project $40,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs New project $35,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Madison-Walnut to Fair New Project $95,000 

Collection System Replacement Fund 

Capital Project Status Funding Source 
2023 

Engineering for 2024 Projects No Change $30,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

Miscellaneous Equipment No Change $40,000 
Equipment Replacement Fund 

Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs New Project $35,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

Sommerset, Pioneer to Wirth, Garfield, Filmore Moved from 2022 $165,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

Jackson, Hilgen, Sunnyside, Edgewater, Birch Moved from 2022 $500,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

2024 
Engineering for 2025 Projects No Change $30,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Miscellaneous Equipment New Project $40,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs New project $35,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
Vehicle Replacement #61 New Project $35,000 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Harrison Ave., Hilgen, Sunnyside, Edgewater, Birch New Project $250,000 

Collection System Reconstruction Fund 
UV Bulbs (Bank A) New Project $10,000 

Collection Sys. Reconstruction Fund 
2025 

Engineering for 2026 Projects No Change $30,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

Miscellaneous Equipment New Project $40,000 
Equipment Replacement Fund 

 St. John, Elm, Jefferson New project $350,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

Sewer Lining Lateral Repairs New Project $35,000 
Collection System Replacement Fund 

Meadow, Woodland, Georgetown, Highwood New Project $250,000 
Equipment Replacement Fund 

Vehicle Replacement #66 New Project $400,000 
Equipment Replacement Fund 

UV Bulbs (Bank B) New Project $10,000 
Collection Sys. Reconstruction Fund 

 

Vehicle Replacement #60 New Project $40,000 
Equipment Replacement Fund 

Evergreen Blvd., Franklin, Madison, Fair, 
Georgetown Dr., Windsor, Cedar Ridge 

New Project $400,000 
Collection System Reconstruction Fund 

 
Page 96 of 246



 -196-

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Debt Service Fund—Fund 300
2019 2019 2020 % Change

Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
411111 Property Taxes 705,776 1,284,280 1,502,211 1,817,184 1,817,184 1,664,669 -8%

467530 Police Impact Fee 18,126 37,222 125,815 57,822 

456305 Build America Bond Reimbursement 6,064 4,932 3,787 2,601 2,587 1,331 -49%

481100 Interest Revenue 594 1,011 2,769 12,000 3,000 

491000 Proceeds from Borrowing 231,387 47,377 

491400 Transfer from Capital Improvements 200,000 200,000 58,741 100,000 100,000 93,000 -7%

Total Revenues 1,161,947 1,527,445 1,740,700 1,919,785 1,989,593 1,762,000 -8%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Expenditures 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
581582 2010 Capital improvement Notes 98,686 98,686 98,686 98,686 98,686 98,686 0%

581565 2012 G.O. Capital Improvement Notes 339,535 566,725 562,225 556,850 556,850 550,725 -1%

581521 2015 G.O. Capital Improvement Notes 267,400 312,900 392,050 454,650 454,650 451,500 -1%

581530 2016 G.O. Capital Improvement Notes 710,963 542,962 541,538 541,538 540,950 -0%

581570 2012 G.O. TIF #2 Refunding 220,660 

581575 2018 G.O. Capital Improvement Notes 151,707 151,707 141,950 -6%

581560 2018 State Trust Fund Loan 36,074 36,074 36,074 0%

581580 2018 TIF #4 Taxable Bonds 244,965 246,895 1%

582000 Issuance Costs 70,550 11,533 

Total Expenditures 996,831 1,689,274 1,607,456 2,084,470 1,839,505 2,066,780 -1%

Revenues over/(under) Expenditures 165,116 (161,829) 133,244 (164,685) 150,088 (304,780)

2019 2019 2020

Fund Balance 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed

Beginning 32,594 197,710 43,212 176,456 176,456 326,544 

Prior Year Adjustment 7,331 

Ending 197,710 43,212 176,456 11,771 326,544 21,764 

Page 97 of 246



 -197-

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Debt Obligations Payment Schedule

Capital Improvements—Streets

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020

6/1/2010

State Trust Fund Loan $94,651 P 3/15 94,652 

$800,000 4.25% I 3/15 4,034 

Term:  10 years

Total 98,686 

Library—Municipal Building

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020 2021 2022 2023

9/3/2012

G.O. Promissory Notes $3,125,000 P 3/1 500,000 600,000 600,000 300,000 

$5,175,000 1.667% I 3/1, 9/1 50,725 42,975 33,525 25,875 

Term: 15 years

Total 550,725 642,975 633,525 325,875 

2015 and 2016 Capital Projects; 2007 Refi nancing

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020 2021 2022 2023

6/25/2015

G.O. Promissory Notes $2,280,000 P 3/1 410,000 410,000 420,000 340,000 

$3,470,000 .35%-2.0% I 3/1, 9/1 41,500 33,300 25,000 17,400 

Term:  10 years

Total 451,500 443,300 445,000 357,400 

Public Works - Municipal Building

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020 2021 2022 2023

5/18/2016

G.O. Corporate Purpose Bonds $7,495,000 P 3/1 375,000 380,000 385,000 395,000 

$8,700,000 2.179% I 3/1, 9/1 165,950 160,288 153,588 145,788 

Term:  20 years

Total 540,950 540,288 538,588 540,788 

Capital Projects - Streets

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020 2021 2022 2023

6/28/2018

G.O. Corporate Purpose Bonds $1,120,000 P 3/1 110,000 115,000 115,000 120,000 

$1,230,000 2.7% I 3/1, 9/1 31,950 28,575 25,125 21,600 

Term:  10 years

Total 141,950 143,575 140,125 141,600 

Page 98 of 246



 -198-

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Capital Projects - Monopole

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020 2021 2022 2023

3/1/2018

State Trust Fund Loan $274,397 P 3/1 26,444 27,395 28,354 29,347 

$300,000 3.5% I 3/1, 9/1 9,630 8,678 7,720 6,727 

Term:  10 years

Total 36,074 36,073 36,074 36,074 

Total Debt Principal and Interest Payments for 
the Year (incl. TIF) 2,066,780 2,049,325 2,037,472 1,646,656 

        Debt Service Fund Balance  (307,780)

        Transfer from Capital Improv.  (93,000)

        Build America Bonds Refund  (1,331)

Annual Tax Levy Support Needed 1,664,669 2,049,325 2,037,472 1,646,656 

Change from Prior Year (152,515) 384,656 (11,853) (390,816)

Tax Rate (Equalized) 1 1 1 1 

Sewer Utility

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020 2021 2022 2023

5/18/2016

G.O. Corporate Purpose Bonds $865,000 P 3/1 45,000 45,000 45,000 45,000 

$1,005,000 2.179% I 3/1, 9/1 19,138 18,463 17,675 16,775 

Term: 20 years

Total 64,138 63,463 62,675 61,775 

TID #4 - Amcast Clean Up

Purpose of Borrowing, Balance Payment

Date Amount, Interest Rate 12/31/2019 Dates 2020 2021 2022 2023

9/1/2018

GO Community Dev. Bonds $3,270,000 P 3/1 125,000 125,000 130,000 135,000 

$3,415,000 3.4% I 3/1, 9/1 121,895 118,114 114,160 109,919 

Term:  20 years

Total 246,895 243,114 244,160 244,919 

Page 99 of 246



 -200-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - CEMETERY - 200-544210

Cemetery
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND – CEMETERY – 200-544210

Responsibilities Include:

 Layout graves for opening and perform cremain burials 

 Landscape and lawn service for grave areas

 Sell cemetery lots 

 Maintain computerized records and burials

 Cemetery house rental and maintenance 

DEPARTMENT SERVICES INDICATORS: 2017 2018
2019

Estimated

2020

Projected
Cemetery lots sold 10 16 12 15

Number of burials (casket & cremains) 70 60 60 60

Number of cemetery monument permits 25 25 25 25

2019 Signifi cant Accomplishments:

 Developed area for approximately 75 additional plots at Zur Ruhe Cemetery

 Createed  soil containment area (E6)

2020 Objectives to be Accomplished:

 Fix 3-5 headstones

 Update/repair waterlines at both cemeteries 

Long Term Objectives:

 Columbarium at Zur Ruhe

Budget Variances:



Page 100 of 246



 -201-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - CEMETERY - 200-544210

Special Revenue—Cemetery

Fund 200

2019 2019 2020 % Change
2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

Beginning Fund Balance $302,915 $276,573 $267,574 $255,687 $255,687 $236,025 

2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE
Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

465500 Property Sales 7,650 16,200 10,825 7,200 7,200 7,200 0.00%

465550 Monuments & Markers 850 4,250 2,450 1,000 1,600 1,200 20.00%

481100 Interest Income 1,260 37 4,564 1,500 3,000 1,500 0.00%

482170 Rental Income 11,940 11,940 11,740 11,940 11,940 11,940 0.00%

486000 Cemetery—Misc. Revenue 2,664 3,910 2,180 1,200 3,380 1,200 0.00%

487000 Change in Market Value (230) (524) 1,694 0.00%

Total Revenues 24,364 36,107 31,235 22,840 28,814 23,040 0.88%

544210 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

111 Salaries (.08 FTE) 12,065 10,386 8,143 6,635 6,635 6,635 0.00%

112 Overtime 95 0 0 250 250 250 0.00%

125 Part time/Seasonal (.53 FTE) 11,170 7,646 5,352 7,400 7,400 7,400 0.00%

151 Social Security 1,798 1,379 1,013 1,093 1,093 1,093 0.00%

152 Retirement 836 725 545 451 451 465 3.10%

154 Health Insurance 3,358 4,276 2,022 672 672 674 0.30%

155 Life Insurance 0 0 0 3 3 3 0.00%

159 Longevity 386 0 0 0 0.00%

165 Workers’ Comp. Insurance 920 891 546 499 499 475 -4.81%

Total 30,628 25,303 17,621 17,003 17,003 16,995 -0.05%

544210 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

210 Professional Services 10,818 12,627 10,681 23,500 23,500 23,500 0.00%

222 Electric 403 485 479 550 550 550 0.00%

226 Water Service 543 625 581 500 500 500 0.00%

230 Grounds Maintenance 2,771 2,621 3,965 2,800 2,800 2,800 0.00%

240 Repair & Maintenance 295 814 1,908 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00%

245 House Maintenance 611 1,335 444 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%

350 Operating Supplies 606 900 226 900 900 900 0.00%

380 Equipment 3,631 

510 Property/Liability Insurance 400 396 217 223 223 258 15.70%

940
Transfer to Capital Improvement 
Fund 7,000 

Total 20,078 19,803 25,501 31,473 31,473 31,508 0.11%

Page 101 of 246



 -202-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - CEMETERY - 200-544210

Total Expenditures 50,706 45,106 43,122 48,476 48,476 48,503 0.06%

Revenue - Expenditures (26,342) (8,999) (11,887) (25,636) (19,662) (25,463)

Ending Fund Balance 276,573 267,574 255,687 230,051 236,025 210,562 

2019 2019 2020
Fund Balance 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed

Designated Cemetery Fund Balance $171,873 $160,174 $146,487 $121,451 $127,425 $101,062 

Designated for Perpetual Care  104,700  107,400  109,200  108,600  108,600  109,500 

Total Fund Balance 276,573 267,574 255,687 230,051 236,025 210,562 

Page 102 of 246



 -203-

Special Revenue Fund—Room Tax
210-566700, 592000

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - ROOM TAX - 210-566700, 592000

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND – ROOM TAX – 210-566700, 592000

In 1994, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.75, the City imposed a tax on the privilege and service of furnishing, 
at retail, rooms or lodging to transients by hotel keepers, motel operators and other persons furnishing accommodations 
that are available to the public, irrespective of whether membership is required for the use of the accommodations. The 
tax rate is fi ve percent (5%) of the gross receipts from such retail furnishing of rooms or lodgings. 

The taxes are due quarterly, thirty days after the end of the quarter.

The City keeps 5% of the collected taxes and the other 95% is disbursed to the Chamber of Commerce for tourism promo-
tion and development (70%) and downtown capital improvements (25%). The Chamber of Commerce places 25% of the 
funds received in an account for capital improvements to enhance the City. The remainder of the funds are used for the 
operation of the Chamber and the Tourism, Promotion and Development Committee.

 

Special Revenue Fund—Room Tax 
Fund 210

2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE

Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

411500 Room Taxes 79,061 80,783 83,226 70,000 70,000 70,000 0.00%

Total Revenues 79,061 80,783 83,226 70,000 70,000 70,000 0.00%

566700 Operating

721 Chamber Tourism & Development 75,108 76,744 79,044 66,500 66,500 66,500 0.00%

Total 75,108 76,744 79,044 66,500 66,500 66,500 0.00%

592000 Operating 
701 Transfer to General Fund 3,953 4,039 4,160 3,500 3,500 3,500 0.00%

Total 3,953 4,039 4,160 3,500 3,500 3,500 0.00%

Total Expenditures 79,061 80,783 83,204 70,000 70,000 70,000 0.00%

Revenue - Expenditures 0 0 22 0 0 0 

Beginning Fund Balance $462 $462 $462 $484 $484 $484 

Total Fund Balance $462 $462 $484 $484 $484 $484 

Page 103 of 246



 -204-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - RECREATION - 220-555390

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND – RECREATION – 220-555390

Responsibilities Include:

 Implementation of youth and adult recreation instruction programs

 Implementation of youth and adult sport leagues 

 Coordinate with outside provider to offer youth basketball instruction, arts and crafts, and youth drama programs 

 Implementation of Summer Supervised Playground program 

 Coordinate and cooperate with other community recreation providers including the Ozaukee County YMCA and the 
North Shore Academy of Gymnastics 

 Offer discount tickets to various Wisconsin and Illinois tourist attractions

 Oversight of Youth Center program 

 Work with various community groups and organizations to promote and enhance recreational opportunities within the 
community including Cedarburg Soccer Club, Cedarburg Select Baseball and Softball, and Land O’Lakes Adult Baseball 
teams

 Implementation of special events to include triathlon, Easter egg hunt, youth dances, Halloween show, and other special 
events 

 Cooperate with the North Shore Academy of Gymnastics to provide gymnastics instruction 

 Cooperate with Chay’s Tae Kwon Do to provide Tae Kwon Do 

 Implementation of indoor aquatic programs

 Staff support provided to Parks, Recreation and Forestry Board, Community Pool Commission and Common Council

DEPARTMENT SERVICES INDICATORS: 2017 2018
2019

Estimated

2020

Projected
Youth Basketball League Participants 150 150 160 180

Youth Basketball Instruction Participants 120 120 120 130

Fall/Spring Tennis 62 60 60 60

Adult Volleyball Participants 78 80 80 80

Adult Volleyball Teams 8 8 6 6

Adult Softball Participants 480 480 480 480

Adult Softball Teams 28 30 30 30

Exercise and Fitness Participants 268 270 270 300

Youth Football 62 100 100 120

Summer Volleyball Camp 25 30 25 25

Archery 42 40 0 0

T-Ball/U8 Ball Participants 48 50 60 60

Adult Basketball Participants 80 80 80 80

Supervised Playground Participants 128 145 150 150

Yoga 62 60 60 60

Page 104 of 246



 -205-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - RECREATION - 220-555390

Service Area Objective
Effi ciency 

Measure

Target

2017/2018

Target

2018/2019

Target

2019/2020

Recreation Pro-
grams

Recreation 

Programs Serve Needs 
of Residents

Total Classes Offered 
Per Person

.010 .010 .010

Recreation Pro-
grams

Operation of 

Recreation Program

Operating Costs for 
Recreation Programs 

Per Person

$0

Self-Supporting

$0

Self-Supporting
$0

Self-Supporting

2019 Signifi cant Accomplishments:

 Assisted in the development of the new City website

 Offered two new programs:  Stay Home Alone class and Field Hockey

2020 Objectives to be Accomplished:

 Complete Rec Trac software update

Long Term Objectives:

 Research additional facilities for recreation and community programs

Budget Variances:

 None 

Page 105 of 246



 -206-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - RECREATION - 220-555390

Special Revenue Fund—Recreation Programs (Self Supporting)
Fund 220

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
467201 Gym Rentals 1,447 2,525 4,943 2,000 3,000 3,000 50.00%

467202 Athletic Field Rentals 300 480 300 300 300 300 0.00%

467310 Summer/Winter Recreation Fees 42,973 64,510 69,936 60,000 60,000 60,000 0.00%

467316 WPRA Ticket Sales Revenue 8,227 7,943 9,070 5,000 5,000 5,000 0.00%

467317 Youth Football Registration 3,745 3,055 3,885 4,000 4,000 3,500 -12.50%

467318 Safety Training 4,495 7,699 6,446 6,120 6,120 6,500 6.21%

467319 Basketball Fees 17,050 28,790 25,530 24,000 24,000 26,000 8.33%

467320 Softball Fees 12,405 12,926 10,518 12,000 12,000 12,000 0.00%

467322 Gymnastics Fees 900 

467323 Volleyball Fees 1,799 1,089 1,420 1,200 1,200 1,200 0.00%

467324 Aquatics Fees 5,815 5,095 4,871 5,000 5,000 5,000 0.00%

467325 Concession Revenue 800 795 636 800 800 800 0.00%

467326 Special Rec Programs 1,073 1,407 933 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%

467327 Solar Recreation 9,020 9,740 9,906 8,000 8,000 8,000 0.00%

467328 Summer Sand Volleyball 845 1,390 1,405 1,800 1,800 1,800 0.00%

467329 Soccer 4,345 18,645 18,150 20,000 20,000 20,000 0.00%

467331 Banner Advertising 600 700 350 700 700 700 0.00%

467332 Poms Revenue 58,991 81,228 58,991 58,991 58,991 0.00%

467335
Low Impact Fitness-Swing and Easy 
Fitness 13,463 12,205 11,008 12,000 12,000 12,000 0.00%

467336 Civic Band Revenue 3,845 3,195 2,375 3,000 3,000 3,000 0.00%

467352 Recreation Brochure Sponsorships 48,059 8,050 3,846 5,500 5,500 5,500 0.00%

467431 Gym Vending Machine Receipts 5,600 1,322 

467432 Tennis 15,611 13,801 

484410 Youth Center Receipts 437 500 500 -100.00%

485550 Donations 6,309 5,615 4,039 4,000 4,000 4,000 0.00%

486000 Miscellaneous Revenue 1,000 11,108 9,893 15,000 15,000 15,000 0.00%

481100 Interest 24 

491100 General Fund Transfer—CIVIC Band 7,765 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 0.00%

Total Revenues 217,928 280,778 283,010 251,911 252,911 254,291 0.94%

555390 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

111 Salaries/Rec. Supervisor  9,869 

125 Part time/Seasonal 77,100 104,198 113,198 105,000 105,000 105,000 0.00%

127 Exercise/Fitness Salaries 7,019 6,973 6,606 7,000 7,000 7,000 0.00%

151 Social Security 7,182 8,489 9,164 8,568 8,568 8,568 0.00%

152 Retirement 673 

154 Health Insurance 1,194 

161 EAP/125 Administration 60 60 60 0.00%

165 Workers’ Comp. Insurance 2,887 4,221 4,298 3,926 3,926 3,605 -8.18%

Total 105,924 123,881 133,266 124,554 124,554 124,233 -0.26%Page 106 of 246



 -207-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - RECREATION - 220-555390

555390/592000 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
225 Telephone 743 798 474 900 900 900 0.00%

228 School District Fees 22,982 16,600 25,000 25,000 25,000 0.00%

290 Contracted Services 29,896 23,658 24,964 28,000 28,000 28,000 0.00%

309 Recreation Brochure Expenses 5,236 4,360 4,125 4,000 4,000 4,500 12.50%

310 Offi ce Supplies 500 555 26 

320 Publications & Dues 190 190 30 200 200 200 0.00%

330 Travel & Training 2,697 1,186 (250) 700 700 700 0.00%

336 Transportation 2,103 5,232 4,049 4,000 4,000 4,000 0.00%

347 Supplies and Expenses 36,760 38,190 34,741 25,825 25,825 27,825 7.74%

350 Operating supplies 1,836 1,359 

355 WPRA Ticket Expense 7,947 7,688 8,841 4,500 4,500 4,500 0.00%

356 Solar Recreation 7,224 12,228 6,050 6,050 6,050 0.00%

357 Tennis 11,000 

372 Safety equipment 1,603 2,389 2,307 3,000 3,000 3,000 0.00%

380 Equipment Outlay/Lease 1,967 4,500 0.00%

386 Civic Band Expenses 4,829 4,092 3,205 4,000 4,000 4,000 0.00%

390 Other Expenses 202 

394 Poms Program 13,590 35,318 20,000 20,000 20,000 0.00%

510 Insurance Charges 561 832 809 854 854 947 10.89%

701 Transfer to Other Funds 13,900 13,500 13,500 -100.00%

Total 96,868 159,427 147,467 140,529 140,529 134,122 -4.56%

Total Expenditures 202,792 283,308 280,733 265,083 265,083 258,355 -2.54%

Revenue - Expenditures 15,136 (2,530) 2,277 (13,172) (12,172) (4,064)

Beginning Fund Balance $78,703 $93,839 $90,952 $93,229 $93,229 $81,057 

Prior Year Adjustment (357)

Total Fund Balance $93,839 $90,952 $93,229 $80,057 $81,057 $76,993 

Page 107 of 246



 -208-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - FUEL SYSTEM- 221-463101

This fund was created in 2018 to account for all transactions assoicated with the Public Works Garage fuel system and 
car wash.  The users are charged a fee to be suffi cient to cover the direct operating cost of the two systems.  

Special Revenue Fund—Fuel System
Fund 221

2019 2019 2020 % CHANGE

Revenues 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

463101 Public Works Fees 1,748 2,000 2,000 0.00%

Total Revenues 1,748 0 2,000 2,000 0.00%

533210 Operating

240 Repair & Maintennance 5,000 

308 Program Supplies

380 Equipment Outlay

Total Expenditures 0 0 0 5,000 0.00%

Revenue - Expenditures 1,748 0 2,000 (3,000)

Beginning Fund Balance $0 $1,748 $1,748 $3,748 

Total Fund Balance $1,748 $1,748 $3,748 $748 

Page 108 of 246



 -209-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - SWIMMING POOL - 240-555320

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND – SWIMMING POOL – 240-555320

Responsibilities Include:

 Recreational swimming 

 Daily admission or seasonal passes available 

 Youth and adult swim instruction

 Concessions

 Water play equipment

 Sand play equipment 

 Outdoor aquatic facility rental reservations 

 Recreational swim team 

 Sand volleyball 

 Water exercise 

 Lap lanes 

 Youth sand volleyball leagues

Department Services Indicators: 2017 2018 2019
2020

Projected

Number of days open    Full Days

Partial Days

57

29

60

25

55

26

55

26

Attendance 39,837 45,000 39,892 40,000

Average daily attendance 463 500 493 500

Total paid admissions (including group admissions) 11,028 12,500 12,414 12,500

Seasonal swim passes 664 675 580 600

Youth group swim instruction 471 500 477 460

Number of pool rentals 16 18 20 18

Number of facility jumps/saves 7 10 4 6

Superpasses sold

Superpass Grafton Visits

Superpass Port Washington Visits

Superpass Mequon Visits

76

2,233

506

2,141

80

2,000

500

200

60

2,806

393

2,676

60

2,800

400

2,700

Service Area Objective
Effi ciency 

Measure

 

2017/2018

Target 

2018/2019

Target

2019/2020

Community Pool
Operation of the 

Pool
Operating Cost Per 

Person
$29 $30

$30

2019 Signifi cant Accomplishments:

 Fundraised for pool play structure (D3)

 Purchased 3 new concessions area picnic tables Page 109 of 246



 -210-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - SWIMMING POOL - 240-555320

2020 Objectives to be Accomplished:

 Fundraise and purchase pool sand play equipment

 Increase Pass sales

 Add one (1) new program

 Accept credit cards at concessions stand and possibly registration room

Long Term Objectives:

 Repair pool bottom (liner) or paint

 Fundraise for big shade umbrellas

Budget Variances:

 None 

Page 110 of 246



 -211-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - SWIMMING POOL - 240-555320

Special Revenue Fund—Swimming Pool 
 Fund 240

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
411111 Real Estate Taxes 44,121 65,658 69,652 68,844 67,429 69,216 0.54%

467340 Daily Pool Admissions 94,625 67,806 75,448 82,763 75,666 82,763 0.00%

467341 Passes 82,731 95,382 89,326 92,000 75,656 92,000 0.00%

467342 Lessons 22,550 21,519 20,820 21,000 21,460 21,000 0.00%

467343 Water Aerobics 5,233 5,873 6,002 5,000 4,538 5,500 10.00%

467344 Uniforms/Miscellaneous 1,058 1,681 856 2,400 2,465 2,400 0.00%

467345 Concessions 48,475 40,823 39,824 46,000 37,412 47,000 2.17%

467346 Swim Team 4,952 4,180 4,562 4,500 3,597 4,500 0.00%

467351 Swimming Pool Banner Program 4,003 2,800 1,400 2,800 1,200 1,400 -50.00%

473118 Town Pool Contribution* 18,922 

482215 Facility Rentals 4,590 5,072 4,785 3,000 4,945 4,000 33.33%

485500 Donations 459 3,200 

491100 Transfer from General Fund 13,503 37,175 11,500 11,500 25,910 7,944 -30.92%

491220 Transfer from Rec Programs 13,900 

Total Revenues 344,763 362,328 324,175 339,807 323,478 337,723 -0.61%

555320 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
111 Salaries/Rec. Supervisor  (.55 FTE) 22,661 25,266 25,966 28,841 28,841 29,418 2.00%

125 Part-Time Salaries/Seasonal 120,503 114,070 108,105 119,195 120,131 115,000 -3.52%

128 Salaries/City DPW (.35 FTE) 19,139 17,765 13,536 16,000 14,000 16,000 0.00%

132 Part-Time/Maintenance Salaries 2,530 2,465 2,468 2,800 560 2,800 0.00%

151 Social Security 12,470 12,191 11,472 12,763 12,510 12,486 -2.17%

152 Retirement 3,414 3,624 3,176 2,937 2,806 3,066 4.39%

154 Health Insurance 4,359 11,116 15,586 11,925 11,925 11,948 0.19%

155 Life Insurance 1 0 0 3 0 3 0.00%

165 Workers’ Comp. Insurance 7,670 7,575 7,539 6,886 6,886 5,754 -16.44%

Total 192,747 194,072 187,848 201,350 197,659 196,475 -2.42%

555320 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
210 Professional Services 3,852 5,076 5,263 2,970 2,996 2,970 0.00%

220 Internet 540 540 

222 Electric 18,502 18,562 18,251 16,500 16,500 16,500 0.00%

224 Natural Gas 11,634 14,794 11,358 12,000 12,000 12,000 0.00%

225 Telephone 641 448 443 440 440 440 0.00%

226 Water Service 10,186 9,556 8,589 9,760 9,760 9,760 0.00%

290 Contracted Services 1,304 1,476 1,745 2,000 1,854 2,000 0.00%

324 Permits & Licenses 400 400 400 400 400 400 0.00%

330 Travel & Training 501 378 380 600 0 600 0.00%

Page 111 of 246



 -212-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - SWIMMING POOL - 240-555320

340 Repair & Maintenance Supplies 20,717 14,447 10,338 16,000 12,000 16,000 0.00%

346 Uniforms 2,156 2,572 1,954 2,500 4,875 2,500 0.00%

350 Operating Supplies/Chemicals 22,578 21,257 18,065 20,000 19,520 20,000 0.00%

380 Equipment  16,635 39,072 15,887 19,607 15,509 19,607 0.00%

390 Other Expenses 1,038 1,356 411 1,200 419 1,200 0.00%

510 Property/Liability Insurance 3,181 3,182 2,479 2,559 2,492 2,752 7.54%

Total 113,325 132,576 95,563 106,536 99,305 107,269 0.69%

555321—Concessions 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Personnel 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
125 Part Time Salaries/Seasonal 13,519 13,124 13,815 11,000 12,388 12,500 13.64%

151 Social Security 1,034 1,004 1,057 842 947 1,050 24.78%

Total 14,553 14,128 14,872 11,842 13,335 13,550 14.43%

555321—Concessions 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
324 Permits & Licenses 330 330 330 330 330 330 0.00%

350 Operating Supplies 23,197 20,791 18,296 19,000 18,071 19,000 0.00%

380 Equipment 611 416 0 750 2,059 750 0.00%

Total 24,138 21,537 18,626 20,080 20,460 20,080 0.00%

Total Swimming Pool Expenses 344,763 362,313 316,909 339,807 330,759 337,374 -0.72%

Revenue - Expenditures 0 15 7,266 (0) (7,281) 349 

Beginning Fund Balance 0 0 15 7,281 7,281 (0)

Special Revenue Fund—Park Subdivider Deposits
Fund 250

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

467500 Subdivider Park Fees 4,846 35,977 50,861 0 9,573 0%

467510 Park Equipment Impact Fee 14,147 76,060 156,344 0 65,804 0%

481100 Interest Income 297 579 3,821 500 6,000 4,000 700%

Total Revenues 19,290 112,616 211,026 500 81,377 4,000 700%

592000 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Operating 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

706 Transfer to Capital Improvements 47,934 0 70,000 80,000 93,000 0%

Total Expenditures 47,934 0 70,000 80,000 93,000 0 0%

Revenue - Expenditures (28,644) 112,616 141,026 (79,500) (11,623) 4,000 

Beginning Fund Balance $62,121 $33,477 $146,093 $287,119 $287,119 $275,496 

Total Fund Balance $33,477 $146,093 $287,119 $207,619 $275,496 $279,496 

Page 112 of 246



 -213-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LIBRARY - 260-555110

LIBRARY - 260-555110

Responsibilities Include:

 Adult Services include:

 Reference and research assistance.  Provide lifelong learning opportunities.  Computer classes.  Interlibrary loan 
throughout the state and country.  One-on-one consultations with librarians for technology assistance on devices or 
research topics.  Test proctoring for college students.

 Adult programs/events ranging on topics from Great Decisions to Cedarburg Reads to Book Clubs.

 11 public internet computer stations with MS Offi ce, one Mac station, Adobe Cloud.

 Microfi lm reader/scanner and access to the News Graphic back to the 1880’s.

 Private study rooms and MediaScape room with technology for collaborative group work.

 Community Room available for public use; includes technology and hearing loop for hard of hearing.  Also available 
for rental for private events or for-profi t groups

 Children’s and Youth Services include: 

 Traditional library services along with providing school visits, tours, displays, special programs, story hours, and the 
Summer Reading Program; after school programs and literacy development.

 Assistance to parents/caregivers for fi nding age appropriate reading material for children and youth and encour-
agement of lifelong reading and learning.

 Homework assistance and collaboration with schools for assignment materials.

 Six computer stations loaded with literacy and phonic development programs and links to educational websites.

 Teen Zone with a young adult book collection and programs/events for teens.

Department Service Indicators

2017 2018 2019

2020

Projected
Citizen Library Use

Number of Visits Made to the Library 128,970 123,108 123,000 123,000

Average Number of Visits Per Day 362 349 348 348

    Customers With Active Library Cards                        Resi-
dents

Non-Residents

8,618 8,825 8,900 8,900

3,647 4,160 4,100 4,100

New Library Cards Issued 844 826 800 800

Staff Services

Reference/Research Questions Answered 3,730 4,569 4,500 4,500

Number of Youth Programs Offered 220 239 240 240

Attendance at Youth Programs 8,401 8,593 8,600 8,600

Number of Adult Programs Offered 157 210 200 200

Attendance at Adult Programs 2,525 2,250 2,300 2,300

Checkout of Library Materials

Total Number of Items Checked Out by Library Patrons 197,689 185,769 190,000 190,000

Digital books/audio books/magazines checked out 21,447 25,658 29,000 29,000Page 113 of 246



 -214-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LIBRARY - 260-555110

Department Service Indicators

2017 2018 2019

2020

Projected
Research database usage - number of log-ins 1,780 6,977 8,000 8,000

Cedarburg Resident Check Out 114,322 105,665 115,000 115,000

Non-Resident Check Out 83,367 80,104 75,000 75,000

Technology

Public Computer Users 7,846 7,165 7,000 7,000

WiFi Usage - log ins 50,937 75,255 80,000 80,000

Community Room/Study Rooms Reservations 5,823 5,588 6,200 6,200

3D Printing 592 658 700 700

Virtual Reality Equipment Usage (2017 - 3 months of us-
age)

114 426 500 500

     Computer Classes for the public             20 13 16 20
FTE Staff Per 1,000 Population 1 1 1 1

Local Appropriation Per Capita $61.50 $62.63 $62.63 62.63

2019 Signifi cant Accomplishments:

 Completed and executed the start of a 5-year strategic plan, 2020-2025.

o Strategic Planning committee consists of:

 2 library board members – Deb Goeks, Sherry Bublitz (former board member)

 1 Council representative – Garan Chivinski

 School representative – Karen Egelhoff

 Mary Sheffi eld – City Economic development coordinator

 Friends of the Library member – Kristin Nelson

 2 library staff members – Linda & David Nimmer

o Working with consultant Bruce Smith from WI Library Services in Madison, he has completed numerous 
strategic plans for libraries in the state. His service is being paid for by the Cedarburg Friends of the Library.

o Online/print community survey was responded to by over 600 people.

o 2 in-person Community Conversations were held.

o New mission statement has been formed.

o Goals and objectives currently being created.

 Took part in the WI Public Library System Redesign project.  Changes are coming to the State’s library system 
structure.  Implementation plan has been created.

 Took part in meetings to help craft the fi ve-year Joint County Library Service plan with Sheboygan County.  Goal is 
to try and get more compensation for usage of electronic services provided to and used by non-libraried residents.

 Mentored and brought up to speed 3 people in professional full-time positions and one half-time person.  Hired 3 
part-time Library Assistants to replace open positions.

 Collaborated with high school on tech classes and composition classes.  Collaboration continues.

Page 114 of 246



 -215-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LIBRARY - 260-555110

 Budget.  Operated the library with a zero percent increase from 2018, no defi cit, and modest fund balance.  Re-
ceived $11,000 from the Friends and other donations to enhance library services.

2020 Objectives to be Accomplished:

 Address wage inequities in full-time professional positions as compared to comparable libraries.

 Execute 2020-2025 Strategic Plan and select areas to begin work on.

 Increase Wi-Fi  access points in the public parts of the building.

 Address and schedule replacement for computers and mechanical equipment in the building.

 Create makerspace or incubator work space where DVDs are currently housed.  Shift DVDs upstairs.  Create more 
seating space in adult area for studying.

Long Term Objectives:

 Have full-time positions with competitive wage/benefi t packages compared to comparables.

 Select areas from the strategic plan to incorporate into long term objectives.

Budget Variances:

 223 – Marketing.  This area is going to be one of the objectives coming from the strategic plan to improve.  Printing 
of bulletin publications and one mailing of summer newsletter.

 240 – Repair and maintenance.  Would like this account to be better funded for unexpected repairs.  For example, 
we had to replace the intake vent on the roof along with a hood in 2019 at a cost of $8,600 that was not budgeted.

 290 – Maintenance and Contracted services due to yearly increase

 312 – Computer Supplies.  Increasing by $1,000 for staggered replacements.

 315 – Postage.  Increasing for one mailing of summer newsletter.

 380 – Equipment/Capital Outlay – need to create an equipment replacement fund for computers and other equip-
ment.

 381 – Shared System Services – membership increase in 4 county system.  Increase due to network replacement 
fund.

 382 – Technology.  Increasing Wi-Fi access points to meet demand.

Page 115 of 246



 -216-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LIBRARY - 260-555110

Special Revenue Fund—Library 
Fund 260  

2016 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Revenues Actual Actual Actual Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
411111 City Property Taxes 707,306 707,306 722,194 722,194 722,194 738,194 2%

435432 Grants 735 

467100 Library Fines and Fees 23,643 21,072 19,569 22,000 21,000 21,000 -5%

467110 Library Other Revenues—County 153,904 191,669 205,720 212,192 212,192 213,849 1%

467150 Library Other Revenues—Copies 2,388 2,392 2,224 2,400 2,300 2,300 -4%

473200 Library Donations 8,727 

481100 Interest Income 8 

482215 Rent of City Property 650 788 752 700 1,400 1,000 43%

491400 Transfer from Cap. Improvements 7,474 

Total Revenues 897,361 930,701 950,459 959,486 959,086 976,343 2%

555110 2016 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Personnel Actual Actual Actual Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
111 Salaries (8.0 FTE) 353,342 359,961 364,005 385,470 379,470 389,514 1%

124 Bonus 325 325 325 0%

125 Part Time Salaries (4.39 PTE) 117,409 118,514 129,086 120,222 123,810 125,000 4%

128 Maintenance Salaries (.50 PTE) 16,238 17,376 13,448 17,972 10,000 18,312 2%

135 Sick Leave Payout 7,082 652 481 718 718 472 -34%

151 Social Security 37,687 37,631 38,707 40,415 39,620 40,923 1%

152 Retirement 28,163 29,747 28,981 34,604 28,159 29,550 -15%

154 Health Insurance 105,156 114,451 118,877 112,032 112,032 112,124 0%

155 Life Insurance 106 86 122 126 126 149 18%

159 Longevity 5,155 3,433 2,740 3,591 3,591 1,323 -63%

161 EAP/125 Admin. 100 100 100 100 0%

165 Workers’ Comp. Insurance 1,179 1,178 1,143 949 949 922 -3%

Total 671,517 683,029 697,690 716,524 698,900 718,714 0%

555110 2016 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 % Change
Operating Actual Actual Actual Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

212 Professional Services 275 0 275 0%

222 Electric 23,709 22,615 22,139 23,225 23,000 23,689 2%

223 Marketing 184 61 134 200 200 1,000 400%

224 Natural Gas 7,123 6,874 6,107 7,200 7,000 7,000 -3%

225 Telephone 2,005 2,254 2,273 2,500 2,600 2,500 0%

226 Water Service 1,766 1,839 1,798 1,860 1,900 2,135 15%

240 Repair and Maintenance 3,947 3,935 5,924 7,000 15,500 10,000 43%

290 Maint./Contracted Services 40,643 45,760 46,378 50,000 50,000 51,000 2%

308 Program Supplies 551 161 622 1,000 1,000 1,000 0%

310 Offi ce supplies 6,257 7,923 9,023 8,000 8,000 8,000 0%

312 Computer Supplies 1,912 2,167 1,792 2,000 2,000 3,000 50%

313 Printing-Newsletters 1,203 
Page 116 of 246



 -217-

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LIBRARY - 260-555110

315 Postage 585 580 335 600 400 1,000 67%

319 Publications and Subscriptions 87,548 64,694 82,110 88,000 88,000 90,000 2%

320 Prof. Publications and Dues 1,224 1,270 1,444 1,600 1,500 1,600 0%

330 Travel & Training 5,164 5,790 4,556 6,000 5,000 6,000 0%

350 Operating Supplies 2,218 1,755 3,908 3,000 3,000 4,000 33%

380 Equipment/Capital Outlay 2,362 5,000 4,000 8,000 60%

381 Shared System Services 13,809 17,917 21,302 20,600 20,600 23,000 12%

382 Library Technology 1,234 932 4,419 3,000 3,000 5,000 67%

395 Employment Expenses 137 354 200 180 200 0%

510 Liability/Property Insurance 8,005 7,973 6,575 6,820 6,613 7,164 5%

Total 209,224 194,500 223,555 238,080 243,493 255,563 7%

Total Expenditures* 880,741 877,529 921,245 954,604 942,393 974,277 2%

Revenues - Expenditures 16,620 53,172 29,214 4,882 16,693 2,066 

Beginning Fund Balance (50,353) (33,733) 19,439 48,653 48,653 65,346 

Ending Unassigned Fund Balance (33,733) 19,439 48,653 53,535 65,346 67,412 

Assigned Funds - Donations

435432 Grants 13,615 11,300 11,300 -100%

473200 Library Donations 13,597 11,356 5,000 8,000 5,000 0%

Total 0 27,212 22,656 16,300 8,000 5,000 -69%

322 Donation Expenditures 15,269 9,617 3,000 7,000 5,000 67%

331 Grant Expenditures 45 14,616 6,329 -100%

Revenues - Expenditures 0 11,898 (1,577) 6,971 1,000 0 

Beginning Assigned Fund Balance 1,439 1,439 13,337 11,760 11,760 12,760 

Ending Assigned Fund Balance 1,439 13,337 11,760 18,731 12,760 12,760 

Total Library Fund Balance (32,294) 32,776 60,413 72,266 78,106 80,172 

*Debt Service due to new library building in 2020 is $550,725

Page 117 of 246



 -219-

INTERNAL SERVICE/RISK MANAGEMENT FUND

Internal Service—Risk Management
Fund 700
519400 2019 2019 2020 % Change

Operating Expenditures 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
165 Workers’ Compensation Insurance 185,442 180,759 177,678 179,422 148,821 156,010 -13.05%

393 Unemployment Compensation 1,262 1,601 1,546 520 

510 Property—Auto Insurance 59,586 71,587 65,248 68,367 69,312 74,848 9.48%

512 General Liability Insurance 61,501 62,111 63,588 64,810 65,841 66,192 2.13%

513 Employment Practices Insurance 14,203 11,699 12,350 14,965 14,025 14,726 -1.60%

515 Boiler Insurance 1,173 1,196 1,366 1,421 1,196 1,417 -0.28%

551 2015 Liability Claims Paid 1,367 

552 2016 Liability Claims Paid 129,534 13,600 7,310 

553 2017 Liability Claims Paid 61,624 22,065 5,000 -100.00%

523 2018 Liability Claims Paid 32,471 5,000 6,502 5,000 0.00%

546 2019 Liability Claims Paid 15,000 15,000 5,000 -66.67%

2020 Liability Claims Paid 15,000 

Total Expenditures 454,068 404,177 383,622 353,985 321,217 338,193 -4.46%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Revenues 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019
481100 Interest Income 3,525 12,590 17,147 10,000 15,000 10,000 0.00%

487000 Change in Market Value (15,587) (3,920) (2,642) 10,000 

481195 Dividend Income/WC Dividend 59,209 44,117 95,464 25,173 25,173 13,404 -46.75%

484000 Insurance Recoveries 115,876 27,845 17,757 9,231 

482000 Workers’ Compensation-Wage Recovery 3,843 3,844 

491100 Charges to General Fund  252,332  260,560  278,049 280,654  249,871  251,245 -10.48%

491200 Charges to Cemetery Fund 1,319 1,288 763 763 716 733 -3.96%

491220 Charges to Recreation Programs Fund 3,448 5,053 5,107 5,107 4,742 4,552 -10.88%

491240 Charges to Swimming Pool Fund 10,850 10,758 10,019 10,019 9,378 8,507 -15.09%

491260 Charges to Library 9,183 9,151 7,718 7,718 7,593 8,337 8.01%

491601 Transfer from Water Recycling Center 38,519 32,054 38,875 38,875 27,598 36,595 -5.87%

491800 Transfer from Trust & Agency Fund 195 

Total Rev-
enues 482,712 403,340 468,257 378,309 359,302 333,372 -11.88%

2019 2019 2020 % Change

Net Cost of Program 2016 2017 2018 Budget Estimated Proposed 2020/2019

28,644 (837) 84,635 24,324 38,085 (4,821) -119.82%

Fund Balance—January 1 899,510 928,154 890,185 974,820 974,820 1,012,905 

Prior Year Audit Adjustment (37,132)

Fund Balance—December 31 928,154 890,185 974,820 999,144 1,012,905 1,008,084 

Page 118 of 246



Premium No. Covered 5% 10% 15%
Single 658.73        21 8,300.00    16,600.00    24,899.99    
EE/Sp 1,424.47    14 11,965.55  23,931.10    35,896.64    
EE/Ch 1,240.88    2 1,489.06    2,978.11       4,467.17       
Family 1,899.30    26 29,629.08  59,258.16    88,887.24    

5,223.38    63 51,383.68  102,767.36  154,151.05  

$25 single/
Per Pay Check  Contribution $25 $50 $50 family

Single 21 13,650.00  27,300.00    13,650.00    
EE/Sp 14 9,100.00    18,200.00    18,200.00    
EE/Ch 2 1,300.00    2,600.00       2,600.00       
Family 26 16,900.00  33,800.00    33,800.00    

40,950.00  81,900.00    68,250.00    

Premium No. Covered 28%
Single 42.93          24
EE +1 83.32          28 7,838.75    
Family 139.67        38 17,833.07  

265.92        90 25,671.81  

Month Annual EE Contribution

Employee Health Insurance Premium Contribution Calculation
Based on 2020 Premiums

Month Annual EE Contribution

Employee Dental Insurance Premium Contributions
Current Contribution Rate 28% for Family Coverage

Based on 2020 Premiums

Page 119 of 246



BENEFITS COMPARISON 

MUNICIPAL 

Health Insurance 

 

 

 

 
 

Based on the data provided the City of Cedarburg pays a slightly higher premium than the 

average paid by the communities surveyed and the annual cost to the Cedarburg employee is 

considerably higher than the average even though they do not pay towards the premium.   

 

Page 120 of 246



TODAY'S CHALLENGE: 
APPLICANT SHORTAGE

//    888.636.4681  |  sales@neogov.com  |  neogov.com 2

As we saw in the first report of this series, 
NEOGOV’s 2019 Job Seeker Report, the 
public sector is becoming less appealing 
to job seekers. Public sector jobs are being 
vacated at a much higher rate than they are 
being filled. The result? A concerning 37% 
gap between jobs and applications. 

Why is this happening? The public sector 
is going through two significant shifts that 
are creating real challenges to staffing 
government with highly qualified employees. 

The first shift is increased turnover primarily 
driven by an aging population of employees. 
A recent Pew Charitable Trusts study 
indicated that between 30 to 40% of the 
public workforce are eligible to retire. As this 
portion of the workforce retires, agencies are 
scrambling to fill these newly open positions. 
NEOGOV data indicates a concerning 29% 
increase in job openings since 2013.

The second shift is that the public sector is less 
attractive to job seekers. As a result, NEOGOV 
data reflects an 8% decrease in the number of 
applicants looking for public sector jobs since 
2013. When combined with the increase of job 
openings, there is a 37% differential between 
open positions and job applicants.

Public Sector Applicants vs Jobs
Figure 1

20%

25%

30%

15%

10%

5%

0%

-5%

-10%

%
 C

ha
ng

e 
si

nc
e 

20
13

Jobs

Applicants

37%
9%

14%

-5% -7% -5%

17%

-2%

22%
29%

-8%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

The public sector is going through a seismic shift. 

If government agencies cannot staff open positions with 

qualified candidates or leave positions vacant, the quality  

of service to citizens will be impacted.

Figure 1 depicts the gap that has emerged since 2013 between 
the percentage increase in job openings and the percentage 
decrease in number of applicants.

DATA FROM THE 2019 
JOB SEEKER REPORT

Download at neogov.com

Page 121 of 246



7 //    888.636.4681  |  sales@neogov.com  |  neogov.com

WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE?

1

2

3

4

5

All of this data points to a concerning predicament -- despite a wide variety of job openings, the public sector 
is failing to attract job seekers. As the gap increases, it could threaten the quality of service that government 
agencies provide to citizens. In order to combat this gap, it is vital for public sector organizations to reconsider how 
they’re recruiting candidates and take action.

BECOME MORE ATTRACTIVE TO CANDIDATES

USE DATA IN YOUR RECRUITING STRATEGY

EXPAND CANDIDATE REACH

INSTILL CONFIDENCE IN PUBLIC SECTOR  
CAREER GROWTH

IMPLEMENT RETENTION STRATEGIES

Here are five recommendations for overcoming  

the public sector’s current hiring crisis:

Page 122 of 246



8 //    888.636.4681  |  sales@neogov.com  |  neogov.com

#1 

BECOME MORE ATTRACTIVE

Showcase Public Sector Appeal

As depicted in Figure 7, the top three attractions of employment in the public sector are job security, an attractive 
benefits package, and the opportunity to do meaningful work. 

To amplify recruitment and retention, public sector employers need to understand what job seekers want and build 
job promotions that highlight those attributes. 

Figure 7 indicates that 61% of workers pinpointed job security as one of the most appealing attributes of working in 
the public sector, while 58% cited benefits packages. However, both of these traditional attractions of public jobs 
are gradually weakening as the workforce decreases and benefits erode. 

Other desirable features of public sector employment that remain strong are doing meaningful work and serving 
the community, each winning out over the private sector by at least 15%. With so many job openings in the public 
sector, career advancement is a popular attraction for both the public and private sector, leaving an area of 
opportunity for public agencies. 

In contrast, private sector jobs hold the appeal of competitive salary and innovation, both areas where the public 
sector has difficulty competing.

Appeal of Employment in the Public Sector vs the Private Sector
Figure 7

Job  
Security

Benefits  
Package

Meaningful 
Work

Serve One's 
Community

Competitive 
Salary

Career  
Advancement

Innovative 
Sector

61% 58%
51%

47%
33% 31%

11%13%

31% 36%

21%

50%
41%

33%

Private SectorPublic Sector

OPPORTUNITY 
AREA

MOST ATTRACTIVE ASPECTS  
OF THE PUBLIC SECTOR

Formerly Strong, Now Weakening Dependable Aspects

Page 123 of 246



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE                                                                      PER20190708-3 

July 8, 2019                                                                                                            UNAPPROVED 
 

Esslinger said that five years ago that was certainly the case, but that in the past two to three years he has 

seen the trend reverse, especially in the private sector, because of employee retention issues.  Assistant 

Administrator/Director Hilvo said that Hartford and Oconomowoc stood out in his study because both 

communities paid 100% of the premiums in the early 2000s.  In the late 2000s, both communities 

switched to having employees contribute towards their premiums and having high deductible plans.  

Today, both communities have gone back to paying 100% of the premium and have lower deductible 

plans.  

 

Council Member Bublitz asked what the incentive would be for an employee to switch to one of the 

alternative plans if the City offered a choice.  Council Member Thome explained that this health 

insurance inquiry originated from a need to take a comprehensive look at employee compensation, 

including benefits.  She said that more work would need to be done on this by the Committee in order to 

create any incentive. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Bublitz, to recommend staying 

with the current plan next year with the caveat that different plan options and potential incentives will be 

revisited as the Committee reviews total compensation packages.  Motion carried with Council Member 

Galbraith excused. 

 

CONSIDER ADDITIONAL DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 

 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes explained that the City currently offers two different deferred 

compensation plans to employees: Northshore Bank and International City/County Management 

Association (ICMA). The Wisconsin Deferred Compensation (WDC) Plan is offered through the 

Employee Trust Fund (ETF), which also administers the City’s pension plan. The Light & Water staff 

requested the City add this plan as an option for employees. It does not cost the City any money; all 

contributions are made by the employees.  

 

General Manager Lythjohan explained that his request to add the third plan had to do with fee structures 

and that ETF’s plan has the lowest administrative cost.  The WDC representative is also a licensed 

financial planner who can assist employees in their investment decisions. 

 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Bublitz, to recommend 

offering the Wisconsin Deferred Compensation (WDC) Plan to City employees.  Motion carried with 

Council Member Galbraith excused. 

 

CONSIDER SALARY AND BENEFITS STUDY & EMPLOYEE EVALUATION PROCEDURE 

 

Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo presented an overview of the salary and benefits study that he 

completed for his Master’s program.  The City of Cedarburg has been fortunate to have low employee 

turnover in the last decade despite the changes in the overall compensation provided to their employees. 

The exception to this has been the Water Recycling Center and Library who have both replaced a 

majority of their staff in the last five years. The reason for the high turnover in the Recycling Center, 

based on interviews with previous staff, was that the private sector is paying them more, providing them 

with better benefits, and providing sign-on bonuses. Since the first couple of employees left, an internal 

decision was made to increase the salaries of the employees working for the Water Recycling Center. 

Page 124 of 246

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight



PERSONNEL COMMITTEE                                                                     PER20190708-4 

July 8, 2019                                                                        UNAPPROVED 

 

This has helped recruit new staff and hopefully will help to retain them. The reason for turnover in the 

Library staff has been based on employees finding higher paying jobs in other municipalities or the 

private sector.  

 

Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo provided an overview of the City’s benefits compared to other 

communities and the Cedarburg School District.  He provided an analysis of wages, health and dental 

insurance, as well as other benefits such as sick leave, vacation, and longevity pay. Since 2010 an 

average city employee has seen a 7% increase in compensation while the cost of living has increased by 

13.6%.  In 2019 all city employees received a 2% pay increase (pay for pulse) while the COLA (cost of 

living adjustment) set by the Social Security Administration was 2.8%. The process of implementing a 

fair and equitable pay and benefits structure will not be easy and will take time but a clear plan should 

be put in place that will move the City into a position in the next five years that makes it a desirable 

place to work, while also being fiscally responsible. 

 

Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo said that the ideal plan would be to increase the wages of the 

staff that are below the minimum proposed in the new salary ordinance to the average wage rate of the 

comparable communities, leave the longevity pay (available after 10 years of service) as it currently 

stands for staff, and negotiate a reasonable health insurance plan.  The cost of this would be $88,163 

additional to the 2020 budget or it could be done over two years, incurring $44,081 each year.  Assistant 

Administrator/Director Hilvo pointed out that this figure does not include the cost of the Water 

Recycling Center’s adopted increases or the annual 1% to 4% merit increases proposed in the new salary 

ordinance. This also does not include any cost of living adjustment (COLA). He stated that in order to 

ensure that wage increases are distributed equitably, a new performance evaluation system would need 

to be developed and implemented city-wide to ensure that managers were evaluating consistently.  He 

stressed that having a pay for performance system will help the City retain high performing employees.   

 

In response to Council Member Thome’s question, Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo answered 

that yes, some communities do allow a portion of paid time off (PTO) to carryover. 

 

Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo explained that longevity pay begins after an employee has served 

ten years with the City in response to Council Member Bublitz’s inquiry.  It used to start from the first 

day of employment, but the policy was changed a number of years ago and he has not seen trends of 

other communities having it start on the first day of employment.   

 

Council Member Thome stressed that salary and benefits are very important and need ample time for 

consideration, as does an employee evaluation system.  She said the Committee will revisit both at the 

next meeting, as well as keep them in mind as the Council works through the 2020 budget.  Council 

Member Bublitz was in agreement. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Bublitz, to adjourn the meeting 

at 6:52 p.m.  Motion carried with Council Member Galbraith excused. 

           

Claire Woodall-Vogg 

          City Clerk 

Page 125 of 246



COMMON COUNCIL  CC20190715-3 

July 15, 2019  UNAPPROVED 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes highlighted the potential opportunity to raise the City’s room tax rate.  It 

has never increased from 5%, but neighboring municipalities such as Grafton collect 7%. 

 

Council Members and staff had a discussion about the City’s debt history and the potential need to raise 

taxes if the City ever hopes to create reserves again.  Administrator/Treasurer Mertes agreed to send the 

Council 2019’s budget levy limit and expenditure restraint numbers so that members have a more 

general estimate of the financial opportunities and constraints that will be present when creating the 

2020 budget. 

 

PERSONNEL COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes, Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo, and Council Members Thome 

and Bublitz provided a summary of the last Personnel Committee meeting, which took place on 

Monday, July 8, 2019.  The Committee reviewed health insurance plan options and recommended that 

the City stay with its current plan for 2020 while a more comprehensive salary and benefits plan is 

developed and implemented over the next year.  

 

Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo conducted a comprehensive analysis of Cedarburg’s 

compensation and benefits, and drafted a proposed salary ordinance that would accompany a more 

formalized performance review system with merit-based raises if implemented by the Council.  

Assistant Administrator/Director Hilvo’s study found that some positions within the City are underpaid 

when compared to the same positions in municipalities of similar size and in close proximity to 

Cedarburg.  The cost to increase the wages of the staff that are below the minimum to the average wage 

rate of the comparable communities would be $88,163, additional to the 2020 budget. 

 

BREAK 
 

A short break was called at 7:46 p.m by Mayor O’Keefe.  Mayor O’Keefe called the meeting back to 

order at 7:57 p.m. 

 

DEPARTMENT GOALS AND CHANGES 

 

Department Heads presented an overview of their departmental needs, goals, and anticipated costs to the 

Council. 

 

Administration 

 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes reported that there was $35 million in new development, which will 

allow approximately a $270,000 increase to the tax levy.  She anticipated a $95,000 increase in debt 

service, $85,000 in cost of living adjustments to wages, and a $64,000 increase to the City’s health 

insurance plan in 2020.   

 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes reported that the State is decreasing cable franchise fees by 0.5% in 

2020 (a $13,400 loss to the City) and reducing them by 1% the following year. 

 

 

Page 126 of 246

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight



COMMON COUNCIL  CC20190715-9 

July 15, 2019  UNAPPROVED 

Senior Center 
 

Director Suppiger did not anticipate any significant cost increases in 2020 for the Senior Center.  The 

kitchen will need a deep clean and possibly countertop replacement.  She stated that she is working to 

see if a light-up panel can be added to the elevator so that citizens know the elevator is working, as it is 

very slow.  Citizens have become impatient with the elevator and taken the stairs, even when they may 

not necessarily be physically able to climb the stairs.   

 

Director Suppiger noted that the window air conditioning units will likely need to be replaced in coming 

years. 

 

Treasurer 
 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes expects a $1,000 increase in audit fees, which she already made the 

Council aware of when renewing the Baker Tilly contract. 

 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes suggested that the City purchase new accounting software.  The current 

software is twenty (20) to twenty-five (25) years old and does not meet staff or auditor’s needs.  The 

cost for new software is $67,000 up front and then $6,800 annually. 

 

Administrator/Treasurer Mertes stated that she would like to hire a full-time IT person who could 

manage IT needs, the website, printer and phones, and social media. In 2020, the phone systems will 

require a $6,000 upgrade.  Administrator/Treasurer Mertes noted that she anticipates the file server 

being replaced in 2021, which will cost $15,000. 

 

PRIORITIES FOR 2020 
 

Discussions took place among Council Members to identify their priorities for the 2020 Budget.   

 

Streets were identified as the first priority.  Discussion resumed between Council Members and Director 

Wiza regarding the projected timeline for Evergreen Boulevard, as well as the need to repair the south 

end of Washington Avenue.  Director Wiza recommended finishing the Willowbrooke subdivision and 

completing work on Park Circle in 2020.  He explained that Park Circle has had water main breaks and 

the work has already been coordinated with Light & Water and Wastewater.  Director Wiza suggested 

that he move the Evergreen Boulevard project up to 2021 (from 2022) and hold Highland Drive until 

2022.  He estimated that the Evergreen Boulevard project will cost close to $1 million. 

 

Council Members Bublitz and Thome stated that employee compensation packages needed to be a 

priority.  Council Member Thome stated that creating changes to employee compensation and benefits 

would take time and likely not be implemented until the 2021 budget.  Assistant Administrator/Director 

Hilvo pointed out that the pay inequities identified in his study would ideally be addressed either in full 

or in part in 2020. 

 

Council Member Chivinski identified the Fire Department as a major budget priority.  He referenced the 

Citizen Survey and stated how important the Fire Department is to the community. 

 

Page 127 of 246

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight



COMMON COUNCIL  CC20190715-10 

July 15, 2019  UNAPPROVED 

Council Members discussed the pool liner and whether it should be a priority.  Council Member 

Chivinski questioned whether it should be a priority when not everyone in the community uses it.  

Council Member Burkart cautioned that if the pool were to close for a season, Council Members would 

quickly realize how important it was to citizens.  Council Member Thome stressed how much 

fundraising is already done by outside organizations for Parks & Recreation, and emphasized that the 

pool is part of the City’s infrastructure that should be maintained and funded.  Director Hilvo suggested 

that he do more research to see if there are any cheaper options rather than liner replacement. 

 

COMMENTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 

Council Member Thome thanked City staff for preparing for the meeting. 

 

Council Member Verhaalen announced that Dorothy Marks, a previous City Clerk, had passed away at 

the age of 96. 

 

MAYOR’S REPORT 
 

Mayor O’Keefe thanked City staff for preparing for the meeting. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Bublitz, to adjourn the meeting 

at 10:44 p.m.  Motion carried without a negative vote, with Council Member Galbraith excused.   

      

 

Claire Woodall-Vogg 

       City Clerk 

 

Page 128 of 246



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

 

MEETING DATE: November 11, 2019                                                                      ITEM NO: 9.A. 

 

 

TITLE: Consider award of engineering design contract for the 2020 Street and Utility Project; and action 

thereon. 

 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: Staff requested proposals from a total of five engineering consulting firms for design of 

the 2020 Street and Utility Project. A detailed Request for Proposal (RFP) was sent to each firm, and the scope 

of work has been well defined. All five firms submitted responsive proposals, and the lowest overall fee for 

service was submitted by Cedar Corporation. A summary of the proposal fees is included with your agenda. 

 

The 2020 project includes the reconstruction of Arbor Drive from Willowbrooke to Tamarack, Lynnwood Lane 

from Arbor to Tamarack, Glenwood Drive from Arbor to just north of Bristol, Crescent Drive from Arbor to 

Sheboygan, Park Circle, and a short segment of sanitary sewer relay adjacent to the Farmstead restaurant. 

 

All streets will receive new asphalt pavement and base from curb to curb, with spot replacement of defective 

concrete sidewalk and curb. Most of the existing catch basins will be replaced, as well as some of the catch 

basin leads.  

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends award of the engineering design for the 2020 project to 

Cedar Corporation based on their low fee of $23,000.00.  

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION, OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: Due to the timing of the Public 

Works and Sewerage Commission meeting, the engineering proposals were brought directly to the Common 

Council. 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT: $23,000.00 split proportionately between the streets capital, storm water capital, 

sanitary sewer reconstruction fund, and Light and Water budgets. Most of the work in this project, however, is 

street related. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Summary spreadsheet of engineering proposal fees.                                

                 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Tom Wiza 

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Tom Wiza-Director of Engineering and Public Works 

                                                                262-375-7610 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129 of 246



2020 Street and Utility Project - Engineering Consultants 

Proposals Submitted October 23, 2019 

Cedar Corporation M Squared Engineering R.A. Smith Ayres Associates Kapur 

Design Services $ 19,500.00 $ 27,411.00 $ 24,750.00 $ 28,000.00 $ 32,050.00 

Construction Staking $ 2,000.00 $ 2,600.00 $ 4,200.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 14,000.00 

Asbuilt Preparation $ 1,500.00 $ 2,200.00 $ 3,500.00 $ 4,500.00 $ 2,200.00 

TOTAL= $ 23,000.00 $ 32,211.00 $ 32,450.00 $ 37,500.00 $ 48,250.00 

Construction Inspection (Per Hour) $85 $85-$95 $92 $92 $80.00 

Page 130 of 246



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

 

MEETING DATE: November 11, 2019                                                                      ITEM NO: 9.B. 

                           

 

TITLE: Consider extension of cash farm lease with Roden Echo Valley, LLC for 2020; and action thereon. 

           

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: The City of Cedarburg has had an annual Cash Farm Lease with Robert Roden for 47 

acres at 6603 Highway 60 (former Kohlwey Farm) which dates back to 1999.  While the land is intended to be 

used for business park development, even if we proceed in 2020, the timeframe for creation of a TIF, 

completing engineering design, and permitting, would likely take us until fall 2020, when crops could be 

harvested. 

 

The rent in 2019 was $75 per acre, but Mr. Roden has agreed to increase this to $100/acre with rent payment 

due October 31, 2020. In the event the City should choose to proceed with Business Park utility work before 

the crop is off, the 2020 lease agreement fixes damages at $250/acre of crop lost. 

 

Therefore, in the worse case scenario, if construction had to commence sooner than expected, the City could 

disturb 18 of the 47 acres farmed and still break even. 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Extend the Cash Farm Lease with Roden Echo Valley, LLC with the rental 

fee increased to $100 per acre, rent due October 31, 2020, and a crop damage clause establishing the value of 

the crop at $250 per acre. 

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT: 2020 rent would be $4,700 to Capital Fund. 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 2020 Lease Agreement 

 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Tom Wiza, Director of Engineering and Public Works 

         

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: 

Tom Wiza, Director of Engineering and Public Works 

262-375-7610 
 
 
 

Page 131 of 246



CASH FARM LEASE 

This lease ("Lease") is entered into this day of , 2019, 

between: 

LANDLORD: City of Cedarburg, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, P.O. Box 49, 

Cedarburg, Wisconsin, 53012, (262) 375-7610, hereafter known 

as "Landlord"; and 

TENANT: Roden Echo Valley, LLC 

5545 County Highway Y 

West Bend, Wisconsin 53095 

(262) 675-6709, hereafter known as "Tenant" 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION. The Landlord hereby leases to the Tenant, to occupy 

and use for agricultural and related purposes, the following described property: cropland 

located at 6603 Highway 60, Cedarburg, Wisconsin, Ozaukee County, consisting of 47 

acres (hereinafter "Property"). 

LAND USE. The tenant agrees to plant during the term of this lease a row crop on the 

Property. At the end of each growing season, the cropland shall be properly tilled by the 

Tenant unless otherwise directed by the Landlord. The Tenant shall not sell any crops or 

materials, such as a roadside stand, from the Property. 

TIME PERIOD COVERED BY THIS LEASE: This lease shall commence on April 1, 

2020 and shall terminate on October 31, 2020 unless extended by mutual agreement of 

Landlord and Tenant in writing. 

AMOUNT AND PAYMENT OF RENT. Rent will be $100.00 per acre for the 4 7 acres 

of cropland for a total of $4,700.00 per year. The rent will be due in full at the end of the 

lease. Rent payment will be received at the City of Cedarburg Treasurer's Office, W63 

N645 Washington Avenue, P.O. Box 49, Cedarburg, Wisconsin, 53012-0049. If rent is 

not paid by November 30, 2020 the Tenant agrees to pay interest on the amount of unpaid 

rent at the rate of 1.5% per month from the due date until paid. 

AMENDMENTS AND ALTERATIONS: Amendments and alterations to this lease 

shall be in writing and shall be signed by both the Landlord and Tenant. 

RIGHT OF ENTRY: The Tenant shall permit the Landlord or agents of the City of 

Cedarburg to enter any portion of the Property at any reasonable time. Tenant shall be 

compensated for damage to crops as a result of Landlords entry. 

Page 132 of 246



VALUATION OF CROP DAMAGES: 

Should entry by the Landlord or an agent of the City of Cedarburg cause damage to the 

tenant's crops, Landlord and Tenant agree that the crop shall be valued at $250 per acre. 

Damages payable to Tenant shall be equal to the acreage of crop destroyed, multiplied by 

$250 per acre, less the $4,700 rent due on the property. The final determination of crop 

damage will be made no later than October 31, 2020. Final payment shall be made no 
later than November 30, 2020. 

NO RIGHT TO SUBLEASE. The Landlord does not convey to the tenant the right to 

lease or sublease any part of the Property to any person or persons or entity of any kind. 

TRACKING. Tracking will not be allowed onto Highway 60. Tenant shall be 

responsible for any dirt, ground or debris that it tracked onto the highway. 

WEED CONTROL. Tenant shall use diligence to prevent noxious weeds from going to 

seed and shall be responsible for the treatment of any noxious weed infestation on the 4 7 

acres of cropland. The Landlord will be responsible for weed control on the remaining 

acreage on this property. 

CONSERVATION. Tenant shall keep in good repair all terraces, open ditches, inlets 

and outlets of tile drains, and ponds; preserve all established watercourses or ditches 

including grassed waterways and field borders; and refrain from any operation or practice 

that will injure such structures. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES. Tenant shall conduct all operations on the property in a 

manner consistent with all applicable local, state, and federal environmental codes, 

regulations, and statutes and shall bear sole responsibility for any violations thereof. 

Tenant shall be solely responsible for securing any permits or approvals necessary for his 

activities on the property. In the event of any legally-prohibited release of materials to 

the environment, Tenant will indemnify the Landlord for any costs of environmental 

cleanup and restoration as well as any penalties, fines, judgments or other amounts 

incurred by Landlord as a result of such release. 

INSURANCE. Tenant will agree to hold the Landlord harmless from and indemnify the 

Landlord for any and all liability of any kind, including reasonable attorney's fees, 

associated with tenant's farming activities, use of the Property pursuant to this Lease, or 

breach of any of the terms and conditions set forth in this Lease. Additionally, Tenant 

shall name the City of Cedarburg as an additional insured in his general liability policy 

and provide the City of Cedarburg a Certificate of Insurance of same each year of the 

Lease term. 

FINANCIAL INTEREST. The Landlord will have no financial interest in the crops 

grown on this property and the Landlord is not a member of the operator's farming 

operation. Furthermore, the Landlord is not entitled to any government subsidized 

payments made to the Tenant. 

Page 133 of 246



Whereas this lease agreement has been read and agreed upon by both the Landlord and 

Tenant, signatures are required to execute this lease. 

Michael J. O'Keefe, Mayor, City of Cedarburg 

Date 

Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk, City of Cedarburg Date 

Tenant, Roden Echo Valley, LLC By: Robert Roden, Member Date 

Tenant, Roden Echo Valley, LLC By: Richard Roden, Member Date 

Page 134 of 246



             CITY OF CEDARBURG 
                             POLICY/PROCEDURE MANUAL 

 
 
SUBJECT:    PURCHASING CC-2 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
General: The purchasing function involves procurement of supplies, materials, equipment 

and services at the lowest price consistent with quality and performance 
necessary to meet standards established by the City of Cedarburg.  The lease of 
equipment or vehicles as measured by its fair market value shall conform to the 
same procurement parameters as required for purchase.  The use of multiple 
purchase orders to circumvent the dollar limits specified in this policy is prohibited.  
The City Administrator/Treasurer shall act as purchasing agent for the City of 
Cedarburg. 

 
Procedure: 1. Whenever it is necessary or desirable that supplies, materials, equipment or 

contractual services be purchased which will cost $5,000 or more, a purchase 
order (Attachment A) shall be submitted by the department supervisor or director, 
to the City Administrator/Treasurer for issuance of a purchase order.   All purchase 
orders require the approval of the Department Head and City 
Administrator/Treasurer. All purchase orders for the City Administrator/ Treasurer 
require the approval of the Mayor.   

  
 2. No requisition shall be submitted and no purchase shall be made for items or 

services not included in the current budget, or at an amount exceeding that which 
has been budgeted.  

 
 3. All required procedures shall be complied with before any purchases are made 

except in urgent situations where operational or safety requirements pose an 
immediate need.  In such instances, the Department Head or Supervisor is 
authorized to make any necessary purchases, with "confirming" purchase orders 
to be issued at the earliest opportunity. 

 
 4. If the estimated cost of supplies, materials, equipment or services will exceed 

the sum of $5,000, competitive quotations or proposals will be obtained in writing 
from three or more vendors who are able to supply the requested item(s).  If a 
specific vendor or brand name commodity is deemed to be in the best interests of 
the City, the requesting department may present information in support of the 
requisition and, if concurred with by the City Administrator/Treasurer, the 
requirement for competitive proposals may be waived.  In this event, the rationale 
for selecting the particular vendor or commodity shall be noted on the requisition. 

 
 5. Upon receipt of competitive proposals the City Administrator/Treasurer, in 

consultation with the requesting department, is authorized to award the purchase 
of the supplies, materials, equipment or service to the vendor offering the lowest 
and/or best bid, taking into account price, availability, reliability, warranty, 
uniformity or other bonafide factors.  In the event that all factors are relatively 

Page 135 of 246

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight

cwoodall-Vogg
Highlight



equal, Cedarburg vendors shall be given preference.   
 
 6.  For public construction specifications shall be prepared and formal bids shall 

be obtained from qualified contractors in accordance with §62.15, Wis. Stats.  The 
results of such bidding shall be reported by the Department Head to the 
appropriate board or commission for recommendation to the Common Council 
which may approve or disapprove the recommended contract as it deems 
appropriate.   

 
 7.  For individual purchases costing less than $5,000, department heads are 

authorized to obtain the necessary supplies, materials or equipment from a local 
or other vendor, provided that the current approved budget provides for such 
purchase, and further that the department head exercises sound judgment in 
selecting the vendor which can provide the item or service at the best price or 
availability. 

 
 8.  For small purchases amounting to $35.00 or less obtained from local suppliers 

at which the City does not have an account, the use of petty cash is recommended 
and authorized in order to minimize the need to utilize normal accounts payable 
procedures.  If petty cash is used for such purchases, a memo slip (Attachment 
B) detailing the item(s) purchased, purpose and budget account shall be 
completed for each such transaction and submitted along with the purchase 
receipt to the City Treasurer.  This procedure shall not be used to make numerous 
purchases of the same commodity to avoid the issuance of a purchase requisition. 

 
Attachments: 
A. Purchase Order Form 
B. Petty Cash Request Form 
 
 Approved: 6/9/86 
 Adopted: 6/30/86 
 Revised: 8/26/91 
 Revised: 2/24/92 
 Revised: 8/27/07 
 Revised/Approved: 2/13/17 
 Revised:   

Page 136 of 246



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

 

MEETING DATE: November 11, 2019                                                                      ITEM NO: 9.D.(2) 

                           

 

TITLE: Consider application of JKLM Distilling Partners, LLC for Class “B” fermented malt beverage license 

for Handen Distillery at W62 N590 Washington Avenue 

           

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: Handen Distillery has requested a Class “B” beer license.  The Department of Revenue 

has said that a legal opinion has not been given specific to distilleries and Class “B” beer licenses.  However, it 

is the Department of Revenue’s opinion that a distillery is analogous to a winery when examining the issue. 

The Attorney General issued a formal opinion in 2017 allowing a Class “B” beer license for a winery, so long 

as there is a secondary doorway to the other part of the business (winery).  Handen complies with this, as you 

enter their bar and event venue space through the primary door and there is a secondary door leading to the 

actual distillery and safety exit 

 

Furthermore, the Department of Revenue said that it is aware of other communities issuing the Class “B” to 

distilleries based on this Attorney General opinion.  Milwaukee has been issuing them, which is how Handen 

came to request that the City Clerk take a look at the matter. 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: City Clerk Woodall-Vogg recommends approving the license since the 

Department of Revenue supports the issuing of such license and Handen meets the secondary door 

requirement.   

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT: $100 in revenue annually 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Attorney General Opinion Regarding Class “B” Licenses & Wineries 

 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk 

         

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk, 262-375-7606 

 
 
 

Page 137 of 246



Page 138 of 246



Page 139 of 246



Page 140 of 246



Page 141 of 246



Page 142 of 246



Page 143 of 246



Page 144 of 246



CITY OF CEDARBURG

   TRANSFER LIST
                    10/26/19-11/8/19

Date Amount                 Transfer to
PWSB CHECKING ACCOUNT

11/1/2019 $72,205.48 State of Wisconsin-September WRS

11/4/2019 $80.07 Light & Water-October charges

11/4/2019 $85,935.36 WCA-November health insurance premiums

11/4/2019 $6,402.86 MetLife-November dental insurance premiums

11/4/2019 $592.34 Superior Vision-November vision insurance premiums

11/4/2019 $859.08 Aflac-October premiums

11/4/2019 $3,129.40 Minnesota Life-December life insurance premiums

11/6/2019 $194,000.00 PWSB Payroll

11/6/2019 $7,803.31 Health Savings Accounts-contributions for 10/20/19-11/2/19

11/6/2019 $2,298.89 ICMA-contributions for 10/20/19-11/2/19

11/6/2019 $4,005.36 North Shore Bank-contributions for 10/20/19-11/2/19

11/6/2019 $495.00 Police Association-union dues for 10/20/19-11/2/19

$377,807.15

PWSB PAYROLL CHECKING ACCOUNT

11/8/2019 $137,432.22 Payroll for 10/20/19-11/2/19

11/8/2019 $56,424.45 Payroll taxes for 10/20/19-11/2/19

$193,856.67

PWSB MONEY MARKET ACCOUNT

11/5/2019 $300,000.00 PWSB Checking

Page 145 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 1

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

111300   PWSB Checking

A LYNEIS ELECTRIC LLCPaid Chk#  033186 10/25/2019

$208.85 COMPLEX-REPAIR LIGHTNING ROD GROUNDING 
WIRES

G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5785

Total   A LYNEIS ELECTRIC LLC $208.85

ACL LABORATORIESPaid Chk#  033187 10/25/2019

$26.80 PD-OP/OR VENOUS DRAWG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 321L1068556

Total   ACL LABORATORIES $26.80

ADP, LLC.Paid Chk#  033188 10/25/2019

$1,757.44 PAYROLL PROCESSINGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 544499549

$492.48 PAYROLL PROCESSINGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 544499846

$501.12 PAYROLL PROCESSINGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 544500001

Total   ADP, LLC. $2,751.04

AT&T MOBILITYPaid Chk#  033189 10/25/2019

$1,764.88 PD-WIRELESSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 287289051101

Total   AT&T MOBILITY $1,764.88

BAKER & TAYLOR AV VIDMASSPaid Chk#  033190 10/25/2019

$24.51 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE H38910860

$267.56 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE H39385510

$17.21 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE H39513220

$50.27 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE H39701050

$50.23 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE H39769280

Total   BAKER & TAYLOR AV VIDMASS $409.78

BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKSPaid Chk#  033191 10/25/2019

$194.08 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034797698

$17.00 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034797698

$66.00 LIBR-DONATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034797698

$32.00 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034811703

$19.00 LIBR-DONATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034811703

$417.79 LIBRARY-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034811703

$335.10 LIBRARY-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034811704

Total   BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS $1,080.97

BEYER S HARDWARE STOREPaid Chk#  033192 10/25/2019

$2.70 PARKS-SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149468

$12.93 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149510

$5.25 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149547

$11.68 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149718

$6.55 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149723

$18.13 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149726

$13.48 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149730

$8.32 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149812

$16.90 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 149910

Page 146 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 2

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

$20.92 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150017

$57.20 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150042

$9.89 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150071

$2.78 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150097

$7.64 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150098

$1.71 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150102

($0.63) PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150103

$52.61 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150164

$5.02 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150236

$24.29 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150253

$21.59 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150255

$7.08 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150337

$4.94 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150410

$29.68 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 150974

$105.13 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151187

$33.29 PARKS-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151367

$33.29 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151387

$80.84 PARKS-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151391

$80.84 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151391

$15.29 PARKS-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151422

$15.29 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151422

$71.98 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151425

$71.98 PARKS-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151425

$5.39 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151489

$37.79 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151503

$37.79 PARKS-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151503

$47.69 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151571

$47.69 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151571

$5.84 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151602

$5.84 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151602

$28.78 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151604

$24.29 PARKSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151760

$24.29 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151760

$19.78 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151876

$22.53 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151928

$1.26 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151943

$25.99 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 151944

$4.31 PD-BATTERIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152249

$7.64 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152286

$11.69 EM-OUTWALL EYE CONTROLG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152316

$5.31 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152320

$11.12 CWRC-MAINTENANCEG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152347

$13.77 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152348

$109.78 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152366

$13.04 EM-HARDWAREG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152379

$13.79 EM-SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152381

$12.77 EM-ADAPTERSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 152382

$3.87 COMPLEX-HARDWAREG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 153321

Page 147 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 3

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

Total   BEYER S HARDWARE STORE $1,390.63

BURKE TRUCK & EQUIPMENT CO.Paid Chk#  033193 10/25/2019

$678.14 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 25551

$31.80 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 25576

Total   BURKE TRUCK & EQUIPMENT CO. $709.94

CCP INDUSTRIES INCPaid Chk#  033194 10/25/2019

$280.63 CWRC-NITRILE GLOVESG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE IN2407986

Total   CCP INDUSTRIES INC $280.63

CEDARBURG CHAMBER OF COMMERCEPaid Chk#  033195 10/25/2019

$50.00 TREAS-INTERN GIFT CERTIFICATEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 11286

al   CEDARBURG CHAMBER OF COMMERCE $50.00

CINTAS CORPORATIONPaid Chk#  033196 10/25/2019

$36.56 LIBR-OPERATING SUPPLIESG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 4032199275

$144.65 DPW-OPERATING SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 4032950312

Total   CINTAS CORPORATION $181.21

DIGITAL EDGE OF GRAFTONPaid Chk#  033197 10/25/2019

$33.00 PARKS-LEGACY PROGRAMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 16144

$1,133.00 BRANDING-CH &SRCTR SIGNSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 16180

Total   DIGITAL EDGE OF GRAFTON $1,166.00

EGELHOFF LAWNMOWER SERVICEPaid Chk#  033198 10/25/2019

$34.95 PARKS-GRINDING WHEELG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 262111

Total   EGELHOFF LAWNMOWER SERVICE $34.95

EXTREME SKI & BIKEPaid Chk#  033199 10/25/2019

$139.99 PD-EQUIPMENTG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1000000134

Total   EXTREME SKI & BIKE $139.99

FIVE CORNERS DODGEPaid Chk#  033200 10/25/2019

$113.40 PD-MAINTENACE - BRAKESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 59204

$210.00 PD-MAINTENANCE OIL CHANGEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 59253

Total   FIVE CORNERS DODGE $323.40

GUETZKE & ASSOCIATES, INC.Paid Chk#  033201 10/25/2019

$288.00 LIBR-MAINTENANCE CONTRACTG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 9821300-IN

Total   GUETZKE & ASSOCIATES, INC. $288.00

HERMANS SHOP LLCPaid Chk#  033202 10/25/2019

$35.00 PD-TIRE REPAIRG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1715

Total   HERMANS SHOP LLC $35.00

HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLPPaid Chk#  033203 10/25/2019

$3,464.45 TRAFFIC SEPTEMBERG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 45784

Total   HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLP $3,464.45

Page 148 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 4

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

JM BRENNAN, INC.Paid Chk#  033204 10/25/2019

$1,099.44 COMPLEX-BOILER REPAIRG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SALES000112

Total   JM BRENNAN, INC. $1,099.44

JOHNSON CONTROLS371967Paid Chk#  033205 10/25/2019

$291.58 COMPLEX-QUARTERLY BILLING 11/1/19-1/31/20G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 332852753

Total   JOHNSON CONTROLS371967 $291.58

JUNIOR LIBRARY GUILDPaid Chk#  033206 10/25/2019

$2,188.72 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 472416

$170.80 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 475789

Total   JUNIOR LIBRARY GUILD $2,359.52

KAYLOR, DEBORAHPaid Chk#  033207 10/25/2019

$25.00 CANCEL RECYCLING CART UPGRADEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   KAYLOR, DEBORAH $25.00

LANDMARK FEED,SEED & SUPPLY COPaid Chk#  033208 10/25/2019

$31.88 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 55790

otal   LANDMARK FEED,SEED & SUPPLY CO $31.88

LAROSA LANDSCAPE COMPANYPaid Chk#  033209 10/25/2019

$378.00 PARKS-MAINTENANCE CONTRACT-WEED MOWINGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0004178-IN

Total   LAROSA LANDSCAPE COMPANY $378.00

LEAVES INSPIRED TREE NURSERYPaid Chk#  033210 10/25/2019

$231.00 PARKS-ROSS TREEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 420

Total   LEAVES INSPIRED TREE NURSERY $231.00

MARSHALL & SWIFT/BOECKH, LLCPaid Chk#  033211 10/25/2019

$649.20 ASSESSOR-COMMERCIAL ESTIMATOR BOOK 
UPDATES

G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   MARSHALL & SWIFT/BOECKH, LLC $649.20

MEDALCRAFT MINT INC.Paid Chk#  033212 10/25/2019

$4,347.46 PD-CROSSING FLAGS WITH ARG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 188375SO

Total   MEDALCRAFT MINT INC. $4,347.46

MILWAUKEE SPRING & ALIGNMENTPaid Chk#  033213 10/25/2019

$171.49 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 40652

Total   MILWAUKEE SPRING & ALIGNMENT $171.49

MORAINE PARK TECH COLLEGE-BUSPaid Chk#  033214 10/25/2019

$102.00 REC-CPR TRAININGG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE S0066958

Total   MORAINE PARK TECH COLLEGE-BUS $102.00

NAPA AUTO PARTSPaid Chk#  033215 10/25/2019

$58.96 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5269-036726

$2.59 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5269-037152

Page 149 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 5

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

Total   NAPA AUTO PARTS $61.55

NEWMAN CHEVROLETPaid Chk#  033216 10/25/2019

$468.14 PD-MAINTENANCE 2013 IMPALAG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 16250

Total   NEWMAN CHEVROLET $468.14

NLD BRAND SOLUTIONS LLCPaid Chk#  033217 10/25/2019

$1,083.65 REC-POMS EXPENSES-JACKETSG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 390

Total   NLD BRAND SOLUTIONS LLC $1,083.65

OFFICE DEPOTPaid Chk#  033218 10/25/2019

$210.31 LIBRARY-OPERATING SUPPLIESG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 383690666001

$373.29 PD-OFFICE SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 387790326800

$34.92 ENG-OFFICE SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 388147170001

Total   OFFICE DEPOT $618.52

OLSEN S PIGGLY WIGGLYPaid Chk#  033219 10/25/2019

$51.61 POOL-CONCESSIONSG 240-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 37534

$16.12 POOL-CONCESSIONSG 240-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 37556

$58.57 POOL-CONCESSIONSG 240-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 37559

$21.38 LIBR-TEEN READ MONTHG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 37663

$56.45 EMPLOYEE MEETING - OPEN ENROLLMENTG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 38012

Total   OLSEN S PIGGLY WIGGLY $204.13

PORT WASHINGTON SENIOR CENTERPaid Chk#  033220 10/25/2019

$2,675.50 SRCTR-TOURS-PROSIT IN FRANKENMUTHG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 100

otal   PORT WASHINGTON SENIOR CENTER $2,675.50

POSTNET WI104Paid Chk#  033221 10/25/2019

$34.23 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 329856

Total   POSTNET WI104 $34.23

QUILL CORP.Paid Chk#  033222 10/25/2019

$32.57 COMPLEX-REPAIR & MAINTENANCE-CONVEX 
MIRROR

G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2001382

Total   QUILL CORP. $32.57

R.A. SMITH NATIONALPaid Chk#  033223 10/25/2019

$367.00 SAND HILL TRAILS RECORD DRAWINGSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 147211

Total   R.A. SMITH NATIONAL $367.00

RICOH USA, INCPaid Chk#  033224 10/25/2019

$991.08 PD-LEASE COPIERSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 9027723349

Total   RICOH USA, INC $991.08

RNOW INCPaid Chk#  033225 10/25/2019

$401.64 CWRC-SKIDSG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2019-56773

Total   RNOW INC $401.64

Page 150 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 6

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

SCHOESSOW, KURTPaid Chk#  033226 10/25/2019

$29.10 DPW-GAS & OILG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 213

Total   SCHOESSOW, KURT $29.10

SCHULZ, LITZIPaid Chk#  033227 10/25/2019

$40.00 DPW-REFUND APPLIANCE PICK UPG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   SCHULZ, LITZI $40.00

SHORT, LINDAPaid Chk#  033228 10/25/2019

$57.50 REC-HALF REIMBURSEMENT AQUATICS TRAININGG 240-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   SHORT, LINDA $57.50

SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLYPaid Chk#  033229 10/25/2019

$32.00 DPW-STORM REPAIR & MAINTENANCE - STRAW 
POLY NET

G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 95424213-001

Total   SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY $32.00

STREICHER S POLICE EQUIPMENTPaid Chk#  033230 10/25/2019

$1,204.98 PD-UNIFORMSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE I1392134

Total   STREICHER S POLICE EQUIPMENT $1,204.98

SYMBIONTPaid Chk#  033231 10/25/2019

$2,688.18 CWRC-WRC PRELIMINARY PHOSPHORUS PLANG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 49538

$4,025.00 CWRC-HIGHLAND L.S. CONST. ENGR.G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 49635

Total   SYMBIONT $6,713.18

THOMPSON, LES  HARRISON CTPaid Chk#  033232 10/25/2019

$319.00 SRCTR-WATERCOLOR WORKSHOPG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   THOMPSON, LES  HARRISON CT $319.00

TIME WARNER CABLE-PO BOX 4639Paid Chk#  033233 10/25/2019

$134.98 EM-INTERNETG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0101

$420.29 PD-TELEPHONEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2301

$1,026.50 CH-INTERNETG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2301

$134.98 POOL-INTERNETG 240-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7801

$117.48 PARKS-INTERNETG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 8501

$117.48 DPW-FIRELINESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 8501

Total   TIME WARNER CABLE-PO BOX 4639 $1,951.71

TOP PACK DEFENSE LLCPaid Chk#  033234 10/25/2019

$76.46 PD-UNIFORMSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2899

Total   TOP PACK DEFENSE LLC $76.46

TRUCK COUNTRY OF WISCPaid Chk#  033235 10/25/2019

$12.21 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE X207024225:0

$130.26 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE X207024273:0

Total   TRUCK COUNTRY OF WISC $142.47

ULINEPaid Chk#  033236 10/25/2019

Page 151 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 7

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

$31.29 PD-MAILERSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 113102511

Total   ULINE $31.29

UNIFIRST CORPORATIONPaid Chk#  033237 10/25/2019

$65.08 CWRC-SAFETYG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 096 1096391

$57.61 DPW-OPERATINGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 096 1096395

Total   UNIFIRST CORPORATION $122.69

VALU RITE CORPORATIONPaid Chk#  033238 10/25/2019

$1,083.33 ASSESSOR-REVALUATIONG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

$1,125.00 ASSESSOR-COMM. MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   VALU RITE CORPORATION $2,208.33

VICTOR, DENISEPaid Chk#  033239 10/25/2019

$30.00 WELLNESS PROGRAM REIMBURSEMENTG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   VICTOR, DENISE $30.00

VIEVUPaid Chk#  033240 10/25/2019

$3,880.00 PD-BODY CAMERASG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE VVSI-1000503

$40.00 PD-BODY CAMERASG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE VVSI-1000739

Total   VIEVU $3,920.00

VISUAL IMAGE PHOTOGRAPHY, INC.Paid Chk#  033241 10/25/2019

$61.20 LIBR-MARKETINGG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7748

Total   VISUAL IMAGE PHOTOGRAPHY, INC. $61.20

WEISSMANPaid Chk#  033242 10/25/2019

$1,027.13 REC-POMS EXPENSESG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 204049023

Total   WEISSMAN $1,027.13

WHITE RICE ADVERTISING & PR,Paid Chk#  033243 10/25/2019

$486.12 BRANDING-MAGNETS & ANIMATIONSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 8249

Total   WHITE RICE ADVERTISING & PR, $486.12

WI DEPT OF JUSTICE-TIME 93136Paid Chk#  033244 10/25/2019

$378.00 PD-TIME ACCESSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 455TIME-0000

Total   WI DEPT OF JUSTICE-TIME 93136 $378.00

WISCONSIN HISTORICAL FOUNDATIOPaid Chk#  033245 10/25/2019

$65.00 PLAN-MEMBERSHIP/SUBSCRIPTION 1 YEAR CENSKYG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   WISCONSIN HISTORICAL FOUNDATIO $65.00

WISCONSIN HUMANE SOCIETYPaid Chk#  033246 10/25/2019

$207.50 PD-STRAY FEES SEPTEMBER 2019G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1554

Total   WISCONSIN HUMANE SOCIETY $207.50

ZUERN BUILDING PRODUCTSPaid Chk#  033247 10/25/2019

$47.10 PARKS-REPAIR - BENCH & TABLE CONCRETE 
FORMS

G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 180275

Page 152 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 8

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

Total   ZUERN BUILDING PRODUCTS $47.10

WE ENERGIES-PO BOX 90001Paid Chk#  033248 10/28/2019

$12.49 BOY SCOUT HOUSEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 045

$31.58 FDG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 082

$10.06 SEWER - DORCHESTER #4G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 176

$11.52 GIRL SCOUT HOUSEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 213

$11.30 SEWER - EVERGREEN #7G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 229

$9.90 SEWER - PARK LANE CWRCG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 296

$55.54 POOLG 240-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 384

$31.61 GYMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 425

$109.38 LIBRARYG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 477

$40.78 DPW - ELECTRICG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 495

$9.57 EMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 522

$214.02 PDG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 610

$24.65 LINCOLN BLDGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 666

$10.62 SEWER - KENZIE #11G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 804

$10.54 SEWER - KEUP #10G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 866

$11.03 SEWER - GARFIELD #9G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 928

$5.90 SEWER - HIGHLAND #8G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 943

$34.62 CHG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 952

$35.48 DPW FACILITYG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 957

$83.14 FDG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 971

$10.06 POOLG 240-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 991

$9.57 PDG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 994

Total   WE ENERGIES-PO BOX 90001 $783.36

ABT MAILCOMPaid Chk#  033249 11/1/2019

$2,200.00 TREAS-TAX BILL POSTAGEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2019TBP

Total   ABT MAILCOM $2,200.00

AT&T LONG DISTANCEPaid Chk#  033250 11/1/2019

$45.83 LIBR-LONG DISTANCEG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 836841746

$2.35 PD-LONG DISTANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 836841746

$269.45 LW-LONG DISTANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 836841746

Total   AT&T LONG DISTANCE $317.63

AT&TPO BOX 5080Paid Chk#  033251 11/1/2019

$194.24 LIBR-TELEPHONEG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 262375760310

$66.78 CH-TELEPHONEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 262375760310

$50.97 FD-TELEPHONEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 262375760310

$50.89 DPW-TELEPHONEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 262375760310

$65.66 CWRC-TELEPHONEG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 262375760310

Total   AT&TPO BOX 5080 $428.54

AURORA HEALTH CAREPaid Chk#  033252 11/1/2019

$48.00 LIBR-DRUG SCREENG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1904040

Total   AURORA HEALTH CARE $48.00

Page 153 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 9

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

BAKER & TAYLOR AV VIDMASSPaid Chk#  033253 11/1/2019

$32.99 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE H39877060

$254.62 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE H39917700

Total   BAKER & TAYLOR AV VIDMASS $287.61

BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKSPaid Chk#  033254 11/1/2019

$342.88 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034832366

$16.00 LIBR-DONATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034832366

$31.00 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034832366

$473.21 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034844077

$45.00 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034854886

$367.43 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034854886

$239.85 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034864892

$17.00 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034864892

$226.55 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034870751

$460.61 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2034886393

Total   BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS $2,219.53

BH TUBESPaid Chk#  033255 11/1/2019

$268.21 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 000002023

Total   BH TUBES $268.21

BLOCH, RANDYPaid Chk#  033256 11/1/2019

$50.72 EG-TRICK OR TREAT LUNCHG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   BLOCH, RANDY $50.72

BURKE, KATEPaid Chk#  033257 11/1/2019

$150.00 REC-REFUND CANCELED BASKETBALLG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   BURKE, KATE $150.00

BUSINESS CARDPaid Chk#  033258 11/1/2019

$0.93 CWRC-COLLECTIONSG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1764

$1,704.87 CWRC-TRAVEL & TRAININGG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1764

$336.02 BI-BUILDING PERMIT SEALSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3367

$500.00 ENG-WIESER & WIZA REGISTRATION APWAG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3367

$7.99 MAYOR-OZ CO ADMINISTRATORS MEETINGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3367

$150.94 PD-LIGHT BULBSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3367

$71.52 REC-FASTENERSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3413

$1,258.52 POMS-SEASON END PARTY SUPPLIESG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3413

$194.14 EM-MAINTENANCE HOME DEPOTG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5957

$433.84 DPW-MAINTENANCE-CARWELLG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$35.98 DPW-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$173.72 DPW-MAINTENANCE-SIGNSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$8.36 DPW-SUPPLIES-PENCILSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$314.88 DPW-SUPPLIES-AMAZONG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$2.91 DPW-SUPPLIES-AMAZONG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$9.80 DPW-SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$41.38 DPW-LEADERSHIPG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

Page 154 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 10

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

$327.30 DPW-OPERATING-DULUTHG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$72.84 DPW-SUPPLIES- MSCG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 6193

$261.60 LIBR-TRAVEL & TRAININGG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$39.80 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$32.97 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$7.74 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$74.14 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$32.93 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$6.35 LIBR-TRAINING-MEALG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$29.74 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$34.99 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$50.56 LIBR-TECHG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$0.99 LIBR-CPL RADIOG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

($12.54) LIBR-TAX REFUNDG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$289.97 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$149.00 LIBR-TRAVEL & TRAININGG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$140.00 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$49.00 LIBR-TRAININGG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$94.97 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$104.63 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$59.00 LIBR-DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$236.38 LIBR-REPAIR-TIGER DIRECTG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

($2.68) LIBR-CREDIT AVASTG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$0.99 LIBR-ICLOUD STORAGEG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$49.44 LIBR-PROGRAM SUPPLIESG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$126.80 LIBR-OPERATINGG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$53.97 LIBR-PUBLICATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$197.51 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 7141

$90.00 PARKS-TRAINING-KW ARBORISTG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 9729

Total   BUSINESS CARD $7,844.19

CEDARBURG LIGHT & WATERPaid Chk#  033259 11/1/2019

$12,362.16 CWRC-SEWER BILLING OCTOBER 2019G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 007517

Total   CEDARBURG LIGHT & WATER $12,362.16

CINTAS CORPORATIONPaid Chk#  033260 11/1/2019

$144.65 DPW-OPERATINGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 4033484180

Total   CINTAS CORPORATION $144.65

CONCRETE SHORT POUR, INC.Paid Chk#  033261 11/1/2019

$206.00 DPW-STORM REPAIR & MAINT-CEDAR BASING 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 10-25-02

$415.00 DPW-STORM REPAIR & MAINT-BOY SCOUT HOUSEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 10-25-02

Total   CONCRETE SHORT POUR, INC. $621.00

DSI RECYCLING SYSTEMS INC.Paid Chk#  033262 11/1/2019

$1,386.65 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 54296

Total   DSI RECYCLING SYSTEMS INC. $1,386.65

Page 155 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 11

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

FASTENAL COMPANYPaid Chk#  033263 11/1/2019

$4.70 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE WISAU113677

$253.53 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE WISAU113759

$17.28 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE WISAU113871

Total   FASTENAL COMPANY $275.51

FRIENDS OF THE LIBRARYPaid Chk#  033264 11/1/2019

$50.00 SRCTR-CO-SPONSOR OF SPEAKER-PICTURES ON 
PHONE

G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   FRIENDS OF THE LIBRARY $50.00

GODFREY & KAHNPaid Chk#  033265 11/1/2019

$1,273.00 EXTRAORDERINARY SERVICESG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 748602

Total   GODFREY & KAHN $1,273.00

GRAEFPaid Chk#  033266 11/1/2019

$1,712.50 ENVIRONMENTAL FUNDG 400-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0105999

Total   GRAEF $1,712.50

GRAFTON SENIOR CENTERPaid Chk#  033267 11/1/2019

$416.72 SRCTR-TOURS-CHINA LIGHTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 62375

Total   GRAFTON SENIOR CENTER $416.72

HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICESPaid Chk#  033268 11/1/2019

$212.42 CWRC-SUPPLIESG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3692

$55.11 COMPLEX-SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3692

$269.69 CWRC-SUPPLIESG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3692

Total   HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES $537.22

HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLPPaid Chk#  033269 11/1/2019

$280.00 LEGAL SERVICES - SEPTEMBER 2019G 400-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 45803

$80.00 LEGAL SERVICES - SEPTEMBER 2019G 700-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 45803

$2,951.80 LEGAL SERVICES - SEPTEMBER 2019G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 45803

Total   HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLP $3,311.80

INTOUCH THERAPEUTIC MASSAGE LLPaid Chk#  033270 11/1/2019

$210.00 CHAIR MASSAGES-11/14/19G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

otal   INTOUCH THERAPEUTIC MASSAGE LL $210.00

JOE JACOBSPaid Chk#  033271 11/1/2019

$390.00 BI-OCTOBER 2019G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 19-014

Total   JOE JACOBS $390.00

JX ENTERPRISES INC.Paid Chk#  033272 11/1/2019

$70.37 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1288160P

Total   JX ENTERPRISES INC. $70.37

KALAHARI RESORTPaid Chk#  033273 11/1/2019

$581.58 REC-WPRA CONFERENCE HOTELG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Page 156 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 12

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

Total   KALAHARI RESORT $581.58

LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPLYPaid Chk#  033274 11/1/2019

$329.00 DPW-STORM REPAIR & MAINT-DIAMOND BLADEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE M40530

$55.98 DPW-STORM REPAIR & MAINTG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE M40534

Total   LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPLY $384.98

MILLER, DR. FRANKLINPaid Chk#  033275 11/1/2019

$440.00 SRCTR-MUSIC INSTRUCTOR FEEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   MILLER, DR. FRANKLIN $440.00

MONARCH LIBRARY SYSTEMPaid Chk#  033276 11/1/2019

$25.84 LIBR-SHARED SERVICESG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 414810

Total   MONARCH LIBRARY SYSTEM $25.84

NAPA AUTO PARTSPaid Chk#  033277 11/1/2019

$7.59 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5269-038418

$8.96 DPW-MAINTENANCE PARTSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 5269-038418

Total   NAPA AUTO PARTS $16.55

NICERINKPaid Chk#  033278 11/1/2019

$1,244.69 REC-LINERG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 104760

Total   NICERINK $1,244.69

ODDERS, GRETAPaid Chk#  033279 11/1/2019

$150.00 REC-CANCELLED OUT OF YOUTH BASKETBALLG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   ODDERS, GRETA $150.00

OLIVER FIONTAR LLCPaid Chk#  033280 11/1/2019

$40,090.00 TIF #4-DRAW #21G 350-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 540

$15,927.11 TIF #4-DRAW #21G 350-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 541

$13,740.00 TIF #4-DRAW #21G 350-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 548

$9,021.50 TIF #4-DRAW #21G 350-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 549

Total   OLIVER FIONTAR LLC $78,778.61

OLSEN S PIGGLY WIGGLYPaid Chk#  033281 11/1/2019

$22.80 LIBR-ADULT PROGRAM SUPPLIESG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 37970

$11.23 LIBR-PROGRAM SUPPLIESG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 38049

$37.75 LIBR-DONATIONSG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 38052

Total   OLSEN S PIGGLY WIGGLY $71.78

ONTECH SYSTEMS, INCPaid Chk#  033282 11/1/2019

$204.66 REC-RECTRACG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 43936

$270.00 REC-RECTRACG 220-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 43936

Total   ONTECH SYSTEMS, INC $474.66

OWEN S OFFICE SUPPLIESPaid Chk#  033283 11/1/2019

$76.50 PARKS-OFFICE SUPPLIESG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 28980

Page 157 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 13

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

Total   OWEN S OFFICE SUPPLIES $76.50

OZAUKEE COUNTY HIGHWAY DEPTPaid Chk#  033284 11/1/2019

$460.52 DPW-STORM REPAIR & MAINTG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE BILL0026942

Total   OZAUKEE COUNTY HIGHWAY DEPT $460.52

QUALITY STATE OIL CO.,INC.Paid Chk#  033285 11/1/2019

$2,335.10 DPW-FUEL INVENTORYG 221-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1252118

Total   QUALITY STATE OIL CO.,INC. $2,335.10

RECOGNITION SPECIALISTS, INC.Paid Chk#  033286 11/1/2019

$16.00 LIBR-FRIENDS DONATIONG 260-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 33993

Total   RECOGNITION SPECIALISTS, INC. $16.00

RUEKERT & MIELKEPaid Chk#  033287 11/1/2019

$4,389.50 ENG-HWY 60 BUSINESS PARKG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 129341

$3,091.00 ENG-HWY 60 BUSINESS PARKG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 129341

Total   RUEKERT & MIELKE $7,480.50

SCHMITZ, JEFFREYPaid Chk#  033288 11/1/2019

$100.00 DPW-TWENTY YEARS CONTINUOUS SERVICEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   SCHMITZ, JEFFREY $100.00

SHEFFIELD, MARYPaid Chk#  033289 11/1/2019

$2,297.50 ED-OCTOBER 2019G 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   SHEFFIELD, MARY $2,297.50

SHERWIN INDUSTRIES, INC.Paid Chk#  033290 11/1/2019

$72.22 DPW-STREET REPAIR & MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SC043844

$148.00 DPW-STREET REPAIR & MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE SC043873

Total   SHERWIN INDUSTRIES, INC. $220.22

SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO.-GRAFTONPaid Chk#  033291 11/1/2019

$200.72 PARKS-MAINTENANCEG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0046-0

Total   SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO.-GRAFTON $200.72

STAAB CONSTRUCTION CORPORATIONPaid Chk#  033292 11/1/2019

$197,362.50 HIGHLAND LIFT STATIONG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2017-04 OCTO

tal   STAAB CONSTRUCTION CORPORATION $197,362.50

TAPCOPaid Chk#  033293 11/1/2019

$1,382.95 DPW-SIGNSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE I644212

Total   TAPCO $1,382.95

U. S. CELLULAR-DEPT 0205Paid Chk#  033294 11/1/2019

$42.20 EM-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$17.18 CH-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$46.60 BI-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$16.10 PARKS-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

Page 158 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 14

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

$16.10 DPW-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$1.62 ENG-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$41.60 DPW-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$5.74 ENG-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$3.46 SRCTR-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$41.65 PARKS-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$41.60 CWRC-TELECOMG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$26.10 EM-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$0.50 EM-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$16.10 CWRC-TELECOMG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$16.10 PARKS-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$16.10 DPW-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$42.82 CWRC-TELCOMG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$32.20 PARKS-TELECOMG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$16.10 CWRC-TELECOMG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

$20.50 CWRC-TELECOMG 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 0335469175

Total   U. S. CELLULAR-DEPT 0205 $460.37

WAYSIDE NURSERIES, INC.Paid Chk#  033295 11/1/2019

$235.00 LEGACY TREE-MCGAVENG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 145778

Total   WAYSIDE NURSERIES, INC. $235.00

WE ENERGIES-ESSENTIAL SERVICESPaid Chk#  033296 11/1/2019

$93.00 HIGHLAND DRIVE LIFT STATION GAS SERVICE 
#4406823

G 601-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CK REQ

Total   WE ENERGIES-ESSENTIAL SERVICES $93.00

WIL-KIL PEST CONTROLPaid Chk#  033297 11/1/2019

$45.00 COMPLEX-CHG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3765561

$46.00 COMPLEX-MAINTENANCE LINCOLN BLDGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 3765564

Total   WIL-KIL PEST CONTROL $91.00

WPRA - CONFERENCESPaid Chk#  033298 11/1/2019

$115.00 PARKS-TRAVEL & TRAININGG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 533

Total   WPRA - CONFERENCES $115.00

ZUERN BUILDING PRODUCTSPaid Chk#  033299 11/1/2019

$25.86 DPW-SIGNSG 100-212000   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 187286

Total   ZUERN BUILDING PRODUCTS $25.86

111300   PWSB Checking $382,562.66

Page 159 of 246



*Check Detail Register©

CITY OF CEDARBURG 11/05/19 7:47 AM

Page 15

OCTOBER 2019

Check Amt CommentInvoice

Fund Summary

111300  PWSB Checking

100 GENERAL FUND $63,752.66

220 RECREATION PROGRAMS FUND $4,622.88

221 FUEL SYSTEM - WASH BAY $2,335.10

240 SWIMMING POOL FUND $384.38

260 LIBRARY FUND $9,594.18

350 TIF DISTRICT FUND #4 $78,778.61

400 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND $1,992.50

601 WATER RECYCLING CENTER $221,022.35

700 RISK MANAGEMENT FUND $80.00

$382,562.66

Page 160 of 246



Page 161 of 246



2019 PERMIT SUMMARY BY MONTH 

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC TOTAL 

I Coops I 1 I I I I 1 I 1 I I I I I I I 31 
I Single Family I 31 31 1 I 41 21 41 31 31 si sl I I 33 I 
I Multr-farruly I I I I I I 1 I I I 1 I 1 I I I 31 
I Assessory Building 

I I I 1 I 1 I 61 41 41 sl 31 61 I I 30 I 
AddmonrAlteratlon 8 6 19 17 16 15 18 15 15 17 146 

I Commencal New Constructio I I I I I 21 1 I 1 I I I I I 41 
I Commercial Addmons/Alteran 2 1 2 2 3 7 6 6 2 31 

I Pools I 1 I I I I I I I I 1 I I I I 21 
I Razing I I I I 21 1 I 1 I I I I I I I 41 
I HeaWent I 131 22 i 21 I 21 I 281 27 I 40 I 381 20 I 361 I I 266J 
I Signs I 1 I 31 sl 41 61 21 21 31 21 21 I I 30 I 
I Plumbing I 331 41 1 30 I 30 I 361 42 1 31 I 31 1 391 241 I I 337 I 
Electrical 32 33 31 25 39 32 50 56 35 41 374 
Occupancy I 61 16 [ 6[ 10 I 61 8 I 41 61 91 sl 76 

175 229 189 I 207 195 165 186 164 I 232 217 1962 
l ROGER KISON 16 j 25 j 41 j 

Page 162 of 246



}¿_, 
SEH 
Building a Better World 

for All of Us8 MEMORANDUM 

TO 

FROM 

DATE 

RE 

Mr Tom Wiza, PE 

Mark Mickelson (Lie W1) 

September 26, 2019 

Cedarburg Trail 

SEH No 144784 14 00 

Dear Tom, 

This Memorandum serves to summarize the drainage condrtrons and proposed basin rnodmcatron related to the 

proposed Cedarburg Trail condorruruum, in the City of Cedarburg. 

We have completed an analysis of the existing drainage condmons, surveyed the existing storm water basin 

outlets, and are recommending expansion of the pond to allow the additron of the runoff from the development 

The analysis was modeled with HydroCAD 1 O 00 software and per our discussions, utihzes the older TP-40 and 

NRCS Type-li rainfall distnbution, as the basin was designed and constructed in 1996 with those parameters We 

received and verified the watershed data from AECOMM for the watershed s1z1ng, and utilized the County GIS 

data and aerial photo's for current land use withm the watershed The City's storm water ordinance requires post 

development peak flow rates are maintained or reduced for 1-year and 2 year 24-hour storm events, and not 

exceeded for the 1 O-year and 100-year events 

Existing Conditions: 

The existing watershed draining to the "Commerce Pond" rs shown to be 35 2 acres in size The NRCS soils 

show predominantly Hochheim loam (HmB2) which are now classiñed as Type D hydrologie group soils The 

aerial photos and GIS information were used to estimate the roof and asphalt coverage for the watershed 

Drainage Area 35 2 acres 

CN = 87 (8.03 acres asphalt/concrete, 3 94 acres roof, 0.82 acres pond, 22 41 acres grass) 

Tc= 29 1 minutes 

1 yr 

2 yr 
10 yr 

100 yr 

37 2 cfs 

44 7 cfs 

81 3 cfs 

121.1 cfs 

Basin Modeling 

The existing basin appears not to have been built to the specrñcations of the original plan set provided by the city 
The top of berm rs shown less the 773 and the intended overflow route to the south has an overflow elevation 

higher than the east side top of berm (773 48 vs 772 8) 

Routing these flows through the existing the existmq basin shows the following discharges and peak water 

surface elevations. Please note that the basin overtops the berm during the 1 O and 100 year storm events 

Engineers J Architects J Planners J Scientrsts 

Short Elliott Hendrickson Inc , 501 Maple Avenue Delafield WI 53018-9351 

SEH rs 100% employee-owned J sehrnc.com I 262 646 6855 I 888 908 8166 fax 

Page 163 of 246



Cedarburg Trail 

September 26, 2019 

Page 2 

Event Inflow Outflow Elevation 

1 yr: 

2 yr: 

10 yr: 

100 yr: 

40.1 cfs 

48.8 cfs 

83.3 cfs 

162.8 cfs 

3.2 cfs 

3.6 cfs 

34.6 cfs 

153.8 cfs 

771.7 ft. 

772.1 ft. 

72.9 ft. 

i773.4 ft. 

The complete modeling analysis, including Curve Number calculations, basin structures and hydrographs are 

located in the HydroCAD printouts in the Appendix. 

Proposed Conditions: 

From the proposed site plan Cedarburg Trail shows 13 duplex condominium buildings on a 5. 72 acre future 

parcel. lt should be noted that a good portion of the parcel includes undeveloped open space along the trail, to 

the south. Based on the proposed grading plan, approximately 2.77 acres of the site would be able to drain to the 

Commerce pond, which is a majority of the developed portion of the parcel. The southerly 7 units would have the 

rear building roof flows and grass swales drain directly into the 30-inch diameter storm sewer running in an 

easement along the south property line. The proposed runoff summary is noted below: 

Drainage Area: 37.97 acres 

CN = 87 (8. 78 acres asphalt/concrete, 4.88 acres roof, 0.82 acres pond, 23.49 acres grass) 

Tc= 29.1 minutes 

1 yr: 

2 yr: 

10 yr: 

100 yr: 

40.1 cfs 

48.2 cfs 

87.7 cfs 

130.6 cfs 

Basin Modeling: 

The basin is proposed to be expanded and modified to handle the additional flows and re-direct the basin 

overflow to the south, as originally intended, within the existing drainage easement, on the west side of the trail. 

The pond berm will be raised 774.0 on the east side and the overflow modified to 773.5 over the tip of the cul-de 

sac. 

As can be seen comparing the basin discharges, all proposed flows are at or below existing conditions with the 

proposed structure revisions and while the 100-yr storm overtops into the overflow swale, it is contained within the 

basin. 

Event Inflow Outflow Elevation 

1 yr: 40.1 cfs 3.2 cfs 771.7 ft. 

2 yr: 48.2 cfs 3.6 cfs 772.1 ft. 

10 yr: 87.7 cfs 22.5 cfs 773.0 ft. 

100 yr: 130.6 cfs 40.0 cfs 773.97 ft. 

Stormwater Quality: 

The proposed basin revisions were used to model the stormwater quality with WinSLAMM ver. 10.4. The 

proposed plans were used to estimate the contours below the water surface and it was assumed that several feet 

of sediment was currently in the basin to adjust the water volumes. The basin is shown to provide a 71.3% 

reduction in TSS from the facility. 

Page 164 of 246



Cedarburg Trail 

September 26, 2019 

Page 3 

Summary: 

The proposed Cedarburg Trail development will slightly expand the existing Commerce Pond and provide for a 

safer overflow from current conditions and meet or exceed the required discharge rates for all applicable storm 

events. 

Sincerely, 

~·4~ 
Mark Mickelson 

MM 
Drainage 

e: Greg James 
q:lae\c\condd\144784\5-final-dsgn\53-dsgn-info\swmplseh memo swmr 09-26-19.docx 

Page 165 of 246



Page 166 of 246



o 
UNIT 1 LEGEND: 

e e ARBORVITAE o 
o o YEWS 

o SHADE TREES 

o o o,__G_+ _e_+ -,O o o 
FF= 778 6 o 

UNJT2 

BLDG 7 
e 
o ---~--.º 
e scale 20 

40 ? ~- 40 

I 
80 

5 
feet 

r 
i 
I 

-----¡1 

_¡ 1/ 
/¡ 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

e 

LANDSCAPING 

PLAN TO PRESERVE AS MUCH OF THE EXISTING BORDER GROWTH AS POSSIBlE ANY GAPS ALONG NORTH LOT LINE 
THAT ADJOINS DRIVEWAY WILL BE FILLED WITH 6 ARBORVITAE 

DUE TO THE SEWER AND WATER LATERALS INSTALLED AT THE FRONT CENTER OF lliE BUJLDINGS NO STREET TREES 

Vv1LL BE PERMITTED 2 j" FAST GROV\,!NG PYRUS AND CHANTICLEAR PEAR STREn TREES BETWEEN BUILDINGS 
BUILDINGS TO BE BORDERED WITH LANDSCAPE STONE PLANTING BED Vv1TH 2 YEWS FLOWERS WILL BE PLANED AT 
SIGN AND CONDO OWNERS Vv1LL ADD FLOWERS IN THEIR UNIT PLANTING BEDS 
FRONT AND SIDE YARDS WILL BE SODDED AND BACK YARDS SEEDED 

LIGHTING 

• FRONT GARAGE WALL MOUNTED COACH LIGHT Vv1TH BUILT IN DUSK TO DAWN PHOTOCELL TO LIGHT ALL DRIVEWAYS AND FRONT DOOR AREAS 

GRADING NOTES 

1 GRADE BUILDING PAD AREAS 1 LOWER THAN FIRST FLOOR ELEVATION 

2 YARD GRADES TO BE SET APPROX O 5 BELOW FIRST FLOOR ELEVATION 

ALL PRIVATE ASPHALT AREAS SHALL HAVE SURFACE COURSE INSTALLED ONCE ALL BUILDINGS ON SITE HAVE BEEN CONSTRUCTED 

CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL ALL STORM SEWER STRUCTURES TO FINAL GROUND ELEVATIONS IN ALL NON PAVED AREAS 

ALL UTILITY APPURTENANCES WITHIN PRIVATE ORIVE SHALL BE INSTALLED TO BINDER ELEVATIONS ADJUSTING RINGS SHALL BE 
USED TO RAISE SEWER RIMS DURING INSTALLATION OF FINAL LIFT OF ASPHALT WATER APPURTENANCES SHALl ALSO REQUIRE MINOR ADJUSTING TO MEET FINAL ASPHALT ELEVATIONS 

6 TEMPORARY RESTORATION OF NON PAVED AREAS Will BE REQUIRED IN THE INTERIM FINAL RESTORATION SHALL BE DONE AT THE TIME OF BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 
CURRENT WATER 
SURFACE ELEV 

769 85' 

r 
frl .. 
g 
i' 
s 

I 
i 
~ 
;'[ 
¥? 

',/,---------, __ 
5 / 

l { 
g \ 
~ I 
o \ 
~ \ 
&l " o, '- 

0, ----~ 

§ I ,,• 
• I ,/ . ,- ~ / 

I J ' / : 
~ , I : 

S I 

::: t----------r-T"-ir---r-------------------------------------r--:, ,---------T-------------------------------r-----------------.,i""-'----,----, 

I 

0

-" '~ J¿ CEDARBURG TRAIL, "'~ C2.01 
:'! DESIGNER MAM 1---t---1----t------------------------------------.~ - m~- MASTER GRADING PLAN '"™ 
¡ CHECKED BY ZJH .......... TJ_S+-9/3_0_12_01.,9+-R-EVl=S-ED_P_E_R_c1_TY_R_e_~1 .. Ew __ cOM...._M_E_,Nr_s ~~~---------------¡ SEH ;..~t~::;;~~. CITY OF e E DARB URG, WI SCONS! N v, DESIGN TEAM NO BY DATE REVISIONS 

EXPAND TO WATERS EDGE 

I 
/ 
/ 

--- --- 

7 
Page 167 of 246



 CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

 

MEETING DATE: November 11, 2019                                                                     ITEM NO: 14.G. 

 

 

TITLE: Consider approval of development agreement, Certified Survey Map, and Condo document for Greg 

James Cedarburg Trail Condominiums; and action thereon. (Plan Commission 11/4/19) 

 

 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY: Greg James is proposing to develop 13 side-by-side duplex condominiums with a total of 

26 units on the last remaining vacant lot in the Evergreen Boulevard Business Park. The rezoning was 

previously approved, and the developer has submitted final construction plans and a Certified Survey Map for 

approval. This development was reviewed and recommended for approval by the Plan Commission November 

11, 2019. 

 

To facilitate the development, the City has tentatively agreed to transfer 0.2 acres of land associated with the 

business park pond, and the developer has agreed to expand and improve the capacity of the existing pond.  

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of the development agreement and CSM.  

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION, OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: The Plan Commission 

recommended approval of the development agreement, Certified Survey Map, and condominium document for 

Cedarburg Trail Condominiums at their meeting of November 4, 2019.  

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT: Improves tax base  

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Copy of development agreement   

                                  Copy of Certified Survey Map 

                                  Copy of Condo document 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Greg James for Condo Development, Inc. 

 

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Tom Wiza-Director of Engineering and Public Works 

                                                                262-375-7610 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168 of 246



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

Cedarburg Trail Condominiums 

Cedarburg, Wisconsin 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of the_ day 

of November, 2019, by and between the CITY OF CEDARBURG, a Wisconsin municipal 

corporation (the "City") and Condo Development, Inc. (the "Developer"). 

RECITATIONS 

O.I The Developer owns the Property (as hereinafter defined). The tax key number of 

the Property is provided in Exhibit A; 

0.2 The Developer desires to develop 13 side-by-side duplex condominium buildings 

with a total of 26 units on the Property and record a Certified Survey Map ( as hereinafter defined) 

as provided in Exhibit B to create easements for public utilities; 

0.3 The Property is conditionally zoned as a Planned Unit Development Overlay 

District ("PUD") and City Ordinance § 13-1-69(n)(2) requires that the Plan Commission 

recommend and the City Council approve a Development Agreement which shall include, without 

limitation: 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

39582763 

Timetables for performance/completion of the Improvements (as hereinafter 

defined); 

Performance requirements and standards and assurances for all Improvements 

and/or modifications pertaining to the PUD; 

Inspection requirements; 

Prohibition on any division/combination ofreal estate lots included within the PUD 

District except as otherwise provided; 

Provisions for lapsing of specific plan approval and automatic reversion of the 

zoning status of the Property to non-PUD District status upon specific changes of 

circumstances or failure of the Development ( as hereinafter defined) to materialize 

as agreed to in the Development Agreement; 

Agreements, provisions and/or covenants or additional deed restrictions to be 

recorded against the lot(s) within the PUD District that will perpetually govern the 

use, maintenance and continued preservation and protection of the Development 

and any of its common services, common open areas and/or other facilities; 

1 

Page 169 of 246



(g) Exhibits, drawings or other attachments that depict Improvements, including but 

not limited to structures, fixtures and landscaping and their relative locations in the 

Development area as well as design and engineering details as necessary to 

document to a reasonable degree of specificity the type, character and nature of 

Improvements to be made within the Development area. 

0.4 The Developer has caused engineering, planning and design services to be 

performed in preparation for construction of certain Improvements for the Development and will 

cause additional such services to be performed as the site is developed; and 

0.5 The Developer intends to contract for installation of certain other site 

Improvements; and 

0.6 The City shall cause inspections and approvals of the Improvements being 

dedicated to the City during installation by Developer based on the City approved civil engineering 

plans. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitations, which are 

acknowledged to be true and correct, the mutual covenants, representations and warranties set forth 

herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 

hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

Article 1 

Definitions 

The following terms, whenever used in this Agreement, shall have the following meanings: 

1. O 1 "Contract Documents" means all documents now or hereafter evidencing contracts 

with the Developer or its contractors, sub-contractors or affiliates for construction and installment 

of the required Improvements set forth in the Improvement Plans and all addenda and amendments 

thereto. 

1.02 "Improvements" means the improvements as described in § 4.02 below, to be 

installed for the benefit of the Development by the Developer (or by contract with the Developer, 

whether under the Contract Documents as described in§ 1.01, or otherwise). 

1.03 "Certified Survey Map" means the Certified Survey Map presented to the 

Cedarburg Common Council on November 11, 2019 and other pertinent authorities for final 

approval and recording with the Ozaukee County Register of Deeds Office. For purposes of this 

Agreement, the Certified Survey Map is comprised of the Development site, certain utility 

easements to be dedicated to the City and those public roadway areas adjacent to the Development. 

A true and complete copy of the Certified Survey Map is attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and is 

incorporated herein by reference. 

39582763 2 

Page 170 of 246



1.04 "Improvement Plans" means the improvement, grading and landscape plans 

prepared by SEH with last revision dated September 30, 2019 submitted by the Developer as 

approved by the City, along with any approved amendments or supplements. A true and complete 

copy of the Improvement Plans is attached hereto as Exhibit "C" and is incorporated herein by 

reference. 

1.05 "Financial Guarantee" means one or more letters of credit or development bonds 

issued in conformity with the terms and conditions of this Agreement in the amount determined 

by the "Schedule of Values for Financial Guarantees" with respect to the Property. 

1.06 "Property" means all the real property as described on Exhibit "A". 

1.07 "Development" means the 13 side-by-side condominium buildings with a total of 

26 units to be constructed on the Property. 

Article 2 

The term of this Agreement shall commence upon due execution hereof by or on behalf of 

all parties. 

Article 3 

Developer's Representations and Warranties 

The Developer represents and warrants that: 

3. O 1 Good Title. The Developer owns all of the Property free and clear of all liens and 

encumbrances other than encumbrances shown on the title policy for the Property and mortgages 

for the purpose of developing the Property, and that it has retained sufficient rights in and to the 

balance of the Property so as to make all provisions of this Agreement valid and enforceable 

against the Developer and all successors in interest. 

3.02 Contract Documents. The Developer has examined the Contract Documents, is 

familiar with the specifications set forth therein, and has determined that they are adequate and 

sufficient for the Developer's purposes. 

3.04 Authority. The Developer has received all required approvals to enter into this 

Agreement and the signatures below shall bind the Developer. 

Article 4 

Duties of the Developer 

4.01 Storm Water Pond Maintenance. This development will utilize the Cedarburg 

Business Park pond to treat and store site storm water runoff. Developer agrees to enlarge and alter 

the pond to accommodate site drainage per the approved Improvement Plans. Upon completion of 

the enlargement and final restoration by Developer, the City will accept perpetual maintenance 

responsibilities for the enlarged pond. 

39582763 3 

Page 171 of 246



4.02 Construction Duties of the Developer. The Developer shall construct and install 

the Improvements in a single phase and pay all costs therefor, pursuant to the applicable Contract 

Documents and Improvement Plans, as follows: 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

(g) 

(h) 

39582763 

Site Grading. Grade the site pursuant to the Improvement Plans and § 14-1- 73 ( e) 

of the City of Cedarburg Zoning Code approved by the City Engineer. The City 

acknowledges that a portion of the site (up to 1 acre in size) may be used for storing 

topsoil and/or fill during construction and may remain ungraded until completion 

of construction of all of the units in the Development. Prior to the installation of all 

underground utilities, Developer shall certify to the City that the grading has been 

completed in compliance with the aforementioned Improvement Plans. In the event 

that the actual grade is not in compliance, Developer shall pay all costs associated 

with relaying the underground electrical services. 

Sanitary Sewerage Systems. Developer agrees to pay for and install all onsite 

sanitary sewerage facilities including all sewer mains and service laterals necessary 

to serve the Development as depicted in the Improvement Plans. All sanitary sewer 

mains shall be dedicated to the City. 

Water Supply Facilities. Developer agrees to pay for and install all onsite water 

supply facilities including all water mains, service laterals and appurtenances 

necessary to serve the Development as depicted in the Improvement Plans as 

approved by the City. All water mains shall be dedicated to the City. 

Storm Water Drainage Facilities. Developer agrees to pay for and install all onsite 

storm water drainage facilities pursuant to § 14-2 necessary to serve the 

Development as depicted in the Improvement Plans as approved by the City. All 

on-site storm sewer and grass swales shall be private and shall be maintained by 

the Developer and subsequent property owners in perpetuity. 

Private Utilities. Developer shall file preliminary plans and Developer agrees to 

pay for and install private underground gas mains, electric distribution lines, cable 

television and telephone cables, pursuant to§ 14-1-59. 

Record Drawings. Prepare record drawings for those portions of the above work 

that are being dedicated to the City, pursuant to § 14-1-52(e). Developer shall 

prepare such drawings for work completed during each phase of the Development. 

Provide full sized prints on 4 mil mylar as well as an electronic version in Auto 

Cad. 

Curb and Gutter. Developer agrees to pay for and install concrete curb and gutter 

along the private road as shown on the Improvement Plans and pursuant to 

§ 14-1-54. 

Sidewalks and Walking Paths. Developer agrees to pay for and install 5-foot wide 

concrete sidewalk along the Evergreen Boulevard frontage, and as shown on the 

Improvement Plans and as approved by the City Engineer, pursuant to § 14-1-67. 

Developer shall also construct a paved private sidewalk connection from the private 

road cul-de-sac to the Interurban Trail. All sidewalks installed for public use shall 

4 

Page 172 of 246



be located in the public road right-of-way and be dedicated to the City. The 

Developer and subsequent property owners shall be responsible for the clearing of 

snow, ice or other materials that might limit the public use of the sidewalks. 

(i) Intersection Improvements. Developer agrees to pay for and install a fully 

improved "T" intersection with Evergreen Boulevard to include concrete curb and 

gutter and sidewalk as required by the City. Such improvements shall be dedicated 

to the City. 

G) Street Lighting. Street lighting within the site shall be private lighting maintained 

by the Developer as approved by the Plan Commission. 

(k) Street Signs. The Developer agrees to pay for and the City agrees to install street 

identification signs for the intersection with Evergreen Boulevard pursuant to 

§ 14-1-61 and any traffic control signage as required by the City Engineer. 

Intersection traffic control signage shall be dedicated to the City. 

(1) Landscaping Other Than Street Trees. Developer shall pay for and install landscape 

features as shown in the Improvement Plans. 

(m) Street Trees. Developer shall pay for street trees along the frontage on the east side 

of Evergreen Boulevard, as shown on the Improvements Plans and pursuant to 

§ 14-1-62. The City Forester will select the tree species and contract out the tree 

planting as part of the annual street tree program. The City Forester will plant the 

trees after the sidewalk and curb and gutter are installed, and the parkway turf is 

established. All such trees shall be dedicated to the City. 

(n) Erosion Control. Developer shall pay for, install and maintain erosion control using 

best management practices and pursuant to § 14-1-63, Chapter 14-2, and 

Chapter 15-2. Developer must comply with all applicable DNR permits, the City's 

Erosion Control Permit, and the Storm Water Management Permit. 

4.03 Time for Completion. Each of the items in§ 4.02 above shall be completed on the 

dates specified in this Agreement. Pursuant to § 13-1-69( o )(2)( 4), if a building permit is not issued 

for the first condominium unit in the Development within one (1) year of receiving the PUD 

zoning, the PUD district zoning for the Property shall be automatically discontinued and replaced 

with the zoning designation that existed prior to the PUD rezoning. 

4.04 Impact and Connection Fees. Subject to the provisions of any State of Wisconsin 

law, prior to issuance of any building permit for a condominium building and payable at the time 

of building permit application, the following impact and connection fees will be due for 

condominium unit: 

39582763 5 

Page 173 of 246



WWTF Reserve Capacity Fee $ 676.21 per unit 

Library Building Fee $ 877 .52 per unit 

Police Station Fee $ 1,003.88 per unit 

Park Facilities Fee $ 1,198.42 per unit 

Water Supply Facilities Fee $ 1,973.29 per unit 

Sanitary Sewer Connection Fee $ 1,452.17 per unit 

The fees set forth above are based on the City's rates for 2019. 

All of the above impact and connection fees are subject to an annual adjustment 

pursuant to§ 3-6-9 of the Code of Ordinances. 

4.05 Developer Payments. 

(a) Parkland Dedication and Fee in Lieu of Parkland Dedication. Developer shall pay 

a fee-in-lieu of Parkland Dedication for the Development in the amount of $889.35 

per condominium unit. The fee for each unit is due at the time of Building permit 

issuance for such unit. 

(b) City Street Trees. The Developer shall pay the City of Cedarburg for furnishing 

and planting 4 street trees at $300.00 each for a total of $1,200.00. The City 

Forestry Department will hold these funds in a segregated street tree account and 

will purchase and plant street trees when the roadway improvements are completed. 

This charge is due in full upon issuance of the first Building permit. 

( e) Other Improvement Costs. Developer is responsible to pay for all reasonable 

engineering, administrative and legal fees associated with the Development, during 

the installation of public utilities, including the cost of construction inspection, 

materials testing, preparation of as-built drawings, and other fees associated 

therewith. 

( d) Account Statements. Developer shall review and approve all engineering, 

inspection, and attorney draw requests received by the City and pertaining to the 

Improvements. The City shall provide copies of each such request with supporting 

documentation to the Developer. 

(e) Recording Fees. Developer shall pay to the Register of Deeds for Ozaukee County 

all recording fees due for the recording of the Certified Survey Map, and any 

separate dedication instruments and grants of easements as are directly attributable 

to the Development. 

39582763 6 

Page 174 of 246



4.06 Property Manager. The Developer shall act as or shall retain a property manager 

who will be responsible for the maintenance of the private roadway and all common elements. 

4.07 Financial Guarantee. Developer shall provide an irrevocable letter of credit or an 

approved development bond to the City, which shall not expire prior to fourteen (14) months 

following the completion of all Improvements being dedicated to the City shown on the 

Improvement Plans, for the estimated costs of the installation of all such Improvements including: 

erosion control, enlargement of the storm water pond, surface lift of asphalt pavement, public 

utilities.,_ sidewalks, inspection and engineering fees. The Developer may apply for a reduction of 

the Financial Guarantee pursuant to § 14-1-51 of the Cedarburg Zoning Code Regulations. The 

City shall be authorized from time to time to draw against the Financial Guarantee for costs 

incurred and due the City pursuant to this Agreement if the Developer has not made payments or 

not completed required work in a timely manner as determined by the City Engineer. 

The amount of the Financial Guarantee shall be based on the Bids/Estimates for the Improvements 

as set forth in the Schedule of Values in§ 4.08 of this Agreement. 

4.08 Schedule of Values for Financial Guarantee. Developer shall provide the Financial 

Guarantee which shall be dated no later than seven (7) days prior to the commencement of 

construction of the Improvements, in the amounts set for in § 4.06 and the Schedule of Values 

attached hereto. The Financial Guarantee shall be sufficient to cover the estimated costs to 

complete the Improvements for the Development that are being dedicated to the City based on 

§ 4.02 and the Schedule of Values for the Development which include, but are not limited to, the 

required sewer and water main extensions and street signs. 

[SCHEDULE OF VALUES FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE ON NEXT PAGE] 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

39582763 7 

Page 175 of 246



SCHEDULE OF VALUES FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE 

Enlargement of storm water pond 

Erosion control 

Sanitary Sewer 

Water Main 

Asphalt Pavement surface layer 

Evergreen Boulevard Concrete Sidewalk 

Street Signs 

Legal Fees (City) 

Inspection Fees (including but not limited to City 

Administration fees) 

Sub Total of Construction and Related Costs (Rounded) 

Add 20% additional Contingency 

THE SCHEDULE OF VALUES FOR EACH LINE ITEM IS 

BASED ON ESTIMATES. ACTUAL LINE ITEM COSTS 

MAY VARY. THE TOTAL FINANCIAL GUARANTEE IS 

A V AILABLE TO THE CITY FOR COMPLETION OF EACH 

LINE ITEM. THE CITY IS NOT ACTING IN A FIDUCIARY '¡ 

CAPACITY AS TO THE FINANCIAL GUARANTEE. 
I 

ESTIMATED 

COST 

$ 30,000 I 

$ 5,000 

$105,000 

$ 96,000 

$ 20,000 I 

$ 10,000 

$ 1,500 

$ 2,000, 
I 

~ 10¡000 

$279,500 

$55,900 

I 

TOTAL OF FINANCIAL GUARANTEE: $335,400 

39582763 8 

Page 176 of 246



4.09 Completion Schedule. Developer shall complete the Improvements being 

dedicated to the City no later than August 31, 2020. 

4.10 Quality of Work. 

(a) All work performed under the provisions of this Agreement shall be done in a 

workmanlike manner in accordance with prevailing standards in the construction 

industry and all Improvements being dedicated to the City shall be done in 

accordance with established standards and specifications of the City as directed by 

the City Engineer. 

(b) The City shall have the right during the course of construction of Improvements 

being dedicated to the City under this Agreement to direct the Developer to issue 

contract change orders to be paid by Developer, and to amend the plans and 

specifications, but only to the extent required to assure that construction will 

conform to City standards and specifications. All contract change orders proposed 

by Developer involving public rights of way or easements shall be approved by the 

City. 

Article 5 

Indemnification 

5.01 Indemnification Agreement. 

(a) In addition to, and not to the exclusion or prejudice of, any other provision of this 

Agreement, the Developer shall indemnify and hold harmless the City, its officers, 

agents and employees, and shall defend the same, from and against any and all 

liability, claims, loss, damages, interest, action, suits, judgments, costs, expenses, 

reasonable attorneys' fees and the like, to whomsoever owed and by whomsoever 

and whenever brought or obtained, which may in any manner result from the work 

performed or the responsibilities of the Developer under this Agreement, expressly 

including, though not limited to, negligence and the breach of any duty whether 

imposed by statutes, ordinances, regulations, order, decree or law of any other sort 

or by contract, on the part of the Developer or its officers, employees, agents or 

independent contractors, in carrying out the work and in supervising and 

safeguarding the same in any respect whatever, and including claims arising under 

any federal, state or local law, including Worker's Compensation laws and 

including negligence and the breach of any duty whether imposed by statutes, 

ordinances, regulations, order, decree or law of any other sort or by contract, on the 

part of the Developer or its officers, employees, agents or independent contractors, 

in carrying out the work and in supervising and safeguarding the same in any 

respect. 

(b) If a claim is made against the City related to work performed by the Developer or 

the responsibilities of the Developer under this Agreement, the City agrees that it 

shall, within ten (1 O) days of its notice thereof, notify the Developer and any 

liability insurance carrier, which has been designated by the Developer. The 

39582763 9 

Page 177 of 246



Developer shall thereafter provide full cooperation in defense of the claim. The 

Developer shall, at the option of the City, defend any claim on behalf of the City in 

which case the Developer or its insurer is authorized to act on behalf of the City in 

responding to any claim to the extent of this indemnity. Such authorization includes 

the right to investigate, negotiate, settle and litigate any such claim and control of 

the defense thereof subject to the approval of the City. 

5.02 Extent of Damages. In every case, but not as a limitation on the liability of the 

Developer to the City, where judgment is recovered against the City on any such claim as provided 

in this Article 5, if notice has been given to Developer under§ 5.01 above, any judgment thereon 

shall be conclusive upon the Developer as to the amount of damages and as to its liability therein; 

provided, however, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the City shall 

reserve and maintain all of its rights and remedies to pursue recovery of all legal and equitable 

remedies. 

5.03 Limitations as to Financial Guarantee. It is expressly understood and agreed by the 

City, unless specifically directed and authorized by the Developer, that the Financial Guarantee as 

required of the Developer pursuant to§ 4.07 above, is not subject to any draw by the City, or any 

other party or person, to pay for any, or all, claims for personal injury and property damage arising 

from the construction or installation of such Improvements, but that the Financial Guarantee is 

exclusively limited to the payment for the Improvements not provided for by the Developer 
pursuant to the terms hereof, and for no other purposes. 

Article 6 

Compliance 

6.01 Compliance With Law and Regulations. The Developer shall, in the performance 

of this Agreement, comply with, and give all stipulations and representations required by all 

applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations. The Developer shall also 

require such compliance, stipulations and representations with respect to any contract entered into 

by Developer with others pertaining to the work covered by this Agreement. 

6.02 Public Records Law The Developer understands that the City is bound by the 

Wisconsin Public Records Law, Wis. Stat. Sec.19.21, et. Seq, Pursuant to Wis. Stat. Sec. 19.36(3), 

City may be obligated to produce, to a third party, the records of Developer that are "produced or 

collected" by Developer under this Agreement ("Records"). Developer is further directed to Wis. 

Stat. Sec. 19.21, et. Seq., for the statutory definition of Records subject to disclosure under this 
paragraph, and Developer acknowledges that it has read and understands that definition. 

Irrespective of any other term of this Agreement, Developer is (1) obligated to retain Records for 

seven years from the date of the Record's creation, and (2) produce such Records to City if, in 

City's determination, City is required to produce the Records to a third party in response to a public 

records request. Developer's failure to retain and produce Records as required by this paragraph 

shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement, and Developer must defend and hold the City 

harmless from liability due to such breach. 

39582763 10 

Page 178 of 246



Article 7 

Conditions and Waivers 

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the City shall have no duty to issue 

building permits for construction of buildings within the Development unless and until all the 

following have occurred: 

7.01 Improvements. Construction of the Improvements for the Development are 

completed pursuant to§ 4.02, and the sanitary sewer and water main Improvements are dedicated 

and accepted by the City, in accordance with the schedule specified in Section 4.09. 

7 .02 Impact Fees. The Developer has paid the fees referenced in 4.05 ( a) and (b) for the 

condominium units for which the building permit is requested and all impact and connection fees 

for the issuance of a building permit for such condominium unit. 

7.03 Grading Complete. The Developer has completed the work required on the 

Improvement Plans to rough grade, which shall accommodate proper and positive surface water 

drainage substantially in accordance with the Improvement Plans. 

Article 8 

Additional Terms 

8.01 Time is of Essence. The times of performance of the terms and requirements of 

this Agreement and of the satisfaction and waiver of the conditions hereof are essential to the 

whole of this Agreement. 

8.02 Dedication. Subject to the applicable provrsions of the City Ordinances, as 

amended, upon the final approvals of the Common Council and recording of the Certified Survey 

Map, the public utility easements dedicated therein by the Developer may be accepted by the City. 

Additionally, the Developer shall, without charge to the City, upon completion of all of the 

Improvements being dedicated to the City pursuant to§ 4.02, unconditionally give, grant, convey, 

and fully dedicate the same to the City, and its successors and assigns forever, free and clear of all 

encumbrances whatsoever, including, without limitation, any and all structures, mains, conduits, 

pipes, lines, equipment, and appurtenances pertaining to such Improvements. After such 

Dedication, the City shall be solely responsible for the maintenance, repair and replacement of 

such Improvements and have the right to connect or integrate other Improvements or public 

facilities to the Improvements hereunder as the City decides, without payment or award to, or 

consent required of, the Developer. 

8.03 No Waiver: Remedies. No failure on the part of either party to exercise, and no 

delay in exercising any right, power, or remedy under this Agreement or the Contract Documents 

shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this 

Agreement or the Contract Documents preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 

exercise of any other right. The remedies provided herein are cumulative and not exclusive of 

any remedies provided by law. 

8.04 Notices. All notices and other communications provided for under this Agreement 

shall be in writing (including telefax communications) and mailed (certified), sent by facsimile, or 

personally delivered: 

39582763 11 

Page 179 of 246



Ifto the City, as follows: 

Thomas Wiza 

Director of Engineering and Development 

Cedarburg City Hall 

W63 N645 Washington Avenue 

Cedarburg, WI 53012 

Fax: (262) 387-2051 

With a copy to: 

Attorney Michael Herbrand 

Houseman and Fe ind, LLP 

Attorneys at Law 

1650 9th A venue 

Grafton, WI 53024 

Fax: (262) 377-6080 

Ifto Developer, as follows: 

Greg James, President 

Condo Development, Inc. 

318 North Lake Road #101 

Oconomowoc, WI 53066 

or, as to each party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice 

to the other party in accordance herewith. Delivery of all such notices and communications shall 

be deemed complete, (a) if mailed, when deposited in the mail for certified mail, return receipt 

requested, postage prepaid, or (b) if sent by facsimile, when confirmed as being received by the 

party to whom faxed or delivered, or ( e) when personally delivered. 

8.05 Force Majeure. The obligations of either of the parties hereunder shall be 

suspended to the extent that it is hindered or prevented from complying therewith because of labor 

disturbances, including strikes and lockouts, acts of God, fires, storms, accidents, or any cause 

whatsoever beyond the control of the parties. 

8.06 Amendments. No amendment, modification, termination, or waiver of any 

provision of this Agreement, nor consent to any departure from this Agreement shall in any event 

be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by both parties, and it shall be effective 

only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given. 

8.07 Assignment. This Agreement, and the interests hereunder, shall not be assigned 

except with the prior, written consent of the City. 

8.08 Survival. All of the terms, conditions, and provisions of this Agreement, including 

but not limited to, all indemnification provisions, shall survive the completion of this Agreement. 

8.09 Severability of Provisions. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited 

or unenforceable shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without 

invalidating the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

8.10 Headings. Article and Section headings in this Agreement are included for 

convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other 

purpose. 

8.11 lntegration of Terms. This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the 

parties. 

39582763 12 

Page 180 of 246



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their 

respective authorized officers or agents as of the date first above written. 

CITY OF CEDARBURG 

by: _ 

Michael O'Keefe, Mayor 

Countersigned: 

Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk 

STATE OF WISCONSIN) 

) SS 

COUNTY OF OZAUKEE) 

Personally came before me this __ day of November , 2019, the above-named 

Michael O'Keefe, Mayor, and Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk, to me known to be the persons 

who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. 

Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My Commission: _ 

39582763 13 

Page 181 of 246



CEDARBURG TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS 

CONDO DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

by: _ 

Gregory James, President 

STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 

) SS 
COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE) 

Personally came before me this __ day of November, 2019, the above-named Gregory 

James, to me known to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 

the same on behalf of Condo Development, Inc. by its authority. 

Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My commission: _ 

Drafted by: 

City of Cedarburg 

After recording, please return to: 

Claire Woodall-Vogg, City Clerk 

City of Cedarburg 

P.O. Box 49 

Cedarburg, WI 53012-0049 

39582763 14 

Page 182 of 246



EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of Property 

The Tax Key Number for the Property is 13-034-14-022.00 

39582763 15 

Page 183 of 246



39582763 

EXHIBITB 

Certified Survey Map 

[To be inserted] 

16 

Page 184 of 246



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 

SW 

~~~ f 
CENTER OF' SECTION l' =2000' 

SNE:47i;;JS.s~
1 

L __ _.,,..,..æ,æ.._ PIONEER RD 

E-2,534,057 56 SEC. 34-T10N-R21E 

/ r I ' 

I il 
/ I 1n1 

,~ :1 f $ /.) l'AATo, Jj il 
I ¡;: Bl - - QYTLOTJ. I~ i I 
I t! n ,;',ii,_ ( ~""i IJ il 

\ \ ~ r/i ~ ~ EX. ::~::GE / S62º50'50"E li~ i/ 
\ \ j " "'"'""' I 72,21' NB7'09'11"E I 
\ \ N87º!œ25'E 915.85' 89.38' I 
\ ~ --r------------- LOT 1 ,.,.. ....._ ¡ 
\ e::>º CEDARBURG TRA!!:-,.____ 249,343 SF _j I \ ;..., / ~'?:>; -- --~V~D~---~---- I IC? -,>~~1. --::::::=-..:-_:-_:-_:-_:- -....r &J I 

~ N02º32'40"W ~EX.DMINAGE&\JíllITYEASEMENT j / 
'\ o.83' J_ --~~784 

--------- ;: I 
_../ / \ .., ------ IA FR I 

o I Ol. "' S87º09'11 'W 908.6 I I EX. BLDG ~ I 
:jj I J:QT..L l I I I I torr I LOT! fü I 
co I f:?M 37~ I I I I èsM 1Ô83 êsM iali 
Ïfil~ L __ J,, 1'\ l~t I'\ I --- 1-w-l I 
w1~ ¡;:I I ~~ ~~ I ~~ I ~~ 1 I b\ ¡:,, 
13¡"' §!ltl 1 \~~ 1 ~~G \~~ 

1 
\~G 

1 
1 ~: 1 

o:: ¡;¡I;$; I ~~ I ~~ I ~~ ~~, I o ~ EtDRA!NAGE&UillllY 
g;!I ~"' I \ I \; I \ I \ ~ 50' EASEMEl/r 

lJJ I "'I I I I I j PERCSM2784 
I £ ss7•091l•w J_ _¡_ ..L - ...L. - - - -- 

No2•32•40• w-:]: 1000• J_ J_ __ J___ -- --- S87º09'11"W 50.10' 33..QQ:_ ..L 1',- - - - - 

----~--------- fIO~ERB~~~w(C,!:~'~"2 ----- 
~e MON W/ BRASS CAP FND 

S 1/4 CORNER 
SEC 34-10-21 
N-472,650.2 

E-2,534,174 98 

BEING ALL OF LOT 2 AND PART OF OUTLOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 2784, 

LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF SEC. 34 T.lON., R.21E., 
IN THE CITY OF CEDARBURG, OZAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

SURVEYOR: 
KEITH A. KINDRED, PLS S-2082 

SEH 
501 MAPLE AVE 

DELAFIELD, WI 53018 
(414) 949-8919 

KKINDRED@SEHINC.CO!M~,.,.!.!U~NC~O~LNl,llB~LVtD~"'fF"""="""""""",,....ï}¡ 

LOCATION MAP 

SURVEY FOR: 
CONDO DEVELOPMENT, INC 

318 NORTH LAKE ROAD #101 
OCONOMOWOC, WI. 53066 

LEGEND 

PARTRIDGE 
COURT 

@ - 1" IRON PIPE FOUND 

(UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED) 

@ - 11/16" REBAR SET, 
WT.=1.5 LBS./LIN. FT. 

I 
I 

Î 

GENERAL NOTES: 

• SEE SHEET 2 OF S FOR WATERMAIN / 
SANITARY SEWER EASEMENTS DETAIL. 
- SEE SHEET 2 OF 5 FOR SOIL BORING 
LOCATIONS, 

(l) Chard: 99,19' 
Course: Nl6°32'40"W 
Arc Length: 100.18' 
Radius: 205.00' 
Della: 028°00'00" 
Tangent: N02°32'40'W 
Tangent: N30º32'40"W 

PRO ECT NO. CO DD-144784 

BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO lHE 
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 2784 ON 
lHE WEST LINE OF 1HE SE 1/ 4 OP 
SECTION 34-10-21 AS N02'32'40"W 

SCALE: 1" =- 200' ~- -~ a 100• 200• 4-00' 
SEH 

EET OF' 4 Page 185 of 246



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO~ 
BEING ALL OF LOT 2 AND PART OF OUTLOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 2784, 

LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF SEC. 34 T.lON., R.21E., 

IN THE CITY OF CEDARBURG, OZAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

EX DRM:#AY, DRAINAGE 
& IJTIUlY EASEMENT 

PERCSM27B4 

WATERMAIN / SANITARY 
SEWER EASEMENT DETAIL 

EX DRAINAGE & UTIUlY 
.EASEMENT 

PERCSM2784 

EX. DRAINAGE & UTILITY 1:ASEMENT 
PERCSM2784 

SCALE IN FEET 
fu t 1 
O 100 200 

SURVEYOR1S CERTIFICATE: 

I, Kerth A Kindred, Professional Land Surveyor hereby certify, 

That I have surveyed, divided and mapped all of Lot 2 and part of Outlot 1 of Certified Survey Map 2784, Located m the SE 1/4 of the 
SW 1/4 and the SW 1/4 of the SE 1/4 of Section 34, T.lON R21E City of Cedarburg, Ozaukee County, Wrsconsm, more fully 
described as follows, 

Commencing at the South 1/4 corner of Section 34; thence N02º32'40"W., along the West Ime of the SE 1/4, a distance of33 00 feet, 

Thence N87º09'1 l "E, 40 00 feet, to the mtersection of the northerly nght-ofway lme of Pioneer Road and the easterly nght-of-waylme 
of Evergreen Boulevard, thence N02º32'40"W, 334 92 feet to the South west corner of Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map 2784, and the 
pomt of beginning of hereinafter described lands 

Thence contmumg along the easterly nght-of-way of Evergreen Boulevard, N02º32'40"W, O 83 feet; thence 100 18 feet along the arc 

of curve to the left with a radrus of205 00 feet, whose chord bears N16º32'40"W, 99.19 feet, thence N30º32'40"W, 157.25 feet, 

thence N87°10'25"E, along the South Ime of Lot 1 Certified Survey Map 2784, a distance of915.85 feet, thence S62º50'50"E, 72 21 

feet, thence N87º09'11 "E, 89 38 feet, to the Southeast corner of Outlot 1 of Certified Survey Map 2784, thence S00º42'39"W., 529.01 

feet, to the northerly right-of-way of Pioneer Road, thence S87º09'1 l"W, along said right-of-way, 50 10 feet, thence N00º42'39"E, 

328 63 feet, thence S87º09'11 "W., 908 66 feet, to the pomt ofbegmmng 

Said lands contain 249,343 square feet 01 5.72 acres. 

That I have made such survey, land dïvisron and plat by the drrectron of Condo Development, Inc, owner of said lands. 

That such survey Is a correct representation of all the exterior boundaries of the lands surveyed and the dwtsíon thereof made. 

That I have fully complied with the provtsrons of Chapter 236, m the Wisconsin State Statutes and the subdwísion regulations of the 
City of Cedarburg and Ozaukee County ln surveying, d1v1dmg and mappmg the same. 

Dated this 29th day of September, 2019 

SEH 
PROJECT NO. CONDD-144784 SHEET 2 OF 4 

Page 186 of 246



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NOª 
BEING ALL OF LOT 2 AND PART OF OUTLOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 2784, 

LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF SEC. 34 T.lON., R.21E., 

IN THE CITY OF CEDARBURG, OZAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

. CORPORATE OWNER'S CERTIFICATE: 

Condo Development, Inc., a corporation duly organized ond existing under ond by virtue of the lows of the 

State of Wisconsin, os owner, does hereby certify that said company caused the land described on this 

Certified Survey Map to be surveyed, and mapped as represented on this Certified Survey Map. 

Condo Development Inc., does further certify that this Certified Survey Map is required by S236.1 O or S236.12 

to be submitted to the following for approval or objection: 

1) The City of Cedarburg 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said Condo Development lnc., has caused these presents to be signed by Greg James, 

its President, At _, Wisconsin, and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed on this 

day of ----------• 

ln Presence of: 

Greg James, President 

STATE OF WISCONSIN) 

COUNTY) SS 

Personally came before me this day of ------------• 20 , the above named 

Greg James to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the 

same. 

Notary Public 

Waukesha County, Wisconsin 

My Commission Expires -------- 

SEH 
P OJECT NO. CONDD-144784 SHEET 3 OF 4 

Page 187 of 246



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NOm 
BEING ALL OF LOT 2 AND PART OF ounør 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 2784, 

LOCATED IN THE SE 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 AND THE SW 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF SEC. 34 T.10N., R.21E., 

IN THE CITY OF CEDARBURG, OZAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

CITY OF CEDARBURG COMMON COUNCIL APPROVAL: 

Approved by the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg on this __ day of --------• 20 __ . 

Michael J. O'Keefe, Mayor Claire Woodall-Vogg!, Clerk 

CITY OF CEDARBURG PLAN COMMISSION APPROVAL: 

Approved by the City of Cedarburg Plan Commission on this __ day of , 20 __ • 

Michael J. O'Keefe, Chairman Victoria Guthrie, Secretary 

SEH 
PROJ CT NO CON D-1447 4 SHEET 4 OF 4 

Page 188 of 246



39582763 

EXHIBITC 

Improvements Plans, including Landscape Plans, Completed by 

[To be inserted] 

17 

Page 189 of 246



~,.,-2..,, 

. ' .r ,.,....,.,..:;:,:o 
,,. ":::o 

O'::,!~ .... 
CONSTRUCTION PLANS FOR 

- - . 
-= ~• --~ ~-• __ ;ROJECT LOCATION 

.w.,,o:.,,,""" Qo-n; 9....,.,.....0,,. 

' .. 
...... ':;'~Q 

..... ~ ..... __,. ""'"' 
o ,,, "".._._., 

EXISTING 
--- RIGHTOFWAY 

- -- -- - PERMANENTEASEMENT 

------- PROPERTYLINE 

ß. xx HORIZONTAL CONTROL POINT 

@ BENCHMARK 

ë# ~~~V~R::KER 

-- ~ SANITARYSEWERANDMANHOLE 

--- FM--8- FORCE MAIN AND LIFT STATION 

--------- oco SANITARYSEWERSERVlCE&CLEANOUT 

- __ -t_t><l-----0---- WATER MAIN HYDRANT VALVE AND MANHOLE 

- - ---O-- - - WATER SERVICE AND CURB STOP BOX 

-- << -----0--11- STORM SEWER MANHOLE AND CATCH BASIN 

> CULVERT AND APRON ENDWALL 

---e~ GAS MAIN VALVE VENTANDMETER 

OHH HANDHOLE 

-- F0----0- BURIED FIBER OPTIC CABLE AND MANHOLE 

- T BUR ---m!-- -o T BURIED PHONE CABLE PEDESTAL AND MANHOLE 

-lVBUR ~ BURIEDTvCABLE PEDESTALANDMANHOLE 

di-- ,> BUR ~ BURIED ELECTRIC CABLE PEDESTAL, MANHOLE 
TRANSFORMER ANO METER 

- P-OH --;;4>-- P-OH - OVERHEAD WIRE POLE AND GUY \li/IRE 

~ LIGHT POLE 

0: TRAFFIC SIGNAL 

"9'" STREET NAME SIGN 

.ii SIGN (NON STREET NAME) 

Il 'JIIIJ¡IIJ JJ!Jllll!!!IJ!II RAILROAOTRACKS 

d °)f;;
6 

DECIDUOUS ANO CONIFEROUS TREE 

Q ß. tt BUSH/ SHRUB AND STUMP 

~ EOOEOFWOOOEOAREA 

---we,--- WETLAND 

! i BUILDING 

--- x--- FENCE (UNIDENTIFIED) 

----+----- BARBEOVv'IRE FENCE 

--- xc--- CHAIN LINK FENCE 

--- xe--- ELECTRIC WIRE FENCE 

--- xwo--- WOOD FENCE 

--- xw.~-- VvOVEN WIRE FENCE 

?I r, r, m PLATE BEAM GUARDRAIL 

--C-0---0---0-- CABLE GUARDRAIL 

POST I BOLLARD 

-rv-rv-v-w-v-w-v-w-v-: RETAINING WALL 

PROPOSED 6,00 
- - ----1...__ - - STREET CENTERLINE 

------- RIGHT-OF-WAY 

- -- -- - PERMANENT EASEMENT 

------ TEMPORARYEASEMENT 

------------ CONSTRUCTION LIMITS 

~ SANITARYSEWER BULKHEADANDMANHOLE 

--- FM--- FORCE MAIN 

r------ eco SANITARYSERVICEANDCLEANOlIT 

-I P:1 ~ 4 ] WATER MAIN TEE HYDRANT BUU<HEAO ANO VALVE 

@) • H lzl WATER VALVE MANHOLE REDUCER BEND ANO CROSS 

" - DRAINTILE 

-<--<--<- DITCH/SWALE 

- RJPRAP "4- STREET NAME SIGN 

.L SIGN (NON STREET NAME) 

~ RETAIN/NGWALL 

CEDARBURG TRAIL 
CITY OF CEDARBURG, WI 

I 
I 

\.._,,- 'I 
:1 

__ ..11 

:~, 

~

0' i}r,r 

/ /i' 
/ '1 /1 _ I I 

-- './ I'"' (/tr::~> /i;/: 
v.. ,!,, 
'-=~,___) /! '¡ 

\ J _.J ............ ~ ! 

''"(~~--"' ~- ...... ,. =~ ,_~ ..-.-=, ~ m l'C::J:: 

NOTE 

THE SUBSURFACE UTILITY QUALITY JNFORMATION 1N THIS 

PLAN IS LEVELD THIS UTILITY QUALITY LEVEL WAS 

DETERMINED ACCORDING TO THE GUIDELINES OF Cl ASCE 

38-02 ENTITLED STANDARD GUIDELINES FOR THE 

COLLECTION ANO DEPICT ON Ol' EXJSTING SUBSURFACE 

UTILITY DATA. 

® 
1<øowwt,.r.below 

Calltitfonyoudl¡¡. 

,-- 

..... -----..J 

z 
w 
w 
a: I 

fil 
~ 

\ 

\ i 
.L, _,_ _1. -1.-- uJlliu_ I ------- 

COUNTY (PIONEER ROAD) HIGHWAY C ::.;::_,_.c.. 

THE CONTRACTOR Sl-tALL CALL THE STATE Ol'Œ CALL SYSTEM 

AT 811 BEFORE COMMENCING EXCAVATION, 

SHEET INDEX 

N~~::r Sheet Title 

TO 01 TITLE 

C1 00 ROAD & l/Tllll'/ CONSTRUCTION DETAILS 

Cl 01 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS 

C2 00 EROSION CONTROL PLAN 

C2 01 GRADING PLAN 

C3 00 STORM AND ROAD PROFILE 

C4 00 SANITARY AND WATERMAIN PLAN & PROFILE 

PROJECT LOCATION 

~;f -~,- 
~ OZAUKEECOUNTY 

REVISIONS 

1 19130/20 19 IREVISONSPERCITYREVIE'l'Í 

PRELIMINARY - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION 

DESIGN ENGINEER 
MARK MifäßóN PE 
SEH 
S01MAPLEAVE 

DELAFELDWIS3018 

PHONE (414)949-8947 

mm eke son@seh ne. rom 

WISCONSIN DNR 
M I.W.O kEE SERVICE CENTER 

2300NORTHOR.MLKJR.DRVE 

POBOX12436 

MLWAUKEE,WJS3212 

PHONE (414)26~83 

SEWRPC 
~AVENUE 

WAUKESHA,WS3ln 

PHONE (262)547 6721 

OZAUKEE COUNTY 
üiW MAINSIREEI 
PO BOX994 

PORT WASH NTON W S3074 
PHONE (262)2849411 

WE ENERGIES 
~GCOOROINATOR 

WE Ut Utv-Re locat ons@- ne gie$ rom 

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS 
RONFAASE 
N3760CTHDJ 

JUNEAUWS3039 

PHONE {920)349-3202EXT 72523 

~PHONE262.6'46.6855 

SEH Eiæ~::3~~8 T0.01 

7 

DEVELOPER ~ 
CONDOM N UM DEVELOPMENT INC 
31BNORTHLAKERO 11101 

OCONOt.'OWOC W S3066 

PHONE (262)5691S16 

FAX {262)569-8066 

AT&T 
~NBURG 

{TELEPHONE) 

2005 PEWAUKEE ROAO 

WAUKESHA,Wl53188 

PHONE /262)896-7522 

WISCONSIN DOT 
141NWBAksiöWSIREl:1 
WAUKESHA WJ53187-0798 

PHONE (262)548-5902 

Page 190 of 246



I : 
I 

l~--- ïî'1 
9" CRUSHB) 1 :l" LIMESTONE 
BASEREO'O 

24 VERTICAL FACE (TYP ) 
24 MOUNTABLETHROUGHORIVl:S 

TYPICAL ROAD CROSS SECTION DETAIL 

1 7S- SURFACE ASPHALT COURSE 
{5-LTS8-2BSPLACEO) 

3.25" HOT MIX BINDER ASPHALT 
(3LT5M8S) 

"'ê ' 1/4 R r ':='. '. .. '. á i "~ .. ~-"º~'"~' I 

24" 

24 VERTICAL FACE CURB AND GUTIER DETAIL 

! ~ 
~~Sli~~ 

t~szzzz 2'tzz zzzz~æ~CQNCEALED A~ 

I 
' '"''"'""""º CUTIERISINSTALLEI> 
WANKOI.ECl,S'IINO~ 
VAL \£ BOXES ro BE SET 
AT BINDER GRADE. 

.....,.."'""" 
""'""" "''""' 

*~RSETHO.NESSlOMATOIPAVEMENT 

24 DRIVEWAY CURB AND GUlTER DETAIL 

STAAtlAAOMAMIO\ffAAIIIEANDUDSHAI 
BENŒNAHR »IUDfORMANKOLESfl 

:A:i~A~1,;!\%"¿,~ECfit:D) 

q--------i¡::t: ~~~N=; 

I-' .. ~ 

I 
I 
I 
1 

cr NS.DEO.AMEml I• 
¡(HEIGHTVAAIES)¡ 

I I 
I I 
I t 
1 I 
I I 

... 

HD1'EP1PE 
DlAMEnR& 
.£VARV) 

,. 
llMIHIM~: 

I 

STORM SEWER MANHOLE DETAIL 

' 

¡- 22 

.J....()"¥ PROPERTY 
---+¡--'-' "-"""-fi CORNER 

s-o· 
PROPOSED 6'" THICK 
CONCRETE SIDEWALK 

GRASS 
lERRACE 

r==rrr {1'1--11 
~ tI;:j 

SECTION B-B SECTION A-A 
DRIVEWAY APPROACH DETAIL 

BLDG 5/ W'!è"'-..'.'.'_ 

PROPOSED 6'" 
CONCRETE ORIVEWA Y 

APPROACH 

NOTE 
'i'iuau LCNGSAREBU LT ON SLAB ' ' ' ' i/FRSTFlOOR&GAAAGEELEV,\TlON 

[? '-----4- FF= 7791 

¡===i_ UNIT2 

~----:;¡¡,6/'J--~ ··rr8/r2 ·-¡- = 
mij ¡ I llENGTHGF:NYl 

DST.o.NCETOD.S.SAN :1:1 L DIST.o.NCETO°t 

LENGTHOFSNISVC ~if...-CI.IRBSTOPSI 

_l'.MSVC{TVPJ~SA,-=t......_ 

_,_ 

SECTION C-C 

"º'SVC(TYP)-,-- -- 

-1 ,T .. ,W'----- ,---- 

' I 

BUILDING AND UTILITY SERVICE DETAIL 

"' 

DRAWN BY --"-' - H 
DESIGNER: ~ __;;,"' ......... PHONE 26-646.6855 

CHECKEDBY OESIGN':M N~ :~ 913=:9 REVISEDPEROTYREVIEWCOMMEJllTS REVISJONS SEH ~=E~~E8 

r 
PLAN 

2-42"THICKAOJUST RNGSWIFULL 

MORTAR JO NTS STRIKE INSIDE CLEAN 

6" CONCRETE COLLAR OUTSIDE 

AODIT ONAL MEMBRANE SEALER MAY 

BE REOlAREO BY OWNER 

24 X 36" PRECAST SECTION 

{W'HEN NECESSARY B CONCRETE 

BLOCK SHAL L BE USED PLASTER 

_L_ 
1 

j '.:::===:-1 r OUTSIDE \"JITHJS: MORTAR 

NOTES 

1) RODD NG OF HYDRANT MAY BE REOU RED FSO lSARE UNSUITABU: 

2) ENCAS E ENT Rf BRANCMANDVALVE N POLVl:THYlENE WRAP 

3} 1NSTALL HYDRA NT FLAGS ON ALL PROPOSED & EXISTING HYDRA NTS 

USA 6WEB00KSTOCX#22S16 

SECTION 

2 X 3 CATCH BASIN OIT AIL ... ,. TYPICAL HYDRANT CONNECTION DETAIL 

CEDARBURG TRAIL, 

CITY OF CEDARBURG, WISCONSIN 

4• TH1cK
1 
c~~CRETE 

SIDEWALK 

FLOW UNE A 

A 

IHCRE.\SE~FROMRIGHTANGLETO 
8£STFITFELDCONDIT0NS 

-,i 

~lfkC ess 
~~ 

~ 

ROAD & UTILITY 
CONSTRUCTION DETAILS 

Page 191 of 246



DRA WN BY _ _ n_s_ 1,; 
OESGNER. ~ ~ PHONE:262.64666SS 

CHECKED BY DËSIGN :M ~ :~ 913;.~:9 REVISED PER CITY REVIEW COMMENTS REVIS ONS SEH :::,~]_E:3~\ 

T 
118x118x30" 

WOOD STAKE 

~ 
FORINU,TSl,\fTHCASTCURB 
B0XUSEWOODrX4 EXTEND 
0"8EVONOGRATEWltm10N 
BOTHCIDES,LENOTHVARES. 
SECURETOGR,\î'E'MTH 
PI.ASTICZIPTES 

CHA.NNEL 

BOTIOM 

TAPERBOnOMOFIIAGTOW.NTAN30FCLEARMCEBEl'MDITHEIIAGANDTHE 
STIIVC1\IRE.t.lEASl.tREDFROM1HEB0TTOh10FTHEOVEIIFL0WOPENINGSTOTHE 
SîRUCT\JREWMJ., 

2. OEOTEXfllEFIIBRClYl'E"f"F"FORFI.APS.TOPANOBOlTOMOl'OUîSDEOFFILTERBAQ 
FRONT BIICl(,NIO IIOTIOM OF FILTER BIIG BENO ONE PIECE. 

3, FRONTUFT1NGFl,APl-,T0BeU EOWIENREMO\IINO,'.NOMAINT .... tllrlGfllTEFIIIAG 
._ S DE FLAPS SH,\Ll læ I\ MAXIMUM OflWO JICHES lONO. FOLD TKE FABRIC COVER ANO 

IIEINFORCEWll'HMJLTIPl.£STITOiES. 
5, F1.APPOCKETSSHALLBELAROEENOUGHTOACCEPT'MXIOTX4THEREB11RSTEEI.PIPEOR 

WXlDSHAU.8Ell'lSTALLEDINTliEIŒAAFl.Al'AN0Stl,',LLNOl'lll.OCKTHETOPHALFOFTHE 

4. F1NJSHEOSW:,NCWOINOF1.APl'0(:1<£TSV»lERERfQUREOS1,',U.EXlENDAMINMUMOF 
10-ARO!JNOTHEPERMETERTOFAClfTAU:w.lNTEW.NCEOflREMOVIIL. 

7 MANUFACTUREDM.TERNIITNESM'!'ROVEDANDLISTEDONTliEDS'ARTM!:N'T'SEROSION 
CQNTROLPR00UCTACC:EPT ... BUTYUSTW1Y8ESUIISTITUTED. 

SEDIMENT LOG DETAIL 

IMIENREMOW'IOORW..NTAJ<NOJ<l£TPROTECTIONCARE..W.LLBETMENS01WIT1HE 
SEOMENTTRAPPEDINlHEFABRCDO€SN0TfALLl'ITOlHESTRuc;nmew,reRIALTHAT 
HASfALLENNTOlHENLET$tlAUBE-EOVIT£LYREMOVED. 

INLET PROTECTION TYPE D 

êèt 
e 

,~= 
PPEFRA.M£ 

,oA.ROOll 
OC.MAX.WELDAT 
EACHPIPf 4

LTGATfTOCONt:.ENDWALL 

4-1/2X6 MACHNfl:IOLTS 
NUTSTONSIDE 

l 
T ctl

4 

DRU43/4 -· 
-I e,. 

STABlJZ!O 
SDE=PB 

" 
,.~,!,~J)h ~

,u,v•~•IDI• 
REQ.}WELDTOFAAME 

:~DEillOLEN 

BOLTGATETOCONC.ENDWALLWITH 

~~~MACliNEB0LT5PLACENUTS 

A STA811Jn:OSl0E 
MAXSLOPElH\I) 

P~MARYOlllLET 
I.SHIGH 

[-LjA 
HEGl1TAIOMBOl'TOM 
ONYERTOFOUTl,£T GWDE 

3FHT(m>J WEIR 

SfDMEl'ITTIW'BOTTOM 

APRON END WALL WITH TRASH GUARD DETAIL 

""' 
PRO!ITOPLA<:EMENTOPRlf'o.RAPlHEDISCH,\ROECHANNEL&HALLB:EORADED 

~~:i=~=~~o::: .. ~~:o~~:EQUAL).PW:E e-cr 

CULVERT OUTFALL WITH RIP RAP DETAIL 

--, 

__ _J 

CONTIIACTORTO .. Sl"AtlENTAANCEROADPRIORTOSl'A!ITOF 
CONSTRUCTION.o.NOW.NTAINROAllUNTIL-KISeoMPI.ETED. 

CONTRACTORTOCI.EANEXISTJ,IOSTREETDALYATOIREeTIONCITY 

fULLWl0lHOFEGIIE$$ 

~=·=" ~ ·--~¡,~~ .. ::: ... 
, ~3*E•:•:•}:~·;+~ ~~:=· 

IY~~ 

SECTION A A 

~~!f~~ 
TEMPORARY GRAVEL TRACKING DRIVE 

CROSS-SECTION 
2.SETP0$T$WITHFlLTERfABR1CATTACHED 
.o.NDEXTENOITNTOTHETREJ<CH 

ls.:1-sJo .. ....i-o • .U,•umb.onkmonton,.....i....,r.,holboo.....,..dw•hnp,.po, ... bll.rod-•os""'""'""'""""•odlo 
""""""'"'holO...,o<to,m 
rsur1>cu,..aoh•,Umon11t1pmmtbuull'.J.~ 

TOPWIDTHOFEMBANKM!~T 
4MIIIMUM 

14"MIN 

SILT FENCE INSTALLED PER 
T£0iNCALSTAHDARD1056 

- 
SECTION A A 

TEMPORARY SEDIMENT TRAP DET AIL 

SEI:WENT 'IRAPTDDE..sT..u!DINACCCIROAHŒW!H 
'ICINII CCNSEltV4 tl0!4 1'1UCTIŒ STNIDMD 10IS3 TEMPORARY DIVERSION SWALE DETAIL 

CEDARBURG TRAIL, 

CITY OF CEDARBURG, WISCONSIN 

l BACl(FJLL.o.NOCOt.lf>ACT ROW 
THEEXCAVATEDOIL. ~ 

'º~ 
NSAI.LAND MAINTAIN PER DNR TE~N CAL STANQI\RO O~ 

CONSTRUCTION OF A SILT FENCE 
.u 

EROSION CONTROL DETAILS 

Page 192 of 246



' -, 
' 

I 

/ 

Page 193 of 246



=e=r= 
0 

N 

t o ooo e e oooJ 
I o FF=7786 _ 

UNJTl 

LEGEND e 
0 ARBORVITAE ol 

"" 
BLDG 7 

o 
o YEWS G o SHADE TREES 

' ' 

~ ï r---------_;r~ 

GRADING NOTES 
1 GRADE BUILDING PAO AREAS I LOWER THAN FIRST FLOOR ELEVATION 

LANDSCAP ING 2 Y ARD GRADES TO BE SET APPROX. O 5 BELOW FIRST FLOOR ELEVATION 
F'LAN TO PRESERVE AS MUCH OF THE EXISTING BORDER GROWTH AS POSSIBLE. ANY GAPS ALONG NORTH LOT L NE 

THAT ADJOINS DRIVEWAY WILL BE FILLEO WITH 6 ARBORVITAE. 3 ALL PRIVATE ASPHALT AREAS SHALL HAVE SURFACE COURSE NSTALLEO ONCE ALL BUILDINGS ON SITE HAVE BEEN CONSTRUCTED 
DUE TO THE SEWER AND WATER LATERALS NSTALLEDAT THE FRONT CENTER OF THE BUILDINGS NO STREET TREES 

WILL BE PERMlneo 2t FAST GROWING PYRUSANDCHANTI CLEAR PEAR STREET TREES BETWE EN BUILDINGS 4 CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL ALL STORM SEWER STRUCTURES TO FINAL GROUND ELEVATIONS IN ALL NON.PAVED AREAS. 
BUILDINGS TO BE BOROEREOWJTH tANDSCAPE STONE PLANTING BED WITH 2' YEWS FLOWERS WILL BE PLANED AT 
S1GN ANO CONDO OV\INERS WILL AOD FLOWERS IN THEIR UNIT PLANT ING BEDS 5 ALL UTILITY APPURTENANCES WITHIN PRIVA TE ORIVE SHALL BE INSTALLEO TO B NOER ELEVATIONS. AOJUSTING R NGS SHAL L BE 

FRONT ANO SIDE Y AROS WILL BE SODDED ANO SACK Y AROS SEEDED USEO TO RAISE SEWER R MS DURING INSTALLATION OF FINAL LIFT OF ASPHALT WATER APPURTENANCES SHAU ALSO REQUIRE 

L GHTING MINOR ADJUSTING TO MEET FINAL ASPHALT ELEVATIONS 

~T GARAGE WAU. MOUNTED COACH LIGHT WITH BUILT IN OUSKTO DAWN PHOTOCELL TO LIGHT ALL DRIVEWAYS 6 TEMPORARY RESTORATION OF NON-PAVED AREAS WILL BE REQUIRED IN THE INTERIM FINAL RESTORA TION SHAL L BE DONE AT 

ANO FRONT DOOR AREAS THE TIME OF BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 

I 
I 
I 

¡r 

\ 
\ 

', 

CURRENT WATER 
SURFACE ELEV 

7698S 

T 

r 
ß 
o 

º, 
• 

\ 
\ 
\ 
\ .> 

/-, 
!_ ...... , 

I 
I 

',, 

~¢ 
Î"'l;\"<.e,O 

~~~p 

\. __ .... ,. 
/ 
/ 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

DRAWNBY __ ,,_S_ _,/,¿ 
DESIGNER ~ ~ PHONE262.646,6855 

CHECKEDBYDESIGNT:M N~ :~ 913=19 REVISEDPERCITYREVIEWCOMMENTS REVSIONS SEH ==::..~EB 
CEDARBURG TRAIL, 

CITY OF CEDARBURG, WISCONSIN MASTER GRADING PLAN 

FILENO 

44784 

Page 194 of 246



~c,0\)¢ 

,q'(\(;.~'è;,~ 

\ 
\ 

N 

---------- t 
24(SE)•n060~~ •cale 20 .. 

STMMH#1B 

\ ~,=e...ø.<--------------------------/--,::;1t:i.s 92.3L-------+------..,---------~----~~--== \ -~~----- / , r - - 
\ _}__ 65LF< 

\ ~ ' ~ µfa"__.v,_.Á. 
\ ~~;~~~ONFROM30T024CURB~ BL0G2~ \ ~ / ~g;~og~~~ 81LF1~HDPE@100%- 

- -r"'.:f'.:'=m•\ 

/,,.. .... , 

EXSTMMH#34A 

STA 6+73A 1052 R 

RJM779.58 
30" (W) 76685 

30" (E) 766.85 

HP-STA 8+16.38 PVi STA 10+48 72 
HP EL na 40 LP EL 775 94 HP EL 778 82 PV/ EL -777 50 

790 PVI STA 2+3312 PV[ STA 5+00 00 PVI STA 8+10 00 L 50' 

---Y-PVJET77848 I I PVIEL'77582 P\/lii=ï"'77.RQ?-r---~ , .. .,.,~---- 
1 L 25 I L .. 50 

I ~+i«:);83:; I 81:5 x æ œ 81:5 1 

785 I ~ ~~ ¡~ I ~~ I ~~ j 
--~--~-- w ~::,-- ,.,. =i--"i' ~ ... ··------------ 

¡ I 
~w ~WI I ~w !w ¡ ! p~~s~r~ 

! 5'.: o. o. o. ¡ EXISTINf'-C:~. 

I ATCE 

I I - - - - - ---0so;,,J. - I ---t----rl I 
1oo"ils --r -- ...... _1__ l j 

I ------,- I I I I ~,.,......_ I I 

I I ___J ¡_ -- I I --+==== - r~:,._ >1- _'_7.Z.S_ 
I I I ,,oc/,; HO>è@o,oJ, I I I li \ I 

I I I I I I I I 
L I _ r- __j _¡__ \.,-_7!_0_ 

I '" I 
·" ' I ¡ 1 n í""TINº""x"º 

' I I I I ~"¡"'"' I 765 

I i li I I ~ª I I I !~:' - . 
•, I I •,s 

I 
I ~ ;![¡¡¡ I ~. !ib 
I PRlELEV~_J ::, i::wW æ r:::wWW 

i f---- _¡_ __ EXGROUNOECEV,

11 

---4 ~~----¡----~------ l }i~; __ ¡__r-760 

'l'l • fli ojl'l -'If.i •l¡¡j J~ .¡l'l .ilfli .lp: Jlfli _;::l . ~ .lill • il ,¡l'l - 11! .I~ -1~ • ra JI~ ·I 
~ E f: ~ E ~ ~ ~1~ ~ t ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ E ~ E ~ ~ ~ f:: ~ ~ i::~ ~ ~ i:: E ~ E ~ ~ i::~ i: E: ~ 

3+00 4+00 5+00 6+00 7+oo 8+00 9+00 10+00 11+00 12+00 12+33 

790 

785 

, __ f 
775 =---- f - I 

I I 
_?IQ_~!~- 

I 

I 
li' 

___l.§_§_ - 

I 
I 

I ~ö:50:S:~ .. ~ 

i I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I I 

I 

------i 
I 

~I~ Nl' ¡: ¡ 
2'00 

I I 

'°IM -1~ + IN 

~I~ ~lt r:e ~ ~I~ ' ~ 
5+00 R+no 

DRAWNBY __ n_s_ -'~ 

~ ~PHONE26Z.646.611S5 

DESGN'~:M ~ :~ 9=:9 REVISEDPERCITYREVEWCOMMENTS REVISIONS SEH =~i:r~Ea 
CEDARBURG TRAIL, 

CITY OF CEDARBURG, WISCONSIN STORM AND ROAD PLAN & PROFILE 

FILENO 

144784 

Page 195 of 246



SANITARY & WATERMAIN NOTES ! N 
1 s:N~R~~~~~\~:b~L~~NGS ~ t 
2 WATER SERVICES SHALL BE 

1 i HOPE TO SPLIT THEN 1" FROM CURB STOPS TO BUILDING 

3 ALL SANITARY AND WATER SERVICES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED ACCORDING TO CITY OF CEDARBURG STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 
4 SERVICE CURB BOXES SHALL BE INSTALLED W'ITHIN TURF AREA AND OUTSIDE ANY PAVED AREA 5' BEHIND BACK OF CURB 

5 IT IS NOT INTENDED THAT THE EXISTING WATER MAIN ALONG EVERGREEN BLVD SHALL BE SHUT DOWN FOR ANY MODIFICATIONS SHOWN HOWEVER IF EXISTING 

~~~~~~:i~~~~~~~¿:~~~N_, ~A~~~~N 0:~U~~~NTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY ALL EFFECTED RESIDENTS AND/OR BUSINESS OWNERS IN VVRITING AND 24 4;... 

/' - 

\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 

CORE NTO EXISTING SAN ITARY MANHOLE ~ 
B1TUMASTIC SEAL ER REQUIRED AROUND 

NEWPIPE 

FORM BENCH AS NEC!:SSARY 

SLURRY BACKFI LL RECU RED J 
REPLACE PAVEMENT IN KIND .,,. ~ ~ -u 

EXMH#16 \ 

où~"',. STA 1+45,..! 11R I 

~CJ .,,..,,..,,. \ 

.,.<I"' ,/ \ 
/ 

-, / 
', / -- --- 

/ I 
I 

~ 

" @,.... œ ,., ,., ,., ,., g 
785 Öl <Cl,::, .. .., ., "' "' "' ... 

--~~_!m~ ~im ~sg l i 1 i!!~~ ~ ~ l I f¿l~ I EXSTINGGRAri E ~~a; l l lil!s: 1 g~:g 
I ~s,~~ ~·$ ~f$ I ª'e. I ffi¡;Œ ~~ /;I ,rce,meRUNE ~8i: I I I ffi¡:0 I ~;10 
! !~!!!;~ ~i= ~i~ I I ~:!!!' I ¡¡: I I =~ PROPOSEOGRADE ~=!!! I ¡ ¡:!!! I g:!!! ... ~~"'F ..,!;i; <Cl:;;; ,~.,,. 1 ~¡¡;¡; 

1 
, ·r.. 1 ,.t ATCENTERLNE ..,:ø.., 

1 

!!! lii \O ..,t;.., 

1 
780 "-- I / I 1 /I 780 

- - ,._,. ,,. ,,,. I "''!j I I "' '"" I I " i I ' - 

~ - I I I I I I / / I ---050% I I -- :-_3!~1· I - 100, I 100% '---î I I I • 

I l I I I '-- ~ ~ I '-~ I I I ---= ~ I I 
775 I t I I I ~ I i : ----:;,,.,~1-P75_ 

j : i I I I I"º'º"º"'~ ,~,R i I I I eso0ob<PsTORM$C~R I ~ ~ \ i 
_ 770 I I I I I I 

I I I ~ ~~~~I----L_~,s 77'.Q_ 
---,- I I I I 299lF6SOR35PV 040'\'o I ! 

I I I I I """,,"'""'"'" I I I I iEXSTNGST" NG I I .3(1(1 I I I 1 I 24 E7B468 

765 I q¡ '""' ,~ "' @"'"' I I I I t ... 1 I I j I I I I I I : 765 
--~ L __, -i---¡--------r -~ 

, 1 1 

1 ; I 1 , : I 1 1 I I 1 1 

I I I I I I I 

760 I ~ ~ ~œ I L__ I o~ I I I o ~j I I I ;:; ~ I I I I 760 

~"le:g " ~:;; I I I ~-:s:::: I I I i:iîi I I I 

I ~hw':<': '1 I ~se~; I , I I 11~¡;¡~ I \1h' I 
I if~:fr~![ I I ~;:~~ I eR<ECEV I fl:~~"'~ I j I ~~~[ 

755 x~1ª~-:c,: I I gi;;;_;¡ I EX.GROUNDELEV íl I I ~~~;;;_~ j I I ~,gi_;; I I I I 755 

I I I I I I I I I 

.. J.: .~ _1~ -~ ,:~ •
1

~ ,11; .1~ -~ -~ -~ _i~ .1~ .:& .I~ .js i!' -~ .~ I~ -~ .' 
.1 .1 ·i"' .\ ·1"' .1"' .1~ .¡i!? .li! •li!? •11!1 1¡["' "I"' •li!1 .¡~ . i!1 .1~ .1:e1 • "' ·11"' .1:e ~ ~ .1~ .1 ,, "' ., JI, ., ,, "I, ., ,, ., ., ,, .il, ., ., ,, ,, .il, ., ., ]I, ,,, JI,,, 
1+00 2+00 3+00 4+00 5+00 6+00 7+00 8+00 9+00 10+00 11+00 12+00 12+33 

785 

DRAW"N av ______!ä 

DES IGNER ~ 

CHECKEOBY --'-'-"- 1 TJS 9J30f2019 REVISEDPERCITYREVIEWCOMMENTS 

DESIGN TEAM NO BY DA TE 

t---t-----t---tr----------------------------1~ ~l~~A~i~~S 

I SEH :.....~~:=-530 8 
' l CEDARBURG TRAIL, 

CITY OF CEDARBURG, WISCONSIN 
SANITARY AND WATERMAIN 

PLAN & PROFILE 

ALE NO 

144784 IC4700 

Page 196 of 246



Ü(:/ ' ,. • I· 
{ir 'i I ~ 

DISCLOSURE MATERIALS 
CITY OF CEDARBURG 

DECLARANT: CONDO DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

318 North Lake Road - No. 101 
Oconomowoc, WI §3066 

CONDOMINIUM: CEDARBURG TRAIL, a condomáud.um 
Cedarburg1 Wisconsin 

1, THESE ARE 'I'J8DE LEGAL DOCUMENTS COVERING YOUR RIGHTS AND 
RESPONSIBil,rrIES AS A CONDOMINIUM OWNER. lUF YOU DO NOT 
UNlDERSTAND ANY PROVISIONS CONTAINEID IN THEM, YOU SHOULD 
OJBTAl!N PROFESSIONAL ADVICE. 

~'\ 

' _) 
2. THESE DISCLOSURE MATJERJfAJLS GIVEN TO YOU A§ REQIDRED BY LAW 

MAY, WITH TH.E EXCEPTION OJF Tl8Œ EXECU']['J{VE SUJ.o/.llJMIARY, BE RELIDED 
UPON AS CORRECT AND BINDING. FORA COMPLETE lf.T.NDER.STAN.DING OF 
THE EXECUTIVE SUMMARY, CONSULT'DIE DISCLOS10RE DOCUMENTS TO 
WHICH A PARTICULAR EXECUTIVE SUMMARY STATElvl!ENT PERT.AIN"§. 
ORAL STATEM11lNTS MAY NOT BE LEGALLY BIN.DING. 

3. YOUMAY AT ANY TIME WIT!8l.][N 5BUSINESSIDAYS FOLLOWJINGJRJECEJJPTOF 
THESE DOCUMENTS, ORJFO)L]LOW!NGNOTICE OlF .ANYMATER.IALCHANGES 
IN THESE DOCUMENTS, C.ANCEJLINVVRITING TI:llECONmACT OF SALEA.ND 
RECEIVE A FULL REFUND OF ANY DEPOSITS MADE. IF TEŒ SELLER 
DELIVERS LESS THAN ALL OF THIE IDOCUMEN'.I('S REQIDJ!.Œ:O, YOU MAY, 
WITI3f][N' 5 BUSINESS DAYS FOLLOWING RECEIPT OJF TilŒ DOCUMENTS, 
DELIVER A REQUEST FOR ANY Ml[§§JrNG DOClf.M!ENTS. JOF YOU TIMELY 
DELIVER A REQUEST FOR M][§SffiG DOC10MENTS9 YOU MAY9 AT ANY 'fli.ME 

WITiilN 5 BUSJINESS DAYS FOLLOWING TJSDE EARLIER OF EIT.18!ER TI:lŒ 

RECEIPT OFTilŒ REQUESTED DOCUMENTS OR T.HJ!i.: SELLER'S DEADLINE TO 
DELIVER THE REQUESTED DOCUMENTS, CANCEL JrN WRITING THE 
CONTRACT OJF §AJLE AND RIECEJfVE A FULL REJFlJND OF ANY DEPOSITS 

MADE. 

The 1U1ndersigned hereby acllmowledges this day, they have received the Disclosure Materials for Cedar 
burg Trail · Condomínium as itemized by Index om. reverse side hereof. 

Buyer 
Date ------- 

Buyer 
Date ---------- 

Page 197 of 246



INDEX ( 

The disclosure materials which the Declarant is required by law to provide to each prospective 
condominium purchaser contain the following documents and exhibits: 

l. Executive Summary.The Executive Summary highlights for a buyer of the 
condominium unit essential information regarding the condominium, The Executive Summary 
begins at page 1-1 of these disclosure materials and is supplemented by the Declaration. 

2. Declaratíon. The Declaration establishes and describes the condominium, the units and the 
common elements. The Declaration begins at page 2-1 of these disclosure materials. 

3. Artíeles ofirmcoirpoJrafüm. The operation of a condominium is governed by the Association, 
of which each unit owner is a member. Powers, duties, and operation of the Association are specified 
in its Articles of Incorporation. The Articles of Incorporation begin at page 3-1 of these disclosure 
materials. 

4. By-Laws. The By-Laws contain rules which govern the Association and affect the rights and 
responsibilities of unit owners or Association members. The By-Laws begin at page 4~1 of these 
disclosure materials. 

S. MHagement or Emmploymemnt Colllltracts. Certain services may be provided to the 
condominium through contracts with individuals or private finns. Discussion of these items begins 
at page 5-l of these disclosure materials. 

6. Projected AimllllllRal lhullget. The Association incurs expenses for the operation of the 
condominium which are assessed to and paid monthly by the unit owners. The projected operating 
budget is an estimate of those charges which are in addition to individual unit owner mortgage, 
insurance, utility and real estate tax payments. The budget begins at page 6-1 of these disclosure 

materials. 

7. Rules and Regulatíons, The Declarant has established certain rules and regulations to 
govern the use of the condominium and the conduct of its occupants. Other rules and regulations may 
be adopted by the Association in the future. The initial rules and regulations are set forth beginning 
at page 7-1 of these disclosure materials. 

8. Floor Plans 2m:ll Plat, The Declarant has provided floor plans of the units being offered for 
sale and a plat of the condominium which shows the location of the unit you are considering and all 
common areas, facilities and elements which are part of the condominium. The floor plan and plat 
are shown beginning at end of the disclosure materials. 

Page 198 of 246



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

DECLARATION OF 
CEDARBURG_TRAIL, A.CONDOMíNIUM . 

.. HARTFORD, WISCONSIN 

ARTICLE 1 o • • • • • • o • • o • o • • • o • • 1 o o o o o o o o o o o O o O o O O O O I o 1 1 o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o , o • 

GENERA.L PROVISIONS • o o o o •• o o o ••••• o o ••••• o •• o • o li o o o o o • o o o I o • o •• o 

Section 1.1 - Intent. 

Section 1.2 - Name and Address 

Section 1.3 - Description of Land ••.•• º • º •••••••• -o •••••••••••••••• 

Section 1.4 - Condomfníam Plat. 

Section 1.5 - Condominium Pfat Amendments . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 2 ª 1 

2-1 
2-1 
2~1 
2-1 
2-1 

2 ª 1 

O O a• o• o a o• to o o I o a• o o oo I• o 11 u• o o o o o o o o o 11 o I o o o o 

O O O O O O O O O oO I O O I O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O 

O O O OD O O O O OD I ti O O O O Cl -O O O O Q O ti O O ti O O O OD 

ARTICLE2 o. o o o. o o o. li •• o. o o o o o o o o o o o o a •• Cl o o o Do o. oºº I. o o o o o Do o a o. o o o o o o.Do 

CONDO:t\,1JIN'IDM B'UII..iDfflG 111o o o o a o o o o o o o ø o o o o o o • ø o o ci o o o o o o o o o p o o o • , o o 

Section 2.1 - Location of Buildñngs . 
Section 2.2 - Unñt Idel!lltification System •••••..••••••••••••••••••••• 2 - 2 
Section 2.3 - Descrlptiol!ll ofBuilcJlings 

.ARTICLE3 

00Dr,O•Dt00000000000D000000D00 2-2 

oooooooooooocaoaooooooooooooooooooooooo•o••oooooooooooooooooo.•oo 

CONDOMlCNIDM UNITS ••••••••••• 00 DO O 0000. Ol 000 00000 O 000 Ø O Ø 0000000 

Section 301 .. Number of Units ,o o o • o o o o o Do •• I Do o o o o o o o o o D • o o o o o o a o o 

Section 3.2 .... Unit Defined li •• º •• º º º •••• I> ••••• º º ª e º •• º º º •••••••••• 

Seetíon 3.3 - Descrlptiomt ofUmits • ZJ •• º. º. º •••••• º •• Cl º. º •• º •••••• ª º 

Section 3o4 ... Unit Fixtures º º ••••• º º º º •••• º •••• º º º •••• º •••• º • º •••• 
Section 3.5 - Unit Identification System •••••.•••••••••••••••••••••• 
Section 3º6 ... Unit Mod.iflcati.on • º ••• ., º •••• º • D º º ••••••••••••• º • °' • º • 

Secltfoim 3. 7 - BmnJmolary WaJH BasemeJJ1ts ••••••••.•••••••••••••••••. 2 - 3 

ARTICLE4 

COMMON ELEMENTS AND FACILITJIES 

o O O O O 00 o o o OD e, DO O 00 O O 00 00 O O O O O O POO O O O O o 001000 0000 O o 00 o O O 00 11 o 01100 

OOOOOOtDaOOOOflDOOo1;10000000001 

Section 4ol - Description º º º º º º º º " º º º º º º º º • º º º º º º º º º º • º º º º º º ª º º º D 

Sectionn 4.2 - Pe:rcenfage lfilllterest 
Sectionn 4.3 Q Trrumsfäir of Common Elements 
Section 4.4 - Pam.ti.onn of Common Elements 

00 O OD O O O O O DODO OOD0t O DD O O 00 O 00 0000 

taaooooooooooooovoboooo 

1ooø11otiiooooooooooooaooo 

ARTICLES Cl o o o o o o o a o o o Do o o o o o a o o o o o Cl o o o o o o o o o o o o o D 'ºDo o Do o o o o o t, o o o Do o o o o o 

LilW'J['E]} COI\WON ELEI\BNTS o o a o o o o o o o o o o o • o • ø o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o O 0 

Sectñolll!. 5.1 ° Limited Common Elements 
Section 5.2 ~ Transfär of Limited Ci!J1mmolil Elements •••••••••• , ••••• 2 ~ 4 

O O O 00 O O O O O O O O O o O O o II O O O O O O O 

ARTICLE (Ó o ø o o o a o o o a o o o o o ø o o e o o ø o o o o o o o ci o O o o o • o ø ø ø o o o o o o o o o o II o o o o o o o o O O O 0 

REP Am.S AND MA.ffi'TENANCE o o o o o o o o o ci o o o o o e o • o a o o o o o o o o o ø o o o o o o O 0 

Sectiollll 6.1 - Common ERements •••••••••••••••••• , •••••••••• , •••• 

Sectfollll 6.2 - Umited Common EDemel!llts o o oºº. o o o. o (li (li o o o o o o o o o o ø o o 

Section 6º3 - Indiviid unal U nits º º º º º º º º º º º º º • º • º º , º º º º º º º º º º ø Cl º º º D º 

Sectiomi 6.4 - Lñmitationns on Cl!uimges ••••••• , . 

SectioJ!ll 6.5 - Elllltry :for Repairs ••• , ••• , ..• , .. 
•DP0000d011DO 0000110000 

'ºº'ººººº'ººººººººººº 

__ ) ARTICLE 7 º º º º • º º º º º º º º º º º º • º º º º º º º D º D º Cl º º º º º , º º º li , • 

ASSESSM:EN1'S FOR COMMON EXPENSES 

Section 7.1 - Purpose of Assessmellll.ts .•....... 
Section 7 .2 - Common Expenses •.•••.•.. , •. , 10 OD O O O O O t O O OD O O t O O t D 

too,00000,000000•0000 

toot O OØDODOO DD ODO 0010 

~OD t I O O O O I O O O O O OD O O t O 

2-2 
2~2 

2-2 
2-2 
2-2 
2-2 
2-3 
2-3 

2-3 
2~3 
2-3 

2-4 
2-4 
2-4 

2-4 
2-4 
2-4 

2- 4l 

2-41 
2-4 
2-5 
2-5 
2-5 
2-5 

Page 199 of 246



Section 7º5 .. Annual Budget º. º •••••• º •••••••••••• º ••••• "' ••••••• º 

Section 7 .6 - Common Surpluses 

Section 7 .3 - Share of Common Expenses ...•...•.•..••..••....•..• 2 - 6 
Section 7.4 - Special Charges .••• º ••••••••••••••• , º ••• º. º ••• º •••• 2 - 6 

2-6 
2-7 

2-7 

( 
••••i:a•o••••••oOODOl>OOIDDoo••····· 

Section 7. 7 - Special Assessment .••.•••....•••••••.•••.•••.•.••.•. 
Section 7 .9 - Uniform Rate of Assessment .•••••.••••••••••••..••••. 2 - 7 

2 .. 1 
•••.••••••• 2 .. 1 

Section 7 0,1 O .. Covenant to Pay .....•• I> ••••••••• º •• D • º •••••••• ª • º ,, 

Section 7.11-Lfability fo:r Assessments upon Conveyance. 
Section 7.12 - Lien for Assessments •.••...• , .••••••• , •.••••••••.•• 2 - 8 

Section 7 al3 Cl Priority of Lien ••• º ••• ª •••••• º • º • º •• º º º •• º ••• ª º º º , • 2 D'I 8 
2 .. 8 

2-8 
Seetkm 7.14-El!ll.förcement of Uen 
Section 7.15 - Additional Remedies 
Section 7.16 ~ Assessments Against Declarant •.••••••••••••• , •••••• 2 = 9 

110<0001000ooøoo11toooooooo110000000 

••••••• .,, •••• ººººªºº'ºººº'ºººººº 

ARTICLE 8 • º ª º º •• º • º º º ª • º º º º ••• ª º º º º º º • º • º ••• º • , º º •••• º º •••• º • º • º º " º º º • • • 2 ., 9 
COVENANTS ON USE AND OCCUPANCY ••••••••.••••••••••.••• , ••••• 2 ª 9 

Section 8º1 - Use of Premises º • " º • º ••• º • º • º º ••• º •• º º ••• º º ª ••• º t:t " º • 2 .. 9 
Sectiollll. 8.2 - Col!llstrnction Activities ••••.•••••••• , •• , •.•.•.•••• , •• 2 - 9 
Section 8.3 ~ Prohibited Actlvñtñes and Siglllls ••• , •••••••••••••••••••• 2 - 9 
Sectiollll 8.4 - Use off Commollll Elements •..••• , ••• , ••••••••••.••.••• 2 - 9 
Sectiimm 8.5 ª Occupancy Restrictions .•••••• , ••••••••. , , ••• , . • • • • • • 2 - 9 

Sectfion 8º6 ... Pets and AimfimaDs º ••• º ª º 4 • º º º º ... ª ª º º º º • º, ª. º º ••• ª º º 2.,, JI.O 
Section 80 7 - Motor Vehicles o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o • o o o o o o o o o o o o a o o o o ø o D 2 C, 10 

Sectiol!ll 8.8- CommerciaB and Recreatioim Vellnicles ••••••••••• , ••••• 2 ª 10 

Sectionn 8.9 - Nunisa.nces •• " ... ,,. º • º • º • G " • º º º • Ct °' º º º • º •••• º ... º • º ª º D º 2 CIi 10 
Section 8.10 - To.surallllce 2nd Safety Hazards ••••••••••••• , • , •••••• 2 ø 10 

SectioJm 8.11 - Roof 2lllld Attic S11:.rUlldUllll'es. • ••••••••••••••••••••• , • • 2 - 10 
Sectliol!ll 8.12 - Leasing of Umiw •••••••••••••••••• , •••••••••••• , • , 2 - JI.O 
Section 8.13 ª Ul!llOCCUlljpliedl Units •••••• , •••• , ••• , •••••• , •••••• , ••• 2 ª 10 

ARTICLE9 
REMEDIES FOR BREACH OF COVEN.ANTS~ 

RESTIUCTIONS .AND RlEGlOl,ATIONS •••.••• , •••. , •••.••••..• , 2-10 
SectioJm 9.1 - Compfümce Req11lliJred • , •••• , , , ••• , ••••• , ••.••.•..•. 2-10 
Sectfollll 9.2 - EmeJrgency Entiry für .Abatement • • • . • • • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • 2 - 11 

Seetioxn. 9o3 ... Lega.i Remmed.iteS •• º • º ª º • º • º º º º fl º ª º º º º º º º º º º º g • ª • º º º , 2 - 11 

O O OD O DO DOIi o OD O 110 O O OCtOOOCI 00 O Ø OCIO O O O O, 011000 DDCI 000 000 O 000 IDO 000 ODO 2 - JI.O 

.ARTICLE10 ooaooooooooooooooooooooooooooo•ooøooøoooooooooaoooooooooooaoo 

IN'S1CJRANCE a o ø o o o O o o ø o o a o o o 11 111 , o a o o o ø D o o o o o o o o o o o o o o a o o o o o o o o o o o ø o o 

SecifoJIJI 10.1 ª hS1lllJr2.l!1Ce by Associiatioim ••• , ••• , ••••••••••••••••••• 2-11 

Sedlion 10.2 - .Assessment of :Premillllms •••.. , •••••••• , ••••••.••• , • 2 - 11 
2-U 
2-12 

O O O O a O O O O O O O Cl O O O O Cl O O O O O O D 2 øo 12 

2<Y.2 

Sec.tio mi 1 Oo3 ø Coverage o o • 11 o ~ o • o • o o li o o o o • o D • o o o o o o o • o •• o o o o • ø o o 

Section 10o4 .. Use of Proceeds li. º •• º º º • º º º •• º º º • º Q º. ººClº º º º º º , ºliº 
§eciiollll ll.0.5 - InSllllll'llUilCe by UIID.it Owners 
§eetioJrn lß.6 ª LimifatÎOll1 Olm LiabiBity ººººº"ººººººººººººººººººªººº 

Section 11.1 - Determination ..•. 

Section ll.1.2 - Vairfaillces 

ooooonoo110ooooøoooooaoo11000,oo• 

2-13 

2-13 
2-13 
2-13 
2-13 

ARTICLEH 
RECONSTRUC1'JION 

ooac,,00000011oøoooøooøoø11l)OCIOOOØOOOORDOtODDDODOOC,gøOooooooooooD 

ooooDOODOO•ODoooDODt,0001DOPOOIOODOOODOOoooooooo 

oooooooooooooi:iott•ootooooooøøoooooo1ooo 

Section Jl.1o3 .. Financing . º •• º º º •••• º • º º •• º D •• º •• º • º º º º ••• º •• º º ª 

11 

Page 200 of 246



,,,....--.,,, .,. 
I ) 

ARTICLE 12 :t i:i Cl • o o. li. o a o o o o o II o ø • • 11 o o • o a o o o o o. • 11 11 o a • • o • o 9 • , • t o • o o 1l o o II o o ir • ø «, o o 2 1::1 13 
ASSOCIATION OF UNIT OWNERS ••••• , ••••••.••.•••••••••••••••••• 2 ° Jl.3 

Section 1201 .. Legal Entitya Da o o o o D o D a a • Cl o a. o •• D. o • D o. o R' li o Do li o o • D 2 ca 13 

Section 12.2 - Membership and Votilllg Rights •..•••..••.•.••••••• , 2 -13 

Sectfol!B 12.3 - Powers of the Association ••••.•.••• , , , ••••••• , ••• , • 2 - 13 
Section 12.4-Meet.ings offüe Assocfatfon •••.•.•••••.• , •••••••••.• 2-14 
Section 12.5 - Declara.nt Control •••••••••••••••••••• , •••••• , • • • • 2 - 15 
Section 12.6 .. Indemnify of Association , •••••••••• , • • • • • • • • 2 - 15 

ARTICLE 13 o a o o a o b o ø o a o o o o ø o a 41 o o a o ,o o ø ø o (to a o ,o o o o o a o o o , 11 o o• o o o o o o o o o a o o o o o 2 cr 16 
EASEMENTS AND ENCROACl:IMENTS ••• , •••••••••••••• , , •••••••••• 2 .. 16 

Section 13.1- Utility Repmrdi!asements ••••••••• "° •• , • , ...... u ... 2 .. J!.6 
Section 13.2 - Easements 'Ito Run With the Land ••• , ••••• , • • • • • • • • • • 2 .. 16 
§ectiollll 13.3 .. JE!!llcroa.clhments •••••••••••••• , •••••••••••••••••••• 2 m 16 

------- -~ ... --. ... "-• ... --~ .. - ... w -- ,....... -------- - .,. .. __ ,... ... ,__ .............. ,._ .. _ ------- ,...,..._,.. _ 

.ARTICLE 1~ o tl o o o o o o o o o o o • q ø o o ~ o o o o o o ø o o o o o p o o .o o o o o o o • o e o o o o 1;1 o o o o o o o 11 o o ,o o 2 Q 1~ 

SPECIAL AlllMINISTRA'f.l!VE PROVISIONS •••••..•••••••• , , ••••••••• 2 m 16 
Sectiollll. 14.J!. .. Transfer Fee t,o Assocfation ••••.•••.•••••••.•••••••• 2 m 16 
Seetíon 14.2- Decffarantîs :W.glhlt ofFil'l'St Refullsal ••••••••••••••••••• 2- ll.6 

ARTICLE Î "§ • o o o o o o o e ci o o a o o 9 o o o a o o o o o o o o o o a o o o e o o o o -o t a o o o o a o o o o o Cl .,, o o o ø. o o a 2 Fli Jl.? 

M1SCELLANEOUS PROVISION§ •• , ••••••••••••.•• , ••••••••••••••••• .2 .. 17 
Section 15.1 .. Notice to Monigage 1Lem1doirs •••.•••.•••••••••••••••• 2 m 17 
Section 15.2 .. Se.ll'V.iœ of Notices Ol!ll Devísees alll!d Pers@llllal Re¡pnresemtfatives 

a ,o Cl O ø Q O Q O a ,ii i, O O O O Ø O 6 O ti O O O Ø' O O Q, O O D O I Ø O O O O O O O O' O D O o O O O ~ O o o 2 Øl JI. 7 

Seeti.@n 15.3 .. Ccrvemiim:ts to Rl!l\n With La-iid ••••••••••••••••••••••• 2 ø 17 

Secti@Jnl. 1 S.4 "' N01Jn1ø Waivell' of Pmvisions • • • • • . • • . . • • • • . . • • . • • • • • • • 2 .. 1 7 
Section 1 S.:':\i ø W ruver of Damiu¡¡ges •••••••••• , •••••••• , ••••••••• , • 2 ø 17 
Seetftl{l!Jm 15.6 = Ml[llrtgagilmg Unnñts 2111d Rool Estatte Trote§ , •• , ••••••••• 2 ø 17 

Seetion 1.S. 7 .. .Amelllldmemrt olt'Declairatnollll •••• , •.•• , •••••••••• , •••• 2 ø 17 
Secfiollll 15.8 ø Ge1rniller allll«ll Nllllmber ••••••••• , •.•••••••••••••••• , • 2 ø Jl.7 

Sect:i.on 159 1:11 Seveirability º º º ª º º º º º º IÓ º º (I º ª º º º .. º º º º º º º º º º º o, º º º º º º 2 l;:I 18 
Secfü.bn ll. 5.10 .. Semce of Prncess • , •••••• , , ... , •• , , •.•••••••••••• 2 e 1'8 

iii 

Page 201 of 246



CONDOMINIUM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

l. Condominium Identification: 

This condominium is known as Cedarburg Trail 

r 
l 
\ 

2. Expansion Plans: 

Optional: This condominium is expandable up to 2@k units. See Article 14 of the Declaration for complete 
details. 

3. Governance: 

This condominium is managed by dedar-burg -Trail Owners' Association, Inc. which is 
an incorporated association located at 318 North Lake Road, Oconomowoc, WI 53066. For general 
information regarding this condominium, please contact: Greg James at 262-569-1516. 

4. Amenities: 
See Section 4.1 · 

5. Maintenance and Repair of Units: 
See Sections 6.2 and 6.3 of the Declaration regarding owner's responsibility for maintenance and repair 
matters. 

6. Maintenance, Repair and Replacement of Common Elements: 

See Section 6.1 of the Declaration regarding the Association's responsibility for maintenance and repair of 
common elements. 

7. Rental of Units: 
See Section 8.1 of the Declaration regarding rental provisions. 

8. Unit Alterations: 
See Section 6.4 of the Declaration regarding alteration of a unit. 

9. Parking: 
Parking is included at no extra charge. See Sections 8.7 and 8.8 of the Declaration regarding parking 
regulations. Additional restrictions may be found in the Rules and Regulations. 

10. Pets: 
See Section 8.6 of the Declaration regarding pets and animals. Additional restrictions may be found in the 
Rules and Regulations. 

11. Reserves: 
See Section 7.8 of the Declaration regarding reserve funds for the condominium. Reserve funds are also 
addressed in the annual budget for the condominium. 

12. Fees on New Units: 

None. 

13. Amendments: 

See Section 15.7 of the Declaration regarding amendments procedures. 

14. Other Restrictions or Features: 

See the Rules and Regulations for additional regulations. 

1-1 

Page 202 of 246



DECLARATION 

CEDARBURG TRAIL,~ CONDOMINIUM 
Cedarburg, Wisconsin 

DECLARATION made pursuant to the Condominium Ownership Act of the State of 
Wisconsin, being Chapter 703 of the Wisconsin Statutes, by Condo Development, Jne., 318 North 
Lake Road- No. 101, Oconomowoc, Wisconsin 53066 hereinafter referred to as "Déclarant". 

ARTICLE! 
G~NERAL PROVISIONS 

-"""' ) 

Section 1.1 Q Intent. The Declarant, by the execution and recording of this Declaration, 
intends that the land herein described, the buildings and improvements constructed or to be 
constructed thereon, and all easements, rights and appurtenances belonging thereto shall be subject 
to the condominium form of ownership and use in the manner provided by the Condominium 
Ownership Act of the State of Wisconsin (hereinafter the "Act"), the provisions of this Declaration, 
the Articles of Incorporation and the By-Laws of the '·aedäröùrg 'I'r a í.L - s Owners' 
Association, Inc. (the Association"). 

Section 1.2 - Name and Address. The name by which this condominium shall be known is 
Ce-dàrburg Trail and its street addresses are as shown on Exhibit B attached 

hereto. 

Secñon 1.3 - Deserfptton of Land. The land which is the subject of this Declaration is 
described on Exhibit A attached hereto. 

Sectiol!1l 1.4- CoID1domi1mimim Plat. The Declarant, contemporaneously with the recording of 
this Declaration, has filed for record in the office of the Register of Deeds for 'àzà.ukée Cou n ty 
a plat of survey entitled 'Cedarrbucg Trail. 

Section 1..5 = Condominium Piat Amendments. The Declarant reserves the right, without 
Association or unit owner approval, to amend the condominium plat for the purpose of recording the 
actual location of any unit or building or other common element improvement which may deviate from 
the planned location as shown on the plat and for the purpose of reflecting the "as built" size and 
configuration of the units and buildings, and this may reduce the amount of common area. The 
Déclarant further reserves the right to file amended condominium plat(s) reflecting changes in the 
types or configuration of buildings as long as all buildings contain no more than four units each. 

Seetíon 1.6 - Development Agll'eement The development and use of the condominium 
property is subject to the terms and conditions of that certain Development Agreement entered into 
by and between the Declarant and the City of" ·ceël.arburg. - 

ARTICLE2 
CON.ID>OMIN.lfUMBUll,DING 

Section 2.1 - Location ofBunilldnlllgs. The buildings are or will be located on the premises as 

depicted on the condominium plat. 

Page 203 of 246



Seetíon 2.2 - Unit Identlñcatíon System. Units shall each be assigned a unit number, a post 

office street address. The initial condominium units are identified on Exhibit B attached hereto. 

Section 2.3 ª Deserlptíon of Buildings. There are a total oftÊ; residential buildings 
totalin<;J .26 uni t.s , - . , 

· · , · : , , · The buildings are, or shall be, single-story 
structures of wood frame construction ~ith composite roof material. = - _. . ~ 

· Each building wil1 be substantially the same in style and configuration, but the number 
of units may vary. Complete construction details are contained in the working plans and drawings 
available for inspection at the office of the Declarant or the Association. 

ARTICL.E3 
CONJ!)OM!NIDM UNITS 

units. 
Section 3.1-NMmbe:r of Units. The condominium when completed will have a total of 26, 

- - ' ' ' ,.;, I.,._ 

•i I( 

Section 3.2 Q Urut De:lfineid!. A condominium unit is that portion of a building intended for 
private use and occupancy as a residential dwelling, consisting of one or more rooms or enclosed 
spaces on one or more levels and having outer boundaries formed: 

A as to finished areas, by and including the interior surface materials (i.e., drywall, 
paneling tiling and floor covering) of the perimeter and internal structural walls, 
floors and ceilings; and 

B as to any unfinished areas (such as a basement or an attic), by the following: 

(1) upper boundaries shall be the horizontal plane created by the undersurface 
of the ceiling joists or the undersurface of the chords of the roof trusses, as 
the case may be; 

(2) lower boundaries shall be the upper surface of the unfinished floor; and 

(3) vertical boundaries shall be the interior surfaces of the unfinished perimeter 
and structural walls. 

Each unit includes its attached garage, covered porches and the unit fixtures. The boundaries of each 
unit have the dimensions and are located as shown on the condominium plat and amendments filed 
pursuant to Section 1.5 of this Declaration. 

Section 3.3 - Descríptlen of Units. The size and configuration of each unit varies with the 
floor plan of the unit selected by the initial purchaser. Units ·$)~.e ..__ll. 60 0.- - ·r g Œ(Y, square feet in 
size. These square footages are based upon exterior first floor dimensions and include the covered 
porches. Generally, each unit includes a living room, dining area or room, a kitchen, two bedrooms, 
two bathrooms, a covered porch and a garage. Some units include a den/third bedroom. 

Seetíon 3.4 ª Unít Fixituwes. Improvements to a unit which are permanent in nature are unit 
fixtures. Typical unit fixtures include the following: interiornon-load bearing walls, entry and interior 
doors, window and door glass. cabinetry, electric wiring and lighting fixtures. wall to wall floor 
covering, plumbing fixtures and pipes, heating and air-conditioning systems, water heater, exhaust 

Page 204 of 246



fans, porch screen/glass enclosure and door and such other built-in or permanent improvements or 

,,.--,) appliances which may be within the unit. 

Section 3.5 - Unit Identtñcatíon System, Each unit has a unit identification number and a 
street address. The unit identification numbers shall be used and shall be legally sufficient for aJJ 
conveyance purposes. When a conveyance affecting a unit occurs prior to the construction of a unit, 
the unit identification number shall be used and shall be legally sufficient to convey to the grantee the 

right to construct that unit in accordance with this Declaration. 

Section 3.6 ~ Ul!Ilit Mocl!ificatioim. The floor plan of a unit may be altered and the fixtures 
therein may be modified by a unit owner provided that such work is done in compliance with Section 
6.4 of this Declaration. 

. 
Seedon 3.7 ~ Boundary · Frds t Wall. Each unit owner shall have an easement in the 

boundary or exterior walls surrounding his unit for the purposes of additional utility outlets, wall 
hangings, and the like; except that the unit owner shall do nothing to impair or destroy the structural 
integrity of the wall or building or the sound-proofing of any partition walls. No openings whatsoever 
shall be made into any boundary wall, floor or ceiling without the prior written approval of the 
Association. 

ARTICLE4 
COMMONELEMENTSANIDFACJlLITJDES 

Section 4.1- Description. The common elements and facilities of the condominium are all 
of its land, improvements and appurtenances, excluding the units as defined in Article ID of this 
Declaration, and including, without limitation, the following: 

A The land described in Section 1.3 of this Declaration. 

B The building structures, including perimeter and load-bearing walls, perimeter floors 
and ceilings, roof systems, structural support systems, and exterior finish materials, 
including, but not limited to, exterior siding and trim, gutters and downspouts, roof 
shingles, air vents, windows, doors. Siding, trim, drywall, windows, screens, doors, 
and any other items located on porches shall be considered part of the condominium 
unit. Exterior air conditioning compressors and all related equipment and 
connections are part of the condominium unit. Painting and staining of interior and 
exterior and cleaning of interior and exterior of windows, and doors are the 

responsibility of the unit owners. 

e The electric, telephone, communication, gas, water, sewer and other utility wiring, 
laterals, conduits or pipes, whether located in-ground, above-ground or within 
building walls and which are not owned and maintained by a public or private utility 

company. 

D The lawn and landscape areas and improvements. 

E The common areas, if any, identified as such on the condominium plat together with 
all improvements, furnishings and fixtures provided therewith. 

F All other parts of the condominium necessary or convenient for the existence, 

maintenance and safety of the condominium or normally in common use by all unit 

owners. 

2-3 

Page 205 of 246



G The private roadwayº' 

H The private walking paths. 

Some common elements may, depending upon their location and use, be classified as limited common 
elements under Article V of this Declaration. 

Section 4.2 - Percentage Interest. Each unit owner shall have an undivided1 /2(!),equal 
interest in the common elements of the condominium as a tenant in common with the other unit 
owners of the condominium. . , 

,. 
r 

Section 4.3 " 'I'ransfer of Common Elememrts. The percentage interest of each unit owner 
in the common elements of the condominium shall not be separated from the unit to which it 
appertains and shall be deemed to be leased, conveyed or encumbered with the unit even though such 
interest is not expressly mentioned or described in the conveyance or other instrument. 

Section 4.4 - Partition of Common Elements. There shall be no partition of the common 
elements through judicial proceedings or otherwise unless this Declaration is terminated and the 
property is withdrawn from the terms of this Declaration and any statute of Wisconsin applicable to 
condominium ownership. 

ARTICLES 
Ll\1VIlTED COlv!MION ELEMENT§ 

Section 5.1 - Limited Cemmen Elements. Certain of the common elements which are 
contiguous to a unit, or which are reserved for the exclusive use and benefit of the occupants of that 
unit, are classified as limited common elements and shall include, without limitation, the following: 

A Those common elements, if any, identified as limited common elements on the 
condominium plat. 

B The electric, telephone, communication, gas, water, sewer and other utility wiring, 
laterals, conduits or pipes within or serving a unit. 

C The front entry stoop, sidewalk and garage driveway, and outside porches, air 
conditioner slab, outside planting areas designated for each owner(s) use, and any 
other owner plantings which must be approved in writing by the Association. 

D Such other parts of the common elements necessary, convenient or appurtenant to or 
normally exclusively used by the occupants of a unit. 

Section 5.2 ø Traesfer ofLñmited Commoim Ellements. Limited common elements shall not 
be separated from the units to which they appertain and shall be deemed to be leased, conveyed or 
encumbered with the unit even though such interest is not expressly mentioned or described in the 
conveyance or other instrument. 

ARTICLE 6 
REP AIRS AND MAl!NTENANCE 

Seedon 6.1- Comm o im Elements. The Association shall be responsible for the management, 
control, maintenance, repair and replacement of the common elements and shall cause the same to be 

2-4 

Page 206 of 246



) 

kept in good, safe, clean, attractive and sanitary condition, provided, however, that the cost to repair 
or replace any portion of the common elements damaged through the fault or negligence of a unit 
owner or occupant may be charged in accordance with Section 7 .4 of this Declaration. 

Sectlon 6.2 ~ Limited Commen Elemeira:ts.. Each unit owner shall be responsible for keeping 
the limited common elements appurtenant to his or her unit in a clean, attractive and sanitary 
condition. I~ after notice frem the Association, a unit owner fails to timely comply with this 
provision, the Association may take corrective measures and the cost thereof may be charged in 
accordance with Section 7.4 of this Declaration. The Association shall maintain, repair and replace 

if needed the front entry stoop, i.'1 dew a 1 R , dr i V?,,outside porch slab and air conditioner slab, 
The Association will shovel the entry stoop and sidewalk and wil1 plow the garage driveway and 
parking areas. Any maintenance, repair and replacement of front entry stoop, sidewalk, garage 
driveway, outside por-ch slab or air conditioner slab shall be subject to a charge-baok in accordance 
with Section 7.4 of this Declaration. 

Section 6.3 - Inul!ñvklhnal U Dits. Each unit owner shall be responsible for keeping his or her 
unit and all of its equipment, fixtures and appurtenances in good order, condition and repair and in a 
clean, safe and sanitary condition. Further, each unit owner shall be responsible for the maintenance, 
repair and replacement of unit fixtures. 

Sectñmm 6.4 Q LñmmitatioBlls on Cl!nmimges. N o unit owner shall alter the floor plan or modify the 
fixtures of his/her unit without first obtaining, during the period of Declarant control as defined in 
Section 12.05 of this Declaration, the written consent of the Declarant or thereafter, the written 
consent of the Association. Likewise, no unit owner shall make any alteration, change or 
ímprovementto common or limited common elements without such consent. A unit owner may make 
any improvements or alterations within his or her unit that do not impair the structural integrity or 
lessen the support of any portion of the condomíníum and that do not create a nuisance substantially 
affecting the use and enjoyment of other units or the common elements. A unit owner may not change 
the exterior appearance of a unit or of any other portion of the condominium without permission of 
the board of directors or the Association. No unit owner may make any alteration that would 
jeopardize the soundness or safety of the property, reduce the value thereof, impair any easement or 
hereditament, or change the exterior appearance of a unît or any other portion of the condominium not 
part of the unit. . ' 

Secti@llll 6.S = Emtey few Repru.ll'S. The Association shall have the right, at reasonable times and 
under reasonable conditions, to enter upon or across any unit in connection with the meíntenance, 
repair or replacement of any common element or limited common element. Except in cases of 
emergency, the Association shall giveprior notice to affected unit owners and/or occupants of its need 
to make entry. Such entry shall be with as little inconvenience to tbe unit occupants as practical and 
any damage caused thereby shall be repaired and restored by the Association and treated as a common 
expense. 

ARTICLE i 
ASSESSMENTS FOR <COMMON EXPENSES 

Seetloa 7.ll. ~ Purpose of Assessrm111elll11ts. The assessments levied by the Association shall be 
used to promote the recreation, health, safety and welfare of the residents in the condominium; to 
provide for the repair, maintenance, insurance and improvement of the common elements; to provide 
for such emergency repairs as the Association may deem necessary; and to create reserve funds for 
the purposes authorized by this Declaration and the By-Laws. 

2-5 

Page 207 of 246



Section 7.2 - Common Expenses. Common expenses are defined as follows: 

A all sums lawfully assessed against the unit owners by the Association; 

B expenses declared common expenses by the Act, by this Declaration or the By-Laws; 

C amounts determined by the Board of Directors to be collected and held from time to 
time as a reserve fund for the future acquisition, replacement or repair of common 
elements. The reserve fund shall accumulate from year to year in a non-lapsing 
account of the Association. 

Section 7.3 - Share of Common Expenses. Each unit owner shall be responsible for the 
payment of that proportionate share of the common expenses reflected by the percentage interest in 
the common elements assigned to each unit by section 4.2 of this Declaration; provided, however, that 
expenses incurred by the Association to repair any portion of the common elements damaged through 
the fault or negligence of a unit owner or occupant, may be accounted for separately and be charged 
to the unit owner responsible therefor as a special charge. 

Seetíon 7.4 e Spiecial Charges. Expenses incurred by the Association to repair or replace any 
portion of the common elements damaged through the fault or negligence of a unit owner or occupant 
and expenses incurred by the Association for corrective measures taken in accordance with Section 
6.2 of this Declaration may be accounted for separately and be charged to the unit owners responsible 
therefor as a special charge. Penalties assessed by the Board of Directors for infractions of rules shall 
also be special charges. 

Section 7.5 ~ ABillllllllal Budget. The Association shall, as provided in the By-Laws, determine 
an annua] budget for common expenses and fix an annual assessment which shall be paid by each unit 
owner on a monthly basis. Monthly payments not made when due shall render the unpaid annual 
assessment for such year delinquent and such amount shall be due and payable in full. The failure or 
delay of the Association to prepare the annual budget orto notify any unit owner of his/her assessment 
shall not constitute a waiver or release of such unit owner's obligation to pay his/her proportionate 
share of the common expenses whenever the same shall be determined; and in the event of such failure 
or delay of the Association to prepare the annual budget, each unit owner shall continue to pay the 
annual assessment at the then existing rate until the new assessment is determined. The Association 
annually shall adopt and distribute to all unit owners an annual budget setting forth the following: 

A Anticipated common expenses and any amounts to be allocated to a statutory reserve 
account under the Act and to any other funds for future expenditure. 

B The amount and purpose of any other anticipated Association expenditure. 

C The amount in any statutory reserve account under the Act or any other funds held 

for future expenditures. 

D Any common surpluses. 

E The amount and source of any income, other than unit owner assessments. 

F Tue aggregate amount of any assessment to be levied against unit owners and the 

purpose of the assessment. 

/ 

Page 208 of 246



Section 7.6 - Common Surpluses. In the event of a common surplus at the end of any fiscal 

/""""1. year, such surplus ( excluding amounts held in the reserve fund) shall be credited to the unit owners' 
' J next annual assessments for common expenses in proportion to the percentage of interest for each unit 

established by Section 4.2 of this Declaration.: ' · , , '{ · 

Section 7. 7 - Speeíal Assessment. In addition to the annual assessments the Association may, 
in the absence of sufficient reserve funds, levy special assessments for the purpose of defraying in 
whole or in part the cost of any construction, reconstruction, acquisition, replacement or repair of 
common elements, or to finance any underestimated, unusual or un-predicted cost. Such special 
assessment shall be levied and collected in the manner set forth in the By-Laws. The proceeds of a 
special assessment shall be collected, held and disbursed by the Association for the sole purpose for 
which the same was levied. 

' Section 7 .8 - Sfatl!lltory Reserve Accmumt. The Déclarant hereby elects not to establish a 
statutoryreserve account. The future repair and replacement of common elements will be funded with 
assessments or with funds held for operational contingencies 

Sectfollll 7.9 - Unifoll'Jlll1 Rate of Assessmiemt The annual assessments and any special 
assessments shall be levied at a uniform rate for all units in accordance with the percentage interest 
established by Section 4.2 of this Declaration, 

--...,. ... 
1 
I 

Section 7.:rn - Coveaant to Pay, In accordance with the statutory liability created by the Act, 
the owner of each unit, by the acceptance of a deed therefor, whether or not it be so expressed in the 
deed, shall be conclusively deemed to have covenanted and agreed with every other unit owner and 
with the Association to pay to the Association all assessments and charges, regular or special, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act, this Declaration and the By-Laws. Liability for 
assessments and charges may not be avoided by waiver of the use or enjoyment of any common 
element or by abandonment of the unit for which the assessments or charges are made. 

A A unit owner shall be liable for all assessments, or installments thereof, coming due 
while owning a unit, including any assessments coming due during the pendency of 
any claim by the unit owner against the Association or during any period in which the 
unit is not occupied by the unit owner or is leased or rented to any other person. In 
a voluntary grant, the grantee shall be jointly and severally liable with the grantor for 
all unpaid assessments against the grantor for his or her share of the common 
expenses up to the time of the voluntary grant for which a statement of condominium 
lien is recorded, without prejudice to the rights of the grantee to recover from the 
grantor the amounts paid by the grantee for such assessments. Liability for 
assessments may not be avoided by waiver of the use or enjoyment of any common 

element or by abandonment of the unit for which assessments are made. 

B Any grantee of a unit is entitled to a statement from the Association or the executive 
board setting forth the amount ofunpaid assessments against the grantor. The grantee 
is not liable for, nor shall the unit conveyed be subject to a lien that is not filed 
pursuant to Section 7 .12 hereof for, any unpaid assessment against the grantor in 
excess of the amount set forth in the statement. If the Association or a board of 
directors does not provide such statement within 1 O business days after grantee's 

2-7 

Page 209 of 246



request, they are barred from claiming under any lien that is not filed under Section 
7 .12 hereof prior to the request for the statement against the grantee 

Section 7.12 ~ Lien for Assessments. All assessments, regular or special, and special 
assessments for common expenses and charges, fines or assessments against specific units or unit 
owners for damages to the condominium or for penalties for violations of the declaration, bylaws or 
Association rules, together with interest thereon and actual costs of collection, constitute a lien upon 
such unit and upon the allocated interest in the common elements appurtenant thereto, in favor of the 
Association, provided that a statement of lien is filed within 2 years after the date on which the 
assessment becomes due. The Uen is effective against the unit at the time the assessment becomes due 
regardless of when within the 2~year period it is filed. A statement of condominium lien signed and 
verified by a director of the Association is filed in the land records in the office of the CJ erk of Circuit 
Court of Oz a uke e· County and shall contain the legal description of the unit, the name of the record 
owner thereof, the amount of assessment due and the period for which the assessment was due. When 
applicable, the Association make take foreclosure action. Upon full payment of an assessment for 

which the lien is claimed, the unit owner shall be entitled to a fileable satisfaction of the lien .. 

Sectíon 7.13 ª Priority of Lien. A lien under this section is prior to all liens except: 

A liens of general and special taxes; 

B liens of a first mortgage recorded prior to the making of the assessment; 

C construction liens filed prior to the making of the assessment; and 

D all sums unpaid on any veteran secondary mortgage loan made under Section 45.80, 
Stats. 

All other liens created after the date of the recording of this Declaration shall be inferior in 
priority to liens of the Association for any assessment, whether or not so specifically set forth in the 
instruments creating such liens. 

Seedon 7 .JA!. - Enfereemeet o:li Líen. A lien may be enforced and foreclosed by the 
Association in the same manner and subject to the same requirements as a foreclosure of mortgages 
on real property. An action to foreclose the lien must be initiated within three (3) years following the 
recording of the statement of condominium lien; provided, however, that no action may be brought 
except after ten (I O) days prior written notice to the unit owner given by registered mail, return receipt 
requested, to the address of the unît owner shown on the books of the Association. The Association 
may recover costs and actual attorney fees and may bring suit for any deficiency following foreclosure 
in the same proceeding. 

Seedon 7 .15 Q A<lldiiti01rna! Remedíes. Any assessment or installment thereof not paid within 
1 O days after the due date shall accrue interest from the due date at a rate which is two percent (2%) 
higher than the rate prescribed by the Wisconsin Statutes to be collected upon the execution of a 
judgment. In lieu of charging such interest, the Association Board of Directors may, from time to 
time, fix a reasonable late payment fee for each month, or fraction thereof, that such assessment is not 
paid. All payments on account shall be :first applied to the interest or late charge, if any, and then to 
the assessment payment first due. The Association may bring an action at law against the unit owner 
obligated to pay the assessment or may foreclose the lien against the unit. The filing of a suit to 
recover a money judgment for unpaid assessments hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver of 
the Association's lien foreclosure rights. 

2-8 

Page 210 of 246



Section 7.16-Assessments Against Declaran t. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Article, the Declarant, as a unit owner, shall not be liable for any annual or special assessment under 

this Article as to any unit which is not occupied, leased or sold by the Declarant except for the 

payment of a standby charge sufficient to cover the costs of Association insurance attributable to such 

unit plus $10.00 per month, until such unit has been sold or leased. Such standby charge shall accrue 

as to each such unit from the date of the issuance of the occupancy permit for the unit. 

ARTICLES 

COVENANTS ON USE AND OCCUPANCY 

Section 8.1 - Use of Premises. This condominium is designed and intended to meet the 
special housing needs of older persons in accordance with the Wisconsin Fair Housing Act as 
amended, Section 101.22, et seq. of the Wisconsin Statutes. At least 80% of all units within the 
condominium shall be occupied and used exclusively for single-family residential purposes by at least 
one person 55 years of age or older per dwelling unit. During the period in which initial sales of units 
by the Declarant are in progress and for a period of one year after all units are sold, the Declarant may 

maintain model units within the condominium and may occupy or grant permission to any person with 
or without rental, as determined by the Déclarant, to occupy the same for business or promotional 
purposes, including clerical activities, sales offices and model units for display, provided such 
activities do not unreasonably interfere with the quiet enjoyment of any other unit owners or unit 
occupants. 

Sectíon 8.2 - Constraetíen Activities. During the initial period of construction of the 
building and facilities of the condominium, the Declarant, his contractors and subcontractors and their 
respective agents and employees, shall be entitled to access to said building and all common elements 
of the condominium as may be required in connection with such construction. 

Section 8.3 = Prohíbíted Activ.fitñes and Sígns. No industry, business, trade, occupation or 
profession of any kind, whether commercial, religious, educational or otherwise, whether designed 
for profit, altruism, exploration or otherwise, shall be conducted, maintained or permitted on any part 
of the condominium; nor, except with the consent of the Association, shall any "For Sale" or "For 
Rent" signs or other window displays or advertising be maintained or permitted by any owner on any 
part of the condominium. The right is reserved by the Declarant to place "For Sale" or "For Rent" 
signs on any unsold or unoccupied unit, and to place such other signs on the property as may be 
required to facilitate the initial sale of unsold units. The Association may grant written permission 
to place a "For Sale" sign in a window or on a front lawn of a unit. If there are too many requests 
during the same time period, the Association may arrange alternating sign usage so each owner gets 
to display a sign for one or two weeks each month, in order to help maintain property values. 

Section 8.4 ~ Use of Common Elemmemnts. Each unit owner shall have the right to use the 
common elements and facilities in common with all other unit owners for the purposes of access to, 
use, occupancy and enjoyment of his or her unit and the common elements, which right shall extend 
to the unit owner and the unit owner's family, invitees and tenants. Such use shall, however, be 
subject to and be governed by the Act, this Declaration, the By-Laws and the Association rules and 
regulations, to the end that the condominium may be kept in an attractive condition consistent with 
an attractive residential complex. Specifically, there shall be no obstruction of, nor shall anything be 
kept or stored on any part of the common elements and facilities without the prior written agreement 
of the Association. Nothing shall be altered on, constructed in or removed from the common elements 
and facilities except upon the prior written agreement of the Association. 

Section 8.§ - Occupancy Restríctíons. No more than four (4) persons may reside in or 

occupy any unit within the condominium. 

Page 211 of 246



Section 8.6 - Pets and Animals. No pets, animals, livestock or poultry of any kind shall be 
raised, bred or kept in any unit or in or on the common areas except such household pets as may be 
kept in units in strict compliance with Association rules and regulations. 

Section 8. 7 - Motor Vehicles. The owners, lessees or occupants of any unit, jointly or 
severally, shall not keep more than one motor vehicle for each vehicle space in their unit's garage 
( excluding motorcycles) on the condominium, and vehicles shall be parked only in garage. Therefore 
only one vehicle permitted if one-vehicle garage and two vehicles permitted if two-vehicle garage. 

Except for the vehicles of guests of unit owners or lessees, and except as provided in Section 8.8 
hereof, the parking of al1 other vehicles of any kind on the condominium is prohibited. All motor 
vehicles must be licensed and operable. · 

Seetlen 8.8- Cemmercíaland Recreation Vehicles. No person shall use any of the common 
elements of the condominium for the parking, storage or operation of motor homes, campers, trucks 
over one-ton capacity, Snowmobiles, motorized bikes or other commercial or recreation-type vehicles, 
except as permitted by the Association rules and regulations. 

Section 8.9 ø Nlll!isances. Unlawful, immoral, noxious or offensive activity shall not be carried 
on in any unit or in the common elements, nor shall anything be done therein or thereon, either 
willfully or negligently, which may be or become, in the judgment of the Association, an annoyance 
or nuisance to the other unit owners or unit occupants. 

Sectlon 8.10 " Insurance and S2foty Hazards. No owner or occupant shall, within his or 
her unit or anywhere on the condominium property store, collect, permit or use any material or product 
which will increase the rate of insurance or result in cancellation of insurance or create a safety 
hazard. 

Section 8.U. - Roof mull Attic Struetares, No owner or occupant shall place upon the roof 
or in the attic of a building any antenna, tower, solar collector or other similar device except as 
permitted in the rules and regulations governing the condominium. 

Section 8.12 M Leasing of Units. The Déclarant may lease units which it owns upon such 
terms and conditions as it determines. After a unit has been sold by the Déclarant, the unit owner may 
not thereafter lease the unit for a tenn of less than one month. The owner of a leased unit shall notify 
the Association of the tenant's name and telephone number and within five days of the owner entering 
into or renewing a lease agreement, the unit owner shall provide a copy of the agreement to the 
association. Additionally, before the tenant takes occupancy, the unit owners shall provide a copy of 
the Declaration, By-Laws and Rules to the tenant. The owner shall provide the Association a receipt 
signed by the tenant acknowledging receipt of the Declaration, By-Laws and Rules. 

Section 8.13 A Uneeenpíed Uniits. If the occupant of a unit, whether the owner or a tenant, 
intends to leave such unit unoccupied for a period of more than one month, the occupant shall notify 
the Association prior thereto of the occupant's forwarding address and of a telephone number where 

the occupant can be reached. 

ARTICLE9 
RElv.lŒIDJDES FOR JBRIEACH OF COVENANTS, 

RE§TIUCTJIONS AND REGULATl£0N§ 

Section 9.1 ~ Compllaaee Required. Every unit owner, tenant and occupant shall comply 
strictly with every rule, restriction, condition or regulation adopted by the Association under the By- 

2 -10 

,r" 
I 

Page 212 of 246



Laws, and with the covenants, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Act, this Declaration, the By- 
,,..-. ~, Laws or in the deed to the unit. 

) 
Section 9.2 - Emergency Entry for Abatement. The Association shall have the right, in 

cases of emergency affecting the health or safety of other occupants or affecting the safety of the 

buildings or any other unit, to enter any unit for the purpose of abating the breach of rule, regulation, 
restriction, covenant or condition which causes such emergency. Damages arising from such entry 
shall be the responsibility of the owner of the unit entered. 

Section 9.3-LegaD Remedies. Failure to comply with any of the By-Laws, rules, covenants, 
conditions or restrictions is grounds for action to recover sums due, for damages or injunctive relief, 
or both: maintainable by the Association or, in a proper case, by an aggrieved unit owner. 

~) 

ARTICLE 1@ 
INSURANCE 

Section 10.1- Insuranee by Assocfatiion. The Association shall obtain and continue in effect 
policies of insurance providing coverage for the condominium property [as defined in §703.02(14) of 
the Act] against loss or damage by fire or other hazard and against liability claims. The amount of 
protection and the types of hazards to be covered shall be reviewed and determined at least annually 
by the Board of Directors. In making its determination of coverage, the Board of Directors need not 
be restricted by the classifications established in Articles fil and N of this Declaration with regard 
to Association policy coverage. The insurance provided by the Association shall be without prejudice 
to the right of each unit owner to insure his or her own unit for personal benefit provided, however, 
that no owner shall be entitled to exercise his or her right to maintain individual unit insurance in such 
a way as to decrease the amount which may be realized under any Association insurance policy. 

Seetíea 10.2 -Assessm.el!Ilt ofJPirem.ñum.s. Premiums for policies of insurance obtained by 
the Association shall be common expenses assessable to the unit owners in accordance with the 
percentage of interest established by Section 4.2 of this Declaration. The cost of insurance is included 
in the annual Association budget and is, therefore, part of the annual assessment established pursuant 
to Section 7.5 of this Declaration which is payable on a monthly basis. 

Section 10.3 ~ Coverage. The Association shall provide the following types of insurance 

coverage: 

A Property Insurance. The Association shall be the named insured individually and 
as trustee for each of the unit owners and their mortgagees as their interests may 
appear in the percentages established by Section 4.2 of this Declaration. All 
condominium property shall be insured for not less than full replacement value. Such 
insurance shall provide protection against loss or damage by fire and other hazards 
covered by a standard special coverage (all risk) endorsement. To the extent possible, 
such insurance shall provide that the insurer waives its rights of subrogation as to any 
claim against unit owners, the Association and their respective servants, agents and 
guests, and that the insurance cannot be canceled, invalidated nor suspended on 
account of conduct of any one or more unit owners or the Association or their 
servants, agents and guests without thirty (30) days prior written notice to the 

Association giving it an opportunity to cure the defect within that time. 

B Lfabifü;y Jnsurance, Public liability and officers and directors liability insurance 
shall be provided covering all claims customarily insured against with respect to the 
common elements and facilities and the Association's management thereof. 

2 - 11 

Page 213 of 246



e Workers Compensation. Workers compensation insurance shall be provided bythe 
Association to the extent necessary to comply with applicable state law. 

Other Inslllrance. The Board of Directors may provide such other insurance as it 
determines is necessary or desirable. 

,.,.- 
{ 

D 

Sectíon 10.4- Use of Proceeds. Insurance proceeds shall first be disbursed by the Association 
as trustee for the repair or restoration of the damaged common elements. The unit owners and their 
mortgagee shall not be entitled to receive payment of any portion of the insurance proceeds unless the 
Association has determined not to rebuild or a court has ordered partition of the condominium 
property or there is a surplus of insurance proceeds after the common elements have been completely 
repaired or restored. 

Section 10.5 - Insurance by Unit Owners, 

A Unit Owners shall be responsible for providing policies of insurance covering their 
respective units and the following items: 

(1) The personal contents of the resident which are not attached to the unit 
and/or are stored elsewhere in the condominium. This includes, but is not 
limited to, wall hangings, furnishings. clothing, collectibles, vehicles and 
unattached flooring, appliances and other personal items. 

(2) The public liability coverage to the extent not insured by the liability 
insurance carried by the Association for all of unit owners pursuant to 
Section 10.3 hereof. 

(3) Additions and improvements to owner unit that have increased value beyond 
the amount of the Association policy coverage on each individual unit 
structure, which is an optional "Loss Assessment" endorsement. 

( 4) The deductible portion of the Association Insurance Policy that applies to 
"unit fixtures" as described in Section 3.4, will be paid by the owner(s) of the 
unit(s) having damage. Therefore, condominium owners should consider 
having their unit policy include payment of the Association Insurance 
deductible on "unit fixtures". It may be standard coverage or covered under 
"Loss Assessment" endorsement which is extra coverage. If the loss is less 
than the deductible, no claim will be filed on the Association Policy and as 
a result, owner(s) of unit(s) having damage will either pay the contractor(s) 
or the Association for repairs made. 

B The Association shall be responsible for all other insurance covering the 
condominium property including "unit fixtures" as described in Section 3.4 hereof. 

Seetlon :L0.6 ª LñmitatioIDl oBll. Líabílíty, No unit owner or his mortgagee shall have any claim 
against any other unit owner, the Association, its officers or directors, the Déclarant, the manager or 
managing agent of the condominium or their respective employees and agents for damage to the 
common elements, the units or to any personal property located in the units or common elements 
caused by fire or other casualty to the extent that such damage is covered by fire and other forms of 

casualty insurance. 

2-12 

Page 214 of 246



ARTICLE U 

RECONSTRUCTION 

Seetlen U.1 ~ Determínatíon. Partial damage or total destruction of any part of the common 
elements shall be repaired and rebuilt as soon as practicable and substantially to the same design, plan 
and specifications as originally built, except that if the cost of repair or reconstruction would exceed 
the amount of available insurance proceeds, the Association may, by written consent of at least 

seventy-five percent (75%) of the unit owners and their mortgagees and within ninety (90) days of the 
date of the damage or destruction, determine not to rebuild or repair. In such event, the property shall 
be subject to an action for partition pursuant to the Act. 

Section 11.2 - Variances. On reconstruction, the design, plan and specifications of any 
building or unit may vary from that of the original upon approval of the Association, provided, 
however, that the number of square feet of any unit may not vary by more than five percent (5%) from 
the number of square feet for such unit as originally constructed, and the location of the buildings shall 
be substantially the same as prior to damage or destruction. 

Section 11..3 - Financing. The proceeds of any insurance provided by the Association and 
collected for such damage or destruction shall, as provided in Article X of this Declaration, be 
available to the Association for the purpose of repair or reconstruction. The Association shall have 
the right to levy assessments as a common expense against all unit owners in the event that the 
proceeds of any insurance collected are insufficient to pay the estimated or actual costs of repair or 
reconstruction. 

ARTICLE ll2 

.ASSOCIATION OF UNIT OWNERS 

Section 12.1 - Legal Emrfüy. The affairs of this condominium shal1 be governed by an 
incorporated association of unit owners that even if unincorporated, is constituted a legal entity for 
all purposes. Except for matters reserved to the Association members or units owners under the Act, 
the declaration or the by-laws, all policy and operational decisions of the Association, including 
interpretation of the condominium instruments, by-laws, rules and other documents relating to the 
condominium or the Association, shall be made by its board of directors. This subsection does not 
affect deference to, or the standard review of, an action of the board of directors by a court. The 
Associationshallbeknownas;' Cedarburg Trail ·OW-ners, Association,Inc.(herein 
the "Association"). 

Seetlon Jl.2.2 ~ Memberslhlnp and Vofün.g IDglllts. The record owner(s) ofeach unit, which may 
be the Declarant, shall automatically be members of the Association. Membership in the Association 
is appurtenant to and shall not be separated from ownership of the condominium unit. At meetings 
of the Association every unit owner is entitled to cast the number of votes appurtenant to his or her 
unit as established in the declaration under the Act. There can be no split vote. Unit owners may vote 
by proxy, but the proxy is effective only for a maximum period of 180 days following its issuance, 
unless granted to a mortgagee or lessee. If only one of multiple owners of a unit is present at a 
meeting of the Association, the owner is entitled to cast the votes allocated to that unit, but in no event 
shall more than one vote be case with respect to any unit. 

Seetlon 12.3 ~ Powers of the Assoeíatlon. The Association may take any action authorized 
by the Act, this Declaration, the Association's By-Laws or any rules and regulations of the Association 
and shaU have the authority and power to: 

A adopt budgets for revenues, expenditures and reserves and to levy and collect 
assessments for common expenses from the unit owners; 

Page 215 of 246



A The Association shall maintain a current roster of names and addresses of every unit 
owner to which notice of the meetings of the Association shall be sent. ,-« 

I 

B Every unit owner shall furnish the Association with his or her name and current 
mailing address and no unit owner may vote at a meeting of the Association until this 
information is furnished. 

C No regular or special meeting of the Association may be held except on at least ten 
( 1 O) days written notice delivered or mailed to every unit owner at the address shown 
on the roster or unless waivers are duly executed by all unit owners. 

Section 12.5 ~ Decâarant Control. The Declarant, or persons designated by the Declarant, 
may appoint and remove the officers of the Association and exercise the powers and responsibilities 
otherwise assigned by the Act, this Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or the Bya Laws to the 
Association or to its officers for a period ending ten (1 O) years after the date that the ñrst 
condominium unit is conveyed by the Déclarant to any person other than the Declarant, or thirty (30) 
days after the conveyance of 75% of the common element interests to purchasers, whichever shall first 
occur, such percentage being subject to redetermination in the event the condominium is expanded 
pursuant to Article 14 of this Declaration. During the period offïeclarant control, the Declarant may 
lease units to non-owner occupants. These leased units may be to persons above or below the age of 
55 and the 20% threshold will not apply during the period ofDeclarant control. This provision is 
subject to limitations respecting the election of Association directors as contained in the Act and set 
forth in the By-Laws. During the period ofDeclarant control of the Association under the Act, if any 
unit owned by the Declarant is exempt from assessments for common expenses until the unit is sold, 
the total amount assessed against units that are not exempt from assessments may not exceed the 
amount that equals nonexempt units' budgeted share of common expenses, based on the anticipated 
common expenses set forth in the annual budget under the Act. The Déclarant is liable for the balance 
of the actual common expenses. During the period of'Declarant control under the Act, the Declarant 
.is responsible for creating and maintaining the financial and operational records of the Association 
and shall turn the records over to the directors elected under the Act. During the period of Declarant 
control under the Act and for one year thereafter, upon written request to the Association by the lesser 
of three unit owners or the owners of 10% of the units, not including units owned by the Declaration, 
the Association shall arrange for an independent audit of its financial records at the Association's 
expense. The cost of any audit requested within 36 months after the completion of a previous audit 
shall be paid for by the requesting unit owners. 

Seeñon 12.6- Júmcllemnnity of Assoeíatíon. The Association and its officers and directors shall 
not be liable to the unit owners for any mistakes of judgment or any acts or omissions made in good 
faith as such directors or officers. The unit owners shall indemnify and hold harmless each of such 
directors and officers against all contractual liability to others arising out of contracts made by such 
directors and officers on behalf of the unit owners or the Association, unless any such contract shall 
have been made in bad faith or contrary to the provisions of this Declaration. Such directors and 
officers shall have no personal liability with respect to any contract made by them on behalf of the unit 
owners or the Association. The liability of any unit owner arising out of any contract made by such 
directors or officers or out of the aforesaid indemnity shall be limited to the percentage interest 
established by Section 4.2 of this Declaration, such percentage being subject to redetermination in the 
event the condominium is expanded pursuant to Article 14 of this Declaration. This provision is 
subject to limitations respecting the election of Association directors as contained in the Act and set 
forth in the By-Laws. Each agreement made by such directors or officers or by the managing agent 
on behalf of the unit owners or the Association shall be executed by such directors or officers or the 
managing agent, as the case may be, as agents for the unit owners or for the Association. 

2 -15 

Page 216 of 246



ARTICLE13 
EASEMENTS AND ENCROACHMENTS 

Section 13.1 p Utility Repair Easements. Easements are hereby declared and granted for 
utility repair purposes, including the right to install, lay, maintain, repair and replace water mains, 
laterals and pipes, sanitary sewer mains, laterals and pipes, gas mains, storm sewers, telephone wires 
and equipment, cable television lines, electrical conduits and wires and equipment over, under, along, 
through and on any part of the common elements. These easements shall run only to the Déclarant 
and Association and not to any utility company unless specifically conveyed or granted by the 
Deolarant or the Association. 

Section 13.2 .. Easements to Rna With the Land. All interests and rights described and set 
forth in this Declaration are easements appurtenant to, and running with the land, perpetually in full 
force and effect and shall at all times inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Déclarant, his 
successors and assigns, and upon any unit owner, purchaser, mortgagee or other person or entity 
having an interest in said land or any part or parcel thereof. 

Seetlen Jt.3.3 ~ Encroaelnmmelll!ts. In the event that, by reason of the construction, settling or 
shifting of any building, any part of the common elements encroaches or shall hereafter encroach upon 
any part of any unit, or any part of any unit encroaches or shall hereafter encroach upon any part of 
the common elements or upon another unit, valid easements for the maintenance of such 
encroachments and for the use of such adjoining space are hereby established and shall exist for the 
benefit of such unit owners and the common elements as the case may be, so long as all or any part 
of the building containing such unit shall remain standing; provided, however, that in no event shall 
a valid easement for any encroachment be created in favor of the owner of any unit or in favor of the 
owners of the common elements if such encroachment occurred due to the willful conduct of such 
owner or owners. The provisions contained in this paragraph relating to such easements shall apply 
only insofar as it may be necessary to carry out the tenns and intent of the Declaration. 

-·---- w_.._.~,----·---- ...,.... _, ---- 

ARTICLE ll. 4 
SPECIAL ADMINIS'I'RATIVE PROVISJ[ONS 

Sectiol!ll 14,Jl. ~ Tral!llsfell" Fee to Assocñ:m'!tlollll. Every grantee of a unit, other than a grantee of 
the Déclarant, shall, within I O days of the purchase of a unit, pay to the Association a transfer 
administration fee (in the amount determined from time to time by the Association Board of Directors) 
to defray the record keeping costs incurred by the Association in connection with such transfer. 
Initially the fee shall be $50 per transfer. 

Seetíon 142 ~ Decfamnnt's Jlliglln1t of JFiiil'st!: Refäsat During the period of'Declarant control, 
as set forth in Section 12.5 of this Declaration, the Déclarant shall have a right of first refusal with 
respect to the purchase of any unit being sold by the owner thereof to any person other than a spouse, 
parent or child of the owner. Such right of first refusal shall, if not exercised by Déclarant, 
automatically expire at 5 :00 P.M. on the tenth calendar day following receipt by th-e Declarant of a 
copy of the unit owners executed contract for sale. Declarant's exercise of the right of fäst refusal 
requires Declarant to purchase the unit for the same price and upon the same tenns and conditions set 
forth in the selling unit owners contract for sale. 

\ 
J 

2 - 16 

Page 217 of 246



ARTICLEl 5 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 15,1 - Notice to Mortgage Lendors. Upon written request to the Association, the 

holder of any duly recorded mortgage or other interest in any unit shall be given a copy of any and all 

notices permitted or required by this Declaration to be given to the unit owner whose unit is subject 

to such mortgage or interest. 

Section 15;,2 - Service of Notices on Devisées and Personal Representatives. Notices 

required or desired to be given to any devisee or personal representatives of a deceased unit owner 

may be delivered either personally or by mail to such party at his or its address appearing in the 
records of the Court wherein the estate of such deceased unit owner is being administered. 

Section ]S .3 ª Covenants to Run Wit]!¡¡ Land. Each grantee (purchaser of a unit) of the 
Déclarant, and each subsequent purchaser, by the acceptance of a deed or contract of conveyance, 
accepts the same subject to all restrictions, conditions, covenants, reservations, liens and charges, and 
to the jurisdiction, rights, benefits and privileges of every character hereby granted, created, reserved 
or declared; and all impositions and obligations hereby imposed shall be deemed and taken to be 
covenants running with the land and shall bind any person interest or estate in said land or any unit 
thereon, benefit of such unit owner in like manner as though Declaration were recited and stipulated 
at length in conveyance or instrument of title. 

Section Jl.5.4- Nomi-Waiver of Provisfo.lllls. No covenant, restriction, condition, obligation or 
provision contained in this Declaration shall be deemed to have been abrogated or waived by reason 
of any failure to enforce the same, irrespective of the number of violations or breaches which may 
occur or any time lapse. 

Section 15.5 - Waiver of Damages. Neither the Déclarant nor his agents, representatives or 
employees shall be liable for any claim whatsoever arising out of or by reason of any actions 
performed pursuant to any authority reserved, granted or delegated to the Déclarant pursuant to this 
Declaration, or in the Declarant's capacity as developer, owner, manager or seller of the condominium, 
whether such claim (i) shall be asserted by any unit owner

1 
unit occupant, unit mortgagee, the 

Association or by any person or entity claiming through any 9fthem; or (ii) shall be on account of 
injury to person or damage to or loss of property wherever locrted and however caused. 

, 
I 

Section 15.6 - Mortgaging Units and Rea! Estate Tf©S, In accordance with the Act each 
unit owner has the right to mortgage or encumber his or her unit and the percentage interest in 

common elements appurtenant to that unit. Further, in accordf' ce with the Act> each unit, together 
with its percentage interest in the common elements, is subject o property tax assessments and taxes 

in the same manner asany other parcel of real estate. 

Sectíon 15.7 - AmeIDl.«l!men11: of Deelaratlon, This D~claration may be amended with the 
written consent of at least% of the aggregate of the votes establi~hed in Section 4.2 of the Declaration, 
except with respect to power and rights to amend reserved to the Declarant under Section 14 of this 
Declaration, provided, however, that no provision of this Declaration may be changed, modified or 
rescinded so as to conflict with the provisions of the Act. A unit owner's written consent is not 
effective unless it is approved by the mortgagee of the unit, if tiny. Amendments become effective 
when recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds of Wash\ngton County, Wisconsin. 

¡ 
¡ 

Section Ui.8 A Gender and Number. The use of the [nasculíne gender in this Declaration 
shall be deemed to refer to the feminine or neuter gender and the use of the singular shall be deemed 
to refer to the plural and vice versa, whenever the context so requires. 

2 - 17 

Page 218 of 246



Section 15.9- Severabmty. The invalidity of any covenant, restriction, condition, limitation 

~ or any other provision of this Declaration or any part of the sane, shall not impair or affect in any 
; manner the validity, enforceability or effect of the remainder ofthís Declaration. 

Section 15.1 O - Service of Process. At the time of the adoption of this Declaration, the 
registered agent for service of process under the Act shall be Greg James, 318 North Lake Road- No. 

101, Oconomowoc, Wisconsin 53066. 

TN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Déclarant, has executed this Declaration on the_ 
~ w : 

-------···- ----- _____ '1 __ ,. ----- ...... - ... - ., ...... - ..... - 

CONDO DEVELOPMENT, INCø 

Greg A. Jarnes, President 

Karen Eº James, Secretary 

-~ 

) STATE OF WISCONSIN 

COUNTY OF ------ 

Personally came before me this day of u 20 
the above named Greg A~ James and Karen E~ Jarnes1 to me 
known to be the persans who executed the foregoing instru 
ment and acknowledged the same. 

í 

Notary Public, 
print or type name 

-~~-~~-CovWis 

Commission Expires -------- 

\ 

~) 

2-18 

Page 219 of 246



,- 
1 

Page 220 of 246



ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 
OF 

CEDARBURG TRAIL CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INCº 

The undersigned natural person more than eighteen (18) years 
of age, for the purpose of organizing a corporation under the 
provisions and subject to the requirements of Chapter 181 of 
Wisconsin Statutes, known as "Wisconsin Non-Stock Corpmrntion 
Law", does sign and acknowledge Articles ôf··-rncorporation as 
Cedarburg Trail f~llows: 

ARTICLE 1º NAMEº The name of the corporation is-.èedarburg 
0

• Trail - · Condominium Owners Aasoc í ation, rnc, 

AR~ICLE 2º EXISTENCEº The period of existence shall be perpetualº 
AR~ICLE 3. PURPOSES~ The corporation is organized to runu oper 
ate, administer, cont.ro.l.vand manage the affairs of the condomin 
ium unit owners including but not limited to adopting budgets for 
revenues, expenditures and reserves and to levy and collect assess 
ments for common expenses from the unit owners; employ and dismiss 
employees and agents; sue on behalf of the unit owners; enter into 
contracts and incur liabilities; cause improvements to be made as 
a part of the common elements; grant easements through or over the 
common elements; grant or withhold approval of any action by a unit 
owner to change the exterior appearance of any condominium build 
ing: obtain and pay for the services of any person or entity to man 
age its affairs; obtain and pay for legal, accounting and such other 
services necessary or desirable in connection with the operation and 
administration of the condominium; acquire and hold for the use and 

· benefit of all the unit owners tangible and intangible personal pro 
perty and real property and dispose of the-same; establish reason= 
able rules and regulations governing the use of the units and the 
common elements; contract for garbage and trash collection, snow and 
ice removal, lawn and landscaping care, common area maintenance and 
other common services; and exercise all other powers set forth in 
Declaration of Condominium, Condominium Ownership Act of the State 
of Wisconsin, and By-Laws for the purposes of managing, operating 
and running the Condominium. 

I , 

ARTICLE 4º MEMBERSº The corporation shall have members. 

ARTICLE 5º MEMBERSHIP CLASSIFICATIONº The corporation shall have one 
class of membersº Each owner of a unit in :Cedârbúrg Trail , A 

Condominium, including the Declarant, shall be a member of the corp- 
oration. Only owners of units in Cedarbúrg Tæail , A Condomin- 
ium shall be members of the corporationº 
ARTICLE 6. DIRECTORSº The directors of the corporation shall be 
elected by majority vote of the members of the corporation at the 
annual meeting unless a different method of election is set forth 
in the Bylaws. 

ARTICLE 7. REGISTERED AGENT. The name of the initial registered -, 
agent of the corporation is Greg A. James. 

ARTICBE 8. ADDRESS. The initial registered address of the corpora 
tion is 318 North Lake Road - No 101, Oconomowoc, WI 53066. 

3-1 

Page 221 of 246



ARTICLE 9p.tOCATION OF PRINCIPAL OFFICE. The mailing address and 
county of the principal office of the corporation is 318 North 
Lake Road-No.11@1, Oconomowoc, Wäukesha County, WI 53066. /r 

ARTICLE 100 NUMBER OF DIRECTORS. The initial number of directors 
shall be three. The manner of election of the directors will be 
fixed by the by-laws of the corporation. T~è number of directors 
may be amended by an amendment to these Articles or as further 
provided for in the by-laws provided the number of directors sball 
not be less than the minimum required number of directors as set 
forth in Chapter 181, Wisconsin Statutesº 
ARTICLE 11. NAMES AND ADDRESSES OF INITIAL DIRECTORS. The names 
and addresses of the initial boarq of pirectors of the corporation 
are: Greg A. James 318 N. LaMe Rdi. #101, Oconomowoc, WI 53066 

Brian H. James 318 Nº Lake Rd1
• #101, Oconomowoc, WI 53066 

Bradley Hº James318 N. Lake Rd. #101, Oconomowoc;-WI 53066 
ARTICLE 12. RECORDS. The corporation shall keep records that show 
and reflect each rnemberis rights and interests in any funds which 
the corporation retainsº 
ARTICLE 13º LIQUIDATION. Upon the liquidation and/or dissolution of 
the corporation, the remaining property and assets shall be dis 
tributed to all who are mernbe:œof the corporation at the time of 
the liquidation and/or dissolution; based upon their membership 
interest. 
ARTICLE 14. AMENDMENTº These Articles may be amended in the manner 
aúthorized by law at the time of amendment.i 
ARTICLE 15. INCORP9RATORº The name and address of the incorporator 
is Greg Aº James and his address is 318 North Lake Road-Noº 101, 
Oconomowoc, WI 53066. 
EXECUTED in duplicate this day of , 20 

Greg A. James 

STATE OF WISCONSIN 
WASHINGTON COUNTY 

Personally came before me this day of , 20 v the 
above named Greg Aº James to me known to be the person who executed 
the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. 

print or type name --------- 
CO¡, WI ------ Notary Public, 

My ëommission expires 

3-2 

Page 222 of 246



BY-LAWS 

CEDARBURG TRAIL CONDOMKNRJM OWNERS' ASSOCIATION 
_,, ... -~· =--,. - 

ARTICLE 1 •................................................................ 4-1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 4- 1 

Seetícn 1.1 - Incorporated Association , . 4- 1 
Section 1.2 - Mailing Address , . . . . . . . 4- 1 
Section 1.3 - Deelarant Control 4- 1 
Section 1.4 - Fiscal Y ear . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 1 
Section 1.5 - Conflicts 4- l 

Section 1.6 - General Corporate Law . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 1 

Section 1.7 -Acquiring and Conveying Property , 4-1 

Section 1.8 d Borrowing Money . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 1 

Seetíon 1.9 - Corporate Seal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 1 

ARTICLE 2. . 4- I 
ASSOCIATION MEMRERSJEll1P 4- 1 

Seetíon .2.1 - Roster of Unit Owners 4- 1 
Section 2.2 - Representation of Multiple Owners and of Entities . . . . . . . . 4- 2 
Section 2.3- Certificate of Membership . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 2 

ARTICLE 3. . 4- 2 
ASSOCIATION MEETINGS 4- 2 

Section 3.1 - Initial Meetings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 2 
Section 3.2 - Annnud Meetings ; . . 4- 2 
Section 3.3 - Special Meetings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 2 

Section 3.4 - Place of Meeting . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 2 
Section 3.5 - Notice of Meefü1gs 4- 3 

Section 3.6 - Qlll!omm .........••..•..•........................... 4- 3 

Section 3.7 - Suspension of Voting R.iglhrlts 4- 3 

Section 3.8 - ProXÎ!es . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 3 
Section 3.9 - Coutroílæg Vote . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 3 

ARTICLE 4. . 4- 3 
ROA.RD OF Dil!.l!F.,CTOR§ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 3 

Section 4.1 - Number 4- 3 
Section 4.2 - Term of Office . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 3 
Section 4.3 - Removal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 4 
Section 4.4 - Compellllsatiollll . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 4 

Section 4.5-Nominatiol!R 4- 4 
Section 4.l!íi - Election . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 4 
Section 4.7 - Limñtatiom , 4- 4 

ARTICLE 5. . · · · ·.,., .. · · 4-4 
MEETIDTGS OF DIRECTORS , 4- 4 

Seetton 5.:H. - RegRlllar Meetings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 4 
Section 5.2 - Special Meetings 4- 4 

Section 5.3 - Quorum , , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 4 
Section 5.4 - Action Talken WJithomrt A Meetlng . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 4 

Section 5.5- Waive:r of Notice ofMeetihmg 4- 4 

i 

Page 223 of 246



ARTICLE 6. . 4- 5 
POWERS AND DUTIES OF TJBŒ BOARJI) OJF JDm.ECTORS 4- 5 

Section 6.1 - Generel ......•..................................... 4- 5 
Section 6,2 - Specified ....................................•. , . . . . 4· 5 

AR.TICLE 7. . , , ,, , , 4r;,i6 
OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES , .•... 4° 6 

Section 7.1 - Jlfämmeratio:rm of Officers , ...........................•. 4° 6 
Seeñen 7.2 - Eiootñmm of Officern . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . 4· 7 

Section 7.3"" Term , 4-7 
Seetlen 7 .4 .. Special Appointments .. . .. .. .. . . . . . • . . .. . . . . . . .. .. . . . 4- 7 
Section 7 .5 - Resignation ud Removal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 7 

Section 7.6 .. Vacanncies .•...............•........................ 4-- 7 
Sect.ion 7.7 ~ Munltip!e Offices •.................................... 4~ 7 
Section 7 D8 "" Duties ti 4=-- 7 

AR.TICLE 80 .... I I I I •• I • I •• I •• I' .. I ••• I I •• I •• I ••••• ' •••• I ' ••• I I • ,. • I ••••• " ••• 4- 8 
COI\WITI'E.ES il , • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 4- 8 

Section 8.1 ~ Genera» Committee , . . . . . .. . .. . 4~ 8 
Sectiollll 8.2 - Nomillllatillllg . . . . • • . • . . . . . . • • . . • • . • • . . • . • • • . • • • • • • • • • • 4- 8 

AR.TICLE 'ª ,, - 4- 8 
CO.l\.WON E.xPENSES ...•.........................................•.. 4- 8 

Sectfon 9.1-filmitrntûve Líst 4= 8 

Section 9.2 ª Typical Expenses . . . .. . . . .. .. .. . . .. . .. .. .. . . . . . .. . .. . 4- 8 

ARTICI,E 100 ' .. I •• I • ' • I I •••••• I I •• I • " • ' • ' •••• ' •• ' ••••• " D I •••• I I •• 4 .. 9 
A.MENDThaNTS 4- 9 

Seciti@n :rn.1 = Presentmeat . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4- 9 
Secfüm. ll.0.2 ª Vote Req'llllnired • . . . • . • . • . .. • . .. • . .. .. • . .. • . • . • • . .. .. • 4- 9 

ii 

Page 224 of 246



.... ..... --- 

BY-LAWS 

CONDOMINIUM OWNERS' ASSOCIATION 

ARTICLE l. 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

CEDARBURG TRAIL 

Section 1.1- Incorporated Association. The affairs of this condominium shall be governed 
by an incorporated association ofitsunits owners known as · bed'arburg Tra i 1 · Owners 
Association. ' 

Seetlon 1,2 - Mailing Address, The Association's initial mailing address shall be 318 North 

Lake Road-No. 101, Oconomowoc, Wisconsin 53066. 

Seetion 1.3 w Declarant Control. The affairs of the condominium and The Association shall 
be subject to control by the Declarant as set forth in Section 12.5 of the Declaration. 

Section 1.4- Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the first day of 
August and end on the 31st day of July of every year, except that the first fiscal year shall begin on 

the date of recording of the Declaration. 

Section 1.5 Q Conñíets. In case of any conflict between the Condominium Ownership Act 
(the Act) or the Declaration and these By-Laws, the Act or the Declaration, as the case may be, shall 

control. 

Seetíon 1.6- General Corporate Law. The requirements of general Wisconsin corporate 
law shall pertain to the organization and administration of the Association unless a clear contrary 

intent is evident from the Declaration of these By-Laws. 

Section 1.7 ~ AcqUJiiring and Collllveyfümg Property. 

(1) The Association may acquire and retain property in the name of the Association for 
and on behalf of all unit owners and may grant a mortgage on such property. In such 
event, assessments shall be made against all unit owners as part of the common 
expenses in order to provide the required mortgage payments. 

(2) Decisions respecting the acquisition or conveyance of Association property shall 
require the approval of sixty-seven percent (67%) of the unit owners. 

Section 1.8- Berrowíng Money. The Board of Directors or officers of the Association shall 
not borrow money on behalf of the Association unless authorized to do so by at least sixty-seven 
percent ( 67%) of the unit owners. Funds required for the repayment of borrowed money shall be part 

of the common expenses of the Association. 

Section 1.9 • Corporáate Seal. The Association shall have a corporate seal which shall be 

kept by the Secretary and affixed to all papers requiring the seal. 

ARTICLE 2. 

AS§OC:lf.AT:U:ON MEMBERSIDP 

J ----- Section 2,1 • Roster o:fUn:nit Owners, The Association shall maintain a current roster of the 
names and addresses of every unit owner to whom notice of meetings of the Association shall be sent. 

4-1 

Page 225 of 246



The roster shall also include the name and address of each mortgagee of a unit and the name and 
address of each person designated pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof. ,- 

Section 2.2-JRepresentati.on ofMlllltiple Owners and of Entities. When a unit has multiple 
owners, or such unit is owned by a partnership, corporation, trust, estate or other entity, then such 

owner(s) shall have the right to file a written designation with the Secretary specifying the person who 

shall represent the unit as the voting member in all meetings. Such written designation shall remain 
in effect and be binding upon such unit owner(s) until a written revocation by fue unit owner(s) is filed 
with the Secretary. If such written designation or a properly signed proxy has not been filed before 
any meeting, then the presiding officer at such meeting shall have the right to designate any person 
present representing the unit owner(s) as the voting member to cast the vote for such unit at such 
meeting and such designation shall be conclusive for that meeting. 

Section 2.3~ Certificate of l\'IemH>ersbip. The Board of Directors may adopt a membership 

certificate which the Secretary can issue to the person, persons or entity owning any unit, but such 
certificate shall not be transferable in any manner whatsoever and the existence or production of any 
such certificate for any unit shall not supersede or affect the validity of the membership roster of the 
Association. 

ARTICLE 3. 
ASSOCIATION MEETING§ 

Section 3.1- Jfrmiüal Meetñimgs. 

(1) Prior to the conveyance of twenty-five percent (25%) of the common element interest 
by the Déclarant to purchasers, the Association shall hold a meeting and unit owners, 
other than the Declarant, shall elect at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the 
Directors. Prior to the conveyance of fifty percent (50%) of the common element 
interest by the Déclarant to purchasers, the Association shall hold a meeting and the 
unit owners, other than the Declarant, shall elect at least thirty-three and one-third 
percent (33-1/3%) of the Directors. 

(2) The calculation of the percentage of common element interest conveyed by the 
Declarant to purchasers under (1) shall be determined by dividing the total number 
of units which have been conveyed by the total number of units declared in the 
Declaration. 

(3) Not later than forty-five (45) days after the expiration of the period of Declarant 
control, the Association shall hold a meeting and the unit owners shall elect all ofthe 
Directors of the Association. 

Seeñen 3.2 -Armmumal Meetimtgs. The first annual meeting of the Association shall be held on 
the third Wednesday of July, 20! Qat 7 :00 P.M. and each subsequent regular annual meeting shall be 
held on the same day of the same month of each year thereafter. 

Section 3.3 ø Special Mee'illll\gs. Special meetings of the Association may be called at any 
time by the President or by the Board of Directors, or upon written request of the unit owners who are 
entitled to vote one-fourth ('4) of all of the votes. ' 

Section 3.4 ~ Pface o:f Mee1hùmg. All meetings shall be held at the condominium or at such 
other place in Washington County, Wisconsin, as the Board of Directors may designate. 

4-2 

Page 226 of 246



~, 
) 

Section 3.5 - Notice of Meetings. No regular or special meeting of the Association may be 
held except on at least ten ( 1 O) days' written notice delivered or mailed to every unit owner at the 
address shown on the roster or unless waivers are duly executed by all unit owners. Such notice shall 
specify the place, day and hour of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose of 
the meeting. 

Section 3.6 - Quorum, The presence at an Association meeting of owners and proxies 
entitled to cast a majority of the Association votes shall constitute a quorum for any action except as 
otherwise provided in the Act, the Declaration.fhe Articles of-Incorporation-or-these By-Laws-If 
however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting, the members entitled to vote 
thereat shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than 
announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or be represented. 

Section 3.7 - Suspension ofVotilmg Rights. No unit owner may vote at a meeting of the 
Association until such owner shall furnish the Association with his or her name and current mailing 
address for the roster of unit owners. Further, a unit owner may not vote at a meeting of the 
Association if the Association has recorded a Statement of Condominium Lien on the owner's unit and 
the amount necessary to release the lien has not been paid at the time of the meeting. 

Section 3.8 ª Proxies. At all Association meetings owners may vote in person or by proxy. 
All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the Secretary not later than the day before the scheduled 
meeting. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease upon conveyance of a unit or 
upon the termination of an owner's interest therein. fu any event, a proxy is effective only for a 
maximum period of 180 days following its issuance unless it is granted to a mortgagee or lessee. 

Section 3.9 - Centrollíng Vote. Unless otherwise provided in the Act, the Declaration, or 
these By-Laws, decisions of the Association shall be made on a majority of votes of the unit owners 
present and voting. 

ARTICLE 4. 
BOARD OF DmECTORS 

Section 4.1-NIDlmber. The affairs of this Association shall be managed by a Board of three 
(3) or more Directors as determined by the annual meeting of the Association 

Seeûon 4.2 ~ Term of Office. 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

Prior to the conveyance of twenty-five percent (25%) of the common element interest 
by the Déclarant to purchasers, the Association shall hold a meeting and unit owners, 
other than the Declarant, shall elect at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the 
Directors. Prior to the conveyance of fifty percent ( 5 0%) of the common element 
interest by the Declarant to purchasers, the Association shall hold a meeting and the 
unit owners, other than the Declarant, shall elect at least thirty-three and one-third 

percent (33-V3%) of the Directors. 

The calculation of the percentage of common element interest conveyed by the 
Declarant to purchasers under (1) shall be determined by dividing the total number of 
units which have been conveyed by the total number of units declared in the 

Declaration. 

Not later than forty-five (45) days after the expiration of any period of Declarant's 
control, the Association shall hold a meeting and the unit owners shall elect all of the 

4- 3 

Page 227 of 246



Directors of the Association. The Directors shall take office upon election and shall 

serve tenns on the following basis: one (1) Director shall serve for a tenn of one (1) 

year, one (1) Directors shall serve for a tenn of two (2) years and one (1) Directors r: 
shall serve for a tenn of three (3) years. Thereafter, Directors shall be elected for 
three (3) year tenns. 

Section 4.3 - Removal. Any Director may be removed from the Board with or without cause, 
by a vote of two-thirds (2/s) of the Directors or by a majority vote at an Association meeting. In the 
event of the death, resignation or removal of a Director, a successor shall be selected by the remaining 
members of the Board and shall serve for the unexpired tenn. 

Section 4.4 - Compensation. No Director shall receive compensation for any service 
rendered to the Association. Any Director may, however, be reimbursed for actual expenses incurred 
in the performance of duties. 

Section 4.5 - Nomínatíon. Nominations for Directors shall be made by a Nominating 
Committee of three (3) voting members. The Nominating Committee shall be appointed by the Board 
of Directors prior to each annual meeting of the Association, to serve from the close of such annual 
meeting until the close of the next annual meeting. The Nominating Committee shall 
make as many nominations for election to the Board of Directors as it shall in its discretion determine, 
but not less than the number of vacancies that are to be filled. Nominations for Directors may also 
be made from the floor at the annual meeting. 

Section 4.6 - Election. Election to the Board of Directors shall be by secret written ballot. 
The person(s) receiving the largest number of votes shall be elected. 

Section 4.7 - Umlifatimns. Not more than one (I) Director may be a non-unit owner, and to 
the extent feasible, Directors should be representative of the various building locations. 

ARTICLES. 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

Secäon 5.1 ø Regular Mee11:iimgs. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held 
at least annually without notice, at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution 
of the Board. Should said meeting fäll upon a legal holiday, then that meeting shall be held at the 
same time on the next day which is not a legal holiday. 

Section 5.2 - Special Meetfümgs. Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held 
when called by the President of the Association or by any two (2) Directors after not less than three 
(3) days notice to each Director. 

Seetíon 5.3 ø Qum1nmm. A majority of the number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for 
the transaction ofbusiness. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the Directors present 
at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be regarded -as the act of the Board. 

Section 5.4 ª Aeäon 'I'aken WJi:t!:hount A Meetil!D.g. The Directors shall have the right to take 
any action in the absence of a meeting which they could take at a meeting by obtaining the written 
approval of all the Directors. Any action so approved shall have the same effect as though 

taken at a meeting of the Directors. 

Section 5.5" Waivell' of Notice ofMeefü1g. Any Director shall have the right to file a written 
waiver of notice of the meeting of the Board of Directors and consent to the transaction of any 

4-4 

Page 228 of 246



business that may come before the meeting. Such waiver can be given before or after any meeting and 

shall be effective when filed with the Secretary with the minutes of the meeting. 

ARTICLE 6. 

POWERS AND DUTIES OF TJBŒ BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Section 6.1 ~ General. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to exercise, for and 

on behalf of the Association, all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to the Association 

by the Act, the Declaration and the Articles of lncorporation except where the Act or Declaration 
specifically require a vote of the Association membership. 

Section 6.2 M Specified. The Board of Directors shall bave the specific power and duty to: 

(1) Adopt administrative rules and regulations (herein referred to as the "Rules and 
Regulations") governing the use and occupancy of the units; the use of the common 
elements; the conduct of the unit owners, unit occupants and their guests; and to 
establish penalties for the infraction thereof; provided, however, that any portion of 
such Rules and Regulations may be amended or rescinded by the unit owners 
representing sixty-seven percent ( 67%) of the units at any annual or special meeting 
if written notice thereof is given to all members at least ten ( 1 O) days before the date 
of such meeting. 

(2) Employ a manager, managing agent, independent contractor or such other employees 
and personnel as the Board of Directors deems necessary, and to prescribe their 
compensation and duties. 

(3) Cause to be kept, using standard bookkeeping procedures, detailed and accurate 
records of the receipts and expenditures affectíngthe common elements, specifying 
and itemizing the maintenance and repair expenses of the common elements and any 
other expenses incurred, together with a complete record of all proceedings and 
activities of the Board of Directors and the Association. A summary of such records 
shall be presented to the Association membership at each annual meeting. 

Cause all vouchers authorizing the payment of common expenses, and the books and 
papers of the Association to be available for examination by the unit owners at 
convenient times at the principal office of the Association, where copies may be 
purchased at reasonable cost. 

Prepare on or before July l of each year an annual budget for consideration and 
adoption by the annual meeting of the Association which budget shall show the 
estimated income and receipts of the Association, together with the common expenses 
which will be required to properly maintain the common elements as provided in the 

Declaration. 

Fix the amount of the regular monthly assessments required to be paid by each unit 
based on such annual budget and a reasonable amount considered by the Board of 
Directors to be necessary for a reserve for contingencies, replacements and 

improvements. 

Furnish to each unit owner at or before the annual meeting each year a summary of 
the proposed Association budget and a statement of the monthly assessment to be 
made to each unit during the following year, together with a statement of the rate of 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

4- 5 

Page 229 of 246



interest which has been fixed by the Board of Directors to be fixed by the Board of 

Directors to be charged on unpaid assessments. 

(8) Sue to recover a money judgment forunpaid assessments and charges or foreclose the 

lien against any unit for which assessments are not paid, in which event the Board of 

Directors on behalf of the Association may bid on such unit at foreclosure sale and 

acquire, hold, lease, mortgage and convey the unit. 

(9) Secure and maintain adequate policies of insurance as required by the Declaration. 

(1 O) Cause such officers, directors or employees of the Association having a financial 
responsibility to be bonded at the expense of the Association as it may deem 
appropriate. 

(11) Contract for or otherwise provide for such services as may be necessary to manage, 
control and maintain the common elements in good, safe, clean, attractive and 
sanitary condition, order and repair, and to meet the special social and physical needs 
of older persons. 

(12) Levy special assessments as authorized by the Declaration, provided that: 

( a) a written report setting forth the reasons for and the estimated amount of the 
funds required, the proposed assessment against each unit, and the date or 
dates of payment is provided to the unit owners with the notice of the special 
Association meeting at which such special assessment will be considered; 
and 

(b) such special assessment is approved by the affirmative vote of unit owners 
representing a majority of the votes. 

(13) Designate by resolution, from time to time, one or more banks to act as depository for 
the funds of the Association. 

(14) Establish procedures for the approval of all disbursements from the Association's 
funds and for the regular audit of the books and records of the Association. 

(15) Prohibit any unit owner from voting at a meeting of the Association if the Association 
has recorded a statement of condominium lien on the person's unit and the amount 
necessary to release the lien has not been paid at the time of the meeting; and/or 
suspend any other right or privilege of use or enjoyment of the common areas or of 
Association services for non-payment of assessments or the infraction of rules and 
regulations. 

(16) Establish reasonable fees and procedures for the use of any recreational facilities of 
the condominium. 

ARTICLE 7. 
OFFICER§ AND THEm DUTIES 

Section 7.1-Ennnmeration of Ofñcers. The Officers of this Association shall be a President 
and Vice President, who shall at all times be members of the Board of Directors, a Secretary, a 
Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time by resolution create. 

(~ 

Page 230 of 246



) 

Section 7 .?. " Election of Officers. The election of officers shall take place at the first 
meeting of the Board of Directors following each annual meeting of the Association. 

Section 7.3 "Term. The officers of this Association shall be elected annually by the Board 
of Directors and each shall hold office for one (1) year unless he/she shall sooner resign, be removed 
or otherwise be disqualified to serve. 

Section 7.4- SpecialAppointmemrts. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers 
as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have 
such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may from time to time determine. 

Section 7.5 - Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office with or 
without cause by the Board of Directors. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice 
to the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later 
time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall 
not be necessary to make it effective. 

Section 7.6- Vacancies. A vacancy in any office shall be filled by appointment by the Board 
of Directors. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the 
officer replaced. 

Seetíon 7.7 - Multiple Offices. The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be held by the 
same person. No person shall simultaneously hold more than one (I) of the other offices except in the 
case of special offices created pursuant to Section 7 .4 hereof. 

Section 7.8 - Duties. The duties of the officers are as follows: 

(1) President, The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and 
Association; shall see that the orders, resolutions, Rules and Regulations of the Board 
are carried out; Shall sign all leases, mortgages, deeds and other instruments of 
conveyance and shall co-sign all checks and promissory notes. 

(2) ViceªPres!dent. The Vice-President shall act in the place and stead of the President 
in the event of the President's absence, inability or refusal to act, and shall exercise 
and discharge such other duties as may be required by the Board of Directors. 

(3) Secretary, The Secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all meetings 
and proceedings of the Board of Directors and of the Association; serve notice of 
meetings of the Board and of the Association; keep the Association roster of unit 
owners and addresses; sign, verify and file all statements of condominium lien; 
certify statements of unpaid condominium assessments for delivery to unit grantees; 
co-sign all leases, mortgages, deeds and other instruments of conveyance; and 
perform such other duties as required by the Board. 

(4) Treasurer. The Treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all 
monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of 
the Board of Directors; shall sign all checks and promissory notes of the Association; 
keep proper books of account; cause an annual audit of the Association books to be 
made by a public accountant at the completion of each fiscal year; and shall prepare 
an annual budget and a statement of income and expenditures to be presented to the 
Association at its annual meeting and deliver a copy of each to the unit owners. 

4-7 

Page 231 of 246



ARTICLE 8. 

COMl\UTTEES 

Section 8.1 - General Committee. The Board of Directors shall appoint such committees 
for such purposes and terms as it deems appropriate to discharge the duties and responsibilities of the 
Association and the Board of Directors and to provide for the proper operation of the Association. 

Section 8.2 - Nominating. The Board of Directors shall appoint a Nominating Committee 
having the number of members and the responsibilities as specified in Section 4.5 of these By-Laws. 

ARTICLE 9. 

COMMON EXPENSES 

Section 9.1 - Illnstretíve List. The common expenses set forth in Section 9 .2 are intended 
only to guide unit owners, directors and officers in understanding the nature and purpose of common 
expenses. The common expenses actually incurred by the Association may include items not listed 
in Section 9.2 or conversely, may not include items which are listed. The Board of Directors shall 
have full authority to determine and authorize appropriate common expenses. 

Section 9.2 - Typiical E"penses. Common expenses may include, but are not limited to the 
cost of: 

( 1) maintaining the grounds which are part of the common elements, including cutting 
and fertilizing of lawns and maintenance of shrubs and trees. 

(2) snow removal from all of the sidewalks and driveways and parking areas of the 

condominium. 

(3) providing garbage, rubbish and trash collection. 

( 4) property and liability insurance on the condominium and the cost of such other 
insurance as the Association may obtain, to the extent that the same is not required 

to be separately billed to individuals. 

(5) the services of the management and maintenance personnel or independent 
contractors as the Association shall consider necessary for the operation of the 

condominium. 

( 6) providing such legal and accounting services as may be considered necessary to the 

operation of the condominium. 

(7) acquiring, painting, maintaining, replacing, repairing, operating and landscaping the 
common elements and such equipment for the common elements as the Board of 

Directors shall determine are necessary and proper. 

(8) any and all other materials, supplies, labor, services, utilities, maintenance, repairs, 
taxes, assessments or the like which the Association is required to secure or pay for 
by làw, or otherwise, or which in the discretion of the Board of Directors shall be 
necessary or proper for the operation and use of the common elements. 

(9) any amount necessary to discharge any lien or encumbrance levied against the 
condominium, or any portion thereof, which may, in the opinion of the Board of 

4- 8 

Page 232 of 246



Directors, constitute a lien against any of the common elements rather than the 

interest of the owner of any individual unit. 

ARTICLE 10. 

AMENDMENTS 

Section 10.1- Presentment. Amendments to these By-Laws may be initiated and presented 
by the Board of Directors or any unit owner. Amendments must be submitted in writing to all unit 
owners at least ten ( 1 O) days prior to the ânnual or special Association meeting at which they will be 
considered. ' . 

Seetlon 10.2 - Vote Required. These By-Laws may be amènded by the affirmative vote of 
unit owners having sixty-seven percent (67%) or more of the votes. 

Page 233 of 246



MANAGEJ.\l!ENT OR EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS 

The Declarant has not yet entered into any management contract, employment contract or other 

contract affecting the use, maintenance or access of all or part of the condominium to which it is 
anticipated the unit owners or the Association will be a party following the initial sale of a unit by 
the Declarant. It is, however, anticipated that the Déclarant will enter into contracts or other 

arrangements to provide for: lawn care, snow plowing and other services. The cost of such services 

is included in the projected annual operating budget and will be charged to the unit owners as part 
of their monthly assessment. 

5-1 

Page 234 of 246



Cedarburg Trail Condominium 

Operating Budget 7~1-aO thru 7-1~21 

Budgeted Income and Expenses are based on first year with 10 of 
28 units occupied part of the year so no net income is shownº 

Income: $125/mo/unít x 10 units x 6 of 12rno 

Transfer Fees/Resales $50@ 
Interest on checking/savings 

Total Income 

Expenses: Bank·Fees/WI annual report 
Bldg repairs/improvements 
Waste Pickup 
Snow Plowing/Shoveling 
Lawn Cutting/Trim/Fertilize 
Landscape replacements 
Insurance 

Total Expenses 

Net Income First Year 

$7,500.00 
o 
o 

o 
o 

1,000.00 
2,000.00 
2,000.00 

o 
2,500.00 

$7,500.00 $7,500.00 

o 

Sign Date Sign 

6=1 

Page 235 of 246



ASSOCIATION 

RULES, REGULATIONS, occur ANCY RESTRICTIONS, 
A V AILA.BLE S-ERVl[CES AND FACil,JITIES 

The following rules and regulations govern the use of the condominium and the conduct of its 

occupants. 

1. APPLIANCE USE: Dishwashers, garbage disposals, whirlpool tubs, clothes washers and 
dryers shall not be used between 10:00 P.M. and 7:00 A.M. 

2. LAUNDRY: No clothing or other items may be hung in any common area unless areas are 
designated for such purpose in writing by the Association. 

3. LAWN AIREAS: Grilling is permitted on common areas. Grills, picnic tables and lawn 
furniture are permitted on common areas but when not in use shall be stored within the 
owners' unit. N o grilling or use of other flammables is permitted on front or rear covered 
porches,. Any violators will be responsible for damage. 

4. LEASffiG OF UNIT§: Unit owners who lease their units shall use the lease fonn provided 
by the Association. A copy of the lease executed by the tenants, along with written 
acknowledgment of the tenants' receipt of the Association Rules and Regulations, shall be 
provided to the Association within 1 O days of tenant occupancy. 

5. LEASING OF G.ARAGE§: A unit owner may lease to another unit owner or occupant a 
garage stall which is appurtenant to his or her unit, but may not lease such stall to anyone who 
is not a unit owner or occupant. Written notice of the lease shall be provided to the 
Association. Unused garage stalls may not be conveyed between unit owners. 

6. PORCH JENCLO§URJE§. Unit owners are permitted to enclose rear and/or side porches 
with screening and/or glass if written approval is granted by the Association prior to 
installation and such enclosure conforms to others approved by the Association. All such 
enclosures must comply with applicable municipal ordinances. 

7. OUTSIDE PARI{l!N"G. Street parking is jio t ,~.pe;nn_:ï:\.t~d~'o.n'' private roaçl 
subject , to Assoc change .Parking on a resident's driveway is reserved for that 
resident Ör that resident's guests, Short-term parking by guests of other residents may be 
permitted if agreed to by the residents of both units. No trucks, recreational vehicles, trailers, 
boats, motorbikes or other commercial or recreational-type vehicle or vehicle bearing any 
commercial message shall be permitted to park overnight on a driveway or street. Residents 
are encouraged to park their vehicles in their garage rather than on their driveway and to keep 
their garage door closed when not driving in or out. No vehicle maintenance of any type other 
than washing-waxing and emergency service shall be permitted on a driveway or street. 
Residents herein understand that vehicles parked on driveway or street during a snow will 

result in no plowing in those areas. . 

8. GUESTS. Guests may stay with resident(s) in a unit not more than 10 nights in a row per 

month. 

9. FLAMMAJBLE§: Storage of flammables (gas, propane, etc.) in separate containers (other 
than vehicle gas tanks) is not recommended inside a unit or its garage. 

7-1 

Page 236 of 246



10. PET REGULATIONS: The following are rules and regulations relating to pet ownership: 

~ A. Two caged birds and common tank fish are permitted per condominium unit. One } 
dog or one cat per condominium unit is permitted unless written permission is granted 
by Association for more pets. The pet must be housed in pet owner's unit within a 
building designated for one cat or dog. A colored photo of the dog or cat must be 
registered with the Association. No visiting pets are permitted. 

B. Pet must be kept on leash and attended by an adult at all times when pet is outside of 
the unit. Any mess hy pet anywhere on premises to be cleaned by pet owner 
immediately, including deodorization, if needed. Immediate disposal of waste shall 
be in sealed plastic bags placed in pet owners' garbage. Any smell or odor related to 
pet is to be corrected by pet owner immediately. 

c. Pet owners are to use the yard immediately behind their own condominium unit as the 
primary walking place so that front yards do not become unsightly and to keep pets 
out of view most of the time in the interest of the non-pet owners and their guests. 
It is suggested that pet owners make use of the rear garden area of their units for pets 
to relieve themselves. This will avoid discoloring and/or destruction of lawn 
plantings for which unit owners would be responsible for cleanup, repair and or 
replacement. This will also help to minimize or eliminate pet odors and allow for 
more pleasant viewing by other unit residents and facilitate lawn cutting. 

D. If other condominium residents complain to Association about pet noise, within 1 O 

days of receipt of written notice from Association, the pet owner will purchase and 

---) use on pet an electric collar and train pet to be quiet. (This includes a cat, dog, and 
where possible, a bird). If collar is not used or doesn't work and residents still 

/ 

complain about noise from a pet, Association will give that pet owner written notice 
to permanently remove the pet from the premises within 1 O days of receipt of such 
notice. 

E. Pet owners are responsible for any damage or injury caused by their pet. If pet causes 
any injury on or off the premises, the pe! owner must permanently remove the pet 

from th.e premises. 

F. No pet may be kept or bred or maintained for commercial purposes. Any pet owner 
refusing to comply with these rules and regulations to the satisfaction of the 
Association will be warned in writing once by the Association and if the same 
violation occurs again, a second written notice from the Association will require the 
owner to permanently remove the pet from the premises within 1 O days of receipt of 
notice or be found in violation and subject to any and all remedies provided. 

11. SECURITY SYS'Jl.'EM§. Unit owners are permitted to install security systems in their 
condominium units. If the Association has to enter a unit and the system activates, that unit 
owner shall be responsible for any damage or cost related thereto . 

12. .ASSOCIATION JF.JEES. Any Association fee received after the 10th day of the month due 
and any Associate fee payment returned by bank for non-payment shall result in a $1 O extra 
fee plus the Association bank fee charged, payable by that owner to the Association to 
compensate for the extra administrative costs and that fee shall be considered part of the fee 

---./ 
due that month and subject to all provisions of the Declaration. 

7-2 

Page 237 of 246



13. REP AIR S. Owners and residents are not authorized to order, perf onn or contract for 

maintenance (excluding cleaning), repairs or replacement of common or limited common 

elements unless the owner receives written permission from the Association and agrees in 

writing with the Association contractor to pay for that work. Oth erwi se, only Association 

officers shall order and contract for such work. 

14. PLANTING. Residents are permitted to plant flowers and vegetables along a 12-foot length 
of the exterior rear wall of their condominium unit not to exceed more than four feet from the 
wall. Residents may also plant flowers along the front sidewalk at their unit if a planting area 
is provided. Any other plantings require written Association approval. The resident is 
responsible for maintenance of their plantings and for removal of same at the end of the 
growing season. 

15. WATER.JING. Residents are to water their own established lawn and plantings as needed, 
including plantings that the residents plant. If a resident does not water, and the lawn or 
plantings are not therefore consistent with adjoining lawns, the Association may water and 

assess thé costs of same to that resident. 

16. JFJERTILIZllNG. Residents are not permitted to fertilize lawns or plantings except for 
plantings the residents planted. Fertilizing will be done by the Association to keep lawns and 
plantings consistent with each other. 

___ .... __ .. ., ..., .. _ ------------ ...-~-- -- .. ---- ----------- ,. __ ------ ----·- 

l ;J.... OCClJP ANCY AND SERVICES. 

A. This is a senior condominium community designed and intended as housing for 
persons age 55 years of age and over. Age of resídents'wîll be verified by a copy of 
driver's license or birth certificate or other appropriate documentation maintained in 
the Association files. 

B. At least 80% of the condominium units will be occupied by at least one person 55 
years of age or older and children under the age of 14 are not permitted to reside in 
a unit unless the adult resident is subject to a hardship condition as defined by 
§101.22l(lm)(km) of the Wisconsin Statutes. 

C. At least 30 days prior to any change in residency, whether by deed or by lease, the 
vacating resident and the new resident shall notify the Association in writing and 
shall indicate the dates of birth of all new residents. In the event that 2,0% of the units 

· are notoëëupîëcl by one person age 55 or -Ölder, the Assoe1at10n reserves tlie riglit to - 
refuse occupancy to an applicant under that age. 

D. Facilities and services designed to meet the physical and social needs ofolderpersons 
shall be provided as needed by the Association. including, but not limited to, social 
programs (parties, card clubs, sports viewing, etc.); recreational programs ( organized 
exercise, walking); continuing education (seminars, speakers, videos, vacation 
travelogues, etc.); referral services for plumbing, electrical and other repairs; 
accessible areas with no stairs and wide doorways; transportation on-site to facilities 
by volunteers and off-site by volunteers and shared-ride taxi service; maintenance of 
dorimon, grounds and exterior condominiums for residents; other services as needed 

to be posted at facilities. Fees may be charged for some services, either by the 
Association or by other service providers. 

7-3 

Page 238 of 246



·~ ) 

7-4 

H. Conveniences include a mall with food, department and drug store and restaurants, 
neâr to the condominium site, hospital, nursing home and clinics across the street 
from that mall, and other shopping and restaurants within §i8 blocks. The 
condominium units and ärèa '.-; permit easy access including single-level and 
· · -·-; ~ -- --- · - · 1, no steps from frontporch or garage into condominium, 
and wide doorways. In the interest of maintaining at least 80% occupancy by persons 
age 55 or older, unit owners desiring to transfer the use or occupancy of their units 
shall make every effort to market that unit to persons age 55 or older. Urut owners 
must keep in mind that an additional percentage of condominiums above 80% must 
be reserved for future survivors under 55 years of age who are co-residents with 
someone 55 and over, so that the survivor will not be forced to move at the time of 
death of'the resident who was 55 or over. 

F. The Developer will operate the Association, on behalf of the owners, until 75% of the 
units are conveyed at closings, at which time the unit owners will operate the 
Association and shall continue to offer facilities and services for residents 55 years 
of age and over. 

G. See By-Laws recorded as a restriction on each deed for more details. 

1"8.. APPROVAL OF SALES. When a unit owner decides to sell or otherwise transfer the unit, 
the Association must first be consulted to determine the percentage occupied by persons age 
55 or over. Any accepted offer to purchase must be contingent upon Association approval 
as to age. 

1 9. ª OWNER RESPON§IllULITY. Unit owners are responsible for making certain that all unit 
occupants, guests and employees are aware of these rules and regulations and that they 
comply with them. 

· 20 ., JP'EACE AND ORDER. All unit occupants and their guests shall conduct themselves, 
particularly when in common areas, in a manner which is respectful of the peaceful and quite 
enjoyment of the condominium by the other occupants. All occupants and their guests shall 
also comply with all applicable laws and ordinances. 

JEN.FORCEMENT. When Association has reason to believe there is noncompliance with 
rules and regulations within a unit, Association is permitted to enter that unit at reasonable 

,_ , ----~h-o ...... urs of da.Y. when that unit owner or resident's tenant is m:,esent to verify co~liance. ·-- . _ 

21,o 

2.2 º ]EXTERIOR. Each unit is permitted two of the four items listed below to be attached to the 

exterior of that unit: 

(A) A wreath/floral arrangement on garage side wall maximum 2411 x 2411 which must be 

removed if dead or faded. 

(B) An owner name board under address, maximum 6" x 12". 

(C) An American flag 011 pole, maximum 3
1 
x 5'. 

(D) A hanging basket at front door. 

2 3 .. SATELLITE ]DiJI§H. A satellite dish is permitted if placed on that unit's rear porch, garden 
area or rear lower roof. Maximum 20" in size, and Association assumes no responsibility for 
damage and that unit owner still must pay cable TV fee íf ín monthly Association dues. 

Page 239 of 246



Condo Unit Owner Maintenance - Condo Development, Incº 

FURNACE: Replace filter each month or two year round-easy to do. 
Be sure hose from furnace goes into floor drain. 
Hose to floor drain can get plugged-besure its draining or replace. 
Keep temperature at minimum 70 degrees to prevent outside vent freezeup. 
Keep inside heat vents clear so air blows on window/door glass. 

I 

I 
/. 
' 

WATER HEATER: Besure overflow pipe water can get to floor drain. 
If no basement, pipe from overflow pipe to be connected to floor drain. 
Do not set water temperature too high that you have to combine cold water. 

WATER SOFTNER: Either you or a salt service add when needed. 
City water is hard well water that can block up pipes if not softened. 
That is why we provided a water softener in each unitº 

PLUMBING: In Fall, close interior valve and open exterior hose bib 
freeze proof valve and then open interior air valve so air forces any 
water in pipe out to reduce chance of freeze damage~ 

HUMIDITY: Control to no more than 30% to prevent moisture and damage. 
Use tà~ dehurnifier - 
Provide a dehumidifier elsewhere in condo if needed. 
Reduce levels by running bath and kitchen exhaust fans. 
Keep window/door drapes/blinds pulled up in Winter so heat blows on glass. 

SAFETY: Do not try any electrical, heating, plumbing or other repairs. 
Do not walk on slippery areas-wait until its dry/shoveled/sanded. 
Do not climb latters/other to reach high areas, let others do it. 
Do not go in attic-disturbs insulation & buried vents & could fall thru. 

DRINKING WATER: We suggest using bottled water for drinking. 
City water is usually safe, but why take chances at our age. 

VACATION: If gone more than two weeks, shut off water heater .. turn off 
toilet valves, leave your vacation phone number with Assoc, have your 
mail/papers stopped or picked up, have a good time. 

INSUWi.NCE: If you make major improvements like .upgr.ade s "andz'o r options, 
it may exceed Association Insurance limits, so add coverage to your Condo 
Owners Policy. Negilance by you or guests that causes injury/damage to 
you/guests and/or other residents/units, should be covered by your Condo 
Owners Policy. 

OTHER: There are other maintenance requirements and Owner is responsible. 

7-5 

Page 240 of 246



~onao Unit Owner Maintenance - Condo Development, Inc0 

FURNACEg Replace filter each month or two year round-easy to do~ 
Be sure hose from furnace goes into floor drain

0 

Hose to floor drain c~n get plugged-besure its draining or replaceº 
Keep ~em~erature at minimum 70 degrees to prevent outside vent freezeupº 
Keep inside heat vents clear so air blows on window/door glassº 

WATER HEATER~ Bes~re overflow pipe water can get to floor drainº 
If no basement, pipe from overflow pipe to be connected to floor drainº 
Do not set water temperature too high that you have to combine cold water. 

WATER SOFTNERg Either you or a salt service add when neededº 
Priva té so· . hard well water that can block up pipes if not softened., 
That is why we provided a water softener in each unit. 

PLUMBING: In Fall, close interior valve and open exterior hose bib 
freeze proof valve and then open interior air valve so air forces any 
water in pipe out to reduce chance of freeze damage. 

HUMIDITY: Control to no more than 30% to prevent moisture and damage. 
Use '.,à:-. dehumifier · · . · 
Provide a dehumidifier elsewhere in condo if needed. 
Reduce levels by running bath and kitchen exhaust fans. 
Reep window/door drapes/blinds pulled up in Winter so heat blows on glass. 

) SAFETY: Do not try any electrical, heating, plumbing or other repairs. 
, Do not walk on slippery areas-wait until its dry/shoveled/sanded. 

Do not climb latters/other to reach high areas, let others do it. 
Po not go in attic-disturbs insulation & buried vents & could fall thru. 

,DRINKING WATER: We suggest using bottled water for drinking. 
·Well water is usually safe, but why take chances. 

VACATION: If gone more than two weeks, shut off water heater; turn off 
toilet valves, leave your vacation phone number with Assoc, have your 
mail/papera stopped or picked up, have a good time. 

INSUUANCE: If you make major improvements like J.1p-g.ra,çle~-·,s.nd/9,f:.0_ptions, 
it may exceed Association Insurance lirnitsu so add coverage to your Condo 
Owners PolicyQ Negilance by you or guests that causes injury/damage to 
you/guests and/or other residents/units, should be covered by your Condo 
Owners Policyº 

OTHER: There are other maintenance requirements and owner is responsible~ 

7-5 

Page 241 of 246



- .¡,. 1t i: .. 

BEINGAU.OFUJr2 OFCERllfIEOSURVEY MAP 2784 
I.00.1ED IN'THESW 1/4 OFïHESE 1/40FSEC. 34T 101t. R.21E. 

IN11Œcm'OFŒDARBURG OZAUKEE:COUNJY WISCONSIN 

w 

CEDARBURG TRAIL CONDOMINIUM 
cm OF CEDARBURG, OZAUKEE COUNTY, WI. 

îWO FAMll.YRANOI 
DffAIL 

OSCJJ£.ll; fm20 

LOCATION MAP 

.-------, 

- ' - l ! 4,160S.F ! 

! I 
! r QJL J ~--- 

s 
I 
I 

: 
I 
I 
I 

'--'-''-,3_!1!1_!_~-=· JU7 i 

SEH 
CONDO 144784 
MARCH 05, 2019 

œrwœtrRGTRAn.CONOOMINIUMc240J62S.F (S5AC) 
l'RŒ'OSED•H6UlllllNG5{2ammsJ 

Page 242 of 246



e -- ,,.,,..,; 
\ 
) 

--...,.,,,.. 

r ~:;:r:d 
Porch 

10 X 10 
Dining 
10 X 14 

l~d 1: storage 

2 car Garage 
20 X 20 

.;¡;.;.:.:.¡;;g..;;:..;.:, ! . ·~~ 

n 
I 

' Living 
14 X 14 

Master 
Bedroom 
13 X 16 

\ 

.. Floor Plan #1 
~ii,iiíimim'iij~~!lll!ll1l.\!l~~~~ ~~~~~[]-· Cedarburg Trail Condominium 

(!) 

:.g ~~~~~~:::aæ&lifl 2BR+Den or 3BR 2BA 2GA 1800s 
.µ..C: ~ o H 

·~ Q) o U I Sizes Appcox , Plan Protectei 

: f ~ f P .µ 'i Condo Development Inc ª Gre¡ 

.s ~ ~ r--L} :g ~ 1262-569=1516 or 414-791-1511 ca .,...., .--10 

--~~~ LU .-I fü I ::s:o I 

.5 L--[ j 

~ 
QJ 

:::,... 
o 
r,,., 

Den or 
Bedroom 
11 X 12 Bedroom 

13 X 16 

'~- ~ .... ,.- ............. __ 
~~ ' 

Covered Porch 
6 X 17 o 

Page 243 of 246



Plan #2 I 
I 

1 

Cedarburg Trail Condominiums 
2 Bedroom Den 2BA 2GA 1600sf 
.Sizes Apprrox , PLan Pr ot ec.t ed 
Condo Development Incº G~eg 
262-569-1516 or 414-791-1516 

l~ 
itEEJ 

~~ 

2 Car Garage 
20 X 20 

Side Entry 
i 
1 - 

'I 

~~~~~~· :-··.,--¡: 

T:J<) 

¡I~: 
-- ... ¡ - 

11 
Dífií~g, I' 

< 10 X 16 f 
¡ I ttl ~-- 

Living 
12,x 14 

Covered Porch 
6 X !9 

V0 
o Den 

11 X 12 
Master 
Bedroom 
13 X 16 

ªI[} ~,2n 
.µ ..e: 
00 .w 
ts! (tji:' 
~ ¡:Q .__ 

Storage 
8 ;x 12 

/U 
2 Car Garage 

20 X 20 
Front Entry 

Cl1 

1~ 
.¡.) 

loo 

,-ua.~.,¡,·on::,-dc,.,._=-,_.,..=:,,_ 

\ 
) Page 244 of 246



~- .i:E:J:"~!=~~~~~~ ("""' -~ /')~' ~~; --~~~~~~1~:i--.... ';;-,~6.:~--::::::-...:::::;:;:;;;..=-;::;-:=-;;;-_,-· ' ) 
/"'--j_ / li -- 

J
i / Living I - '• . · -¡ 
! 16 x 16 

[IL.-. -4 

I 
~~..::=:r:~·~;r-~:::r::::r-11J~---'------. - 

¡ 

Master 
Bedroom 
13 X 16 

l. storage 
Util Rm 

i:: .I,.) 
I .r-1 (IJ 

,.!:& til 

I 
.-1 o 
t'O ,-I 

l ::: o [fjw] 

Office 
8 X 10 

lit......----'-~~.. . ~ llL.--~ ... --~ ~aaa'Si' ~~EFP-~'l- ~~~ 

\ 
I 

r 
~ 
t';$ 

~l 

2 Car Garage 
20 X 20 

Front Entry 

t 

l 
ó(}IJ") 

i:: ..-i 
•r-l :< 

I~~ 

I 
i 

4~jÎ 
!~Elt 

1 

~1l 
q 

I r~~¡ 

I 
" 

Plan #3 

-- Cedarburg Trail Condominiums 
2 Bedroom Den 2BA 2GA 1600sf 
Sizes Approxº Plan Protected 
Condo Development Inc. Greg 
262-569-1516 or 414 791-1516 

\\Island [I 

l~ 

¡~ 
Il 

¡1 

¡l 
1¡ 

2 Car Garage 
20 X 20 

Side Entry 

Bedroom 
12 X 14 

Covered Porch 
6 X 19 

F 
'L~.0'1¥1.~---- p~ - -- 

!~"''! 

Page 245 of 246



I 

¡ EXHIBIT B 
/ 

¡ CEDARBURG TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS 
I 

l Unit No Lot No House No Street Parcel No 

I 1-1 1 
l 1-2 1 

2-1 2 
2-2 2 
3-1 3 
3-2 3 
4-1 4 
4-2 4 
5-1 5 
5-2 5 
6-1 6 
6-2 6 
7-1 7 
7-2 7 
8-1 8 ' i 

8-2 8 '- 

9-1 9 
9-2 9 
10-1 10 
10-2 10 
11-1 11 
11-2 11 
12-1 12 
12-2 12 
13-1 13 
13-2 13 

Page 246 of 246


	CC Agenda 11-11-19
	6. CC 10-28-19
	8A & 8B PUD amend Zimmershied SUM
	8A 2019-15 Res Amending Land use TID #3
	8B 2019-15 Ord Rezoning TID#3
	8A & 8B Illustrations
	8A & 8B Minutes
	8C & 8D Schoenknecht LUP and rezone SUM
	8C 2019-16 Res Amending Land use W63 N667 Washington Ave
	8D 2019-16 Ord Rezoning W63 N667 Wash Ave
	8C & 8D Schoenknecht Materials
	8C & 8D Schoenknecht Illustrations
	8C & 8D Schoenknecht Meeting Minutes
	8E Budget Summary
	1 - Tax Levy
	2 - Fund Balance Summary
	3 - General Fund Revenue Sources
	4 - General Fund Reveues
	5 - Appendices General Gov Fund
	6 - Capital Improvement Plan
	7 - Annual Road Improvement
	8 - Equipment Replacement
	9 - Parks Capital Improvement
	10 - TIF's
	11 - Water Recycling Center
	12 - Debt Service
	13 - Debt Obligations
	14 - Special Revenue Funds
	15 - Internal Service-Risk Management Fund

	8E Health Ins contribution calc
	Sheet1

	8E Health Insurance Comparison Municipal
	8E Neogov Hiring Trends Report
	Pages from NEOGOV-Hiring-Trends-Report-2.pdf
	Pages from NEOGOV-Hiring-Trends-Report.pdf

	8E 2019-07-08 Personnel Minutes
	8E 2019.07.15 Common Council Minutes
	9A -2020 Street and Utility design contract SUM
	9A Street Util
	9B Blue Sht-Roden cash farm lease 2020
	9B cash farm
	9C. CC-2 Purchasing Revision
	9D2 Class B License Handen
	9D2 Class B AG Opinion
	9E Transfer & Payroll
	9E. Check Register 11-11-19
	10A CA Report 11  07 19-compressed (1)
	10B building inspection
	14F Amendment to Offer 1
	14F Amendment to Offer 2
	14G Consider Dev Agreement for Cedarburg Trail Condos SUM
	14G devolopment agreement
	14G dev agree disclosures

